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For guidance on using this Base Prospectus and navigating between the different sections hereof, please refer to the
section headed "Base Prospectus - User Guide" on page 93 of this Base Prospectus (which is intended to assist
investors in review of this Base Prospectus but which should nevertheless be read in conjunction with the other
sections of this Base Prospectus.

Under the Debt Instruments Issuance Programme (the Programme), each of Société Générale, SG Issuer, SG Option Europe and SGA Société Générale Acceptance
N.V. (each an Issuer and together the Issuers) may from time to time issue Notes (the Notes such definition to include CDls, as defined below, where applicable)
denominated in any currency agreed by the Issuer of such Notes (the relevant Issuer) and the relevant Purchaser(s) (as defined below).

When securities to be issued pursuant to this Base Prospectus are qualified as "certificates" (such expression including the Italian Certificates, as defined in the section
headed "Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes"), any reference in the relevant section of this Base Prospectus and in the
applicable Final Terms to "Notes" and "Noteholders" shall be deemed to be a reference to "Certificates" and "Certificateholders".

Notes issued under the Programme may either be unsecured (Unsecured Notes) or secured (Secured Notes), as specified in the applicable Final Terms and as further
described herein.

Payments in respect of Notes issued by SG Issuer, SG Option Europe or SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. will be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by
Société Générale (the Guarantor).

Subject as set out herein, the Notes will not be subject to any minimum or maximum maturity.

The Notes will be issued on a continuing basis to one or more of the Dealers specified in the "General Description of the Programme" and any additional dealer appointed
under the Programme from time to time (each a Dealer and together the Dealers). Notes may also be issued to third parties other than Dealers. Dealers and such third
parties are referred to as Purchasers. The terms and conditions of the English Law Notes (the English Law Notes) and the Uncertificated Notes (the Uncertificated
Notes) are set out herein in the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes" and the terms and conditions of the
French Law Notes (the French Law Notes) are set out herein in the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes".

English Law Notes may be issued in bearer form (Bearer Notes, which include Bearer SIS Notes (as defined in the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the English
Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes") or registered form (Registered Notes) or in uncertificated form (EUI Notes) or as Uncertificated SIS Notes (as defined in the
section headed "Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes"). Bearer Notes and Registered Notes may be represented by one or more
Global Notes (as defined in the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes").

Uncertificated Notes shall include Uncertificated Nordic Notes, Uncertificated SIS Notes and EUI Notes (all as defined and further described in the section headed "Form
of the Notes").

Bearer Notes (other than Bearer SIS Notes) will be deposited with a common depositary (Common Depositary) or, in the case of new global notes (New Global Notes
or NGN), a common safekeeper (Common Safekeeper) on behalf of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. as operator of the Euroclear System (Euroclear) and Clearstream
Banking, société anonyme (Clearstream, Luxembourg).Bearer SIS Notes (certified in a Permanent Global SIS Note) will be deposited with the Swiss securities services
corporation SIX SIS Ltd (SIS) or any other intermediary in Switzerland recognised for such purposes by SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd (SIX Swiss Exchange).

Registered Notes will (i) be deposited with a Common Depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, (ii) in the case of Registered Global Notes (as defined in
the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes") issued under the new safekeeping structure (New Safekeeping
Structure or NSS) registered in the name of a nominee of one of the International Central Securities Depositaries (ICSDs) acting as Common Safekeeper, or (iii) in the
case of certain U.S. Exempt Securities (as defined herein) other than Combined Global Notes (as defined herein), be deposited with a custodian for, and registered in the
name of a nominee of, DTC.

Uncertificated Notes will be issued in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry form, in each case, as more fully set out in "Form of the Notes" herein.

Noteholders may hold EUI Notes through Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited (formerly known as CRESTCo Limited) (such clearing system, EUI) either directly (CREST
Notes) or through the issuance of CREST Depository Interests (such securities, CDIs) representing underlying Notes (CREST Notes and CDlIs together to be known as
EUI Notes). CDlIs are independent securities constituted under English law and transferred through CREST. CDlIs will be issued by CREST Depository Limited pursuant to
a global deed poll dated 25 June 2001 (as subsequently modified, supplemented and/or restated, the CREST Deed Poll), as all more fully described in the section
headed Book Entry Clearance Systems. French Law Notes (as defined below) may be issued in dematerialised form or materialised form.

Application has been made to the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the CSSF) in its capacity as competent authority under the loi relative aux
prospectus pour valeurs mobilieres dated 10 July 2005, as amended, which implements the Prospectus Directive (the Luxembourg Act) to approve this document as a
base prospectus. Such application does not extend to money market instruments (as defined in the Prospectus Directive) having a maturity of less than one year or to
Notes (which are not publically offered) to be admitted to trading on the EuroMTF (as defined below). By approving this Base Prospectus, the CSSF gives no undertaking
as to the economic or financial opportuneness of the transaction or the quality or solvency of the Issuers in line with the provisions of article 7(7) of the Luxembourg Act.
Application has also been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to trading on (i) the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange's regulated market and to be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and (ii) the multilateral trading facilities Euro MTF of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange (the EuroMTF). The regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange is a regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in Financial Instrument
Directive 2004/39/EC of 21 April 2004 as amended (a Regulated Market). The EuroMTF is not a regulated market within the meaning of the Markets in Financial
Instrument Directive 2004/39/EC of 21 April 2004 as amended but it is subject to the supervision of the CSSF. Notes issued under the Programme may also be unlisted or
listed and admitted to trading on any other market, including any other Regulated Market in any Member State of the EEA and/or offered to the public in any Member
State of the EEA. The applicable Final Terms in respect of the issue of any Notes (as defined below) will specify whether or not such Notes will be listed and admitted to
trading on any market and/or offered to the public in any Member State of the EEA and, if so, the relevant market.

Application has also been made to SIX Swiss Exchange to approve this document as an "“issuance programme" for the listing of derivatives and an “issuance programme"
for the listing of bonds, both in accordance with the listing rules of SIX Swiss Exchange. In respect of Notes to be listed on SIX Swiss Exchange, this Base Prospectus
and the applicable Final Terms will constitute the listing prospectus pursuant to the listing rules of SIX Swiss Exchange.

The CSSF has neither reviewed nor approved any information in this Base Prospectus pertaining to Notes listed on SIX Swiss Exchange and the CSSF assumes no
responsibility in relation to issues of Notes listed on SIX Swiss Exchange.

The Notes and any guarantee thereof have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act) or under
the securities law of any state or political sub-division of the United States, and trading in the Notes has not been approved by the Commaodities Futures Trading
Commission (the CFTC) under the United States Commodities Exchange Act, as amended (the CEA). No person has registered and no person will register as a
commodity pool operator of any Issuer under the CEA and the rules thereunder (the CFTC Rules) of the CFTC, and no Issuer has been and no Issuer will be registered
as an investment company under the United States Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder (the Investment Company
Act). Other than with respect to certain U.S. Exempt Securities (as defined herein), the Notes are being offered and sold in reliance on an exemption from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Regulation S thereunder (Regulation S).

Accordingly, other than with respect to U.S. Exempt Securities (as defined herein), the Notes may not be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred except in an

“offshore transaction” (as defined under Regulation S) to or for the account or benefit of a person who (a) is not a U.S. person as defined in Rule 902(k)(1) of Regulation
S; and (b) is not a person who comes within any definition of U.S. person for the purposes of the CEA or any CFTC Rule, guidance or order proposed or issued under the



CEA (for the avoidance of doubt, any person who is not a “Non-United States person” defined under CFTC Rule 4.7(a)(1)(iv), but excluding, for purposes of subsection
(D) thereof, the exception for qualified eligible persons who are not “Non-United States persons,” shall be considered a U.S. person) (such a person or account,
Permitted Transferee). Other than with respect to U.S. Exempt Securities, the Notes described herein are available only to Permitted Transferees.

Certain issues of English Law Notes of Société Générale, as specified in the applicable Offering Circular, may be offered and sold only (a) in offshore transactions to
non-U.S. persons in reliance upon Regulation S under the Securities Act, and/or (b) to qualified institutional buyers (QIBs) in reliance upon Rule 144A under the
Securities Act (U.S. Exempt Securities). No issues of Notes by SG Issuer, SG Option Europe or SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. will be U.S. Exempt
Securities. Information specific to any issue of U.S. Exempt Securities (including information on the form of the Notes and applicable selling and transfer restrictions) shall
be set out in an offering circular supplementing this Base Prospectus (Offering Circular) in connection with the offer and sale of such U.S. Exempt Securities.

Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of Notes which are applicable to each Tranche (as defined
in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) of Notes will be set out in a final terms document (the Final Terms) which (except in the case of Private Placement Notes
(as defined in the sections entitled "Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes" and "Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes"))
will be filed with the CSSF. The Programme provides that Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on such other or further stock exchanges or
markets as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor and the relevant Purchaser. Each Issuer may also issue unlisted Notes and/or Notes not admitted
to trading on any market.In case of any issue of U.S. Exempt Securities, all references herein to “Final Terms” shall include, or be interpreted to mean, the applicable
Offering Circular.

The Notes may be rated at the latest on the relevant Issue Date by one or more rating agencies. The rating(s) of the Notes (if any) will be specified in the applicable Final
Terms, including as to whether or not such credit ratings are issued by credit rating agencies established in the European Union, registered (or which have applied for
registration) under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council dated 16 September 2009, as amended (the CRA Regulation) and are
included in the list of registered credit rating agencies published at the website of the European Securities and Markets Authority (www.esma.europa.eu).

In general, European regulated investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not issued by a credit rating agency established in the
European Union and registered under the CRA Regulation unless the rating is provided by a credit agency operating in the European Union before 7 June 2010 which
has submitted an application for registration in accordance with the CRA Regulation and such registration is not refused. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or
hold securities and may be subject to suspension, change, or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency without notice.

On 28 October 2014, Société Générale, SG Issuer, SG Option Europe and SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. issued a base prospectus describing the Programme.
This Base Prospectus supersedes and replaces this base prospectus and the supplements thereto (except in relation to pending offers to the public, as detailed in the
section "Ongoing Public Offers") for the purpose of Notes admitted to trading on a Regulated Market in any Member State of the EEA and/or offered to the public in any
Member State of the EEA and issued after the date of this Base Prospectus.]

ARRANGER
Société Générale Corporate & Investment Banking

DEALERS
Société Générale Corporate & Investment Banking
Société Générale Bank & Trust
SG Option Europe
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Summary

SUMMARY

Summaries are made up of disclosure requirements known as Elements the communication of which is required
by Annex XXII of the Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 as amended. These elements are numbered in
Sections A—E (A.1 - E.7).

This summary contains all the Elements required to be included in a summary for this type of securities and
Issuer. Because some Elements are not required to be addressed, there may be gaps in the numbering
sequence of the Elements.

Even though an Element may be required to be inserted in the summary because of the type of securities and
Issuer, it is possible that no relevant information can be given regarding the Element. In this case, a short
description of the Element is included in the summary with the mention of "Not Applicable".

[If several Series of securities are to be issued or offered simultaneously in one set of Final Terms, the items
which differ for such Series of securities can be grouped in a table (the Issue Specific Table)]

Section A — Introduction and warnings

Al Warning This summary must be read as an introduction to the Base Prospectus.

Any decision to invest in the Notes should be based on a consideration of the
Base Prospectus as a whole by the investor.

Where a claim relating to the information contained in the Base Prospectus
and the applicable Final Terms is brought before a court, the plaintiff investor
might, under the national legislation of the Member States, have to bear the
costs of translating the Base Prospectus before the legal proceedings are
initiated.

Civil liability attaches only to those persons who have tabled this summary,
including any translation thereof, but only if the summary is misleading,
inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of the Base
Prospectus or it does not provide, when read together with the other parts of
this Base Prospectus, key information in order to aid investors when
considering whether to invest in the Notes.

A2 Consent to the use [Not Applicable. The Notes are not subject to a Public Offer in the European
of the Base Economic Area]
Prospectus

[The Issuer consents to the use of this Base Prospectus in connection with a
resale or placement of Notes in circumstances where a prospectus is required
to be published under the Prospectus Directive (a Non-exempt Offer) subject
to the following conditions:

- the consent is only valid during the offer period from [Specify date] to
[Specify date] (the Offer Period);

[- the consent given by the Issuer for the use of the Base Prospectus to make
the Non-exempt Offer is [an individual consent (an Individual Consent) in
respect of [Specify name and address] ([each a] [the] Initial Authorised
Offeror[s])] and if the Issuer appoints any additional financial intermediaries
after the [insert date of the applicable Final Terms] and publishes details of
them on its website, each financial intermediary whose details are so
published (each an Additional Authorised Offeror;] [and] [a general consent
(a General Consent) in respect of any financial intermediary who published
on its website that it will make the Non-exempt Offer of the Notes on the basis
of the General Consent given by the Issuer and by such publication, any such
financial intermediary (each a General Authorised Offeror) undertakes to
comply with the following obligations:
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€) it acts in accordance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and
guidance (including from any regulatory body) applicable to the Non-
exempt Offer of the Notes in the Public Offer Jurisdiction, in particular
the law implementing the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive
(Directive 2004/39/EC) as amended (hereinafter the Rules) and
makes sure that (i) any investment advice in the Notes by any person
is appropriate, (ii) the information to potential investor including the
information relating to any expenses (and any commissions or
benefits of any kind) received or paid by this General Authorised
Offeror under the offer of the Notes is fully and clearly disclosed,;

(b) it complies with the relevant subscription, sale and transfer
restrictions related to the Public Offer Jurisdiction as if it acted as a
Dealer in the Public Offer Jurisdiction;

(c) it complies with the Rules relating to anti-money laundering, anti-
bribery and "know your customer" rules; it retains investor
identification records for at least the minimum period required under
applicable Rules, and shall, if so requested, make such records
available to the relevant Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer or directly
to the competent authorities with jurisdiction over the relevant Issuer
and/or the relevant Dealer in order to enable the relevant Issuer
and/or the relevant Dealer to comply with anti-money laundering, anti-
bribery and "know your customer" rules applying to the relevant
Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer;

(d) it does not, directly or indirectly, cause the Issuer or the relevant
Dealers to breach any Rule or any requirement to obtain or make any
filing, authorisation or consent in any jurisdiction;

(e) it meets [insert any other condition specified under the clause "Other
conditions to consent" in the applicable Final Terms];

) it commits itself to indemnify the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor
(if applicable) and the relevant Dealer, Société Générale and each of
its affiliates for any damage, loss, expense, claim, request or loss and
fees (including reasonably fees from law firms) incurred by one of its
entities because of, or in relation with, the non-respect by this
General Authorised Offeror of any of these obligations above;

(9) it acknowledges that its commitment to respect the obligations above
is governed by [French law] [English law] and agrees that any related
dispute be brought before the [Tribunal de Commerce de Paris,
France [English courts];

[Any General Authorised Offeror who wishes to use the Base Prospectus
for an Non-exempt Offer of Notes in accordance with this General
Consent and the related conditions is required, during the time of the
relevant Offer Period, to publish on its website that it uses the Base
Prospectus for such Non-exempt Offer in accordance with this General
Consent and the related conditions.]

- the consent only extends to the use of this Base Prospectus to make Non-
exempt Offers of the Notes in [Austria] [Belgium] [Czech Republic] [Denmark]
[Germany] [Finland] [France] [Ireland] [ltaly] [Liechtenstein] [Luxembourg]
[Norway] [Portugal] [Spain] [Sweden] [The Netherlands] [United Kingdom]
[Croatia] [Poland] [Hungary] [Gibraltar].
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[The information relating to the conditions of the Non-exempt Offer shall
be provided to the investors by [any Initial Authorised Offeror] [any Initial
Authorised Offeror and any General Authorised Offeror] [any General
Authorised Offeror] at the time the offer is made.]]

Section B — Issuer [and Guarantor]

B.1 Legal and [Société Générale (or the Issuer)]
commercial name of | [SG |ssuer (or the Issuer)]
the i .
e 1ssuer [SG Option Europe (or the Issuer)]
[SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. (or the Issuer)]
B.2 Domicile, legal form, | [If the Issuer is Société Générale:
legislation and Domicile: 29, boulevard Haussmann, 75009 Paris, France.
country of Legal form: Public limited liability company (société anonyme).
incorporation Legislation under which the Issuer operates: French law.
Country of incorporation: France.]
[If the Issuer is SG Issuer:
Domicile: 33, boulevard Prince Henri, L-1724 Luxembourg, Luxembourg.
Legal form: Public limited liability company (société anonyme).
Legislation under which the Issuer operates: Luxembourg law.
Country of incorporation: Luxembourg.]
[If the Issuer is SG Option Europe:
Domicile: 17, cours Valmy, 92800 Puteaux, France.
Legal form: Limited liability company (société anonyme).
Legislation under which the Issuer operates: French law.
Country of incorporation: France.]
[If the Issuer is SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V.:
Domicile: Pietermaai 15, Curacao.
Legal form: Limited liability company.
Legislation under which the Issuer operates: Curagao law.
Country of incorporation: Curagao (former Netherlands Antilles).]
B.4b Known trends [If the Issuer is Société Générale : 2014 was another challenging year for the

affecting the issuer
and the industries in
which it operates

economy, with global activity posting only moderate growth that varied by
region. This trend is expected to carry over into 2015, which is shaping up to
deliver a weaker-than-expected global economic recovery amid myriad
uncertainties both on the geopolitical front and on the commodity and forex
markets.

The euro zone is struggling to return to more dynamic growth, thus slowing the
reduction of public deficits. Interest rates should remain at record lows, but the
deflationary risk should be kept under control by the intervention of the ECB
which has announced the implementation of a more accommodative monetary
policy and the use of its balance sheet to support growth. The depreciation of
the euro and falling oil prices should help boost exports and stimulate domestic
demand. The US economy should stay on a positive track and the Fed is
expected to begin tightening its monetary policy mid-year. Emerging countries
have entered a phase of more moderate growth, in particular China. Russia’s
economy is struggling with the consequences of the Ukrainian crisis coupled
with the drop in commodity prices.
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From a regulatory standpoint, 2014 saw the implementation of the Banking
Union. The European Central Bank took the helm of the Single Supervisory
Mechanism, overseeing some 130 euro zone banks, with the aim of
strengthening the banking system, restoring the confidence of economic
operators, harmonising banking supervision rules and reducing the link
between banks and their national authorities.

In terms of regulatory ratios, the Group can already meet the new
requirements.]

[If the Issuer is SG Issuer, SG Option Europe or SGA Société Générale
Acceptance N.V.: The Issuer expects to continue its activity in accordance with
its corporate objects over the course of 2015.]

B.5 Description of the | The Group offers a wide range of advisory services and tailored financial
issuer’s group and | solutions to individual customers, large corporate and institutional investors.
the issuer’s position | The Group relies on three complementary core businesses:
within the group . French Retail Banking;

. International Retail Banking, Financial Services and Insurance and

. Corporate and Investment Banking, Private Banking, Asset and

Wealth Management and Securities Services.

[If the Issuer is Société Générale: The Issuer is the parent company of the
Société Générale Group.]

[If the Issuer is SG Issuer or SG Option Europe or SGA Société Générale
Acceptance N.V.: The Issuer is a subsidiary of the Société Générale Group
and has no subsidiaries.]

B.9 Figure of profit Not Applicable. The Issuer does not make any figure of profit forecast or
forecast or estimate | estimate.
of the issuer

B.10 Nature of any Not Applicable. The audit report does not include any qualification.
qualifications in the
audit report on the
historical financial
information

B.12 Selected historical If the Issuer is Société Générale:

!<ey finarTciaI Quarter | Year Quarter | Year
information 2-2015 | ended 2-2014 | ended
regarding the issuer
9 9 (non 2014 (non 2013
audited) | (audited, audited) | (audited)
except as | (*) Q)
mentionn
ed
otherwise
*)
Results (in EUR M)
Net Banking Income 13,222 23,561 11,556 22,433
Operating income 3,319 4,557 (*) 2,232 (*) | 2,336
Net income before
non controlling 2,421 2,978 (*) 1,404 (*) | 2,394
interests
Net income 2,219 2,679 (% 1,248 (*) | 2,044
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French Retall
. 692 1,204 (*) 639 (*) 1,196
Banking
International Retail
Banking & Financial | 451 370 (*) 9 ® 983
Services
Global Banking and
. 1,213 1,909 (*) 1,031 (*) | 1,206
Investor Solutions
Corporate Centre (137) (804) (® (413) (%) (1,341)
Net cost of risk (1,337) (2,967) (1,419) (4,050)
Cost/income ratio (2) | 64.8% 68% (*) 66.2% (*) | 67.0%
ROE after tax (3) 9.1% 5.3% 5.1% 4.1%
Tier 1 Ratio 12.7% 12.6% 12.5% 11.8%
Activity (in EUR bn)
Total assets and
N 1,359.5 1,308.2 1, 322.6 1,214.2
liabilities
Customer loans 370.2 344.4 336.2 332.7
Customer deposits 377.2 349.7 341.8 334.2
Equity (in billions of
euros)
Group shareholders'
. 56.1 55.2 53.3 50.9
equity
Total consolidated
} 59.6 58.8 55.9 54.0
equity
Cash flow
statements (in
billions of euros)
Net inflow (outflow)
in cash and cash 22,255 (10,183) (13,148) (981)
equivalents

@

@

®

*

Items relating to the results for 2013 have been restated due to the implementation
of IFRS 10 & 11.

Excluding the revaluation of own financial liabilities and DVA, PEL/CEL and 50%
IFRIC 21.

Group ROE calculated excluding non-economic items, collective provision for
litigation issues, PEL/CEL and adjusted for the effect of IFRIC 21. The adjustment
relating to IFRIC 21 corrects, for each quarter, 25% of the taxes borne in their
entirety in H1 in respect of the financial year. ROE in absolute terms in H1 14:
5.1%, in Q2 14: 9.3%.

Note that the data for the 2014 financial year have been restated, due to the
implementation on January 1st, 2015 of the IFRIC 21 standard resulting in the

publication of adjusted data for the previous financial year.
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[If the Issuer is SG Issuer:

(in K€) 30 June 30 June 31 December | 31 December
2015 2014 2014 2013
(audited) (audited)
Operating 47 313 60 795 110 027 109 588
Revenues
Profit from 195 193 209 482
operations
Profit from 195 193 209 482
continuing
operations
Total Assets 29 129 601 33 747 468 23 567 256 21 349 619
[If the Issuer is SG Option Europe:
(in € 000) 30 June 30 June 31 December | 31 December
2015 2014 2014 2013
(audited) (audited)
Operating 39 484 7873 -25 925 27 585
Revenues
Profit from 11 889 -10628 -44 749 -20 163
operations
Profit from 19 318 -18 766 -68 925 -25 820
continuing
operations
Total Assets 44 621 025 54 001 064 42 060 158 64 461 264
Dividends 0 0 0 0
declared per
share
[If the Issuer is SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V.:
(in K$) 30 June 30 June 31 31
2015 2014 December December
(unaudited) (unaudited) 2014 2013
(audited) (audited)
Net banking 0 0 688 0
income
Net result Q) 0 688 0
Total assets 29 240 495 36 525837 | 31779757 45 827 253
Net inflows (37) (20) (51) 0
(outflow) in
cash and
cash
equivalents
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Statement as no
material adverse
changein the
prospects of the
issuer since the date
of its last published
audited financial
statements

There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer
since 31 December 2014.

Significant changes
in the issuer’s
financial or trading
position subsequent
to the period
covered by the
historical financial
information

Not Applicable. There has been no significant change in the Issuer's financial
or trading position since 30 June 2015.

B.13 Recent events Not Applicable. There has been no recent event particular to the Issuer which
particular to the is to a material extent relevant to the evaluation of the Issuer’s solvency.
issuer which areto a
material extent
relevant to the
evaluation of the
issuer’s solvency
B.14 Statement as to See Element B.5 above for the Issuer's position within the Group.
Yvhether the issuer [Société Générale is the ultimate holding company of the Group. However,
1S depeannt upon Société Générale operates its own business; it does not act as a simple
other entities within | 14 4ing company vis-a-vis its subsidiaries.]
the group
[SG Issuer is dependent upon Société Générale Bank & Trust within the
Group.]
[SG Option Europe is dependent upon Société Générale within the Group.]
[SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. is dependent upon Société Générale
within the Group.]
B.15 Description of the [If the Issuer is Société Générale: See Element B.5 above.]

issuer’s principal
activities

[The principal activity of SG Issuer is raising finance by the issuance of
warrants as well as debt securities designed to be placed to institutional
customers or retail customers through the distributors associated with Société
Générale. The financing obtained through the issuance of such debt securities
is then lent to Société Générale and to other members of the Group.]

[The principal activities of SG Option Europe are to carry out trading activities
on derivatives contracts on shares and indices traded on the English and
French regulated markets for the purpose of hedging products sold by Société
Générale to its clients. SG Option Europe has been authorised to perform
investment services as an investment firm since 1st January 2001. SG Option
Europe acts as market maker with respect to securities and warrants issued by
Société Générale and issues debt securities designed to be placed with the
institutional customers or retail customers through distributors associated with
Société Générale. The financing raised through the issuance of such debt
securities is then on-lent to Société Générale and to other members of the
Group.]
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[The sole purpose of SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. is to issue
warrants as well as debt securities designed to be placed to the institutional
customers or retail customers through the distributors associated with Société
Générale. The financing obtained through the issuance of debt securities is
then lent to Société Générale and to other members of the Group.]

B.16

To the extent known
to the issuer,
whether the issuer
is directly or
indirectly owned or
controlled and by
whom, and
description of the
nature of such
control

[Not Applicable. To its knowledge, Société Générale is not owned or
controlled, directly or indirectly (under French law) by another entity.]

[SG Issuer is a 100 per cent. owned subsidiary of Société Générale Bank &
Trust S.A. which is itself a 100 per cent. owned subsidiary of Société Générale
and is a fully consolidated company.]

[SG Option Europe is a 99.99 per cent. owned subsidiary of Genefinance
which is itself a 100 per cent. owned subsidiary of Société Générale and is a
fully consolidated company.]

[SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. is a 100 per cent. owned subsidiary
of Société Générale and is a fully consolidated subsidiary.]

[Delete the Element B.17 if the Notes are derivative instruments to which Annex Xl of the Regulation

applies

[B.17

Credit ratings
assigned to the
issuer or its debt
securities

[Société Générale is rated A (high) by DBRS, A by Fitch Ratings, A2 by
Moody’s Investors Services and A by Standard and Poor’s.]

[If the Issuer is SG Issuer or SG Option Europe or SGA Société Générale
Acceptance N.V.: Not Applicable. The Issuer is not rated.]

[Not Applicable] [The Notes to be issued have [not] been rated [Specify
rating(s) of Notes being issued] [by [Specify rating agency(ies)].]]

[Delete the Elements B.18 and B.19 if Société Générale is the Issuer of the Notes]
B.18 Nature and scope of | The Notes are unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by Société
the guarantee Générale (the Guarantor) pursuant to the Guarantee dated 26 October 2015.

The Guarantee constitutes a direct, unconditional, unsecured and general
obligation of the Guarantor and ranks and will rank pari passu with all other
existing and future direct, unconditional, unsecured and general obligations of
the Guarantor, including those in respect of deposits]

B.19 Information about The information about Société Générale as if it were the Issuer of the same

the guarantor as if it
were the issuer of
the same type of
security that is
subject of the
guarantee

type of Notes that is subject of the Guarantee is set out in accordance with
Elements B.19 / B.1, B.19 / B.2, B.19 / B.4b, B.19 / B.5, B.19 / B.9, B.19 /
B.10, B.19 / B.12, B.19 / B.13, B.19 / B.14, B.19 / B.15 [] [and] B.19 / B.16
[and B.19 / B.17] below, respectively:

[If Société Générale is acting as Guarantor insert here the Elements
information relating to the Guarantor — the relevant descriptions should be

copied from Elements B.1 to B.17]
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Section C — Securities

Cl1 Type and class of The Notes are [debt securities] [derivative instruments] [indexed on [share]
the securities being [index] [SGI Index] [Depositary Receipts] [dividend] [ETF] [reference rate]
offered and/or [foreign exchange rate ] [commodity] [commodity index] [fund] [inflation index]
admitted to trading, [ETP] [non equity securities which are [certificates] [over-the-counter derivative
including any products] [[option] [future] contract[s]]] [preference share] [warrant] [portfolio]
security [the occurrence or non occurrence of one or more credit event(s) on one or
identification several reference entity(ies) [belonging to the index]] [the occurrence or non
number occurrence of one or more bond event(s)]] [cds spread].

ISIN Code: [Insert code]
Common Code: [Insert code]

Cc.2 Currency of the [Insert the specified currency] [in respect of Dual Currency Notes, insert the
securities issue settlement currency]

C5 Description of any Not Applicable. There is no restriction on the free transferability of the Notes,
restrictions on the subject to selling and transfer restrictions which may apply in certain
free transferability jurisdictions.
of the securities

C.8 Rights attached to

the securities,
including ranking
and limitations to
those rights

Rights attached to the securities:

Unless the Notes are previously redeemed, the Notes will entitle each holder
of the Notes (a Noteholder) to receive a potential return on the Notes [[If the
Notes are debt securities to which Annex V applies : a redemption amount at
par on the maturity date and a potential yield on these Notes (see Element
C.9)] [If the Notes are derivative instruments to which Annex XII applies: a
redemption amount which may be lower than, equal to or higher than the
amount initially invested (see Element C.18).] [a fixed redemption amount,
which is different from par on the maturity date and a potential yield on these
Notes (see Element C.18).] [a redemption amount at par on the maturity date
and a potential yield on these Notes (see Element C.18)].

[If the Issuer is SG Issuer and the Notes are Secured Notes :

In addition to the Guarantee of the Guarantor, payments due under the Notes
will be secured by a pledge over collateral assets which comply with the
following [Eligibility Criteria] [and][ Collateral Rules] :

[Eligibility Criteria: [insert a short description of

the eligibility criteria]]

[Collateral Rules: [Insert a short description of

the relevant collateral rules]]

A Noteholder will be entitled to claim the immediate and due payment of any
sum in case :

- the Issuer fails to pay or to perform its other obligations under the Notes [If
the Notes are Secured Notes: including, its obligations under the pledge
securing the Notes]

- [If the Issuer is SG Issuer or SG Option Europe or SGA Société Générale
Acceptance N.V.: the Guarantor fails to perform its obligations under the
Guarantee or in the event that the guarantee of the Guarantor stops being
valid;]

- of insolvency or bankruptcy proceeding(s) affecting the Issuer.
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[The Noteholder may exercise a redemption at its discretion.]

The Noteholders’ consent shall have to be obtained to amend the contractual
terms of the Notes [If the Notes are French law Notes : during a noteholders’
general meeting; the Noteholders will be grouped and represented by a
representative.] [If the Notes are English law Notes: pursuant to the provisions
of an agency agreement, made available to the Noteholders upon request to
the Issuer.]

Governing law

The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection
with the Notes will be governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with
[English law] [French law] [Swedish law] [Finnish law] [Norwegian law] [Danish
law].

[- [If the Notes are English law Notes or Uncertificated Notes: The Issuer
accepts the competence of the courts of England in relation to any dispute
against the Issuer but accepts that such Noteholders may bring their action
before any other competent court.]

[- If the Notes are French law Notes: The Issuer accepts the competence of
the courts of Paris (tribunaux de Paris) in relation to any dispute against the
Noteholders.]

Ranking:

The Notes will be direct, unconditional, [unsecured] [secured, limited recourse]
and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and will rank equally with all other
outstanding direct, unconditional, [unsecured] [secured, limited recourse] and
unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, present and future.

Limitations to rights attached to the securities:

[- in the case of adjustments affecting the underlying instrument(s), the Issuer
may amend the terms and conditions or in the case of the occurrence of
extraordinary events affecting the underlying instrument(s), the Issuer may
substitute the underlying instrument(s) by new underlying instrument(s),
monetise all or part of the due amounts until the maturity date of the Notes,
postpone the maturity date of the Notes, redeem the Notes early on the basis
of the market value of these Notes, or deduct from any due amount the
increase cost of hedging, and in each case without the consent of the
Noteholders;]

- the Issuer may redeem the Notes early on the basis of the [market value]
[specified denomination] of these Notes for tax or regulatory reasons [or in
case of occurrence of a collateral disruption event] [and if the proportion
between the outstanding Notes and the number of Notes initially issued is
lower than [Specify the percentage]];

- the rights to payment of principal and interest will be prescribed within a
period of [ten] [Specify other] years (in the case of principal) and [five] [Specify
other] years (in the case of interest) from the date on which the payment of
these amounts has become due for the first time and has remained unpaid.

[- in the case of a payment default by the SG Issuer, Noteholders’ recourse
against the Issuer will be limited to the collateral assets applicable to the
Series of Notes, constituting together the collateral pool [, which is a multiple
series collateral pool and then may be shared by several series of secured
notes]. Nevertheless, Noteholders will continue to be able to claim against the
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Guarantor in respect of any unpaid amount]

[- In the case of Notes issued by SG Issuer, SGA Société Générale
Acceptance N.V. and SG Option Europe: in the case of a payment default by
the Issuer, Noteholders shall not be entitled to take any steps or proceedings
to procure the winding-up, administration or liquidation (or any other analogous
proceeding) of the Issuer. Nevertheless, Noteholders will continue to be able to
claim against the Guarantor in respect of any unpaid amount].

Taxation

All payments in respect of Notes, Receipts and Coupons or under the
Guarantee shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or
deduction for or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties,
assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied,
collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of any Tax Jurisdiction unless
such withholding or deduction is required by law.

In the event that any amounts are required to be deducted or withheld for, or
on behalf of, any Tax Jurisdiction, the relevant Issuer or, as the case may be,
the Guarantor shall (except in certain circumstances), to the fullest extent
permitted by law, pay such additional amount as may be necessary, in order
that each Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder, after deduction or
withholding of such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges, will
receive the full amount then due and payable.

[Delete the Element C.9 if the

applies

Notes are derivative instruments to which Annex Xl of the Regulation

C.9

Procedures for the
exercise of rights:
interest, yield and
redemption, and
representative of
Noteholders

[See Element C.8 above.]

Specified Denomination: [insert specified denomination]

[Adjusted Specified Denomination : [insert]]

[Calculation Amount: insert calculation amount]

[In case of Zero Coupon Notes: Not Applicable. The Notes do not bear

interest]

Interest:

[Unless previously redeemed, the interest on the debt securities will take place
as follows:

Interest Commencement Date: [insert the interest commencement date]

[in the case of Fixed Rate Notes :

Rate(s) of Interest : [Insert the rate of interest]

Specified Period(s)/Interest Payment | [Insert the Interest Payment

Date(s)[(1)] : Date(s)]

Fixed Coupon Amount : [Insert the fixed coupon
amount]

[In case of Credit Linked
Notes: [Payment of interest
is subject to the occurrence
or the non-occurrence of a
credit event.]]

[In case of Bond Linked
Notes: Payment of interest is
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subject to the occurrence or
the non-occurrence of a
bond event.]

[Day Count Fraction:

[Insert the relevant day count
fraction]]

[in the case of Floating Rate Notes :

Floating Coupon Amount :

[Insert the floating coupon
amount]

[In case of Credit Linked
Notes: Payment of interest is
subject to the occurrence or
the non-occurrence of a
credit event.]

[In case of Bond Linked
Notes: Payment of interest is
subject to the occurrence or
the non-occurrence of a
bond event.]

[Day Count Fraction:

[Insert the relevant day count
fraction]]

Specified Period(s)/Interest Payment
Date(s)[(D)]:

[Insert the Interest Payment
Date(s)]

Reference Rate:

[Insert the relevant reference
rate]]

[in the case of Structured Notes :

Structured Interest Amount:

[Insert the applicable formula
corresponding to the
reference product specified
in the applicable Final
Terms]

[In the case of Credit Linked
Notes: Payment of interest is
subject to the occurrence or
the non-occurrence of a
credit event.]

[In the case of Bond Linked
Notes: Payment of interest is
subject to the occurrence or
the non-occurrence of a
bond event.]

[Day Count Fraction:

[Insert the relevant day count
fraction]]

Specified Period(s)/Interest Payment
Date(s)[(1)] :

[Insert the Interest Payment
Date(s)]

Definitions relating to date(s):

[insert the relevant date(s)
applicable to the structured
interest amount]
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Definitions relating to the Product: [Insert the relevant
definition(s) applicable to the
product]

[Underlying:

[The type of underlying is : [share] [index] [SGI index] [Depositary Receipts]
[dividend] [ETF] [reference rate] [foreign exchange rate ] [commodity]
[commodity index] [fund] [inflation index] [ETP] [non equity securities which are
[certificates] [over-the-counter derivative products] [[option] [future] contract[s]]]
[preference share] [warrant] [portfolio] [cds spread]]

[Information about the underlying is available on the following website(s), if
any, or upon simple request to Société Générale: [insert the name of the
underlying and the relevant website if any]]

[In case of Structured Notes which are Credit Linked Notes: The Notes are
indexed on the occurrence or non occurrence of one or more credit event(s)
[on one or several reference entity(ies)]) [belonging to an index].

Information about the [reference entity] [reference entities] [belonging to the
index] is available on the following website(s), if any, or upon simple request to
Société Générale: [insert the name of the reference entity(ies) or index and
relevant website if any]]

[In case of Structured Notes which are Bond Linked Notes: The Notes are
indexed on the occurrence or non occurrence of one or more bond event(s).

[Insert the relevant bond]

Information about the bond is available on the following website(s), if any, or
upon simple request to Société Générale: [insert the relevant bond and
relevant website if any]]]

Redemption:

Final Redemption Amount : Unless previously redeemed, the
Issuer shall redeem the Notes on
the Maturity Date, in accordance
with the following provisions in
respect of each Note:

Specified Denomination x 100%

[insert the following provisions | [Substitute Coupon Amount:[®]]
where Interest Amount and/or the [Additional  Substitute  Coupon
Redemption Amount switch at the | aAmount: [®]]

option of the Issuer applies: Market Value for the Switch: [@]

[Substitute  Final Redemption
Interest  Amount  and/or  the | aAmount: [@]]
Redemption Amount switch at the

. Optional Modification Date(s): [®]
option of the Issuer:

Maturity Date: [In case of Open End Notes :

The Notes are Open End Notes
and do not have a maturity date.]

[The maturity date of the Notes
will be [insert the Maturity Date]].
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If the Notes are Partly-Paid Notes, insert the following:

Partly Paid Notes Provisions:

) Part Payment [Insert  the part payment
Amount(s): amount(s)]
(i) Part Payment Date(s): [Insert the part payment date(s)]

[If the Notes are Instalment Notes, insert the following:

Instalment Notes Provisions:

0]

Instalment Amount(s):

[Insert the instalment amount(s)]

(ii)

Instalment Date(s):

[Insert the instalment date(s)]]

[If the Notes are Dual Currency Notes, i

nsert the following:

Dual Currency Note Provisions:

(i) Settlement Currency [o]

(i) Dual Currency [Specify an exchange rate]
Exchange Rate:

(iii) Method of calculating | [Predetermined] [Calculation
the fixing of Dual | Agent Determination] [Screen
Currency Exchange | Rate Determination]

Rate:

[ If Predetermined:

- Predetermined Fixing

[specify the fixing]

[ If Screen Rate Determination or Calculation Agent Determination :

- Dual Currency Valuation Date

[o]

- Dual Currency Valuation Time

[o]

[ If Screen Rate Determination:

- Relevant Screen Page

[e]]

[In relation to Fixed Rate Notes only: Yield [®] (insert yield)]

Representative of the Noteholders :
[If the Notes are French law Notes:
[Specify the name and address]]

[If the Notes are English law Notes:

Not Applicable. The Notes being governed by [English Law] [Swedish Law]
[Finnish Law] [Norwegian Law] [Danish law], there is no Representative of the

Noteholders.]
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[Delete the Element C.10 if the Notes are derivative instruments to which Annex XIl of the Regulation
applies or if the Notes are debt securities to which Annex Xlll of the Regulation applies]

C.10

Interest Payment
linked to (a)
derivative(s)
instrument(s): Clear
and comprehensive
explanation to help
investors
understand how the
value of their
investment is
affected by the value
of the underlying
instrument(s),
especially under the
circumstances when
the risks are most
evident

See Element C.9 above

[Not Applicable. The payment of interest is not linked to a derivative
component.]

[The value of the Notes and the payment of a coupon amount on a relevant
interest payment date to a Noteholder will depend on the performance of the
underlying asset(s), on the relevant valuation date(s).

[In case of Credit Linked Notes : The amount payable in respect of interests
will be determined by reference to the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more credit event(s).]

[In case of Bond Linked Notes: The amount payable in respect of interests will
be determined by reference to the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more bond event(s).]

[In respect of the Family of Products "Certificate”, if the applicable Final Terms
specify that the Reference of the Product is a reference from 3.1.1 to 3.1.3,
add:

The value of the Notes is linked to the positive or negative performance of [the
underlying instrument] [the basket of underlying instruments] [one or several
underlying instrument(s) within the basket].

[In respect of the Family of Products "Vanilla®, if the applicable Final Terms
specify that the Reference of the Product is a reference from 3.2.1 to 3.2.6,
add:

The value of the Notes is linked to the positive or negative performance of [the
underlying instrument] [the basket of underlying instruments] [one or several
underlying instrument(s) within the basket]. The amount(s) to be paid is/are
determined [If the Reference of the Product is 3.2.1 or 3.2.2 or 3.2.5 or 3.2.6:
on the basis of the performance of [the underlying instrument] [the basket of
underlying instruments] [one or several underlying instrument(s) within the
basket]] [If the Reference of the Product is 3.2.3 or 3.2.4: on the basis a pre-
defined fixed amount]. Performance of [the underlying instrument] [the basket
of underlying instruments] [one or several underlying instrument(s) within the
basket] is [weighted] [,and/or] [leveraged] [and/or,] [averaged] [and/or,] [locked]
[,and/or] [floored] [and/or] capped.]

[In respect of the Family of Products "Barrier”, if the applicable Final Terms
specify that the Reference of the Product is a reference from 3.3.1 to 3.3.32,
add:

The value of the Notes is linked to the positive or negative performance of [the
underlying instrument] [one or several underlying instrument(s) within the
basket]. The amount(s) to be paid is/are determined and based on the
condition which is satisfied (or not) if the performance of [the underlying
instrument] [one or several underlying instrument(s) within the basket] is
[higher] [lower] than [or equal to] a predefined barrier performance.
Performance of [the underlying instrument] [one or several underlying
instrument(s) within the basket] is [weighted] [,and/or] [leveraged] [and/or,]
[averaged] [and/or,] [locked] [,and/or] [floored] [and/or] capped.]
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[In respect of the Family of Products "Accumulator and Cliquet", if the
applicable Final Terms specify that the Reference of the Product is a reference
from 3.5.1 to 3.5.4, add:

The value of the Notes is linked to the positive performance of [the underlying
instrument] [the basket of underlying instruments] [one or several underlying
instrument(s) within the basket]. The amount(s) to be paid is/are determined
on the basis of on an accumulation ([additive] [or] [multiplicative]) of
performances of [the underlying instrument] [the basket of underlying
instruments] [one or several underlying instrument(s) within the basket] over
several consecutive periods (performances being usually restriked at the
beginning of each period). Performance of [the underlying instrument] [the
basket of underlying instruments] [one or several underlying instrument(s)
within the basket] is [weighted] [,and/or] [leveraged] [and/or,] [averaged]
[and/or,] [locked] [,and/or] [floored] [and/or] capped.]

[In respect of the Family of Products "Multi-underlying", if the applicable Final
Terms specify that the Reference of the Product is a reference from 3.6.1 to
3.6.5, add:

The value of the Notes is linked to the positive or negative performance of
several underlying instruments comprising the basket. The amount(s) to be
paid is/are determined on the basis of the individual performance of each
underlying instrument, this individual performance being [weighted] [,and/or]
[leveraged] [and/or,] [averaged] [and/or,] [locked] [,and/or] [floored] [and/or]
capped.]

Composition of the basket can be altered over time depending on the
individual performance of the underlying instruments.

[In respect of the Family of Products "Volatility", if the applicable Final Terms
specify that the Reference of the Product is a reference from 3.7.1 to 3.7.11,
add:

The value of the Notes is linked to the positive or negative performance of the
historical variance or historical volatility of [the underlying instrument] [the
basket of underlying instruments] [one or several underlying instrument(s)
within the basket]. Variance and volatility are measures of the dispersion of
underlying instrument(s) returns. The amount(s) to be paid is/are determined
on the basis of (a) performance or level of [the underlying instrument] [the
basket of underlying instruments] [one or several underlying instrument(s)
within the basket], and / or (b) historical variance or historical volatility of [the
underlying instrument] [the basket of underlying instruments] and / or (c)
additional parameters (if relevant). Performance or level or historical variance
or historical volatility of [the underlying instrument] [the basket of underlying
instruments] is [weighted] [,and/or] [leveraged] [and/or,] [averaged] [and/or,]
[locked] [,and/or] [floored] [and/or] capped.]
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[In respect of the Family of Products "Systematic Strategy", if the applicable
Final Terms specify that the Reference of the Product is a reference from 3.8.1
to 3.8.4, add:

The value of the Notes is linked to the positive performance of a dynamic
basket made up of a risky component, a safe component [and a leverage
component]. The dynamic basket level is determined by iteration depending on
the exposure to the risky component, safe component [and leverage
component] and their respective levels. The exposure to the risky component,
safe component [and leverage component] is determined in the formula and as
an illustration can be determined in accordance with constant proportion
portfolio insurance or target volatility mechanisms. The dynamic basket level is
[weighted] [,and/or] [leveraged] [and/or,] [averaged] [and/or,] [locked] [,and/or]
[floored] [and/or] capped.]

[In respect of the Family of Products "Rate", if the applicable Final Terms
specify that the Reference of the Product is a reference from 3.9.1 to 3.9.3,
add:

The value of the Notes is linked to [a] [reference rate(s)][ an inflation index]
[inflation indices)].]

[In respect of the Family of Products "Combined Vanilla", if the applicable Final
Terms specify that the Reference of the Product is a reference from 3.11.1 to
3.11.4, add:

The value of the Notes is linked to the positive or negative performance of [the
underlying instrument] [the basket of underlying instruments] [one or several
underlying instrument(s) within the basket]. The amount(s) to be paid is/are
determined as a [floored] [,] [capped] [leveraged] weighted combination,
[additive] [or] [multiplicative] of [vanilla calls] [, puts] [, digits] [, fixed amounts],
and combinations, [additive] [or] [multiplicative] of [calls] [, digits] and [fixed
amounts].]

[Delete

the Element C.11 if the

Notes are debt securities to which Annex XlIl of the Regulation applies]

c1

Whether the
securities offered
are or will be the
object of an
application for
admission to
trading, with a view
to their distribution
in aregulated
market or other
equivalent markets
with indication of
the markets in
guestion

[Not Applicable. No application for admission to trading will be made.]
[Application will be made for the Notes to be admitted to trading on: [the
regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange] [Specify other market].]
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[Delete the Elements from C.15 to C.20 if the Notes are debt securities to which Annex V of the
Regulation applies or if the Notes are debt securities to which Annex Xlll of the Regulation applies]

[C.15

How the value of
the investment is
affected by the
value of the
underlying
instrument(s)

[Not Applicable. The value of the investment is not affected by the value of an
underlying instrument.]

[In the case of Structured Notes which are Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked
Notes: The value of the Notes is [not] affected by the value of an underlying
instrument [but] [and] by the occurrence or non-occurrence of a [credit] [bond]
event.]

[The value of the Notes [, the payment of a coupon amount on a relevant
interest payment date to a Noteholder ] [, the payment of an automatic early
redemption amount on a relevant automatic early redemption date] and the
payment of a redemption amount to a Noteholder on the maturity date will
depend on the performance of the underlying asset(s), on the relevant valuation
date(s).]

[In respect of the Family of Products "Certificate”, if the applicable Final Terms
specify that the Reference of the Product is a reference from 3.1.1 to 3.1.3, add:

The value of the Notes is linked to the positive or negative performance of [the
underlying instrument] [the basket of underlying instruments] [one or several
underlying instrument(s) within the basket]]

[In respect of the Family of Products "Vanilla", if the applicable Final Terms
specify that the Reference of the Product is a reference from 3.2.1 to 3.2.6, add:

The value of the Notes is linked to the positive or negative performance of [the
underlying instrument] [the basket of underlying instruments] [one or several
underlying instrument(s) within the basket]. The amount(s) to be paid is/are
determined on the basis of [If the Reference of the Product is 3.2.1 or 3.2.2 or
3.2.5 or 3.2.6: an amount which depends on the performance of [the underlying
instrument] [the basket of underlying instruments] [one or several underlying
instrument(s) within the basket]] [If the Reference of the Product is 3.2.3 or
3.2.4: a pre-defined fixed amount]. Performance of [the underlying instrument]
[the basket of underlying instruments] [one or several underlying instrument(s)
within the basket] is [weighted] [,and/or] [leveraged] [and/or,] [averaged]
[and/or,] [locked] [,and/or] [ floored] [and/or] [capped].]

[In respect of the Family of Products "Barrier", if the applicable Final Terms
specify that the Reference of the Product is a reference from 3.3.1 to 3.3.32,
add:

The value of the Notes is linked to the positive or negative performance of [the
underlying instrument] [one or several underlying instrument(s) within the
basket]. The amount(s) to be paid is/are determined on the basis of the
condition which is satisfied (or not) if the performance of [the underlying
instrument] [one or several underlying instrument(s) within the basket] is
[higher] [lower] than [or equal to] a predefined barrier performance.
Performance of [the underlying instrument] [one or several underlying
instrument(s) within the basket] can is [weighted] [,and/or] [leveraged] [and/or,]
[averaged] [and/or,] [locked] [,and/or] [floored] [and/or] [capped].]
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[In respect of the Family of Products "Accumulator and Cliquet", if the applicable
Final Terms specify that the Reference of the Product is a reference from 3.5.1
to 3.5.4, add:

The value of the Notes is linked to the positive performance of [the underlying
instrument] [the basket of underlying instruments] [one or several underlying
instrument(s) within the basket]. The amount(s) to be paid is/are determined on
the basis of on an accumulation ([additive] [or] [multiplicative]) of performances
of [the underlying instrument] [the basket of underlying instruments] [one or
several underlying instrument(s) within the basket] over several consecutive
periods (performances being usually restriked at the beginning of each period).
Performance of [the underlying instrument] [the basket of underlying
instruments] [one or several underlying instrument(s) within the basket] is
[weighted] [and/or] [leveraged] [and/or,] [averaged] [and/or,] [locked] [,and/or]
[floored] [and/or] [capped].]

[In respect of the Family of Products "Multi-underlying”, if the applicable Final
Terms specify that the Reference of the Product is a reference from 3.6.1 to
3.6.5, add:

The value of the Notes is linked to the positive or negative performance of
several underlying instruments comprising the basket. The amount(s) to be paid
is/are determined on the basis of the individual performance of each underlying
instrument, this individual performance being [weighted] [,and/or] [leveraged]
[and/or,] [averaged] [and/or,] [locked] [,and/or] [ floored] [and/or] [capped].

Composition of the basket can be altered over time depending on the individual
performance of the underlying instruments.] [In respect of the Family of
Products "Volatility", if the applicable Final Terms specify that the Reference of
the Product is a reference from 3.7.1 to 3.7.11, add:

The value of the Notes is linked to the positive or negative performance of the
historical variance or historical volatility of [the underlying instrument] [the
basket of underlying instruments] [one or several underlying instrument(s) within
the basket]. Variance and volatility are measures of the dispersion of underlying
instrument(s) returns. The amount(s) to be paid is/are determined on the basis
of (a) performance or level of [the underlying instrument] [the basket of
underlying instruments] [one or several underlying instrument(s) within the
basket], and / or (b) historical variance or historical volatility of [the underlying
instrument] [the basket of underlying instruments] and / or (c) additional
parameters (if relevant). Performance or level or historical variance or historical
volatility of [the underlying instrument] [the basket of underlying instruments] is
[weighted] [,and/or] [leveraged] [and/or,] [averaged] [and/or,] [locked] [,and/or]
[floored] [and/or] [capped].]

[In respect of the Family of Products "Systematic Strategy", if the applicable
Final Terms specify that the Reference of the Product is a reference from 3.8.1
to 3.8.4, add:

The value of the Notes is linked to the positive performance of a dynamic
basket made up of a risky component, a safe component [and a leverage
component]. The dynamic basket level is determined by iteration depending on
the exposure to the risky component, safe component [and leverage
component] and their respective levels. The exposure to the risky component,
safe component [and leverage component] is determined in the formula and as
an illustration can be determined in accordance with constant proportion
portfolio insurance or target volatility mechanisms. The dynamic basket level is
[weighted] [,and/or] [leveraged] [and/or,] [averaged] [and/or,] [locked] [,and/or]
[floored] [and/or] [capped].]
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[In respect of the Family of Products "Rate", if the applicable Final Terms
specify that the Reference of the Product is a reference from 3.9.1 to 3.9.3, add:

The value of the Notes is linked to [a] [reference rate[s]][ inflation index][inflation
indices.]

[In respect of the Family of Products "Credit or Bond Linked", if the applicable
Final Terms specify that the Reference of the Product is 3.10.3, add:

The value of the Notes is linked to the positive or negative performance of the
underlying instrument. The amount(s) to be paid is/are determined on the basis
of one of several conditions, one of which is satisfied if the level of the
underlying instrument is [higher] [lower] than [or equal to] a predefined barrier.]
[In respect of the Family of Products "Combined Vanilla", if the applicable Final
Terms specify that the Reference of the Product is a reference from 3.11.1 to
3.11.4, add:

The value of the Notes is linked to the positive or negative performance of [the
underlying instrument] [the basket of underlying instruments] [one or several
underlying instrument(s) within the basket] [the portfolio[s] of underlyings
specified in Element C.20 below]. The amount(s) to be paid is/are determined
as a [floored] [,] [capped] [leveraged] weighted combination, [additive] [or]
[multiplicative] of [vanilla calls] [, puts] [, digits] [, fixed amounts], and
combinations, [additive] [or] [multiplicative] of [calls] [, digits] and [fixed
amounts].]

[C.16

The maturity date
and the final
reference date

[In case of Credit Linked Notes:

The maturity date of the Notes will be [insert the Scheduled Maturity Date]
(subject to the occurrence of one or more credit event(s) or unsettled credit
event(s)) and the final reference date is the last credit event occurrence date
(subject to the occurrence of one or more credit event(s) or unsettled credit
event(s)).]

[In case of Bond Linked Notes:

The maturity date of the Notes will be [insert the Scheduled Maturity Date]
(subject to the occurrence of one or more bond event(s) or unsettled bond
event(s)) and the final reference date is the last bond event occurrence date
(subject to the occurrence of one or more bond event(s) or unsettled bond
event(s)).]

[In case of Open End Notes :

The Notes are Open End Notes. No final reference date is applicable to the
Notes.]

[The maturity date of the Notes will be [insert the Maturity Date]. No final
reference date is applicable to the Notes.]

[The maturity date of the Notes will be [insert the Maturity Date], and the final
reference date will be the last valuation date.]

The maturity date may be modified pursuant to the provisions of Element C.8
above and Element C.18 below.

[C.17

Settlement
procedure of the
derivative
securities

[Cash delivery] [and/or] [physical delivery] [In the case of Structured Notes
which are Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked Notes: Cash delivery or physical
delivery and/or cash delivery if the delivery of all or part of the deliverable
assets is impossible or illegal]]

23




Summary

[C.18

How the return on
derivative
securities takes
place

Unless previously redeemed, the return on the derivative securities will take

place as follows:

Specified Denomination: [insert specified denomination]
[Adjusted Specified Denomination : [insert]]

[Calculation Amount: insert calculation amount]
[Interest Commencement Date : [insert the relevant date]]

[In case of fixed interest :

Rate(s) of Interest :

[Insert the relevant rate of interest]

Specified Period(s)/Interest
Payment Date(s)[(i)]:

[Insert the relevant

date(s)]

interest payment

Fixed Coupon Amount:

[Insert the fixed coupon amount]

[In the case of Credit Linked Notes, add:
Payment of interest is subject to the
occurrence or the non-occurrence of a
credit event]

[In the case of Bond Linked Notes, add:
Payment of interest is subject to the
occurrence or the non-occurrence of a
bond event]

[Day Count Fraction:

[Insert the relevant day count fraction]]

[In case of floating interest:

Floating Coupon Amount:

[Insert the relevant formula]

[In the case of Credit Linked Notes, add:
Payment of interest is subject to the
occurrence or the non-occurrence of a
credit event]

[In the case of Bond Linked Notes, add:
Payment of interest is subject to the
occurrence or the non-occurrence of a
bond event]

[Day Count Fraction:

[Insert the relevant day count fraction]]

Specified Period(s)/Interest
Payment Date(s)[(i)]:

[Insert the relevant

date(s)]

interest payment

Reference Rate:

[Insert the relevant reference rate]

[In case of structured interest:

Structured Interest Amount:

[Insert the applicable formula
corresponding to the reference of the
product specified in the applicable Final
Terms relating to the Notes]

[In the case of Credit Linked Notes, add:
Payment of interest is subject to the
occurrence or the non-occurrence of a
credit event]

[In the case of Bond Linked Notes, add:
Payment of interest is subject to the
occurrence or the non-occurrence of a
bond event]

[Day Count Fraction:

[Insert the relevant day count fraction]]

Specified Period(s) / Interest

[Insert the relevant interest payment
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Payment Date(s)[(i)]: | date(s)]

[In case of automatic early redemption amount:

Automatic Early Redemption [Insert the applicable formula
Amount: corresponding to the reference of the
product specified in the applicable Final
Terms relating to the Notes] [If the
Structured Notes are Warrant Linked
Notes: Automatic Early Redemption
Amount per Calculation Amount]

Automatic Early Redemption [Insert the relevant date(s)]

Date(s)[()]:

Automatic Early Redemption [Insert the relevant event]

Event:

Final Redemption Amount: [At par] [Specified Denomination

multiplied by [Insert the percentagel]]
[Insert the applicable formula
corresponding to the reference of the
product specified in the applicable Final
Terms relating to the Notes] [If the
Structured Notes are Preference Share
Linked Notes and Warrant Linked Notes:
Final Redemption Amount per
Calculation Amount]

[In case of physical delivery:

The Notes may be redeemed by a cash amount and/or by delivery of the
relevant deliverable asset(s).

[Insert here any applicable dates corresponding to the Reference of the Product
specified in the applicable Final Terms :

[Definitions relating to date(s): [If applicable, insert the dates relating to
the structured interest (if any), the
automatic early redemption (if any) and
the final redemption corresponding the
reference of the product specified In the
applicable Final Terms]]]

[Insert here any applicable definitions corresponding to the Reference of the
Product specified in the applicable Final Terms :

[Definitions relating to the | [If applicable, insert the definitions relating
Product: to the structured interest (if any), the
automatic early redemption (if any) and
the final redemption corresponding to the
reference of the product specified In the
applicable Final Terms]]]

[In case of a redemption at the option of the Issuer, insert the following:

Redemption at the option of the Issuer:

[Optional Redemption Amount: [Market Value] [Specified Denomination
multiplied by [Insert the percentage]]
[Insert the formula corresponding to the
Final Redemption Amount specified
above calculated on the valuation date

25




Summary

linked to the relevant Optional
Redemption Date(s)] [If the Structured
Notes are Preference Share Linked Notes
and Warrant Linked Notes: Early
Redemption Amount per Calculation
Amount]]

[Market Value means an amount
determined by the calculation agent,
which, on the due date for the redemption
of the Note, shall represent the fair market
value of the Notes and shall have the
effect (after taking into account the costs
of unwinding any hedging arrangements
entered into in respect of the Notes) of
preserving for the Noteholders the
economic equivalent of the obligations of
the Issuer to make the payments in
respect of the Notes which would, but for
such early redemption, have fallen due
after the relevant early redemption date.]

[Optional Redemption Date(s)
[@)]:

[Insert the relevant date(s)]]]

[In case of a redemption at the option of the Noteholders, insert the following:

Redemption at the option of the Noteholders:

[Optional Redemption Amount:

[Market Value] [Specified Denomination
multiplied by [Insert the percentage]]
[Insert the formula corresponding to the
Final Redemption Amount specified
above calculated on the valuation date
linked to the relevant Optional
Redemption Date(s)]]

[Market Value means an amount
determined by the calculation agent,
which, on the due date for the redemption
of the Note, shall represent the fair market
value of the Notes and shall have the
effect (after taking into account the costs
of unwinding any hedging arrangements
entered into in respect of the Notes) of
preserving for the Noteholders the
economic equivalent of the obligations of
the Issuer to make the payments in
respect of the Notes which would, but for
such early redemption, have fallen due
after the relevant early redemption date.]

[Optional Redemption Date(s)
[@)]:

[Insert the relevant date(s)]]]]

[If the Notes are Partly-Paid Notes, insert the following:

Partly Paid Notes Provisions:

@) Part Payment
Amount(s):

[Insert  the part payment
amount(s)]
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(i) Part Payment Date(s): [Insert the part payment date(s)]

[If the Notes are Instalment Notes, insert the following:

Instalment Notes Provisions:

(i) Instalment Amount(s): [Insert the instalment amount(s)]

(i) Instalment Date(s): [Insert the instalment date(s)]]

[If the Notes are Dual Currency Notes, insert the following:

Dual Currency Note Provisions:

0] Settlement Currency [o]

(i) Dual Currency [Specify an exchange rate]
Exchange Rate:

(iii) Method of calculating | [Predetermined] [Calculation
the fixing of Dual | Agent Determination] [Screen
Currency Exchange | Rate Determination]

Rate:

[If Predetermined:

- Predetermined Fixing [specify the fixing]

[If Screen Rate Determination or Calculation Agent Determination :

- Dual Currency Valuation Date [e]

- Dual Currency Valuation Time [o]

[If Screen Rate Determination:

- Relevant Screen Page [e]]

[insert the following provisions where Interest Amount and/or the Redemption
Amount switch at the option of the Issuer applies:

Interest Amount and/or the
Redemption Amount switch at
the option of the Issuer:

[Substitute Coupon Amount: [e]]

[Additional Substitute Coupon [e]]
Amount:

Market Value for the Switch: [e]

[Substitute Final Redemption [e]]
Amount:

Optional Modification Date(s): [e]]

27




Summary

[In case of Italian Certificates and Additional Amount is applicable :

Additional Amount(s): [Insert the additional amount(s)]

Additional Amount(s) Payment | [Insert the additional amount(s) payment
Date(s): dates]]

[C.19

The final reference
price of the
underlying

[In case of Structured Notes which are Credit Linked Notes: [Not Applicable].
The Notes are indexed on the occurrence or non occurrence of one or more
credit event(s).]

[In case of Structured Notes which are Bond Linked Notes: Not Applicable. The
Notes are indexed on the occurrence or non occurrence of one or more bond
event(s).]

[Not Applicable. The Notes do not have any underlying.]

[See Element C.18 above.]

[Final reference price: the value of the underlying instrument(s) on the relevant
valuation date(s) for the redemption, subject to the occurrence of certain
extraordinary events and adjustments affecting such underlying instrument(s).]

[C.20

Type of the
underlying and
where the
information on the
underlying can be
found

[The type of underlying is : [share] [index] [SGI index] [Depositary Receipts]
[dividend] [ETF] [reference rate] [foreign exchange rate ] [commodity]
[commodity index] [fund] [inflation index] [ETP] [non equity securities which are
[certificates] [over-the-counter derivative products] [[option] [future] contract[s]]]
[preference share] [warrant] [portfolio] [cds spread]]

[The Notes are linked to the following portfolio[s] of underlyings:

Information about the underlying is available on the following website(s), if any,
or upon simple request to Société Générale.

[Insert details of the relevant portfolio assets]]

[Information about the underlying is available on the following website(s), if any,
or upon simple request to Société Générale: [insert the name of the underlying
and the relevant website if any]]

[In case of Structured Notes which are Credit Linked Notes: The Notes are
indexed on the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more credit event(s) [on
one or several reference entity(ies)]) [belonging to an index].

Information about the [reference entity] [reference entities] [belonging to the
index] [cds spread] is available on the following website(s), if any, or upon
simple request to Société Générale: [insert the name of the reference entity(ies)
or index and relevant website if any]]

[In case of Structured Notes which are Bond Linked Notes: The Notes are
indexed on the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more bond event(s).

Information about the bond is available on the following website(s), if any, or
upon simple request to Société Générale: [insert the relevant bond and relevant
website if any]]

[Not Applicable. The Notes do not have any underlying and the redemption at
maturity or earlier is equal to a fixed amount different from 100 per cent. of the
Specified Denomination.]
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[Delete Element C.21 if the Notes are debt securities to which Annex V of the Regulation applies or if the
Notes are derivative instruments to which Annex Xl of the Regulation applies]

[C.21

Market where the
securities will be
traded and for which
prospectus has
been published.

[Indicate each market where the securities will be traded and for which
prospectus has been published.]

Section D — Risks

D.2

Key information on
the key risks that
are specific to the
issuer [and the
guarantor]

The Group is exposed to the risks inherent in its core businesses.

The Group's risk management focuses on the following main categories of
risks, any of which could materially adversely affect the Group's business,
results of operations and financial condition:

Credit and counterparty risk (including country risk): risk of losses arising
from the inability of the Group’s customers, issuers or other counterparties to
meet their financial commitments. Credit risk includes counterparty risk linked
to market transactions (replacement risk) and as well as securitisation
activities.

Market risk: risk of a loss of value on financial instruments arising from
changes in market parameters, volatility of these parameters and correlations
between them.

Operational risks: risk of losses or sanctions due to inadequacies or failures
in internal procedures or systems, human error or external events;

Structural interest and exchange rate risk: risk of loss or of write-downs in
the Group’s assets arising from variations in interest or exchange rates.
Liquidity risk: risk of the Group not being able to meet its cash or collateral
requirements as they arise and at a reasonable cost.

[Delete the Element D.3 if the

applies

Notes are derivative instruments to which Annex Xll of the Regulation

[D.3

Key information on
the key risks that
are specific to the
securities

[Insert if the Notes are Notes without a predefined maturity date: In the case of
Open End Notes, the duration of the Notes is dependent on an optional
redemption, elected by the Issuer. The possibility of an optional redemption by
the Issuer, on a predetermined date, is likely to have a negative effect on the
market value of the Notes. Potential investors should consider the
reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at the time of the
redemption. If there is no secondary market, there might be no possibility for
the investors to sell the Notes. [Furthermore, this optional redemption at the
sole discretion of the Issuer could prevent the Noteholders from benefitting
from the performance of the underlying instrument(s) over the whole period
initially envisaged which would have been reflected in the interest amount.]

[Insert if the Notes are subject to redemption at the option of the Issuer: The
possibility of an optional redemption by the Issuer, on a predetermined date, is
likely to have a negative effect on the market value of the Notes. Potential
investors should consider the reinvestment risk in light of other investments
available at the time of the redemption. [Furthermore, this optional redemption
at the sole discretion of the Issuer could prevent the Noteholders from
benefitting from the performance of the underlying instrument(s) following any
redemption upon exercise of such option which would have been reflected in
the interest amount.]
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[insert only if the Notes are Partly-Paid Notes: Any failure by a Noteholder to
pay any subsequent instalment of a Partly-Paid Note payable in instalments
may lead to a partial or total loss of its investment]

[Insert only if the Notes are Fixed Rate Notes: Investment in Fixed Rate Notes
involves risks linked to the fluctuation of the market rates which could have
negative effect on the value of these Notes.]

[Insert only if the Notes are Floating Rate Notes: Notes with floating interest
rate(s) can be volatile investments.]

[Insert only if the Notes are inverse Floating Rate Notes: Inverse Floating Rate
Notes are more volatile because an increase in the reference rate not only
decreases the interest rate of the Notes, but may also reflect an increase in
prevailing interest rates, which further adversely affects the market value of
these Notes.]

[Insert only if the Notes are Zero Coupon Notes: Changes in market interest
rates have a substantially stronger impact on the prices of Zero Coupon Notes
than on the prices of ordinary Notes because the discounted issue prices are
substantially below par.]

[Insert if the Notes are Warrant Linked Notes or Preference Share Linked
Notes: In case of occurrence of events affecting the underlying instrument(s),
the terms and conditions of the Notes allow the Issuer to early redeem the
Notes on the basis of the ratio between the value of the underlying on the date
on which a disruption event occurs and its initial value, without the consent of
the Noteholders.

Payments (whether in respect of principal and/or interest and whether at
maturity or otherwise) on the Notes are calculated by reference to certain
underlying(s), the return of the Notes is based on changes in the value of the
underlying(s), which may fluctuate. Potential investors should be aware that
these Notes may be volatile and that they may receive no interest and may
lose all or a substantial portion of their principal.]

[Insert only in the case of Structured Interest: Payments in respect of interest,
whether at maturity or otherwise, on the Notes are calculated by reference to
certain underlyings, the return of the Notes is based on changes in the value
of the underlying, which may fluctuate. Potential investors should be aware
that these Notes may be volatile and that they may receive no interest.]

[Insert if the Notes are Dual Currency Notes: In the case of Dual Currency
Notes, the amount of principal and/or interest payable are dependent upon
movements in currency exchage rates or are payable in one or more
currencies which may be different from the currency in which the Notes are
denominated. Accordingly an investment in Dual Currency Notes may bear
similar market risks to a direct foreign exchange investment and potential
investors should take advice accordingly.]

[insert if the Notes are Partly-Paid Notes: In case of Partly-Paid Notes, the
issue price is payable in more than one part payment. Failure to pay any
subsequent part payment could result in an investor losing some or all of his
investment.]

[insert if the Notes are Secured Notes issued by SG Issuer: In case of Secured
Notes, there is no guarantee that following enforcement of the relevant pledge,
the collateral proceeds available for distribution (or the value of the collateral
assets available to be delivered) will be sufficient to pay all amounts due to
investors. If there is any shortfall in amounts due to an investor then such
investor shall have no further claim against the Issuer, but keep a claim
against the Guarantor in respect of such amounts.]
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[The terms and conditions of the Notes may include provisions under which
upon the occurrence of certain market disruptions delays in the settlement of
the Notes may be incurred or certain modifications be made. Moreover, in
case of occurrence of events affecting the underlying instrument(s), the terms
and conditions of the Notes allow the Issuer to substitute the underlying
instrument(s) by new underlying instrument(s), cease the exposure to the
underlying asset(s) and apply a reference rate to the proceeds so obtained
until the maturity date of the Notes, postpone the maturity date of the Notes,
early redeem the Notes on the basis of the market value of these Notes, or

deduct from any due amount the increase cost of hedging, and in each case
without the prior consent of the Noteholders.]

During the lifetime of the Notes, the market value of these Notes may be lower
than the invested capital. Furthermore, an insolvency of the Issuer [and/or the
Guarantor] may cause a total loss of the invested capital.

[The Guarantee constitutes a general and unsecured contractual obligation of
the Guarantor and no other person. Any payments on the Notes are also
dependent on the creditworthiness of the Guarantor.]

[Prospective investors in Notes benefiting from the Guarantee should note that
in case of payment default of an Issuer the entitlement of the Noteholder will
be limited to the sums obtained by making a claim under the Guarantee in
accordance with its terms and they shall have no right to institute any
proceeding, judicial or otherwise, or otherwise assert a claim against the
Issuer and, in relation to Secured Notes only, from the sums obtained
following enforcement of the relevant Pledge Agreement.]

[The Guarantee is a payment guarantee only and not a guarantee of the
performance by the relevant Issuer or any of its other obligations under the
Notes benefiting from the Guarantee.]

[The Guarantee may cover only part of the relevant Issuer's payment
obligations under the relevant Series of Notes. In such a case, Noteholders
may retain the risk that payments under the Guarantee are less than the
amounts due by the Issuer under the Notes.]

[Société Générale will act as issuer under the Programme, as the Guarantor of
the Notes issued by the Issuer and also as provider of hedging instruments to
the Issuer. As a result, investors will be exposed not only to the credit risk of
the Guarantor but also operational risks arising from the lack of independence
of the Guarantor, in assuming its duties and obligations as the Guarantor and
provider of the hedging instruments.]

[The potential conflicts of interests and operational risks arising from such lack
of independence are in part intended to be mitigated by the fact that different
divisions within the Guarantor will be responsible for implementing the
Guarantee and providing the hedging instruments and that each division is run
as a separate operational unit, segregated by Chinese walls (information
barriers) and run by different management teams.]

[The Issuer and the Guarantor and any of their subsidiaries and/or their
affiliates, in connection with their other business activities, may possess or
acquire material information about the underlying assets. Such activities and
information may cause consequences adverse to Noteholders.

The Issuer and the Guarantor and any of their subsidiaries and/or their
affiliates may act in other capacities with regard to the Notes, such as market
maker, calculation agent or agent. Therefore, a potential conflict of interests
may arise.

In connection with the offering of the Notes, the Issuer and the Guarantor
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and/or their affiliates may enter into one or more hedging transaction(s) with
respect to a reference asset(s) or related derivatives, which may affect the
market price, liquidity or value of the Notes.]

[Delete the Element D.6 if the Notes are debt instruments to which Annex V of the Regulation applies or if
the Notes are debt instruments to which Annex Xlll of the Regulation applies]

[D.6

Key information on
the key risks that
are specific to the
securities and risk
warning to the effect
that investors may
lose the value of
their entire
investment or part
of it

[Insert if the Notes are Notes without a predefined maturity date: In the case of
Open End Notes, the duration of the Notes is dependent on an optional
redemption, elected by the Issuer. The possibility of an optional redemption by
the Issuer, on a predetermined date, is likely to have a negative effect on the
market value of the Notes. Potential investors should consider the
reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at the time of the
redemption. If there is no secondary market, there might be no possibility for
the investors to sell the Notes. [Furthermore, this optional redemption at the
sole discretion of the Issuer could prevent the Noteholders from benefitting
from the performance of the underlying instrument(s) over the whole period
initially envisaged.]

[Insert if the Notes are subject to redemption at the option of the Issuer: The
possibility of an optional redemption by the Issuer, on a predetermined date, is
likely to have a negative effect on the market value of the Notes. Potential
investors should consider the reinvestment risk in light of other investments
available at the time of the redemption. [Furthermore, this optional redemption
at the only discretion of the Issuer could prevent the Noteholders from
benefitting from the performance of the underlying instrument(s) over the
whole period initially envisaged.]

[Insert if the Notes are subject to automatic early redemption: The Notes may
provide for an automatic early redemption linked to a specific event. Therefore,
this may prevent the Noteholders from benefitting from the performance of the
underlying instrument(s) over the whole period initially envisaged.]

[Insert only if the Notes are Structured Notes (other than Warrant Linked Notes
or Preference Share Linked Notes): The terms and conditions of the Notes
may include provisions under which upon the occurrence of certain market
disruptions delays in the settlement of the Notes may be incurred or certain
modifications be made. Moreover, in case of occurrence of events affecting
the underlying instrument(s), the terms and conditions of the Notes allow the
Issuer to substitute the underlying instrument(s) by new underlying
instrument(s), cease the exposure to the underlying asset(s) and apply a
reference rate to the proceeds so obtained until the maturity date of the Notes,
postpone the maturity date of the Notes, early redeem the Notes on the basis
of the market value of these Notes, or deduct from any due amount the
increase cost of hedging, and in each case without the consent of the
Noteholders.

[Insert only if the Notes are Warrant Linked Note or Preference Share Linked
Notes: In case of occurrence of events affecting the underlying instrument(s),
the terms and conditions of the Notes allow the Issuer to early redeem the
Notes on the basis of the ratio between the value of the underlying on the date
on which a disruption event occurs and its initial value, without the consent of
the Noteholders.]

[Insert only if the Notes are Fixed Rate Notes: Investment in Notes including
fixed interest rate involves risks linked to the fluctuation of the market rates
which could have negative effect on the value of these Notes.]
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[Insert only if the Notes are Floating Rate Notes: Notes with floating interest
rate(s) can be volatile investments.]

[Insert only if the Notes are Structured Notes other than Credit Linked Notes
(except if the applicable Final Terms specify that the Reference of the Product
is 3.10.3) or Bond Linked Notes: Payments (whether in respect of principal
and/or interest and whether at maturity or otherwise) on the Notes are
calculated by reference to certain underlying(s), the return of the Notes is
based on changes in the value of the underlying(s), which may fluctuate.
Potential investors should be aware that these Notes may be volatile and that
they may receive no interest and may lose all or a substantial portion of their
principal.]

[Insert only if the Notes are Credit Linked Notes : Payments (whether in
respect of principal and/or interest and whether at maturity or otherwise) on
the Notes are linked to the occurrence or non occurrence of one or more credit
event(s) relating to one or more reference entity(ies). If the calculation agent
determines that one or more credit event(s) has(have) occurred, the obligation
of the Issuer to pay the principal on the maturity date will be replaced by (i) an
obligation to pay other amounts (either fixed or calculated by reference to the
value of the deliverable asset(s) of the relevant reference entity, and in each
case, which may be lower than the par value of the Notes on the relevant
date), and / or (ii) an obligation to deliver the deliverable asset. Furthermore,
credit linked notes paying interest(s) may cease to produce interest(s) at the
credit event determination date or earlier.]

[Insert only if the Notes are Bond Linked Notes : Payments (whether in respect
of principal and/or interest and whether at maturity or otherwise) on the Notes
are linked to the occurrence or non occurrence of one or more bond event(s)
relating to one or more bond(s). If the calculation agent determines that one or
more bond event(s) has(have) occurred, the obligation of the Issuer to pay the
principal on the maturity date will be replaced by an obligation to pay other
amounts (either fixed or calculated by reference to the value of the relevant
bond, and in each case, which may be lower than the par value of the Notes
on the relevant date). Furthermore, bond linked notes paying interest(s) may
cease to produce interest(s) at the bond event determination date or earlier.]

[Insert only if the Notes may be redeemed by way of physical delivery: In the
event of the Notes providing for a delivery of any deliverable asset upon
redemption, the delivery of such deliverable asset will be subject to all
applicable laws, regulations and practices and the Issuer shall not incur any
liability whatsoever if it is unable to deliver or procure the delivery of such
deliverable asset to the relevant holder of the Notes because of any such
laws, regulations or practices. Each holder of a Note should be aware that if
the Notes may be redeemed by physical delivery of the deliverable asset, it
shall be deemed to acknowledge its understanding and acceptance of this
matter and to have made its own examination and assessment of its capacity
and power to receive such deliverable asset and not to have relied on any
representation of the Issuer, the Paying Agents, Société Générale as
Guarantor or as Calculation Agent under the Notes, or Société Générale’s
affiliates regarding this matter.[No share in Société Générale or any of its
affiliates will be delivered. If the share in Société Générale or any of its
affiliates should be delivered, such share in Société Générale will be replaced
by, in due proportion, an equivalent amount in cash.]
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[Insert if the Notes are Dual Currency Notes: In the case of Dual Currency
Notes, the amount of principal and/or interest payable are dependent upon
movements in currency exchage rates or are payable in one or more
currencies which may be different from the currency in which the Notes are
denominated. Accordingly an investment in Dual Currency Notes may bear
similar market risks to a direct foreign exchange investment and potential
investors should take advice accordingly.]

[insert if the Notes are Partly-Paid Notes: In case of Partly-Paid Notes, the
issue price is payable in more than one part payment. Failure to pay any
subsequent part payment could result in an investor losing some or all of his
investment.]

[insert if the Notes are Secured Notes issued by SG Issuer: In case of Secured
Notes, there is no guarantee that following enforcement of the relevant pledge,
the collateral proceeds available for distribution (or the value of the collateral
assets available to be delivered) will be sufficient to pay all amounts due to
investors. If there is any shortfall in amounts due to an investor then such
investor shall have no further claim against the Issuer, but keep a claim
against the Guarantor in respect of such amounts.]

During the lifetime of the Notes, the market value of these Notes may be lower
than the invested capital. Furthermore, an insolvency of the Issuer [and/or the
Guarantor] may cause a total loss of the invested capital.

[The Guarantee constitutes a general and unsecured contractual obligation of
the Guarantor and no other person. Any payments on the Notes are also
dependent on the creditworthiness of the Guarantor.]

[Prospective investors in Notes benefiting from the Guarantee should note that
in case of payment default of an Issuer the entitlement of the Noteholder will
be limited to the sums obtained by making a claim under the Guarantee in
accordance with its terms and they shall have no right to institute any
proceeding, judicial or otherwise, or otherwise assert a claim against the
Issuer and, in relation to Secured Notes only, from the sums obtained
following enforcement of the relevant Pledge Agreement.]

[The Guarantee is a payment guarantee only and not a guarantee of the
performance by the relevant Issuer or any of its other obligations under the
Notes benefiting from the Guarantee.]

[The Guarantee may cover only part of the relevant Issuer's payment
obligations under the relevant Series of Notes. In such a case, Noteholders
may retain the risk that payments under the Guarantee are less than the
amounts due by the Issuer under the Notes.]

[Société Générale will act as issuer under the Programme, as the Guarantor of
the Notes issued by the Issuer and also as provider of hedging instruments to
the Issuer. As a result, investors will be exposed not only to the credit risk of
the Guarantor but also operational risks arising from the lack of independence
of the Guarantor, in assuming its duties and obligations as the Guarantor and
provider of the hedging instruments.]

[The potential conflicts of interests and operational risks arising from such lack
of independence are in part intended to be mitigated by the fact that different
divisions within the Guarantor will be responsible for implementing the
Guarantee and providing the hedging instruments and that each division is run
as a separate operational unit, segregated by Chinese walls (information
barriers) and run by different management teams.]
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[The Issuer and the Guarantor and any of their subsidiaries and/or their
affiliates, in connection with their other business activities, may possess or
acquire material information about the underlying assets. Such activities and
information may cause consequences adverse to Noteholders.

The Issuer and the Guarantor and any of their subsidiaries and/or their
affiliates may act in other capacities with regard to the Notes, such as market
maker, calculation agent or agent. Therefore, a potential conflict of interests
may arise.

In connection with the offering of the Notes, the Issuer and the Guarantor
and/or their affiliates may enter into one or more hedging transaction(s) with
respect to a reference asset(s) or related derivatives, which may affect the
market price, liquidity or value of the Notes.]

[The Issuer and any of its subsidiaries and/or its affiliates, in connection with
its other business activities, may possess or acquire material information
about the underlying assets. Such activities and information may cause
consequences adverse to Noteholders.

The Issuer and any of its subsidiaries and/or its affiliates may act in other
capacities with regard to the Notes, such as market maker, calculation agent
or agent. Therefore, a potential conflict of interests may arise.

In connection with the offering of the Notes, the Issuer and/or its affiliates may
enter into one or more hedging transaction(s) with respect to a reference
asset(s) or related derivatives, which may affect the market price, liquidity or
value of the Notes.]

The attention of the investors is drawn to the fact that they could sustain
an entire or a partial loss of their investment.
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Section E — Offer

[Delete the Elements E.2b and E.3 if the Notes are debt instruments to which Annex Xlll of the Regulation

applies

E.2b

Reasons for the
offer and use of
proceeds

[The net proceeds from each issue of Notes will be applied for the general
financing purposes of the Société Générale Group, which include making a
profit.] [Insert details relating to any other particular use of proceeds]

E.3 Description of the [The Notes are not subject to a public offer in the European Economic Area.]
terms and Public Offer Jurisdiction(s) : [Specify country(ies) of the offer]
conditions of the . . .

” Offer Period: [Specify the offer period]
offer
Offer Price: [Specify the offer price]
Conditions to which the offer is subject: [Specify the conditions to which the
offer is subject]

E.4 Description of any [Need to include a summarised description of any interest, including conflicting
interest that is ones, that is material to the issue/offer, detailing the persons involved and the
material to the nature of the interest.] [Save for any fees payable to the dealer[s], so far as the
issue/offer including | Issuer is aware, no person involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest
conflicting interests | material to the offer.]

E.7 Estimated expenses | [Not Applicable. No expenses are charged to the investor by the Issuer or the

charged to the
investor by the
Issuer or the offeror

offeror.] [The expenses charged to the investor will be [Specify the amount or
the percentage, as the case may be.]
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RISK FACTORS

Prospective purchasers of Notes should carefully consider the following information in conjunction with
the other information contained in this Base Prospectus, any Supplement thereto, the 2015 Registration
Document of Société Générale and its related updates (see the section "Documents Incorporated by
Reference") and any Final Terms before purchasing Notes.

Each Issuer and the Guarantor believe that the following factors may affect the relevant Issuer's ability to fulfil its
obligations under Notes issued under the Programme and/or the Guarantor's ability to fulfil its obligations under
the Guarantee in relation to such Notes, respectively. Most of these factors are contingencies which may or may
not occur and none of the Issuers or the Guarantor is in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such
contingency occurring.

In addition, factors which each Issuer and the Guarantor believe are material for the purpose of assessing the
market risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme are also described below.

Each Issuer and the Guarantor believe that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in
investing in Notes issued under the Programme, but the inability of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor to pay
interest (if any), principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes may occur for other reasons which
may not be considered significant risks by the Issuers and the Guarantor based on information currently available
to them or which they may not currently be able to anticipate.

The order of presentation of the above described risk factors is not an indication of the likelihood of their
occurrence.

Additional risks factors specific to U.S. Exempt Securities may be set out in the applicable Offering Circular. Prior
to acquiring an interest in U.S. Exempt Securities, prospective investors should read and understand the
information provided in the Base Prospectus, any Supplement(s) thereto, and any applicable Offering Circular.

1. GENERAL

11 Independent review and advice

Each prospective investor in the Notes must determine, based on its own independent review and such
professional advice as it deems appropriate under the circumstances, that its acquisition of the Notes is
fully consistent with its financial needs, objectives and condition, complies and is fully consistent with all
investment policies, guidelines and restrictions applicable to it and is a fit, proper and suitable
investment for it, notwithstanding the clear and substantial risks inherent in investing in or holding the
Notes.

A prospective investor may not rely on the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or the Dealer(s) or any
of their respective affiliates in connection with its determination as to the legality of its acquisition of the
Notes or as to the other matters referred to above.

1.2 Assessment of investment suitability

Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own
financial circumstances and investment objectives, and only after careful consideration with their
financial, legal, tax and other advisers. In particular, each potential investor should:

- have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the
merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this Base Prospectus or any applicable supplement;

- have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on
its overall investment portfolio;
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- have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
Notes, including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where
the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency;

- understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant
indices and financial markets; and

- be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear
applicable risks.

Some Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not
purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase complex financial
instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured and appropriate
addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are
complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to
evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the
Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio.
Some Notes which are complex financial instruments may be redeemable at an amount below par in
which case investors may lose the value of part or their entire investment.

No legal and tax advice

Neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor is giving legal or tax advises to the investors. Each prospective
investor should consult its own advisers as to legal, tax and related aspects relating to an investment in
the Notes. A Noteholder's effective yield on the Notes may be diminished by the tax on that Noteholder
of its investment in the Notes.

RISKS RELATING TO THE ISSUERS, THE GROUP AND, AS THE CASE MAY BE, THE
GUARANTOR

2.1

2.2

221

The Group is exposed to the risks inherent in its core businesses

The Group's risk management focuses on the following main categories of risks, any of which could
materially adversely affect the Group's business, results of operations and financial condition: credit and
counterparty risk (including country risk), market risk, operational risks (including accounting and
environmental risks), investment portfolio risk, non-compliance risk (including legal, tax and reputational
risks), structural interest and exchange rate risk, liquidity risk, strategic risk, business risk, risk related to
insurance activities, risk related to specialised finance activities, specific financial information, regulatory
ratios and other risks.

For any further information on the risks factors relating each Issuer, the Group and the Guarantor,
investors should refer to the English version of the 2015 Registration Document of Société Générale
incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus (See the section "Documents Incorporated by
Reference").

Factors that may affect each Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes issued under
the Programme and the Guarantor's ability to fulfil its obligations under the Guarantee in relation
to such Notes

Creditworthiness of each Issuer and, as the case may be, the Guarantor

The Notes constitute general and unsecured contractual obligations of each Issuer and of no other
person and the Guarantee constitutes general and unsecured contractual obligations of the Guarantor
and of no other person, which will rank equally with all other unsecured contractual obligations of the
relevant Issuer and the Guarantor, respectively, and behind preferred liabilities, including those
mandatorily preferred by law. The Issuers issue a large number of financial instruments, including the
Notes, on a global basis and, at any given time, the financial instruments outstanding may be
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substantial. Noteholders rely upon the creditworthiness of the relevant Issuer and, as the case may be,
the Guarantor and no other person and where the Notes relate to securities, Noteholders have no rights
against the company that has issued such securities, and where the Notes relate to an index,
Noteholders have no rights against the sponsor of such index and where the Notes relate to a fund,
Noteholders have no rights against the manager of such fund. Further, an investment in the Notes is not
an investment in the underlying asset(s) and Noteholders will have no rights in relation to voting rights or
other entitlements (including any dividend or other distributions). The Notes are not in any way
sponsored, endorsed or promoted by any issuer, sponsor, manager or other connected person in
respect of any underlying assets and such entities have no obligation to take into account the
consequences of their actions on any Noteholders.

Risks related to Notes issued by SG Issuer, SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. and SG
Option Europe with limited recourse against the relevant Issuer but which are unconditionally
and irrevocably guaranteed by Société Générale

Each holder of a Note or Notes issued by SG Issuer, SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. and SG
Option Europe is deemed to have acknowledged and undertaken, on its acquisition of such Note(s),
that, in the event of a payment default by SG Issuer, SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. or SG
Option Europe, as the case may be, of principal (and premium, if any), interest or any other amount in
respect thereof (including, without limitation, any Final Redemption Amount(s)) on any such Note(s)
whenever such payment falls due (such payment defaults, Defaulted Payments), such holder shall not
institute any proceeding, judicial or otherwise, or otherwise assert a claim against SG Issuer, SGA
Société Générale Acceptance N.V. or SG Option Europe, as the case may be, to enforce such
Defaulted Payments and waives all rights to institute such proceedings or make such claims in respect
of such Defaulted Payments against the relevant Issuer.

As a consequence prospective investors in Notes issued by SG Issuer, SGA Société Générale
Acceptance N.V. and SG Option Europe should note that in the case of Defaulted Payments the
entittement of the Noteholders will be limited to the sums obtained by making a claim under the
Guarantee, and the relevant provisions of the Guarantee, and in relation to Secured Notes only, from
the sums obtained following enforcement of the relevant Pledge Agreement (See "Risk Factors —
Additional Risks Associated with Secured Notes — Shortfall on Realisation of Collateral Assets and
Limited Recourse of Noteholders" below).

Nevertheless, Noteholders will continue to be able to claim against the Guarantor in respect of any
unpaid amount.

Holders of Notes issued by SG Issuer which are not Secured Notes should also note that the Collateral
Assets contained in a Collateral Pool will not be available to satisfy amounts due to them in respect of
their Notes.

Risks associated with the lack of independence of each Issuer and, as the case may be, the
Guarantor

Société Générale will act as issuer under the Programme, as the Guarantor of the Notes issued by SG
Issuer, SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. and SG Option Europe and also as provider of hedging
instruments to each Issuer. As a result, investors will be exposed not only to the credit risk of Société
Générale but also to operational risks arising from the lack of independence of Société Générale, in
assuming its duties and obligations as the Guarantor and provider of the hedging instruments. The
potential conflicts of interests and operational risks arising from such lack of independence are in part
intended to be mitigated by the fact that different divisions within the Guarantor will be responsible for
implementing the Guarantee and providing the hedging instruments and that each division is run as a
separate operational unit, segregated by Chinese walls (information barriers) and run by different
management teams. Whilst compliance procedures require effective segregation of duties and
responsibilities between the relevant divisions within the Guarantor, the possibility of conflicts of interest
arising cannot be wholly eliminated. See also "Additional Risks Associated with Secured Notes -
Potential Conflicts of Interest between Noteholders and the Collateral Agent, the Note Valuation Agent
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and the Calculation Agent" and "Additional Risks Associated with Secured Notes - Potential Conflicts of
Interest between Noteholders and a Counterparty” below.

Conflicts of interest

The Issuers provide a full array of capital market products and advisory services worldwide including the
issuance of "structured" Notes where interest and/or principal is/are linked to the performance of
underlying assets. The Issuers and the Guarantor and any of their subsidiaries and affiliates, in
connection with their other business activities, may possess or acquire material information about the
underlying assets. Such activities and information may cause consequences adverse to the
Noteholders. Such actions and conflicts may include, without limitation, the exercise of voting power, the
purchase and sale of securities, financial advisory relationships and exercise of creditor rights. The
Issuers, the Guarantor and any of their subsidiaries and affiliates have no obligation to disclose such
information about the underlying assets or the companies to which they relate. The Issuers, the
Guarantor and any of their respective subsidiaries and/or affiliates and their officers and directors may
engage in any such activities without regard to the Notes or the effect that such activities may directly or
indirectly have on any Note.

In particular, the following potential conflicts of interest could exist in connection with any issue of Notes
in the context of this Programme:

- SG Issuer, SG Option Europe and SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. are subsidiaries
and are within the scope of application of the corporate governance of the Group. It is not
excluded that potential conflicts of interest between SG Issuer, SGA Société Générale
Acceptance N.V. and SG Option Europe and the Guarantor could affect the Noteholders;

- the Calculation Agent, the Arranger, the Dealers, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the
Transfer Agent and the Exchange Agent are all part of the Group. A deterioration of Société
Geénérale's credit risk would also affect its affiliated companies and thus have a negative impact
on the obligations of each of the entities listed above in relation to the Notes. If one of these
entities does not respect its obligations towards the relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor, this
could have a negative impact on the Noteholders;

- in the normal course of their activity, Société Générale and its affiliated companies could be in
business relationships and act as the financial advisor for companies whose shares or notes
are underlying assets and/or Notes and could be deemed to be contrary to the interests of the
Noteholders;

- in the normal course of their activity, Société Générale and its affiliated companies could
possess or acquire information which is not public knowledge on the underlying assets and
which are or could be important to the Notes. Neither the Calculation Agent, the Arranger, the
Dealers, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Transfer Agent nor the Exchange Agent intend
to make this information available to the Noteholders;

- the composition of, and the methodologies used in connection with, certain indices (including
SGI Indices), portfolios or strategies to which Notes are linked may be determined and selected
by Société Générale or any of its affiliates (see "Conflicts of interest in connection with
proprietary indices" below);

- the potential for a fund manager to earn performance-based compensation (including a
manager that is affiliated with Société Générale) may encourage such fund manager to trade in
a more speculative manner than it otherwise would (see "Funds managers may be eligible to
earn incentive compensation” below); and

- the Issuers and the Guarantor, or one or more of their affiliates, may engage in trading and
other business activities relating to the underlying fund(s) or their underlying assets that are not
for the Noteholders' accounts or on behalf of the Noteholders (see "Certain business activities
may create conflicts of interest with Noteholders" below).

40



Risk Factors

225

See also "Additional Risks Associated with Secured Notes - Potential Conflicts of Interest between
Noteholders and the Collateral Agent, the Note Valuation Agent and the Calculation Agent" and
"Additional Risks Associated with Secured Notes - Potential Conflicts of Interest between Noteholders
and a Counterparty" below.

Hedging and trading activity by each Issuer, the Guarantor and their respective affiliates could
potentially affect the value of the Notes

In the ordinary course of their business, whether or not they will engage in any secondary market
making activities, the Issuers, the Guarantor and/or any of their respective affiliates may effect
transactions for their own account or for the account of their customers and hold long or short positions
in the reference asset(s) or related derivatives. In addition, in connection with the offering of the Notes,
the lIssuers, the Guarantor and/or their respective affiliates may enter into one or more hedging
transactions with respect to the reference asset(s) or related derivatives. In connection with such
hedging or any market-making activities or with respect to proprietary or other trading activities by the
Issuers, the Guarantor and/or the Group, the Issuers, the Guarantor and/or their respective affiliates
may enter into transactions in the reference asset(s) or related derivatives which may affect the market
price, liquidity or value of the reference assets and, consequently, the Notes and which could be
deemed to be adverse to the interests of the relevant Noteholders.

The above situations may result in consequences which may be adverse to Noteholders. The Issuer and
the Guarantor assume no responsibility whatsoever for such consequences and their impact on
Noteholders.

RISKS RELATED TO THE STRUCTURE OF A PARTICULAR ISSUE OF NOTES

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have
features which present particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the most
common such features, which may increase the risk of investing in such Notes:

Limitations on recourse and rights with respect to underlyings assets

There are certain factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the risks associated with an
investment in Notes issued under the Programme. Such factors will vary depending on the type of Notes
issued, in particular in relation to Notes, the interest and/or redemption amount of which is linked to the
value of one or more index, share, inflation index, unit, interest or share in a fund, or the combination of
any of the foregoing or such other underlying or basis of reference.

Open End Notes issued by SG Issuer

Potential investors who intend to purchase Open End Notes should consider that this type of Notes does
not have a determined maturity. Therefore, the duration of the Notes is dependent on an optional
redemption by the relevant Issuer, if any (see also "Notes subject to optional redemption by the relevant
Issuer" below) or on an optional redemption by the Noteholder, if any. If there is no secondary market,
there might be no possibility for the investors to sell the Notes.

Notes subject to optional redemption by the relevant Issuer

An optional redemption feature of Notes is likely to limit their market value. During any period when the
relevant Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise
substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This may also be true prior to any
redemption period.

Early redemption and reinvestment risks

The relevant Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the
interest rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the
redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being
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3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11

redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should
consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

Trigger redemption at the option of the Issuer

In respect of certain issues where so specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Notes may be
redeemed early in the event that the outstanding nominal amount falls below 10% of the initial nominal
amount of such Notes or such other level specified in the applicable Final Terms. In such event the
relevant Issuer will have the option to redeem any outstanding Notes early upon the giving of notice.
This could lead to investors receiving an amount at redemption earlier than had been anticipated in
circumstances over which the investors have no control and may affect the value of their investment.

Option to substitute amount of interest or redemption amount

If "Issuer Option to Substitute Interest" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the rate of interest
payable could be replaced, in certain circumstances, by a different rate or amount specified in the Final
Terms. If "Issuer Option to Substitute Redemption Amount" is specified in the applicable Final Terms,
the amount payable or deliverable in the case of redemption or exercise of such option could be
replaced, in certain circumstances, by a different amount specified in the Final Terms. As the
redemption amount of the Notes could be replaced during the life of the Notes, the investors might
receive a different yield and such yield could be significantly lower than expected.

Partly-Paid Notes

The relevant Issuer may issue Notes where the issue price is payable in more than one part payment.
Failure to pay any subsequent part payment could result in an investor losing some or all of his
investment.

Interest rate risks

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes or any Note with a fixed rate component involves the risk that
subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of such Notes.

Variable rate Notes with a multiplier or other leverage factor

Notes with variable interest rates can be volatile investments. If they are structured to include multipliers
or other leverage factors, or caps or floors, or any combination of those features or other similar related
features, their market values may be even more volatile than those for securities that do not include
those features.

Inverse Floating Rate Notes

Inverse Floating Rate Notes have an interest rate equal to a fixed rate minus a rate based upon a
reference rate such as LIBOR. The market values of those Notes typically are more volatile than market
values of other conventional floating rate debt securities based on the same reference rate (and with
otherwise comparable terms). Inverse Floating Rate Notes are more volatile because an increase in the
reference rate not only decreases the interest rate of the Notes, but may also reflect an increase in
prevailing interest rates, which further adversely affects the market value of these Notes.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or
from a floating rate to a fixed rate. Where the relevant Issuer has the right to effect such a conversion,
this will affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes since the relevant Issuer may be
expected to convert the rate when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the relevant
Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate in such circumstances, the spread on the
Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on comparable Floating
Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower
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than the rates on other Notes. If the relevant Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate in such
circumstances, the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on its Notes.

Notes issued linked to certain events

The interest rate or redemption amount of certain Notes may be linked to the occurrence or non-
occurrence of certain events which are not connected with the Issuers or the Guarantor such as credit,
weather or sporting events. The occurrence of such events is beyond the control of the Issuers and the
Guarantor and Noteholders are exposed to the risk of such event occurring or not, as the case may be.

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount to or premium from their principal
amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for
conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the
greater the price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable
maturities.

Zero Coupon Notes

The prices at which Zero Coupon Notes, as well as other Notes issued at a substantial discount from
their principal amount payable at maturity, trade in the secondary market tend to fluctuate more in
relation to general changes in interest rates than do the prices for conventional interest-bearing
securities with comparable maturities.

Notes containing limited events of default

The holder of any Note may only give notice that such Note is immediately due and repayable in a
limited number of events of default (in compliance with Condition 8 of the Terms and Conditions). Such
events of default do not include, for example, a cross-default of the relevant Issuer's other debt
obligation or of the Guarantor.

Notes underlying CREST Depository Interests

The CDls will be delivered, held and settled in CREST, by means of the CREST International Settlement
Links Service.

The settlement of the CDIs by means of the CREST International Settlement Links Service may involve
the following risks to investors:

Investors will not be the legal owners of the Notes underlying the CDIs (the Underlying Notes). The
CDlIs are separate legal instruments from the Underlying Notes to which they relate and represent an
indirect interest in such Underlying Notes.

The Underlying Notes themselves (as distinct from the CDIs representing indirect interests in such
Underlying Notes) will be held in an account with a custodian. The custodian will hold the Underlying
Notes through a clearing system. Rights in the Underlying Notes will be held through custodial and
depositary links through the appropriate clearing systems. The legal title to the Underlying Notes or to
interests in the Underlying Notes will depend on the rules of the clearing system in or through which the
Underlying Notes are held.

The CDIs will be issued by CREST Depository Limited to investors and will be governed by English law.
The CDIs will represent indirect interests in the interest of CREST International Nominees Limited in the
Underlying Notes.

Rights under the Underlying Notes cannot be enforced by investors except indirectly through the
intermediary depositaries and custodians described above. The enforcement of rights under the
Underlying Notes will therefore be subject to the local law of the relevant intermediary. This will include
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English law. The rights of investors to the Underlying Notes are represented by the entitlements against
the CREST Depository which (through the CREST Nominee) holds interests in the Underlying Notes.

This could result in an elimination or reduction in the payments that otherwise would have been made in
respect of the Underlying Notes in the event of any insolvency or liquidation of the relevant intermediary,
in particular where the Underlying Notes held in clearing systems are not held in special purpose
accounts and are fungible with other securities held in the same accounts on behalf of other customers
of the relevant intermediaries.

The CDls issued to investors will be constituted and issued pursuant to the CREST Deed Poll. Investors
in the CDIs will be bound by all provisions of the CREST Deed Poll and by all provisions of, or
prescribed pursuant to, the CREST Reference Manual dated 22 November 2010 as amended, modified,
varied or supplemented from time to time (the CREST Reference Manual) and the CREST Rules
(contained in the CREST Reference Manual) applicable to the International Settlement Links Service
and investors must comply in full with all obligations imposed on them by such provisions.

Investors should note that the provisions of the CREST Deed Poll, the CREST Reference Manual and
the CREST Rules contain indemnities, warranties, representations and undertakings to be given by
holders of the CDIs and limitations on the liability of the relevant Issuer of the CDIs, CREST Depository
Limited.

Investors may incur liabilities resulting from a breach of any such indemnities, warranties,
representations and undertakings in excess of the money invested by them. The attention of investors is
drawn to the terms of the CREST Deed Poll, the CREST Reference Manual and the CREST Rules,
copies of which are available from Euroclear UK & Ireland at 33 Cannon Street, London EC4M 5SB or
by calling +44 207 849 0000 or under the CREST section of the website of Euroclear UK & Ireland
(www.euroclear.co.uk).

Investors should note that holders of CDIs may be required to pay fees, charges, costs and expenses to
CREST Depository Limited in connection with the use of the International Settlement Links Service.
These will include the fees and expenses charged by CREST Depository Limited in respect of the
provision of services by it under the CREST Deed Poll and any taxes, duties, charges, costs or
expenses which may be or become payable in connection with the holding of the Notes through the
International Settlement Links Service.

Investors should note that neither the relevant Issuer nor any Paying Agent will have any responsibility
for the performance by any intermediaries or their respective direct or indirect participants or
accountholders of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their
operations.

Reliance on Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg procedures

Notes issued under the Programme may be represented on issue by one or more Global Notes that may
be deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (see the section
headed "Book Entry Clearance Systems"). Except in the circumstances described in each Global Note,
investors will not be entitled to receive Notes in definitive form. Each of Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg and their respective direct and indirect participants will maintain records of the beneficial
interests in each Global Note held through it. While the Notes are represented by a Global Note,
investors will be able to trade their beneficial interests only through the relevant clearing systems and
their respective participants.

While the Notes are represented by Global Notes, the Issuer will discharge its payment obligation under
the Notes by making payments through the relevant clearing systems. A holder of a beneficial interest in
a Global Note must rely on the procedures of the relevant clearing system and its participants to receive
payments under the Notes. The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or
payments made in respect of, beneficial interests in any Global Note.
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Holders of beneficial interests in a Global Note will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the Notes
so represented. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by
the relevant clearing system and its participants to appoint appropriate proxies.

Special rules apply to SIS Notes.

Notes constituting "Obligations" under French Law

The Notes will constitute obligations under French law (within the meaning of Article L.213-5 of the
French Code monétaire et financier). Investors' attention is drawn to the fact that this characterisation is
a legal characterisation and not a prudential one. Each potential investor should consult its legal
advisers and where applicable its regulator(s), accountants, auditors and tax advisers to determine
whether and to what extent (i) Notes are legal investments for it, (ii) Notes can be used as collateral for
various types of borrowing, (iii) Notes are eligible as regulated assets (where applicable), (iv) Notes are
an appropriate investment for it from a prudential point of view and (v) other restrictions apply to its
purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisors or the
appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based
capital or similar rules.

Risks linked to the non application of certain tax clauses

If the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor, elects not to apply Conditions 5.2.1, 5.2.2 and 6.2 of
the General Terms and Conditions of the Notes, the Issuer will not be able to early redeem the Notes for
taxation reasons. All payments under the Notes shall be effected by the Issuer after deductions or
withholdings for any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such
Notes as the case may be. In such case, the Issuer will withhold or deduct such taxes, duties,
assessments or governmental charges from the due and payable amount and pay the deducted or
withheld amounts to the competent tax authorities. As a result, the amounts that the Noteholder will
effectively receive under the Notes may be substantially less than the due and payable amounts.
The Issuer shall not be obliged to pay any additional amounts to the Noteholder for any such deductions
or withholdings.

Risks linked to the protection of the capital

For certain Notes, there is no risk of capital loss upon payment of the nominal amount at maturity.
However, the expenses for such protection may have impaired other conditions of the Product and may
have caused a lower interest rate (different caps and floors) as would have been granted otherwise.

Regardless of the level of the capital protection of the Notes, investors in the Notes may lose part or all
of the initially invested amount before the maturity date if the product is sold by the investor or redeemed
early by the relevant Issuer at an Early Redemption Amount being equal to Market Value (since the
value of the product during its lifetime may be lower than the amount of the capital protection).

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO STRUCTURED NOTES

4.1

General

The relevant Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest determined by reference to an index or
formula, to changes in the prices of securities or commodities, to interest rates, to credit risk, to
movements in currency exchange rates or other factors (each, a Relevant Factor). In addition, the
relevant Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies which may
be different from the currency in which the Notes are denominated. Potential investors should be aware
that:

- they may receive no interest;

- payment of principal or interest may occur at a different time or in a different currency than
expected;
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- they may lose all or a substantial portion of their principal;

- a Relevant Factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes
in interest rates, currencies or other indices;

- if a Relevant Factor is applied to Notes in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or
contains some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the Relevant Factor on principal
or interest payable likely will be magnified;

- the timing of changes in a Relevant Factor may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the
average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the
Relevant Factor, the greater the effect on yield; and

- the market price of such Notes may be volatile and may depend on the time remaining to the
relevant redemption date and the volatility of the level of the index or indices.

The historical performance of an underlying asset should not be viewed as an indication of the future
performance of such underlying asset during the term of Structured Notes. Accordingly, each potential
investor should consult its own financial and legal advisers about the risk entailed by an investment in
any Structured Notes or Dual Currency Notes and the suitability of such Notes in light of its particular
circumstances.

Investors' yield may be lower than the yield on a standard debt security of comparable maturity

Unlike conventional fixed rate or floating rate debt securities, Structured Notes whose payments
(whether in respect of principal and/or interest and whether at maturity or otherwise) are calculated by
reference to an underlying asset, may not provide investors with periodic payments of interest. Further,
with respect to the Final Redemption Amount or Early Redemption Amount or Automatic Early
Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount (the Redemption Amounts), the effective yield to
maturity of the Notes may be less than that which would be payable on a conventional fixed rate or
floating rate debt security. The return of only the Redemption Amount of each Note at maturity may not
compensate the holder for any opportunity cost implied by inflation and other factors relating to the value
of money over time.

Adjustment, substitution or extension of maturity — Early redemption of the Notes

The Calculation Agent may, in certain circumstances, proceed to adjustments or substitutions, or even
decide the extension of the initially planned maturity date or to stop the indexation of the Note on the
underlying asset(s) and to pass in a money market rate, in particular upon the occurrence of events
affecting the underlying instrument(s). In the absence of manifest or proven error, these adjustments,
substitutions or early redemption decisions will be binding upon the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor, the
Agent and the Noteholders. The relevant Issuer may also have a discretionary right to redeem the Notes
early. In all such cases, the early redemption of the Notes may result in the total or partial loss of the
amount invested.

Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to an Index

Structured Notes based on an index are subject to risks broadly similar to those attending any
investment in a broadly-based portfolio of assets including, without limitation, the risk that the general
level of prices for such assets may decline. The following is a list of some of the significant risks
associated with an index:

- historical performance of the index does not indicate the future performance of this index. It is
impossible to predict whether the value of the index will fall or rise during the term of the Notes;
and

- the level of the index or indices may be affected by the economic, financial and political events
in one or more jurisdictions, including the stock exchange(s) or quotation system(s) on which
any securities comprising the index or indices may be traded. The index may reference
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equities, bonds or other securities or it may be a property index referencing certain property
price data which will be subject to market price fluctuations. A property index may include
valuations only and not actual transactions and the property data sources used to compile the
index may be subject to change, which may adversely affect the return on the Notes.

The policies of the sponsor of an index (including a sponsor that is affiliated with Société Générale) as
regards additions, deletions and substitutions of the assets underlying the index and the manner in
which the index sponsor takes account of certain changes affecting such underlying assets may affect
the value of the index. The policies of an index sponsor with respect to the calculation of an index could
also affect the value of the index. An index sponsor may discontinue or suspend calculation or
dissemination of information relating to its index. Any such actions could affect the value of the Notes.
See the section headed "Additional Terms and Conditions for Index Linked Notes" for more details.

In addition, indices may be subject to management fees and other fees as well as charges that are
payable to the index sponsor(s) and which can reduce the Redemption Amount payable to Noteholders.
Such fees may be paid to index sponsors that are affiliates of Société Générale.

Conflicts of interest in connection with proprietary indices

Société Générale has developed an expertise in creating, structuring and maintaining indices (including
SGI Indices), portfolios or strategies for which it acts as index sponsor (the "proprietary indices").
These indices are calculated by an external calculation agent in accordance with rules which describe
the methodology for determining the composition and the calculation of these proprietary indices (the
"Rules").

0] In respect of the proprietary indices discretionarily composed by Société Générale or an
affiliate of Société Générale to which Notes are linked, Société Générale may face a conflict of
interest between its obligations as the issuer of such Notes and as the composer of such
indices, as the determination of the composition of such indices may have an impact on the
value of the Notes.

(i) In respect of the proprietary indices composed by a third party to which Notes are linked,
Société Générale may face a conflict of interest between its obligations as the issuer of such
Notes and as sponsor of such indices as it may, subject to the Rules, amend or supplement the
relevant Rules which may have an impact on the value of the Notes.

(i) In respect of the proprietary indices which are composed by applying a mathematical formula
without any discretion from Société Générale or any third party, Société Générale may face a
conflict of interest between its obligations as the issuer of such Notes and as sponsor of such
indices as it may, subject to the Rules, modify certain parameters (such as the funding spread)
or provide the valuation of certain components which may have an impact on the value of the
Notes.

Société Générale or any of its affiliates may have banking or other commercial relationships with third
parties in relation to a proprietary index, and may engage in trading in such index (including such trading
as Société Générale and/or its affiliates deem appropriate in their sole and absolute discretion to hedge
their market risk on any such other transactions that may relate to proprietary indices), which may
adversely affect the level of such index.

If the hedging activities of Société Générale or any of its affiliates in connection with a particular index
are disrupted, Société Générale or the relevant affiliate may decide to terminate calculations in relation
to such index sooner than another index sponsor would in comparable circumstances. Such a
termination may trigger the early redemption of the Notes.

The above situations may result in consequences which may be adverse to Noteholders. The Issuers
and the Guarantor assume no responsibility whatsoever for such consequences and their impact on
Noteholders.
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Specific risk factor for SGI Indices relating to new benchmark regulation

On 18 September 2013, the European Commission issued a draft proposed regulation (2013/0314) with
respect to indices and reference indices ("benchmarks") used in connection with financial instruments
and financial contracts (the "Proposal”). The purpose of the proposal is to regulate the risk of
manipulating the value of indices and to reduce the risk of conflicts of interest arising.

The Proposal seeks to (i) improve the governance and controls involved in the process of establishing
indices by regulating the activity of reference index providers ("administrators") and (ii) to improve the
quality of underlying information and the methods used by administrators by ensuring the systematic
use of adequate sources, and proven calculation methods.

In addition, entities contributing to the establishment of references indices by providing underlying
information (“contributors") will have their activity regulated and may be subject to civil liability in the
event of providing false or inaccurate information.

Finally, investor protection will be increased to the extent that the entity using such reference indices will
have to specify exactly what such index is supposed to be measuring and its potential weaknesses in
that respect. The banks, for their part, will be obliged to carry out an evaluation with respect to whether
the reference index is appropriate to the specific requirements of the investor, particularly in the case of
retail investors.

If the proposal were to be adopted, it could lead to administrators, contributors and users of reference
indices being obliged to declare potential conflicts of interest. They would also have to give precedence
to specific transaction information and limit the use of more discretionary methods. They would also be
required to put in place adequate governance and control systems and, more generally, to give
increased transparency and publicity to such information, indices and methods used.

Risk Factors specific to Structured Notes linked to a Share or a Depositary Receipt or a Dividend
No beneficial interest in the underlying shares

A holder of the Notes will not be a beneficial owner of the underlying shares or the depositary receipts
and therefore will not be entitled to receive any dividends or similar amounts paid on the underlying
shares or depositary receipts, nor will a Noteholder be entitled to purchase the underlying shares or
depositary receipts by virtue of its ownership of the Notes. Moreover, holders of the Notes will not be
entitled to any voting rights or other control rights that holders of the underlying shares or depositary
receipts may have with respect to the issuer of such underlying shares or depositary receipts. The
Redemption Amount will not reflect the payment of any dividends on the underlying shares or depositary
receipts. Accordingly, the return on the Notes will not reflect the return which could be realised with the
reception of dividends if any, paid on those securities being the owner of the underlying shares or
depositary receipts. Therefore, the yield to maturity based on the methodology for calculating the
Redemption Amount will not be the same yield as would be produced if the underlying shares or
depositary receipts were purchased directly and held for a similar period.

Limited antidilution protection

The Calculation Agent may make adjustments to elements of the Notes as described in the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Share Linked Notes or in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Depositary
Receipts Linked Notes. The Calculation Agent is not required to make an adjustment for every corporate
event that may affect the underlying shares or depositary receipts. Those events or other actions by the
issuer of underlying shares or depositary receipts or a third party may nevertheless adversely affect the
market price of the underlying shares or depositary receipts and, therefore, adversely affect the value of
the Notes. The issuer of underlying shares or depositary receipts or a third party could make an offering
or exchange offer or the issuer of underlying shares or depositary receipts could take another action that
adversely affects the value of the underlying shares or depositary receipts and the Notes but does not
result in an adjustment.
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Risks related to Dividend Linked Notes

Potential investors in Dividend Linked Notes should be aware that, depending on the specific terms and
conditions of the relevant Dividend Linked Notes, (i) they might only receive a limited amount of interest
or no interest at all, (ii) payment of principal or interest could occur at a time other than that stipulated,
(i) they could lose all or a substantial part of their investment.

In addition, dividend levels can be subject to significant fluctuations which bear no relation to fluctuations
in interest rates, currencies or other indices, and the timing of such variations can impact the real yield
realised by investors, even in cases where the average level is in accordance with expectations.

In general, the earlier the change in the dividend amount or the amount resulting from a formula occurs,
the greater the impact on yield. The market price of such Notes can be volatile and might depend on the
length of the residual maturity and the volatility of the dividend amounts.

Risks arising from conduct of issuers of shares

The issuers of underlying shares or depositary receipts are not involved in the offer of the Notes in any
way and have no obligation to consider the interests of the Noteholders in taking any corporate actions
that might affect the value of the Notes. The issuers of underlying shares or depositary receipts may
take actions that will adversely affect the value of the Notes.

Risk Factors relating to Structured Notes linked to a Fund'

The fund units used as underlying assets of the Notes may be issued by hedge funds or mutual funds
(hereafter the underlying funds).

Investors should investigate the underlying fund(s) as if investing directly

To the extent the underlying(s) of a series of Notes include(s) a fund or portfolio of funds, investors
should conduct their own diligence of the underlying fund(s) as they would if they were directly investing
in the underlying fund(s). The offering of the Notes does not constitute a recommendation by Société
Générale or any of its affiliates with respect to an investment linked to an underlying fund (including in
respect of funds that are managed by managers affiliated with Société Générale). Investors should not
conclude that the sale by the Issuers of such Notes is any form of investment recommendation by the
Issuers or any of their affiliates to invest in the underlying fund(s).

Risks relating to underlying funds that are hedge funds

Fund units, and investments in hedge funds generally, are speculative and involve a high degree of risk.
Neither the relevant Issuer nor the Guarantor gives any assurance as to the performance of fund units.

To the extent the underlying(s) of a series of Notes include(s) a hedge fund or portfolio of hedge funds
for a series of Notes, the Notes of such series will be subject to some of the risks of an investment in a
hedge fund or portfolio of hedge funds. The lack of oversight and regulation associated with funds that
are hedge funds may increase the likelihood of fraud and negligence by the fund's managers and/or the
investment advisors, their brokerage firms or banks.

Hedge funds may involve complex tax structures and delays in distributing important tax information and
may have high fees and expenses that may offset the hedge fund's trading profits.

Substantial redemptions on a hedge fund on a particular day could require such funds to liquidate
positions more rapidly than would be otherwise desirable.

Hedge funds, including the funds on which Structured Notes may be indexed, generally do not make
information about their operations and holdings public. Even if the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor or any
affiliate of Société Générale may have arrangements with a fund managers to obtain information

Statements in this section concerning funds and fund managers also apply to any portfolio or basket of funds and any related portfolio
manager.
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required to calculate the value of the fund, it may not have access to the activities of the fund on a
continuous basis or at all. There are currently no regulatory requirements compelling funds to release
information of the kind that would allow the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor or any affiliate of Société
Générale to value a fund or to accurately determine the value of the fund units and, consequently, the
Redemption Amount of the relevant Notes.

Société Générale and certain of its affiliates from time to time obtain information regarding specific
hedge funds that may not be available to the general public. Any such information is obtained by Société
Générale and certain of its affiliates in the ordinary course of their businesses, and not in connection
with the offering of the Notes (including in respect of funds that are managed by managers affiliated with
Société Générale). In connection with the ordinary course of their businesses, Société Générale and
certain of its affiliates may recommend, or determine not to recommend, specific hedge funds to their
clients. Hedge funds as to which Société Générale and certain of its affiliates have formed investment
recommendations may now or may in the future be among the underlying funds used in the redemption
formula of Notes. Any views that may be held by Société Générale and certain of its affiliates with
respect to the expected future performance of one or more of the funds (including in respect of funds
that are managed by managers affiliated with Société Générale) would not be an indication of the future
expected performance of the fund, and neither Société Générale nor any of its affiliates has formed a
view with respect to the expected future performance of a fund.

Volatility of the markets may adversely affect the value of the fund units

Volatility is the term used to describe the size and frequency of market fluctuations. If the volatility of the
underlying fund(s) increases or decreases, the market value of the Notes may be affected.

Funds' performances (especially hedge funds) may be highly volatile. Movements in the net asset value
of the fund tracked by the fund units may vary from month to month. Trades made by fund managers
may be based upon their expectation of price movements as the relevant investments approach and
reach maturity several months following initiation of the trades. In the meantime, the market value of
positions may not increase, and may in fact decrease, and this will be reflected in the net asset value
per share.

Investments made by the underlying funds can involve substantial risks. The nature of these
investments means that the value of the fund units may fluctuate significantly during a day or over
longer periods. Consequently, the performance of the fund units over a given period will not necessarily
be indicative of future performance.

Market volatility may produce significant losses on the fund units.
The use of leverage may increase the risk of loss in the value of the fund units

The underlying funds may have recourse to leverage i.e. borrow amounts that represent more than 100
per cent. of the value of their assets to invest further in assets that involve additional risks. Accordingly,
a small downward movement in the value of a fund's assets may result in a significantly larger loss for
the fund.

Fund managers may be eligible to earn incentive compensation

The potential for a fund manager to earn performance-based compensation (including a manager that is
affiliated with Société Générale) may encourage such fund manager to trade in a more speculative
manner than it otherwise would. Therefore, because the incentive compensation of the fund's managers
and/or investment advisors to hedge funds is often directly influenced by the performance of such funds,
each fund manager may consequently have an incentive to take greater risks when making investments
that may result in greater profits. By taking greater risks when making investments consequently there is
greater scope for significant losses. In addition, the fund managers and/or the investment advisors may
receive management, advisory or performance fees even though the fund has not realised any gains.
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Fund managers' investments are not verified

None of the Issuers, Société Générale as Guarantor or as Calculation Agent under the Notes or Société
Générale's affiliates are or will be responsible for verifying or ensuring that the fund managers comply
with its stated trading strategy (including a manager that is affiliated with Société Générale).

The fund's managers (including a manager that is affiliated with Société Générale) do not have any
obligations to the Noteholders, or other role in connection with the Notes, including any obligation to
take the needs of the Noteholders into consideration for any reason. The fund managers (including a
manager that is affiliated with Société Générale) are not responsible for, and have not endorsed or
participated in, the offering, placement, sale, purchase or transfer of the Notes. The fund managers
(including a manager that is affiliated with Société Générale) are not responsible for, and will not
participate in, the determination or calculation of the amounts receivable by Noteholders.

Underlying funds that are hedge funds are not subject to the same regulatory regime, or regulated to the
same extent as, mutual funds or registered securities or securities offerings. Changes to the current
regulatory environment could affect the investment, operations and structure of the underlying funds and
could adversely affect the performance of the underlying funds.

The underlying funds may invest in assets that involve further risks and such risks may not be fully
disclosed at the time of investment by the relevant Issuer. The fund managers and/or the investment
advisors to hedge funds may invest in and trade in a variety of financial instruments using sophisticated
investment techniques for hedging and non-hedging purposes. Such financial instruments and
investment techniques include but are not limited to the use of leverage (i.e., borrowing money for
investment purposes), short sales of securities, transactions that use derivatives such as swaps, stock
options, index options, futures contracts and options on futures, transactions that involve the lending of
securities to certain financial institutions, the entry into repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements
for securities and the investment in foreign securities and foreign currencies. Furthermore, hedge funds
may borrow an amount of more than 100 per cent. of its assets on a consistent basis to increase its
leverage. While these investment strategies and financial instruments allow the fund managers and/or
the investment advisors the flexibility to implement a range of strategies in an attempt to generate
positive returns for the fund, they also create the risk of significant losses that may adversely affect the
fund.

Hedge funds may invest in securities listed or traded on foreign exchanges. The execution of
transactions on foreign exchanges might involve particular risks including but not limited to: higher
volatility, government intervention, lack of transparency, lack of regulation, currency risk, political risk
and economic social instability.

Reliance on fund managers and/or investment advisors of the underlying fund(s)

Investment in the Notes is speculative and entails substantial risks. The Redemption Amount is based
on changes in the value of the underlying fund(s), which fluctuates and cannot be predicted. Moreover,
any persons relying on the performance of the underlying fund(s) should note that such performance will
depend to a considerable extent on the performance of the fund's managers and/or investment advisors
of the fund(s). None of the Issuer, or Société Générale as Guarantor or as Calculation Agent under the
Notes, or Société Générale's affiliates are in a position to protect the Noteholders against fraud and
misrepresentation by unaffiliated fund managers or the investment advisors. Investors should
understand that they could be materially adversely affected by any such acts. Noteholders do not have
and are not entitled to any beneficial interests in the underlying fund(s) and as such, have no recourse
against the underlying fund(s), any investment advisor or manager either contractually or statutorily.
Furthermore, as a practical matter, it may be difficult to bring an action, or to seek to enforce a judgment
obtained in an action, against any of the aforementioned entities. In addition, the fund managers and/or
the investment advisors may be removed or replaced, the allocation of assets may vary from time to
time and the various positions of the investments of the underlying fund(s) may be economically
offsetting, all of which may affect the performance of the underlying fund(s).
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The fund managers and/or the investment advisors may manage or advise other funds and/or accounts
and may have financial and other incentives to favour such other funds and/or accounts over the
underlying fund(s). Also, the fund managers and/or the investment advisors may manage or advise for
their own accounts and the accounts of their clients and may make recommendations or take positions
similar or dissimilar to those of the underlying fund(s) or which may compete with the underlying fund(s).

Fees, deductions and charges will reduce the Redemption Amount

Fund fees will be deducted from the net asset value of the fund, reducing the value of the fund units.
Accordingly, to the extent that the Redemption Amount is linked to the net asset value of a fund, the
Redemption Amount payable to Noteholders will be less than it would have been absent these fees,
deductions and charges, Société Générale or any of its affiliates may be the beneficiary of such fees or
obtain rebate on such fees from third parties.

Net Asset Value

The market value of the Notes is likely to depend substantially on the then-current net asset value of the
underlying fund(s). If an investor chooses to sell its Notes, such investor may receive substantially less
than the amount that would be payable at any relevant payment date based on that net asset value
because of, for example, possible market expectations that the net asset value of the underlying fund(s)
will continue to fluctuate between such time and the time when the final net asset value of the underlying
fund(s) is determined. Political, economic and other developments that affect the investments underlying
the underlying fund(s) may also affect the net asset value of the underlying fund(s) and, thus the value
of the Notes.

The illiquidity of the underlying fund's investments may cause the payment of the Final or Early
Redemption Amount and/or any Intermediary Amount to be reduced or delayed.

The intermediary amounts or final redemption amounts due to investors in Notes having funds as
underlyings may be based on the redemption proceeds that would be paid in cash by the underlying
fund to a hypothetical investor as a result of a valid and timely notice for redemption given by such
hypothetical investor with effect as of the relevant valuation date. To meet a redemption request, the
underlying fund would likely sell its own assets but such investments may not be readily saleable on or
shortly after the valuation date for various reasons, including, but not limited to:

- infrequent redemption opportunities allowed by such underlying fund (for example, many hedge
funds only allow monthly or quarterly liquidity);

- "gating," lock-ups, side pockets or discretionary redemption delays or suspensions imposed by
such underlying fund (for example, many hedge funds have provisions whereby redemption
requests are scaled back if the aggregate amount of such requests reaches a predetermined
limit); and

- such underlying funds' own investments may be illiquid;

In these situations, (i) the payment of any intermediate amounts may be postponed by the Calculation
Agent too soon after the date on which the underlying fund pays all the redemption proceeds in respect
of a valid and timely redemption order given after the occurrence of an event as described above or to
the maturity date of the Notes and/or (ii) the payment of the final redemption amount will occur on the
basis of the redemption proceeds paid by the underlying fund in respect of a valid and timely redemption
order given after the occurrence an event described above. If the redemption proceeds have not been
paid by the underlying fund on the maturity date of the Notes, the payment of the intermediate amounts
or final redemption amounts may be postponed after the maturity date up to a maximum period of two
years. If at the expiry of this two-year period, the underlying fund has not paid in full the redemption
proceeds, the intermediate and final redemption amounts shall be determined by the Calculation Agent
on the basis of what has actually been paid by the underlying fund. The amount received by the
investors in the Notes may be as low as zero.
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If certain extraordinary events occur affecting an underlying fund, such as but without limitation the
insolvency, nationalisation or merger of the underlying fund, a resignation or termination or replacement
of the administrator, custodian, investment adviser or manager of the fund, or a breach by the
underlying fund of its investment strategy, the Calculation Agent may decide to terminate soon after the
occurrence of such extraordinary event, the exposure of the Notes to the underlying fund and the
intermediate amounts and/or the final redemption amounts and (i) pay any intermediate amount due to
the investor in the Notes either immediately or at the maturity date of the Notes on the basis of the
redemption proceeds paid by the underlying fund in the liquidation of the exposure to such underlying
fund and/or (ii) pay the final redemption amount at the maturity date of the Notes on the basis of the
redemption proceeds paid by the underlying fund in the liquidation of the exposure to such underlying
fund. If the underlying fund is also subject to liquidity problems as described above, the postponement of
the payment of the intermediate amounts and/or final redemption amount up to a maximum period of
two years may also apply.

Given recent experience in the hedge fund industry, it is likely that such delay would have an adverse
impact on the amount payable to you under the Notes.

If the underlying fund(s) invest(s) through a master-feeder structure, the latter may have an
adverse effect on the underlying fund(s) and, therefore, the Notes

The underlying fund(s) may invest through a "master-feeder" structure. As such, the underlying fund(s)
will contribute substantially part or all of its assets to the master fund and may do so alongside other
investors, including other feeder funds. The relevant master fund may also establish or allow investment
by additional investors or feeder funds in the future.

The master-feeder fund structure, in particular the existence of multiple investment vehicles investing in
the same portfolio, presents certain unique risks to investors. The underlying fund(s) may be materially
affected by the actions of other investors, investment vehicles and feeder funds investing in the master
fund, particularly if such investors have large investments in the master fund. For example, if a larger
investment vehicle or entity with a large investment in the master fund redeems from the master fund,
illiquidity in certain securities or markets could make it difficult for the master fund to liquidate positions
on favourable terms to effect such redemption, which could result in losses or a decrease in the net
asset value of the master fund. In addition, to satisfy such redemptions, the sub-manager may need to
liquidate the master fund's most liquid investments; leaving remaining investors (including the underlying
fund(s)) invested in more illiquid instruments. Such withdrawals may also leave the master fund with a
less diversified pool of investments. This may increase the overall portfolio risk of the master fund, and,
ultimately, the Notes. Conversely, the sub-manager may refuse a redemption request if it believes that
such request, if fulfilled, would have a material adverse impact on the remaining investors of the master
fund. This may negatively impact the liquidity of the master fund and, therefore, the underlying fund(s)
and the Notes.

Certain business activities may create conflicts of interest with Noteholders

The Issuers and the Guarantor, or one or more of their affiliates, may engage in trading and other
business activities relating to the underlying fund(s) or their underlying assets that are not for the
Noteholders' accounts or on behalf of the Noteholders. These activities may present a conflict between
a Noteholder's interest in the Notes and the interests of the Issuers and the Guarantor, or one or more
of their affiliates, may have in their proprietary account. Such activities may include, among other things,
the exercise of voting power, financial advisory relationships, financing transactions, derivative
transactions and the exercise of creditor rights, each of which may be contrary to the interests of the
Noteholders. Any of these trading and/or business activities may affect the value of an underlying
fund(s) and thus could be adverse to a Noteholder's return on the Notes. The Issuers, the Guarantor
and their respective affiliates may engage in any such activities without regard to the Notes or the effect
that such activities may directly or indirectly have on Notes of any series.

In addition, in connection with these activities, the Issuers, the Guarantor and/or their respective
affiliates may receive information about the underlying fund(s) or their underlying assets that will not be
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disclosed to the Noteholders. The Issuers, the Guarantor and their respective affiliates have no
obligation to disclose such information about the underlying fund(s) or the companies to which they
relate.

Additional investments in, or withdrawals of amounts previously invested in, the fund may
adversely affect the value of the fund units

In the ordinary course of their business, whether or not they will engage in any secondary market
making activities, the Issuers, the Guarantor or one or more of their affiliates may effect transactions for
their own account or for the account of their customers and hold long or short positions in the underlying
fund(s), underlying assets of the underlying fund(s) and/or related derivatives. In addition, in connection
with the offering of any series of Notes and during the term of such series of Notes, each Issuer, the
Guarantor or one or more of their respective affiliates in order to hedge its obligations under the Notes,
may enter into one or more hedging transaction with respect to the underlying fund(s), underlying assets
of the underlying fund(s) and/or related derivatives.

In connection with any of such hedging or any market making activities or with respect to proprietary or
other such trading activities, the Issuers, the Guarantor and/or their respective affiliates may enter into
transactions in the underlying fund(s), underlying assets of the underlying fund(s) and/or related
derivatives which may affect the market price, liquidity or value of the underlying fund(s) or their
underlying assets, and therefore the Notes. The Issuers, the Guarantor and/or any of their respective
affiliates may also issue or underwrite other securities or financial or derivative instruments with returns
linked or related to changes in the performance of the underlying fund(s) or their underlying assets. Any
of the above situations may result in consequences which may be adverse to a Noteholder's investment.
The Issuers and the Guarantor assume no responsibility whatsoever for such consequences and their
impact on a Noteholder's investment.

Investors should be aware that, as a result of hedging decisions by the hedging counterparty, transfers
into or out of the fund by the hedging counterparty may affect the value of the fund units and, in turn, the
Redemption Amount of the Notes.

Furthermore, the relevant Issuer may issue additional Tranches of Notes that are fungible with the
Notes, or other bonds, notes or instruments that, while not fungible with the Notes, may be linked to an
index with a component which has the underlying funds as the reference asset. If such Notes are
issued, Société Générale is likely to make additional investments in the underlying funds to hedge
exposure incurred in connection with such transactions related to such Notes. Any such investment in
the underlying funds could adversely affect the performance of the fund units, which could adversely
affect the trading value of the Notes and the Redemption Amount.

Legal, tax and regulatory changes

Legal, tax and regulatory changes could occur during the term of the Notes that may adversely affect
the underlying fund(s). The regulatory environment for hedge funds is evolving, and changes in the
regulation of hedge funds may adversely affect the value of investments held by the underlying fund(s).
In addition, the securities and futures markets are subject to comprehensive statutes, regulations and
margin requirements. Regulators and self-regulatory organisations and exchanges are authorised to
take extraordinary actions in the event of market emergencies. The regulation of derivatives transactions
and funds that engage in such transactions is an evolving area of law and is subject to modification by
government and judicial action. The effect of any future regulatory change on the underlying fund(s)
could be substantial and adverse and consequently may adversely affect the value of the Notes.

No ownership rights in any underlying fund(s)

An investment in the Notes does not entitle Noteholders to any ownership interest or rights in any
underlying fund(s), such as voting rights or rights to any payments made to owners of the underlying
fund(s). Instead, a Note represents a notional investment in the underlying fund(s). The term "notional”
is used because although the value of the underlying fund(s) will be used to calculate your payment
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under the Notes, your investment in the Notes will not be used to purchase interests in the underlying
fund(s) on your behalf.

The relevant Issuer, or an affiliate of such Issuer, may purchase interests in the underlying fund(s) in
order to hedge its obligations under the Notes but it is under no obligation to do so. Such interests, if
any, are the separate property of the relevant Issuer or such affiliate and do not secure the Notes.
Therefore, in the event of a failure to pay the Redemption Amount by the relevant Issuer under the
Notes, the Noteholders will have no beneficial interest in or claim to any such interests in the underlying
fund(s). Accordingly, any claims by Noteholders pursuant to the terms and conditions of such Notes will
be pari passu with all other unsecured, unsubordinated, unconditional creditors of the relevant Issuer.

Risk Factors relating to Structured Notes linked to a Commodity

Commodity Linked Notes may be redeemed by the relevant Issuer at their par value and/or by the
physical delivery of the underlying assets and/or by payment of an amount determined by reference to
the value of the underlying assets. Accordingly, an investment in Commodity Linked Notes may bear
similar market risks to a direct investment in the relevant commodities and investors should take advice
accordingly. Interest payable on Commodity Linked Notes may be calculated by reference to the value
of one or more underlying assets. The value of the underlying assets may vary over time and may
increase or decrease by reference to a variety of factors which may include global supply and demand
of commodities to which the underlying assets refer, production and selling activities of the respective
commodities by producers, central banks and international organisations, demand for end-products
based on the respective commodity, net investment demand and industrial demand.

Risk Factors relating to Structured Notes linked to Credit

Capitalised terms used in this section, but not otherwise defined in this Base Prospectus shall have the
meaning given to them in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes

In the event of the occurrence of certain circumstances (which may include, amongst other things,
Bankruptcy, Failure to Pay, Obligation Acceleration, Obligation Default, Governmental Intervention,
Repudiation/Moratorium or Restructuring) in relation to a Reference Entity or, with respect to Basket
Notes and Tranche Notes, Reference Entities, in each case as specified in the applicable Final Terms,
the obligation of the relevant Issuer to pay principal at maturity may be replaced by (i) an obligation to
pay other amounts which are equal to either certain fixed amount(s) as specified in the applicable Final
Terms or amounts calculated by reference to the value of the underlying asset(s) (which may, in each
case, be less than the par value of the Notes at the relevant time) and/or (ii) an obligation to deliver the
underlying asset(s). In addition, interest-bearing Credit Linked Notes may cease to bear interest on or
prior to the date of occurrence of such circumstances.

Accordingly, Noteholders may be exposed as of the First Credit Event Occurrence Date mentioned in
the applicable Final Terms (which may be earlier than the date of their decision to invest in the Notes or
the Issue Date) to the full extent of their investment in the Credit Linked Notes to fluctuations in the
creditworthiness of the Reference Entities. Their exposure to the Reference Entities may be leveraged
by their investment in the Notes compared to a direct investment in the obligations of such Reference
Entities.

In respect of Basket Notes, the greater the number of Reference Entities subject to a Credit Event, the
lower the Cash Redemption Amount will be.

In respect of Tranche Notes, as soon as the aggregate of the Loss Amount and Unwind Costs for all
Reference Entities subject to a Credit Event exceeds the Tranche Subordination Amount, the greater
the number of Reference Entities subject to a Credit Event, the lower the Cash Redemption Amount will
be.

55



Risk Factors

48.1

4.8.2

4.8.3

4.8.4

4.8.5

Unwind Costs

Where Unwind Costs is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms the Cash Redemption
Amount or the Physical Delivery Amount may be reduced by an amount equal to (i) the amount
determined by the Calculation Agent where Standard Unwind Costs is applicable or (ii) the amount
specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Increased risk in respect of First-to-Default Notes and Tranche Notes

First-to-Default Notes or Tranche Notes create leveraged exposure to the credit risk of Reference
Entities as the investors can lose a significant part or the totality of their investment (i) in the case of
Tranche Notes even if all the Reference Entities in the Reference Portfolio have not been subject to a
Credit Event and (ii) in the case of First-to-Default Notes, as soon as only one single Reference Entity
has been subject to a Credit Event.

Concentration risk

The concentration of the Reference Entities in any one industry or geographic region would subject the
Notes to a greater degree of risk with respect to economic downturns relating to such industry or
geographic region.

In respect of Basket Notes, irrespective of the creditworthiness of each Reference Entity, the fewer
Reference Entities there are in a Reference Portfolio, the greater is the degree of risk with respect to the
occurrence of each Credit Event.

In respect of First-to-Default Notes, the more Reference Entities there are in the Reference Portfolio, the
greater the degree of risk. In respect of such First-to-Default Notes, the first Reference Entity in respect
of which a Credit Event occurs will lead to a redemption of such First-to-Default Notes as though such
First-to-Default Notes were Credit Linked Notes relating to a single Reference Entity. Accordingly,
investors will be exposed to the credit risk of each stipulated Reference Entity.

Discretion to determine if a Credit Event has occurred and to decide whether to give notice or
not

The Calculation Agent will determine, in its sole and absolute discretion, the occurrence or not of a
Credit Event in respect of any of the Reference Entities, provided certain other conditions described in
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes are satisfied. Such determination by the
Calculation Agent, which is under no obligation to act in the interest of the Noteholders, will (in the
absence of manifest error) be final and binding on the Noteholders. Moreover, the Calculation Agent has
sole and absolute discretion to decide whether to give notice or not that a Credit Event has occurred
with respect to any Reference Entity. A Noteholder may disagree with Publicly Available Information
contained in the Credit Event Notice delivered by or on behalf of the Issuer to the relevant Clearing
System for the Noteholders’ information, but will nevertheless be bound by that determination under the
terms of the Notes.

Valuation and settlement in case of Credit Event

Under the terms of the Notes, where Société Générale acts as Calculation Agent, it may, for the
purposes of determining the Cash Redemption Amount under the Quotation Dealers Method or the
Physical Delivery Amount following one or more Credit Event(s), select obligations with the lowest price
of any obligations which meet the relevant criteria. In making such selection, the Calculation Agent will
not be liable to account to the Noteholders, or any other person for any profit or other benefit to it or any
of its affiliates which may result directly or indirectly from such selection.

Under the Notes, the Final Value is one of the factors in the determination of the redemption amount of
the Notes at their Maturity Date in addition to Unwind Costs.
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Floating recovery

Where Floating Recovery is specified in the related Final Terms, the terms of the Credit Linked Notes
provide that the Calculation Agent will, depending on the election mentioned in the related Final Terms,
determine the Final Value either by obtaining quotations from Quotation Dealers in respect of Selected
Obligation(s) or by reference to Transaction Auction Settlement Terms (unless no Auction Final Price is
available following any relevant Transaction Auction Settlement Terms in which case the Calculation
Agent will determine the Final Value in respect of Selected Obligation(s) by obtaining quotations from
Quotation Dealers). In this regard, investors should note that: (i) the Final Value as determined by
reference to Transaction Auction Settlement Terms may differ from the Final Value determined
otherwise and a lower Final Value will typically reduce the amount payable to Noteholders upon
redemption of the Notes; and (ii) the Calculation Agent may have a conflict of interest as further
described in the paragraph "Conflicts of Interest" below.

If Transaction Auction Settlement Terms are not published within a certain period and if it is not possible
to obtain quotations from Quotation Dealers for the Selected Obligations within a further period, the
Final Value of the Selected Obligations will be deemed to be zero and therefore the Cash Redemption
Amount will be equal to zero. In addition, the above-mentioned periods between Credit Event and
valuation may amount to as many as 180 Business Days following the date on which the existence of a
Credit Event is established, therefore, settlement, or as the case may be, notice that no amount is due
under the Credit Linked Notes, may occur several months after the relevant Credit Event on a date
which may be much later than the Scheduled Maturity Date of the Notes.

Where Quotation Dealer is applicable, factors affecting the Quotations Dealers may have a negative
impact on the quotations obtained from Quotation Dealers (which may be lower than the value of the
relevant obligations) and may as a result adversely affect the Cash Redemption Amount. The Cash
Redemption Amount may be equal to zero if it is not possible to obtain quotations from Quotation
Dealers for the selected obligations.

Fixed Recovery

Where Fixed Recovery is specified in the related Final Terms, the terms of Credit Linked Notes provide
that the Final Value of a Reference Entity in respect of which a Credit Event Determination Date has
occurred will be equal to the fixed percentage specified in the related Final Terms (including in particular
where such fixed percentage is equal to zero).

This percentage may be lower than the recovery value, which would have been determined by reference
to prices quoted by market participants in respect of such Reference Entity. Such recovery values may
vary from zero per cent to one hundred per cent. In particular, this percentage may be lower than the
recovery value which would have been determined using an auction valuation method usually organised
on the credit derivatives market, such as the Auction Final Price determined further to the relevant
Credit Derivatives Auction Settlement Terms published by ISDA or the quotations obtained from
Quotation Dealers (if Floating Recovery was specified in the applicable Final Terms).

Noteholders will not benefit from any recovery value determined by reference to prices quoted by market
participants in respect of such a Reference Entity and are therefore exposed to the risk that the loss
resulting from such fixed percentage be significantly bigger than the loss which would have resulted
from referring to the recovery value determined by reference to prices quoted by market participants in
relation to any such Reference Entity.

If the Fixed Recovery is equal to one hundred per cent, the Notes may be redeemed at par at the
Maturity Date which may be later than the Scheduled Maturity Date.

Deferral of valuation and/or payments

In certain circumstances including but not limited to Unsettled Credit Events or in case of Physical
Settlement if the Calculation Agent determines that the Specified Deliverable Obligation(s) are
Undeliverable Obligation(s), (i) the timing of valuation of the Notes may be deferred and as a result the
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amount of principal and/or interest payable to the Noteholders may be adversely affected and (ii)
payment of principal and/or interest due to the Noteholders may be deferred without compensation to
the Noteholders.

Adjustment — Early redemption

Investors should be aware that unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, an issue of
Credit Linked Notes includes provisions to the effect that:

- following the occurrence of certain events affecting any Reference Entity(ies) or any Hedge
Positions entered into or to be entered into by the Issuer or any of its affiliates (as more fully
described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes), the Calculation
Agent may determine, in good faith, the appropriate adjustment(s), if any, to be made to any of
the terms of the Terms and Conditions and/or the applicable Final Terms to account for that
event and determine the effective date of that adjustment. Such adjustments may in certain
circumstances include the selection by the Calculation Agent of a replacement Reference
Entity which would not otherwise be a successor to the affected Reference Entity but which
nevertheless meets certain requirements as to rating and/or credit risk and/or geographic
criteria. Such adjustment may have an adverse effect on the Final Redemption Amount, the
value and liquidity of the affected Credit Linked Notes; or

- following the occurrence of certain events affecting the Hedge Positions entered into or to be
entered into by the Issuer or any of its affiliates (as more fully described in the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes), the Issuer may redeem the Notes at their Market
Value. Following such redemption, an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption
proceeds on equivalent terms.

Conflicts of interest

The Noteholders are informed that each of the Issuer and the Dealer may from time to time hold
Obligations of the Reference Entities. The rights and obligations of the Issuer under the Notes or any
loss suffered by the Noteholders under the Notes are both irrespective of whether the Issuer has a credit
exposure to a Reference Entity or has suffered any loss in relation to a Reference Entity.

Société Générale and its affiliates may, at any time, be in possession of information in relation to any
Reference Entity or Reference Obligation that is or may be material in the context of the issue of the
Notes and that may not be publicly available or known to other third parties. There is no obligation on
Société Générale and its affiliates to disclose to the Noteholders or any other party any such relationship
or information whether before or after the Issue Date.

Investors should note that the Issuer or the Calculation Agent or the Guarantor may have a conflict of
interest to the extent that it participates in any of the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee.

In such a role, in relation to any Succession Event or Credit Event or Transaction Auction Settlement
Terms, it can (i) submit questions to the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee or refuse
that such question be submitted to the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee and/or
(ii) vote in favor or against any resolution of the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee
following any questions raised to the ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee. Any such
participation may have a negative impact on the Cash Redemption Amount to be received by the
Noteholders.

Furthermore, the Issuer or Calculation Agent or Guarantor may participate as a dealer in any auction
process used to determine the Final Value in relation to any Reference Entity in relation to which a
Credit Event has occurred and whether or not such auction process is organized by ISDA or by the
Issuer or Calculation Agent or Guarantor itself. In such a case, the Issuer or Calculation Agent or
Guarantor may have a conflict of interest by influencing any such pricing mechanism and therefore the
Cash Redemption Amount to be received by the Noteholders.
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Credit Rating

Noteholders should be aware that credit ratings do not constitute a guarantee of the quality of the Notes
or the Reference Entity(ies). The rating assigned to the Notes by the rating agencies, if any, is based on
the Reference Entity(ies)'s current financial condition (or, as the case may be, the Reference
Entity(ies)’s long term unsubordinated debt rating) and reflects only the rating agencies’ opinions. In
respect of the Reference Entity(ies), rating agencies do not evaluate the risks of fluctuation in market
value but attempt to assess the likelihood of principal and/or interest payments being made. A credit
rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision, suspension
or withdrawal at any time by the assigning agency. Nevertheless, the rating agencies may fail to make
timely changes in credit ratings in response to subsequent events so that a Reference Entity(ies)'s
current financial condition may be better or worse than a rating indicates. Accordingly a credit rating may
not fully reflect the true risks under the Notes.

Warning regarding CDS Spread

For products linked to a CDS Spread, Société Générale as Calculation Agent may, for the purposes of
determining such CDS Spread, select dealers in its sole discretion to obtain quotations. In making such
selection, the Calculation Agent will not be liable to account to the Noteholders, or any other person for
any profit or other benefit to it or any of its affiliates which may result directly or indirectly from such
selection.

Amendment to Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes

The Calculation Agent may, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, from time to
time amend any provision of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes and/or the
applicable Final Terms (i) to incorporate and/or reflect and/or take account of (x) further or alternative
documents or protocols from time to time published by ISDA with respect to credit derivative
transactions which may, without limitation, relate to one or more Reference Entities or Reference Entity
types and/or the settlement of credit derivative transactions and/or (y) the operation or application of
determinations by any Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee and/or (ii) in any manner which the
Calculation Agent, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, determines is
necessary or desirable (including from the perspective of Societe Generale or one of its Affiliates) to
reflect or account for market practice for credit derivatives transactions and/or to eliminate or account for
any provisions of the Hedge Positions with the aim of ensuring ho mismatch or discrepancy between
rights and obligations under the Hedge Positions and under the Notes. Such amendments may include,
without limitation, varying any date or timing or procedures provided for in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes and/or the applicable Final Terms and any such amendments may
have an adverse effect on the value of the Notes. PROVIDED THAT, subject as set out below, such
amendments may not include changes to the currency of the Notes, the amount of interest payable on
the Notes, the Final Redemption Amount payable on the Notes or the Maturity Date of the Notes.

In the event that such amendments lead to a revised Reference Entity then a Credit Event may be
triggered on such revised Reference Entity and the consequential provisions of the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes will apply in the usual manner.

Any amendment effected in accordance with the above provisions will be notified to the Noteholders in
accordance with Condition 13 of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes or Condition 13 of
the French Law Notes (as applicable).

Risk Factors relating to Structured Notes linked to a Bond

Capitalised terms used in this section, but not otherwise defined in this Base Prospectus shall have the
meaning given to them in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked Notes

In the event of the occurrence of certain circumstances (which may include, amongst other things, Bond
Default, Bond Acceleration, Bond Failure to Pay, Bond Early Redemption, Bond Governmental
Intervention, Bond Issuer ISDA Event or Bond Restructuring) in relation to a Bond or, with respect to
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Basket Bond Linked Notes, Bonds, in each case as specified in the applicable Final Terms, the
obligation of the relevant Issuer to pay principal at maturity may be replaced by an obligation to pay
other amounts which are equal to either certain fixed amount(s) as specified in the applicable Final
Terms or amounts calculated by reference to the value of the underlying asset(s) (which may, in each
case, be less than the par value of the Notes at the relevant time). In addition, interest-bearing Bond
Linked Notes may cease to bear interest on or prior to the date of occurrence of such circumstances.

Accordingly, Noteholders may be exposed as of the First Bond Event Occurrence Date mentioned in the
applicable Final Terms (which may be earlier than the date of their decision to invest in the Notes or the
Issue Date) to the full extent of their investment in the Bond Linked Notes to fluctuations in the
creditworthiness of the relevant Bond Issuer, or to the imposition or increase of withholding taxes or
other adverse performance of the Bonds. Their exposure to the Bonds may be leveraged by their
investment in the Notes compared to a direct investment in such Bonds.

In respect of Basket Bond Linked Notes, the greater the number of Bonds subject to a Bond Event, the
lower the Cash Redemption Amount will be.

Concentration Risk

The concentration of the Bond Issuers in any one industry or geographic region would subject the Notes
to a greater degree of risk with respect to economic downturns relating to such industry or geographic
region.

In respect of Basket Notes, irrespective of the creditworthiness of the relevant Bond Issuer, the fewer
Bonds there are in a Reference Portfolio, the greater the degree of risk with respect to the occurrence of
each Bond Event.

Discretion to determine if a Bond Event has occurred and to decide whether to give notice or not

The Calculation Agent will determine, in its sole and absolute discretion, the occurrence or not of a Bond
Event in respect of any of the Bonds, provided certain other conditions described in the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked Notes are satisfied. Such determination by the Calculation
Agent, which is under no obligation to act in the interest of the Noteholders, will (in the absence of
manifest error) be final and binding on the Noteholders. Moreover, the Issuer has sole and absolute
discretion to decide whether to give notice or not that a Bond Event has occurred with respect to any
Bond. A Noteholder may disagree with Publicly Available Information contained in the Bond Event
Notice delivered by or on behalf of the Issuer to the relevant Clearing System for the Noteholders’
information, but will nevertheless be bound by that determination under the terms of the Notes.

Valuation and settlement in case of Bond Event

Under the Notes, the Bond Final Value is one of the factors in the determination of the redemption
amount of the Notes at their Maturity Date.

Floating recovery

Where Floating Recovery is specified in the related Final Terms, the terms of the Bond Linked Notes
provide that the Calculation Agent will determine the Bond Final Value by obtaining quotations from
Quotation Dealers in respect of the Bonds. In this regard, investors should note that: (i) the Bond Final
Value as determined by the Calculation Agent may differ from the Bonds market value determined
otherwise and a lower Bond Final Value will typically reduce the amount payable to Noteholders upon
redemption of the Notes, and (ii) such Bond Final Value cannot exceed 100% (unless otherwise
specified in the applicable Final Terms) of the Bond Notional Amount irrespective of the Bonds market
value determined otherwise.

The coupon payable on the Bonds is a factor in the price. If it is not possible to obtain full or partial
quotations from Quotation Dealers for the Bonds within the further periods described in the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked Notes, the Bond Final Value of these Bonds could be deemed to
be as low as zero and therefore the Cash Redemption Amount will be equal to zero.
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In addition, the period between the Bond Event Determination Date and the First Quotation Day may
amount to as many as 20 (or such other number as specified in the related Final Terms of the Notes)
Business Days following the Bond Event Determination Date. The Additional Terms and Conditions for
Bond Linked Notes specify that a Bond Event Determination Date may occur with no maximum delay
following the occurrence of a Bond Event.

Consequently, investors’ attention is drawn to the fact that no or a reduced Cash Redemption Amount
might be due under the Bond Linked Notes and settlement (whether American Settlement or European
Settlement is specified in the applicable Final Terms), may occur several months or years after the
relevant Bond Event and on a date which may be later than the Scheduled Maturity Date of the Notes.

Fixed Recovery

Where Fixed Recovery is specified in the related Final Terms, the Additional Terms and Conditions for
Bond Linked Notes provide that the Bond Final Value of a Bond in respect of which a Bond Event
Determination Date has occurred will be equal to the fixed percentage specified in the related Final
Terms (including in particular where such fixed percentage is equal to zero).

This percentage may be lower than the recovery value, which would have been determined by reference
to prices quoted by market participants in respect of such Bond. Such recovery values may vary from
zero per cent to one hundred per cent. In particular, this percentage may be lower than the recovery
value which would have been determined using an auction valuation method usually organised on the
bonds market, such as the quotations obtained from Quotation Dealers (if Floating Recovery was
specified in the related Final Terms).

Noteholders will not benefit from any recovery value determined by reference to prices quoted by market
participants in respect of such Bonds and are therefore exposed to the risk that the loss resulting from
such fixed percentage may be significantly greater than the loss which would have resulted from
referring to the recovery value determined by reference to prices quoted by market participants in
relation to any such Bond.

Breakage Cost Amount

If the Breakage Cost Amount option is specified as applicable in the related Final Terms and a Bond
Event Determination Date occurs in respect of a Bond, Noteholders are exposed to the mark-to-market
variation between the First Bond Event Occurrence Date and the Bond Final Value Determination Date
of (i) a repurchase transaction (if any) with the Bond as underlying asset (whose purpose is to refinance
the relevant Bond) and (ii) a repurchase transaction (if any) with the Collateral Assets as underlying
asset (whose purpose is to refinance the relevant Collateral Assets). As a consequence, the Cash
Redemption Amount to be received by the Noteholders may be reduced, potentially down to zero.

Deferral of valuation and/or payments

In certain circumstances including but not limited to Unsettled Bond Events (i) the timing of valuation of
the Notes may be deferred and as a result the amount of principal and/or interest payable to the
Noteholders may be adversely affected and (ii) payment of principal and/or interest due to the
Noteholders may be deferred without compensation to the Noteholders.

Adjustment — Early redemption

Investors should be aware that unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, an issue of
Bond Linked Notes includes provisions to the effect that:

0] following the occurrence of certain events affecting any Bond(s) or any Hedge Positions
entered into or to be entered into by the Issuer or any of its affiliates (as more fully described in
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked Notes), the Calculation Agent may
determine, in good faith, the appropriate adjustment(s), if any, to be made to any of the terms
of the Terms and Conditions and/or the applicable Final Terms to account for that event and
determine the effective date of that adjustment. Such adjustment may have an adverse effect
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on the Final Redemption Amount and the value and liquidity of the affected Bond Linked Notes;
or

(i) following the occurrence of certain events affecting the Hedge Positions entered into or to be
entered into by the Issuer or any of its affiliates (as more fully described in the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Bond Linked Notes), the Issuer may redeem the Notes at their Market
Value. Following such redemption, an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption
proceeds on equivalent terms.

Conflicts of interest

The Noteholders are informed that each of the Issuers and the Dealers (and their respective affiliates)
may from time to time hold obligations of the Bond Issuers. The rights and obligations of the Issuer
under the Notes or any loss suffered by the Noteholders under the Notes are both irrespective of
whether the Issuer has a credit exposure to a Bond or has suffered any loss in relation to a Bond.

Société Générale and its affiliates may, at any time, be in possession of information in relation to any
Bond Issuer or Bond that is or may be material in the context of the issue of the Notes and that may not
be publicly available or known to others. There is no obligation on Société Générale and its affiliates to
disclose to the Noteholders or any other party any such relationship or information whether before or
after the Issue Date.

The Issuer or Calculation Agent or Guarantor may participate as a dealer in any auction process used to
determine the Bond Final Value in respect of a Bond in relation to which a Bond Event has occurred. In
such a case, the Issuer or Calculation Agent or Guarantor may have a conflict of interest by influencing
any such pricing mechanism and therefore the Cash Redemption Amount to be received by the
Noteholders.

Credit Rating

Noteholders should be aware that credit ratings do not constitute a guarantee of the quality of the Notes
or the Bonds. The rating assigned to the Bonds by the rating agencies, if any, is based on the Bond
Issuers current financial condition (or, as the case may be, the Bond Issuers long term unsubordinated
debt rating) and reflects only the rating agencies’ opinions. In respect of the Bond lIssuers, rating
agencies do not evaluate the risks of fluctuation in market value but attempt to assess the likelihood of
principal and/or interest payments being made. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or
hold securities and may be subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal at any time by the assigning
agency. Nevertheless, the rating agencies may fail to make timely changes in credit ratings in response
to subsequent events so that a Bond Issuers current financial condition may be better or worse than a
rating indicates. Accordingly a credit rating may not fully reflect the true risks under the Notes.

Risks relating to Physical Delivery Notes

In the case of Notes which are redeemable by delivery of assets, if a Settlement Disruption Event occurs
or exists on the due date for redemption of the Notes, such delivery shall occur on the first succeeding
day on which delivery of the Physical Delivery Amount can take place through the relevant Clearing
System unless a Settlement Disruption Event prevents delivery for a period of 20 Clearing System Days
immediately following the original date that would have been the Settlement Date. In that latter case, the
relevant Issuer shall, in lieu of delivering the Physical Delivery Amount, pay, in respect of each Note, the
fair market value of the number of Underlying(s) (the Fair Market Value) or, in respect of Credit Linked
Notes, the Cash Redemption Amount per Undeliverable Obligations as defined in the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes to be delivered converted into the Specified Currency at the
current exchange rate, if applicable. The Fair Market Value will be determined by the Calculation Agent
on the basis of the market conditions on the first Business Day following the Delivery Period.
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In the case of Notes to be admitted to trading on a Regulated Market and/or subject to a Public Offer

0] no share in Société Générale or its affiliates will be delivered. If a share in Société Générale or
its affiliates should be delivered, such share will be replaced by, in due proportion, an
equivalent amount in cash.

(ii) no Fund Unit in respect of any underlying fund which is hedge fund will be delivered to retail
investors.

Risk Factors relating to Non Equity Security Linked Notes

Potential investors in Non Equity Security Linked Notes should be aware that, depending on the specific
terms and conditions of the relevant Non Equity Security Linked Notes, (i) they might only receive a
limited amount of interest or no interest at all, (i) payment of principal or interest could occur at a time
other than that stipulated, (iii) they could lose all or a substantial part of their investment.

Investors should be aware that in the event of the occurrence of certain circumstances during the term
of the Notes (which may include, amongst other things, material or substantial modifications of any of
the conditions of any of the underlying Non Equity Securities or any event or any change affecting any of
the Non Equity Securities as specified in the applicable Final Terms) and which is likely to have a
significant effect on the value of the affected Non Equity Security, then, the terms of the Notes may be
adjusted, the affected Non Equity Security may be substituted, such event may trigger the termination of
the Notes.

Risks relating to Preference Share Linked Notes

The relevant Issuer may issue Preference Share Linked Notes where the amount payable on
redemption is determined by reference to the changes in the value of the preference shares
(Preference Shares), which may fluctuate up or down depending on the performance of the relevant
underlying(s) or basis of reference to which the Preference Shares are linked (the Preference Share
Underlying) as set out in the terms and conditions of the Preference Shares (the Terms of the
Preference Shares). If, as a result of the performance of the Preference Share Underlying, the
performance of the Preference Shares is negative, the value of the Preference Share Linked Notes will
be adversely affected. Purchasers of Preference Share Linked Notes risk losing all or a part of their
investment if the value of the Preference Shares falls.

Potential investors in Preference Share Linked Notes should be aware that an investment in Preference
Share Linked Notes will entail significant risks not associated with a conventional debt or equity security.
Potential investors in Preference Share Linked Notes should conduct their own investigations and, in
deciding whether or not to purchase the Preference Share Linked Notes, prospective investors should
form their own views of the merits of an investment related to the Preference Shares based upon such
investigations and not in reliance on any information given in this document.

Preference Share Linked Notes will be subject to early redemption if an Early Redemption Event occurs.
In these circumstances the Issuer may redeem the Notes at the Early Redemption Amount. The Early
Redemption Amount may be less (and in certain circumstances, significantly less) than investors' initial
investment.

Exposure to the Preference Share Underlying

The Preference Share Underlying may be a specified index or basket of indices, a specified equity or
basket of equities, a specified commodity or basket of commodities, a specified fund share or unit or
basket of fund shares or units or such other underlying instruments, bases of reference or factors as
may be determined by the Preference Share Issuer and specified in the terms and conditions of the
relevant issue of Preference Shares.
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Consequently potential investors should also consider the risk factors in respect of the risks
involved in investing in Notes (in this case the Preference Shares) linked to certain underlying
reference asset(s).

The Terms of the Preference Shares provide that the Preference Shares will be redeemable on their
final redemption date (or otherwise in accordance with the Terms of the Preference Shares). On
redemption, the Preference Shares will carry preferred rights to receive an amount calculated by
reference to the Preference Share Underlying.

Investors should review the Terms of the Preference Shares and consult with their own professional
advisers if they consider it necessary.

Credit risk of the Preference Share Issuer

Preference Share Linked Notes are linked to the performance of the relevant Preference Shares.
Investors bear the risk of an investment in the Preference Share Issuer. The value of the Preference
Share Linked Notes is dependent on the value of the Preference Shares, which will depend in part on
the creditworthiness of the Preference Share Issuer, which may vary over the term of the Preference
Share Linked Notes.

Potential conflicts of interest

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, Societe Generale is the Calculation Agent in
respect of Preference Share Linked Notes and also acts as calculation agent in respect of the
Preference Shares (the Preference Share Calculation Agent). The Issuers and Societe Generale are
affiliates. As a result of this relationship, potential conflicts of interest may arise for the relevant Issuer
and Societe Generale in acting in their respective capacities. Subject to any relevant regulatory
obligations, the relevant Issuer and the Preference Share Calculation Agent owe no duty or
responsibility to any Noteholder to avoid any conflict or to act in the interests of any Noteholder. The
Preference Share Issuer may also rely on other Societe Generale group entities (including the
Preference Share Calculation Agent) or other service providers to perform its operational requirements.
In the event any relevant Societe Generale group entity or other service provider fails to perform any
obligations, this may adversely affect the value of the Preference Shares and potentially the amounts
payable under the Notes.

In addition to providing calculation agency services to the Preference Share Issuer, Societe Generale or
any of its affiliates may perform further or alternative roles relating to the Preference Share Issuer and
any issue of Preference Shares including, but not limited to, being involved in arrangements relating to
any Preference Share Underlying (for example as calculation agent). Further, Societe Generale or any
of its affiliates (including the Issuers) may contract with the Preference Share Issuer and/or enter into
transactions, including hedging transactions, which relate to the Preference Share Issuer, the
Preference Shares or any Preference Share Underlying and as a result Societe Generale may face a
conflict between its obligations as Preference Share Calculation Agent and its and/or its affiliates'
interests in other capacities.

Determination of Extraordinary Events and Additional Disruption Events

The Calculation Agent may determine the occurrence of a Merger Event, Tender Offer, Insolvency or
Additional Disruption Event in relation to the Preference Share Linked Notes. Upon such determination,
the relevant Issuer may, at its option redeem the Preference Share Linked Notes in whole at the Early
Redemption Amount which may be less than the amount invested in the Preference Share Linked
Notes. Noteholders will not benefit from any appreciation of the Preference Shares that may occur
following such redemption.

No ownership rights
An investment in Preference Share Linked Notes is not the same as an investment in the Preference

Shares and does not confer any legal or beneficial interest in the Preference Shares or any Preference
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Share Underlying or any voting rights, right to receive dividends or other rights that a holder of the
Preference Shares or any Preference Share Underlying may have.

Hedging activities of the relevant Issuer and its affiliates

The relevant Issuer or its affiliates may carry out hedging activities related to the Preference Share
Linked Notes, including purchasing the Preference Shares and/or purchasing or entering into contracts
relating to the Preference Share Underlying, but will not be obliged to do so. Certain of the relevant
Issuer's affiliates may also purchase and sell the Preference Shares and/or purchase and sell or enter
into contracts relating to the Preference Share Underlying on a regular basis as part of their regular
business. Any of these activities could adversely affect the value of the Preference Share Underlying
and, accordingly, the value of the Preference Shares and the Preference Share Linked Notes.

Risks relating to Warrant Linked Notes

Each Issuer may issue Warrant Linked Notes where the amount payable on redemption is determined
by reference to the changes in the value of warrants issued by the Warrant Issuer (Warrants). The
value of the Warrants may fluctuate up or down depending on the performance of the relevant
underlying(s) or basis of reference to which the Warrants are linked (the Warrant Underlying) as set
out in the terms and conditions of the Warrants (the Warrant Conditions). If, as a result of the
performance of the Warrant Underlying, the performance of the Warrants is negative the value of the
Warrant Linked Notes will be adversely affected. Purchasers of Warrant Linked Notes risk losing all or a
part of their investment if the value of the Warrants falls.

Potential investors in Warrant Linked Notes should be aware that an investment in Warrant Linked
Notes will entail significant risks not associated with a conventional debt or equity security. Potential
investors in Warrant Linked Notes should conduct their own investigations and, in deciding whether or
not to purchase the Warrant Linked Notes, prospective investors should form their own views of the
merits of an investment related to the Warrants based upon such investigations and not in reliance on
any information given in this document.

Warrant Linked Notes will be subject to early redemption if a Warrant Termination Event occurs or, if
applicable, an Additional Disruption Event occurs. In these circumstances the Issuer may redeem the
Notes at the Early Redemption Amount. The Early Redemption Amount may be less (and in certain
circumstances, significantly less) than investors' initial investment.

Exposure to the Warrant Underlying

The Warrant Underlying may include an index or basket of indices in each case comprising listed
equities or commodities, a specified listed equity or basket of listed equities or a specified commodity or
basket of commodities.

Consequently potential investors should also consider the risk factors in respect of the risks
involved in investing in Notes (in this case the Warrants) linked to certain underlying reference
asset(s).

Investors should review the Warrant Conditions and consult with their own professional advisers if they
consider it necessary.

Credit risk of the issuer of the Warrants

Warrant Linked Notes are linked to the performance of the relevant Warrants. Investors bear the risk of
an investment in the issuer of the Warrants. The value of the Warrant Linked Notes is dependent on the
value of the Warrants, which will depend in part on the creditworthiness of the issuer of the Warrants,
which may vary over the term of the Warrant Linked Notes.

65



Risk Factors

4.13.3

4.13.4

4.13.5

4.13.6

4.14

414.1

4.14.2

Potential conflicts of interest

In the case of Warrant Linked Notes, the relevant Issuer may also be the issuer and/or the calculation
agent in respect of the Warrants underlying the Notes. Potential conflicts of interest may arise for the
relevant Issuer in acting in each of these capacities. In addition as issuer or calculation agent in respect
of the warrants underlying the Notes, the relevant Issuer or any of its affiliates may perform further or
alternative roles including, but not limited to, being involved in arrangements relating to any of the
underlying reference assets (for example as a calculation agent).

Determination of Extraordinary Events and Additional Disruption Events

The Calculation Agent may determine the occurrence of a Warrant Termination Event or Additional
Disruption Event in relation to the Warrant Linked Notes. Upon such determination, the relevant Issuer
may, at its option redeem the Warrant Linked Notes in whole at the Early Redemption Amount, which
may be less than the amount invested in the Warrant Linked Notes. Noteholders will not benefit from
any appreciation of the Warrants that may occur following such redemption.

No ownership rights

An investment in Warrant Linked Notes is not the same as an investment in the Warrants and does not
confer any legal or beneficial interest in the Warrants or any Warrant Underlying or any rights that a
holder of the Warrants or any Warrant Underlying may have.

Hedging activities of the relevant Issuer and its affiliates

The relevant Issuer or its affiliates may carry out hedging activities related to the Warrant Linked Notes,
including purchasing the Warrants and/or purchasing or entering into contracts relating to the Warrant
Underlying, but will not be obliged to do so. Certain of the relevant Issuer's affiliates may also purchase
and sell the Warrants and/or purchase and sell or enter into contracts relating to the Warrant Underlying
on a regular basis as part of their regular business. Any of these activities could adversely affect the
value of the Warrant Underlying and, accordingly, the value of the Warrants and the Warrant Linked
Notes.

Risks Factors relating to Structured Notes linked to a Foreign Exchange Rate

Factors affecting the performance of the relevant Foreign Exchange Rate may adversely affect
the value of the Notes

The performance of Foreign Exchange Rates, currency units or units of account are dependent upon the
supply and demand for currencies in the international foreign exchange markets, which are subject to
economic factors, including inflation rates in the countries concerned, interest rate differences between
the respective countries, economic forecasts, international political factors, fiscal and monetary policy,
government debt, currency convertibility and safety of making financial investments in the currency
concerned, speculation and intervening measures taken by governments and central banks. Such
measures include, without limitation, imposition of regulatory controls or taxes, issuance of a new
currency to replace an existing currency, alteration of the exchange rate or exchange characteristics by
devaluation or revaluation of a currency or imposition of exchange controls with respect to the exchange
or transfer of a specified currency that would affect exchange rates as well as the availability of a
specified currency. Any such measures could have a negative impact on the value of a Foreign
Exchange Rate and consequently the value of the Notes.

Currency exchange risks are heightened in the current climate of financial uncertainty

Currency exchange risks can be expected to heighten in periods of financial turmoil. In periods of
financial turmoil, capital can move quickly out of regions that are perceived to be more vulnerable to the
effects of the crisis with sudden and severely adverse consequences to the currencies of those regions
as a result. In addition, governments around the world have recently made, and may be expected to
continue to make, very significant interventions in their economies, and sometimes directly in their
currencies. It is not possible to predict the effect of any future legal or regulatory action relating to a
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currency. Further interventions, other government actions or suspensions of actions, as well as other
changes in government economic policy or other financial or economic events affecting the currency
markets - including the replacement of entire currencies with new currencies - may cause Foreign
Exchange Rates to fluctuate sharply in the future, which could have a negative impact on the value of
the Notes.

Risks Factors relating to Structured Notes linked to an Exchange Traded Fund

Where the underlying Asset is an Exchange Traded Fund, there is a risk that such Exchange
Traded Fund will not accurately track its underlying share or index

Where the Notes are linked to an Exchange Traded Fund (an "ETF") and the investment objective of
such ETF is to track the performance of a share or an index, the investors of such Notes are exposed to
the performance of such ETF rather than the underlying share or index such ETF tracks. For certain
reasons, including to comply with certain tax and regulatory constraints, an ETF may not be able to track
or replicate the constituent securities of the underlying share or index, which could give rise to a
difference between the performance of the underlying share or index and such ETF. Accordingly,
investors who purchase Notes that are linked to an ETF may receive a lower return than if such
investors had invested in the share or the index underlying such ETF directly.

Action or non-performance by the management company, fund administrator or sponsor of an
ETF may adversely affect the Notes

The management company, fund administrator or sponsor of an ETF will have no involvement in the
offer and sale of the Notes and will have no obligation to any purchaser of such Notes. The
management company, fund administrator or sponsor of an ETF may take any actions in respect of
such ETF without regard to the interests of the purchasers of the Notes, and any of these actions could
adversely affect the market value of the Notes. In its day-to-day operations and its investment strategy,
an ETF will rely on the fund advisor, the investment advisor, the management company and/or on third
parties providing services such as safekeeping of assets or acting as counterparty to derivatives or other
instruments used by such ETF to employ its investment strategy. The insolvency or non-performance of
services of any such persons or institutions may expose an ETF to financial loss. Failure of procedures
or systems, as well as human error or external events associated with an ETF's management and/or
administration may cause losses to an ETF and affect the market value of the Notes.

Exchange traded funds are not actively managed

An ETF is not actively managed and may be affected by general movements in market segments
related to the index or other asset it is tracking. An ETF invests in instruments included in, or that are
representative of, the index or other asset it is tracking regardless of their investment merits.

Exchange traded funds may engage in securities lending

Securities lending involves the risk that the ETF may lose money because the borrower of the ETF's
loaned securities fails to return the securities in a timely manner or at all.

Exchange traded funds are subject to market trading risks

An ETF faces numerous market trading risks, including but not limited to the potential lack of an active
market for its shares, losses from trading in secondary markets, periods of high volatility, limited liquidity
and disruption in the creation or redemption process of such ETF. If any of these risks materialises, this
may lead to the ETF shares trading at a premium or discount to the net asset value.
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Risks Factors relating to Structured Notes linked to Inflation

The level of an Inflation Index may lag or otherwise not track the actual level of inflation in the
relevant jurisdiction

Inflation Indices may not correlate with other indices and may not correlate perfectly with the rate of
inflation experienced by purchasers of the Inflation Linked Notes in such jurisdiction. The value of the
Inflation Linked Notes which are linked to an Inflation Index may be based on a calculation made by
reference to such Inflation Index for a month which is several months prior to the date of payment on the
Inflation Linked Notes and therefore could be substantially different from the level of inflation at the time
of the payment on the Inflation Linked Notes.

Exposure to certain events in relation to an Inflation Index and the discretion of the Issuer

Upon the occurrence of certain events in relation to an Inflation Index, e.g., the Inflation Index level has
not been published or is discontinued or is corrected or such Inflation Index is rebased or materially
modified, then, depending on the particular event, the Issuer has discretion to determine the level,
substitute the original Inflation Index, adjust the terms and conditions of the Inflation Linked Notes or
redeem the Inflation Linked Notes. Any such event and consequent exercise of discretion by the Issuer
may have an adverse effect on the value of the Inflation Linked Notes.

Risks Factors relating to Structured Notes linked to a Reference Rate

An investment in a Reference Rate will entail significant risks not associated with an investment in a
conventional debt security. On redemption or exercise, as the case may be, of Notes linked to a
Reference Rate, Holders will receive an amount (if any) determined by reference to the value of the
underlying Reference Rate(s). In addition, the income received (if any) is highly dependent upon the
value of the Reference Rate over the life of the investment. Total return may be less than anticipated if
future interest rate or Reference Rate expectations are not met.

Risks relating to Dual Currency Notes

The Issuers may issue Dual Currency Notes (or other Notes linked to currencies) where the amount of
principal and/or interest payable are dependent upon movements in currency exchange rates or are
payable in one or more currencies which may be different from the currency in which the Notes are
denominated. Accordingly an investment in Dual Currency Notes may bear similar market risks to a
direct foreign exchange investment and potential investors should take advice accordingly.

Potential investors in any such Notes should be aware that, depending on the terms of the Dual
Currency Notes, (i) they may receive no or a limited amount of interest, (ii) payment of principal or
interest may occur at a different time or in a different currency than expected and (iii) they may lose a
substantial portion of their investment. In addition, movements in currency exchange rates may be
subject to significant fluctuations that may or may not correlate with changes in interest rates or other
indices and the timing of changes in the exchange rates may affect the actual yield to investors, even if
the average level is consistent with their expectations.

Exchange rates between currencies are determined by factors of supply and demand in the international
currency markets which are influenced by macro economic factors, speculation and central bank and
government intervention (including the imposition of currency controls and restrictions which could result
in the receipt of reduced payment and/or otherwise make it impossible or impracticable for the relevant
Issuer to meet its repayment obligations in the original currency of the Notes). In recent years, rates of
exchange between some currencies have been volatile. This volatility may be expected in the future.
Fluctuations that have occurred in any particular exchange rate in the past are not necessarily
indicative, however, of fluctuation that may occur in the rate during the term of any Note. Fluctuations in
exchange rates will affect the value of Dual Currency Notes.

If the amount of principal and/or interest payable is dependent upon movements in currency exchange
rates and are determined in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one, or by reference to some other
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leverage factor, the effect of changes in the currency exchange rates on principal or interest payable will
be magnified.

The market price of such Notes may be volatile and, if the amount of principal and/or interest payable
are dependent upon movements in currency exchange rates, may depend upon the time remaining to
the relevant redemption date and the volatility of currency exchange rates. Movements in currency
exchange rates may be dependent upon economic, financial and political events in one or more
jurisdictions.

Risks Factors relating to Notes denominated in CNY

CNY is not freely convertible and the liquidity of the Notes denominated in Renminbi may be
adversely affected

CNY is not freely convertible at present. The PRC government continues to regulate conversion
between CNY and foreign currencies, including the Hong Kong Dollar, despite the significant reduction
over the years by the PRC government of its control over routine foreign exchange transactions under
current accounts. Whilst the People's Bank of China (PBOC) has established Renminbi clearing and
settlement mechanisms for participating banks in Hong Kong, Macau, Singapore and Taiwan through
settlement agreements on the clearing of Renminbi business with Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited in
Hong Kong, Bank of China, Macau Branch in Macau, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China,
Singapore Branch in Singapore and Bank of China, Taipei Branch in Taiwan (each, a Renminbi
Clearing Bank), and are in the process of establishing Renminbi clearing and settlement mechanisms
in France, Germany and the UK (the Settlement Arrangements), the current size of Renminbi
denominated financial assets outside the PRC is limited.

There are restrictions imposed by the PBOC on Renminbi Clearing Banks in respect of cross-border
Renminbi settlement, such as those relating to direct transactions with PRC enterprises. Furthermore,
Renminbi Clearing Banks do not have direct Renminbi liquidity support from the PBOC. The Renminbi
Clearing Banks only have access to onshore liquidity support from the PBOC for the purpose of
squaring open positions of participating banks for limited types of transactions and are not obliged to
square for participating banks any open positions resulting from other foreign exchange transactions or
conversion services. In such cases, the Renminbi Clearing Banks will need to source Renminbi from
outside the PRC to square such open positions.

Although it is expected that the offshore Renminbi market will continue to grow in depth and size, its
growth is subject to many constraints as a result of PRC laws and regulations on foreign exchange).
New PRC regulations may be promulgated or the Settlement Arrangements may be terminated or
amended in the future which may have the effect of restricting availability of Renminbi outside the PRC.
The limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC may affect the liquidity of Notes denominated in
CNY.

CNY currency risk

All payments of CNY under the Notes to the Noteholders will be made solely by transfer to a CNY bank
account maintained in Hong Kong or a financial centre in which a Renminbi Clearing Bank clears and
settles Renminbi in accordance with the prevailing rules and regulations and in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the Notes. The relevant Issuer cannot be required to make payment by any
other means (including in any other currency or by transfer to a bank account in the PRC). CNY is not
freely convertible at present, and the conversion of CNY into other currencies through banks in Hong
Kong is subject to certain restrictions.

In addition, there can be no assurance that the access to CNY for the purposes of making payments
under the Notes or generally may remain or will not become restricted. If it becomes impossible to
convert CNY from/to another freely convertible currency, or transfer CNY between accounts in Hong
Kong (or a financial centre in which a Renminbi Clearing Bank clears and settles Renminbi), or the
general CNY exchange market becomes illiquid, any payment of CNY under the Notes may be delayed
or the relevant Issuer may make such payments in another currency selected by the relevant Issuer
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using an exchange rate determined by the Calculation Agent, or the relevant Issuer may redeem the
Notes by making payment in another currency.

CNY exchange rate risk

The value of CNY against Hong Kong Dollar and other foreign currencies fluctuates and is affected by
changes in the PRC and international political and economic conditions and by many other factors. The
relevant Issuer will make all payments of CNY under the Notes in CNY (subject to the second paragraph
under the heading "CNY currency risk" above). As a result, the value of such payments of CNY (in Hong
Kong Dollar or other applicable foreign currencies) may vary with the prevailing exchange rates in the
marketplace. If the value of CNY depreciates against Hong Kong Dollar or other foreign currencies, the
value of an investor's investment in Hong Kong Dollar or other applicable foreign currencies will decline.

CNY interest rate risk

Where applicable, the value of payments of CNY under the Notes may be susceptible to interest rate
fluctuations, including Chinese CNY Repo Rates and/or the Shanghai Interbank Offered Rate
(SHIBOR). Furthermore, due to the foreign exchange control imposed by the applicable PRC laws and
regulations and the prevailing market conditions, the CNY interest rate in the markets outside the PRC
may significantly deviate from the CNY interest rate in the PRC.

Risk Factors relating to Portfolio Linked Notes

Portfolio Linked Notes provide exposure to a portfolio of different underlyings (the Portfolio). The
Portfolio may include Equity Instruments, Commodity Instruments, Debt Instruments, Derivative
Instruments and Market Data, each as defined in Condition 1 of the Additional Terms and Conditions for
Portfolio Linked Notes.

The amount payable or the assets deliverable, as the case may be, in respect of Portfolio Linked Notes
will be affected by changes in the value of the different components in the Portfolio to which the relevant
issue of Portfolio Linked Notes relates. This value may be affected by (i) the economic, financial and
political events in one or more jurisdictions, including the stock exchange(s) or quotation system(s) on
which any component comprising the Portfolio may be traded, (ii) risks highlighted in section 4 of "Risk
Factors" (Risk factors relating to structured Notes) relating to individual types of underlyings which are
included in the relevant Portfolio and (iii) other factors set out elsewhere in "Risk Factors".

In addition there may be correlation between price movements of one component and the price
movements of another component of the Portfolio that may have a negative impact on the value of the
Portfolio. As such, the value of Portfolio Linked Notes can therefore be volatile and this may result in
Noteholders losing all, or a substantial part, of their investment.

In addition, Portfolio Linked Notes may be subject to a number of costs which would negatively impact
the value of the Portfolio Linked Notes.

GENERAL, MARKET AND OTHER RISKS
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Risks related to Notes generally
Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Notes generally:
Modification and risk relating to resolutions of Noteholders

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to
consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all
Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders
who voted in a manner contrary to the majority and certain rights of such Noteholders against the Issuer
under the Terms and Conditions of the Notes may be amended or reduced or even cancelled.
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French Insolvency Law

Under French insolvency law, holders of debt securities are automatically grouped into a single
assembly of holders (the Assembly) in order to defend their common interests if a safeguard procedure
(procédure de sauvegarde), accelerated safeguard procedure (procédure de sauvegarde accélérée),
accelerated financial safeguard procedure (procédure de sauvegarde financiere accélérée), or a judicial
reorganisation procedure (procédure de redressement judiciaire) is opened in France with respect to
any one of the Issuers.

The Assembly comprises holders of all debt securities issued by the Issuers (including the Notes),
whether or not under a debt issuance programme (such as a Euro Medium Term Note programme) and
regardless of their governing law.

The Assembly deliberates on the proposed safeguard plan (projet de plan de sauvegarde), proposed
accelerated safeguard plan (projet de plan de sauvegarde accélérée), proposed accelerated financial
safeguard plan (projet de plan de sauvegarde financiére accélérée) or draft judicial reorganisation plan
(projet de plan de redressement) applicable to the Issuers and may further agree to:

- increase the liabilities (charges) of holders of debt securities (including the Noteholders) by
rescheduling due payments and/or partially or totally writing off receivables in the form of debt
securities;

- establish an unequal treatment between holders of debt securities (including the Noteholders)
as appropriate under the circumstances; and/or

- decide to convert debt securities (including the Notes) into securities that give or may give right
to share capital.

Decisions of the Assembly will be taken by a two-thirds majority (calculated as a proportion of the debt
securities held by the holders expressing a vote). No quorum is required to convoke the Assembly.

For the avoidance of doubt, the provisions relating to the Representation of the Noteholders described in
this Base Prospectus as completed by the applicable Final Terms will not be applicable to the extent
they are not in compliance with compulsory insolvency law provisions that apply in these circumstances.

Change of law

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising therefrom or
connected therewith are based on relevant laws in effect as at the date of this Base Prospectus. No
assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to such laws, or the
official application or interpretation of such laws or administrative practices after the date of this Base
Prospectus.

Legality of purchase

Neither the relevant Issuer, the Arranger, the Dealer(s) nor any of their respective affiliates has or
assumes responsibility for the lawfulness of the acquisition of the Notes by a prospective investor in the
Notes, whether under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or the jurisdiction in which it
operates (if different), or for compliance by that prospective investor with any law, regulation or
regulatory policy applicable to it.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or
review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to
determine whether and to what extent (i) Notes are legal investments for it, (ii) Notes can be used as
collateral for various types of borrowing and (iii) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any
Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to
determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.
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Taxation

Potential purchasers and sellers of the Notes should be aware that they may be required to pay taxes or
documentary charges or duties in accordance with the laws and practices of the country where the
Notes are transferred or other jurisdictions. In some jurisdictions, no official statements of the tax
authorities or court decisions may be available in relation to the tax treatment of financial instruments
such as the Notes. Potential investors are advised not to rely upon the tax summary contained in this
Programme but to ask for their own tax adviser's advice on their individual taxation with respect to the
acquisition, holding, sale and redemption of the Notes. Only such adviser is in a position to duly
consider the specific situation of the potential investor. This investment consideration has to be read in
connection with the taxation sections of this Base Prospectus.

EU Savings Directive

Under Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income, Member States are required to
provide to the tax authorities of other Member States details of certain payments of interest or similar
income paid or secured by a person established in a Member State to or for the benefit of an individual
resident in another Member State or certain limited types of entities established in another Member
State.

On 24 March 2014, the Council of the European Union adopted Council Directive 2014/48/EU
(the "Directive") amending and broadening the scope of the requirements described above. Member
States are required to implement national legislation giving effect to these changes by 1 January 2016
(which national legislation must be applied from 1 January 2017). The changes will expand the range of
payments covered by the Directive, in particular to include additional types of income payable on
securities. The Directive will also apply a "look through approach” to certain payments where an
individual resident in a Member State is regarded as the beneficial owner of that payment for the
purposes of the Directive. This approach may apply to payments made to or by, or secured for or by,
persons, entities or legal arrangements (including trusts), where certain conditions are satisfied, and
may in some cases apply where the person, entity or arrangement is established or effectively managed
outside of the European Union.

For a transitional period, Austria is required (unless during that period it elects otherwise) to operate a
withholding system in relation to such payments. The changes referred to above will broaden the types
of payments subject to withholding in those Member States which still operate a withholding system
when they are implemented.

The end of the transitional period is dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements relating
to information exchange with certain other countries. A number of non-EU countries and territories
including Switzerland have adopted similar measures (a withholding system in the case of Switzerland).

If a payment were to be made or collected through a Member State which has opted for a withholding
system and an amount of, or in respect of, tax were to be withheld from that payment, neither the
relevant Issuer nor the Guarantor (as the case may be) nor any Paying Agent (as defined in the
Conditions of the Notes) nor any other person would be obliged to pay additional amounts in respect to
any Note as a result of the imposition of such withholding tax. The Issuers are required to maintain a
Paying Agent in a Member State that is not obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to the Directive.

The proposed financial transactions tax (FTT)

On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the Commission’s Proposal)
for a Directive for a common FTT in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, Austria,
Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the Participating Member States).

The Commission’s Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings in
Notes (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances.

Under the Commission’s Proposal the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within
and outside of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in Notes
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where at least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a participating
Member State. A financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, "established" in a participating
Member State in a broad range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established
in a participating Member State or (b) where the financial instrument which is subject to the dealings is
issued in a participating Member State.

A joint statement issued in May 2014 by ten of the eleven participating Member States indicated an
intention to implement the FTT progressively, such that it would initially apply to shares and certain
derivatives, with this initial implementation occurring by 1 January 2016.

The FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between the participating Member States. It may
therefore be altered prior to any implementation. Additional EU Member States may decide to
participate.

Prospective holders of Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT.
Possible Consequences under the U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act

While the Notes are cleared through Clearstream, Luxembourg, EUI, Euroclear, Euroclear Finland,
Euroclear France, Euroclear Sweden, SIS, Verdipapirsentralen and VP Securities (together, the
Specified Clearing Systems), in all but the most remote circumstances, it is not expected that the new
reporting regime and potential withholding tax imposed by sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S.
Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (FATCA) will affect the amount of any payment received by the
Specified Clearing Systems (see "Taxation — Other Jurisdictions — United States — Foreign Account Tax
Compliance Act"). However, FATCA may affect payments made to custodians or intermediaries in the
subsequent payment chain leading to the ultimate investor if any such custodian or intermediary
generally is unable to receive payments free of FATCA withholding. It also may affect payment to any
ultimate investor that is a financial institution that is not entitled to receive payments free of withholding
under FATCA, or an ultimate investor that fails to provide its broker (or other custodian or intermediary
from which it receives payment) with any information, forms, other documentation or consents that may
be necessary for the payments to be made free of FATCA withholding. Investors should choose the
custodians or intermediaries with care (to ensure each is compliant with FATCA or other laws or
agreements related to FATCA) and provide each custodian or intermediary with any information, forms,
other documentation or consents that may be necessary for such custodian or intermediary to make a
payment free of FATCA withholding. Investors should consult their own tax adviser to obtain a more
detailed explanation of FATCA and how FATCA may affect them. The Issuer’'s obligations under the
Notes are discharged once it has made payment to, or to the order of, the Specified Clearing Systems
and the Issuer has therefore no responsibility for any amount thereafter transmitted through the
Specified Clearing Systems and custodians or intermediaries. Further, foreign financial institutions in a
jurisdiction which has entered into an intergovernmental agreement with the United States (an IGA) are
generally not expected to be required to withhold under FATCA or an IGA (or any law implementing an
IGA) from payments they make.

Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act withholding risk

The U.S. Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act (the HIRE Act) imposes a 30 per cent.
withholding tax on amounts attributable to U.S. source dividends that are paid or "deemed paid" under
certain financial instruments if certain conditions are met. While significant aspects of the application of
the relevant provisions of the HIRE Act to the Notes are uncertain, if the Issuer or any withholding agent
determines that withholding is required, neither the Issuer nor any withholding agent will be required to
pay any additional amounts with respect to amounts so withheld. Prospective investors should refer to
the section "Taxation — Other Jurisdictions — United States — Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment
Act".

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act

In the United States, passage of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection
Act (“Dodd-Frank Act”) in 2010 has led to significant structural reforms affecting the financial services
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industry, by addressing, among other issues, systemic risk oversight, bank capital standards, the orderly
liquidation of failing systemically significant financial institutions, and over-the-counter derivatives. The
Dodd-Frank Act also contains prohibitions, commonly called the “Volcker Rule,” which broadly prohibits
banking entities from proprietary trading and sponsoring or investing in hedge, private equity and similar
funds, subject to a number of exceptions.

In particular, Title VII (“Title VII") of the Dodd-Frank Act establishes a comprehensive U.S.
regulatory regime for a broad range of derivatives contracts (collectively referred to in this risk factor as
“covered swaps”). Among other things, Title VII provides the CFTC and the SEC with jurisdiction and
regulatory authority over many different types of derivatives, requires the establishment of a
comprehensive registration and regulatory framework applicable to dealers in covered swap and other
major market participants, requires the reporting of data on covered swaps, requires many types of
covered swaps to be exchange-traded or executed on a swap execution facilities and centrally cleared,
and contemplates the imposition of capital requirements and margin requirements for uncleared
transactions in covered swaps.

Many of the key regulations implementing Title VII have recently become effective or are in
final form. However, in some instances, the interpretation and potential impact of these regulations are
not yet entirely clear. Additionally, not all of the regulations, particularly with respect to margining
requirements for non-cleared covered swaps and requirements for security-based swaps more
generally, have been finalised and made effective. Due to this uncertainty, a complete assessment of
the exact effects of Title VII cannot be made at this time. Accordingly, there is no assurance that any
swaps entered into by any Issuer would not be treated as covered swaps under the Dodd-Frank Act, nor
is there assurance that any Issuer or the applicable swap counterparty would not be required to comply
with additional regulation under the CEA, including by the Dodd-Frank Act.

In particular, any swaps entered into by any Issuer may include agreements that are regulated as
covered swaps under Title VII, each of which may be subject to new clearing, execution, capital, margin
posting, reporting and recordkeeping requirements under the Dodd-Frank Act that could result in
additional regulatory burdens, costs and expenses (including extraordinary, non-recurring expenses of
such Issuer). Such requirements may disrupt such Issuer’s ability to hedge their exposure to various
transactions, and may materially and adversely impact a transaction’s value or the value of the
Securities. While the Dodd-Frank Act provides for the grandfathering of certain swaps, such
grandfathering may not apply to the transactions entered into by such Issuer or may only apply to
certain transactions. Additionally, no Issuer can be certain as to how these regulatory developments will
impact the treatment of the Securities.

Given that the full scope and consequences of the enactment of the Dodd-Frank Act and the rules
promulgated and to be promulgated thereunder are not yet known, investors are urged to consult their
own advisors regarding the suitability of an investment in any Notes under the Programme.

In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act, amending the CEA, expanded the definition of a “commodity pool” to
include any form of enterprise operated for the purpose of trading in commodity interests, including
swaps. Each Issuer has imposed certain restrictions on sales in order to fall outside the scope of the
CEA. However, if any Issuer were deemed to be a “commodity pool”, then both the commaodity pool
operator and the commodity trading advisor of such Issuer would be required to register as such with
the CFTC and the National Futures Association. While there remain certain limited exemptions from
registration, it is unclear whether and to what extent any of these exemptions would be available to
avoid registration with respect to such Issuer. In addition, if any Issuer were deemed to be a “commodity
pool”, it would have to comply with a number of reporting requirements that are designed to apply to
traded commodity pools. It is presently unclear how such Issuer could comply with certain of these
reporting requirements on an ongoing basis. Such registration and other requirements would involve
material ongoing costs to such Issuer, thereby materially and adversely impacting a Security’s value.

In addition, other regulatory bodies have proposed or may propose in the future regulations (such as
MIFID Il as regards to which see below) similar to those required by the Dodd-Frank Act or other
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regulations containing other restrictions that could adversely impact the liquidity of and increase costs of
entering into derivatives transaction.

If these regulations are adopted and/or implemented or other regulations are adopted in the future, they
could have an adverse impact on the return on and value of the Notes. Furthermore, potential
inconsistency between regulations issued by different regimes could lead to market fragmentation.

European Market Infrastructure Regulation and Markets in Financial Instruments Directive

European Regulation 648/2012, known as the European Market Infrastructure Regulation (EMIR)
entered into force on 16 August 2012 and took direct effect in the member states of the European
Union. Under EMIR certain over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives that are traded in the European Union by
financial counterparties (FCs), such as investment firms, credit institutions and insurance companies,
and certain non-financial counterparties (NFCs) have to be cleared (the clearing obligation) via an
authorised central clearing counterparty (a CCP). In addition, EMIR requires the reporting of OTC
derivative contracts to a trade repository (the reporting obligation) and introduces certain risk
mitigation requirements in relation to OTC derivative contracts that are not cleared by a CCP.

Under EMIR, a CCP will be used to meet the clearing obligation by interposing itself between the
counterparties to the eligible derivative contracts. CCPs will connect with derivative counterparties
through their clearing members. Each derivative counterparty which is required to clear OTC derivative
contracts will be required to post both initial and variation margin to the clearing member, which will in
turn be required to post margin to the CCP. EMIR requires CCPs to only accept highly liquid collateral
with minimal credit and market risk. Where an NFC which enters into an OTC derivative contract which
is not "eligible" for clearing, it will have to ensure that appropriate procedures and arrangements are in
place to monitor and minimise operational and credit risk.

The Issuer may have to apply certain risk mitigation techniques in relation to timely confirmation,
portfolio reconciliation and compression, and dispute resolution that are applicable to OTC derivatives
contracts that are not cleared by a CCP. Further, the Issuer will be required to deliver certain information
about any OTC derivative contract EMIR also imposes a record-keeping requirement pursuant to which
counterparties must keep records of any derivative contract they have concluded and any modification
for at least five years following the termination of the contract.

The EU regulatory framework relating to derivatives is set not only by EMIR but also by the amending
Directive to the existing Markets in Financial Instruments Directive published in the Official Journal on 12
June 2014 (MIFID Il). Member States are required to implement national legislation giving effect to
MIFID I within 24 months after the entry into force of MiFID Il (i.e. June 2016) which national legislation
must apply within 30 months after the entry into force of MIiFID Il (January 2017). In particular, MiFID I
is expected to require all transactions in OTC derivatives to be executed on a trading venue. In this
respect, it is difficult to predict the full impact of these regulatory requirements on the Issuer.

Investors should be aware that the regulatory changes arising from EMIR and MiFID Il may in due
course significantly raise the costs of entering into derivative contracts and may adversely affect the
Issuer's ability to engage in transactions in OTC derivatives. As a result of such increased costs or
increased regulatory requirements, investors may receive lower returns. Investors should be aware that
such risks are material and that the Issuer could be materially and adversely affected thereby. The full
impact of EMIR and of MiFID Il remains to be clarified and the scope of their possible implications of for
investors in the Notes cannot currently be predicted. As such, investors should consult their own
independent advisers and make their own assessment about the potential risks posed by EMIR and
MIFID Il and technical implementation in making any investment decision in respect of the Notes.

The Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive

On 2 July 2014, the Directive 2014/59/EU of the Parliament and of the Council of the European Union
establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms (the
BRRD) entered into force. It is designed to provide authorities with a credible set of tools to intervene
sufficiently early and quickly in an unsound or failing institution so as to ensure the continuity of the
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institution's critical financial and economic functions, while minimising the impact of an institution's
failure on the economy and financial system.

The BRRD contains four resolution tools and powers which may be used alone or in combination where
the relevant resolution authority considers that (a) an institution is failing or likely to fail, (b) there is no
reasonable prospect that any alternative private sector measures or supervisory action would prevent
the failure of such institution within a reasonable timeframe, and (c) a resolution action is in the public
interest:

0] the sale of business — which enables resolution authorities to direct the sale of the firm or the
whole or part of its business on commercial terms;

(i) the creation and use of a bridge institution — which enables resolution authorities to transfer all
or part of the business of the firm to a "bridge institution” (an entity created for this purpose that
is wholly or partially in public control);

(i) asset separation — which enables resolution authorities to transfer impaired or problem assets
to one or more publicly owned asset management vehicles to allow them to be managed with a
view to maximising their value through eventual sale or orderly wind-down (this may only be
used together with another resolution tool); and

(iv) a bail-in tool which gives resolution authorities the power to write down certain claims of
unsecured creditors of a failing institution and to convert certain unsecured debt claims,
including Notes, to equity, which equity could also be subject to any future application of the
general bail-in tool.

The BRRD also provides as a last resort the right for a Member State, having assessed and utilised the
above resolution tools to the maximum extent possible whilst maintaining financial stability, to be able to
provide extraordinary public financial support through additional financial stabilisation tools. These
consist of the public equity support and temporary public ownership tools. Any such extraordinary
financial support must be provided in accordance with the EU state aid framework.

An institution will be considered as failing or likely to fail when: it is, or is likely in the near future to be, in
breach of its requirements for continuing authorisation; its assets are, or are likely in the near future to
be, less than its liabilities; it is, or is likely in the near future to be, unable to pay its debts as they fall
due; or it requires extraordinary public financial support (except in limited circumstances).

When applying the bail-in, the resolution authority must first reduce or cancel common equity tier one,
thereafter reduce, cancel, convert additional tier one instruments, then tier two instruments and other
subordinated debts to the extent required and up to their capacity. If and if only this total reduction is
less than the amount needed, the resolution authority will reduce or convert to the extent required the
principal amount or outstanding amount payable in respect of unsecured creditors in accordance with
the hierarchy of claims in normal insolvency proceedings.

The BRRD provides that Member States shall apply those measures from 1 January 2015, except for
the senior debt bail-in tool which is to be applied from 1 January 2016 at the latest. In France, BRRD
has been implemented in France through Order 2015-1024 dated 20 August 2015 introducing various
legal provisions to comply with European law in the financial field (portant diverses dispositions
d'adaptation de la législation au droit de I'Union européenne en matiére financiere). Please note
however that only amendments to the legislative part of the French Monetary and Financial Code
(i.e. primary legislation) has been introduced at this stage and the complete implementation of BRRD in
France still requires amendments to other financial and banking legal texts (décrets d'application...).

Once the BRRD is implemented in EU countries, the BRRD will impact how credit institutions and
investment firms are managed as well as, in certain circumstances, the rights of creditors. The Notes
may be subject to write-down or conversion into equity on any application of the senior debt bail-in tool,
which may result in such holders losing some or all of their investment. The exercise of any power under
the BRRD or any suggestion of such exercise could materially adversely affect the rights of Noteholders,
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the price or value of their investment in any Notes and/or the ability of Société Générale, SG Issuer
and/or SG Option Europe, as applicable, to satisfy its obligations under any Notes.

It should be noted that for Notes benefiting from the Guarantee of Société Générale, all references in
the Deed of Guarantee (see text of the Guarantee in the section headed "Form of Deed of Guarantee")
to sums or amounts payable by the relevant Issuer should, if applicable, be to such sums or amounts as
reduced or modified from time to time resulting from the application of a bail-in by any relevant authority.

The Regulation 806/2014/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 July 2014 establishes
a Single Resolution Mechanism (SRM) for the Banking Union (i.e. Euro-zone and participating
countries). Under this Regulation, a centralised power of resolution is established and entrusted to a
Single Resolution Board and to the national resolution authorities. The SRM is directly applicable in
participating EU countries (including France and Luxembourg) starting since 1 January 2015. It will
ensure a full harmonization of the resolution, including the bail-in tool, in the Banking Union.

Eurosystem eligibility for New Global Notes and Registered Global Notes

New Global Notes and Registered Global Notes issued under the new safekeeping structure (NSS) may
be issued with the intention that such Notes be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem, either upon issue or at any or all
times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria
as specified by the European Central Bank. However, there is no guarantee that such Notes will be
recognised as eligible collateral. Any other Notes are not intended to be recognised as eligible collateral
for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem.

Notes where denominations involve integral multiples: Definitive Bearer Notes

In relation to any issue of Bearer Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified
Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that
such Bearer Notes may be traded in amounts that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified
Denomination. In such a case a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which
is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system at the
relevant time may not receive a Definitive Bearer Note in respect of such holding (should Definitive
Bearer Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Bearer Notes such that its
holding amounts to a Specified Denomination.

If Definitive Bearer Notes are issued, holders should be aware that Definitive Bearer Notes which have a
denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and
difficult to trade.

Transfer restrictions

Other than with respect to U.S. Exempt Securities, the Notes may not at any time be offered, sold,
pledged, or otherwise transferred except in an “offshore transaction” (as defined under Regulation S) to
or for the account or benefit of a Permitted Transferee as described under “Subscription, Sale and
Transfer Restrictions”. Any transfer of Notes to a person that is not a Permitted Transferee will be void
ab initio and of no legal effect whatsoever. Accordingly, any purported transferee of any legal or
beneficial ownership interest in Notes in such a transaction will not be entitled to any right as a legal or
beneficial owner of such interest in such Notes.

In addition, the relevant Issuer may, in its discretion, redeem the Notes held by such purchaser or other
transferee or compel any such purchaser or other transferee to transfer such Notes. Any such
redemption or forced transfer may result in a significant loss of a Noteholder's investment.

U.S. Exempt Securities may only be sold or otherwise transferred to certain transferees as described
under “Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions” and pursuant to any selling restrictions as may be
set out in any applicable Offering Circular.
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The foregoing restriction on the offer, sale, pledge or other transfer of Notes may limit the liquidity of
such Notes. Consequently, a purchaser must be prepared to hold such Notes for an indefinite period of
time and potentially until their maturity..

A Noteholder's actual yield on the Notes may be reduced from the stated yield by transaction
costs

When Notes are purchased or sold, several types of incidental costs (including transaction fees and
commissions) are incurred in addition to the current price of the security. These incidental costs may
significantly reduce or even exclude the profit potential of the Notes. For instance, credit institutions as a
rule charge their clients for own commissions which are either fixed minimum commissions or pro-rata
commissions depending on the order value. To the extent that additional — domestic or foreign — parties
are involved in the execution of an order, including but not limited to domestic dealers or brokers in
foreign markets, Noteholders must take into account that they may also be charged for the brokerage
fees, commissions and other fees and expenses of such parties (third party costs).

In addition to such costs directly related to the purchase of securities (direct costs), Noteholders must
also take into account any follow-up costs (such as custody fees). Prospective investors should inform
themselves about any additional costs incurred in connection with the purchase, custody or sale of the
Notes before investing in the Notes.

There is a risk that trading in the Notes and/or Underlyings will be suspended, interrupted or
terminated

If the Notes are listed on one (or more) markets (which may be regulated or unregulated), the listing of
such Notes may — depending on the rules applicable to such stock exchange — be suspended or
interrupted by the respective stock exchange or a competent regulatory authority upon the occurrence of
a number of reasons, including violation of price limits, breach of statutory provisions, occurrence of
operational problems of the stock exchange or generally if deemed required in order to secure a
functioning market or to safeguard the interests of investors. Furthermore, trading in the Notes may be
terminated, either upon decision of the stock exchange, a regulatory authority or upon application by the
Issuer. Where trading in an Underlying of the Notes is suspended, interrupted or terminated, trading in
the respective Notes will usually also be suspended, interrupted or terminated and existing orders for
the sale or purchase of such Notes will usually be cancelled. Investors should note that the Issuer has
no influence on trading suspension or interruptions (other than where trading in the Notes is terminated
upon the Issuer's decision) and that investors in any event must bear the risks connected therewith. In
particular, investors may not be able to sell their Notes where trading is suspended, interrupted or
terminated, and the stock exchange quotations of such Notes may not adequately reflect the price of
such Notes. Furthermore, a trading suspension, interruption or termination of Underlyings of the Notes
may cause a suspension, interruption or termination of trading in the Notes and may as well result in an
artificial or wrong valuation of the Notes. Finally, even if trading in Notes or Underlyings is suspended,
interrupted or terminated, investors should note that such measures may neither be sufficient nor
adequate nor in time to prevent price disruptions or to safeguard the investors' interests; for example,
where trading in Notes is suspended after price-sensitive information relating to such Notes has been
published, the price of such Notes may already have been adversely affected. All these risks would, if
they materialise, have a material adverse effect on the investors.

Risk of difficulties regarding assertion of rights against an Issuer and/or Guarantor established
and operating in another jurisdiction than the investor’s home jurisdiction

In the event of a dispute with the Issuer and/or Guarantor, investors who are not resident in, or does not
have their habitual residence in, the state of the Issuer, are exposed to the risk of severe assertion and
enforcement of their rights resulting from the Notes.
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Risk relating to the financing of the purchase of Notes by loan or credit significantly increases
risks

If a prospective investor in the Notes decides to finance the purchase of Notes through funds borrowed
from a third party, it should make sure in advance that it can still continue to service the interest and
principal payments on the loan in the event of a loss. It should not rely on gains or profits from the
investment in the Notes which would enable it to repay interest and principal of the loans when due and
payable.

Risk that investors base their investment decision on erroneous analyst opinions or prognoses

Investors often make their investment decision based on statements, market estimates and forecasts of
analysts. The same applies to general market expectations, on which investment decisions are often
based. There can be no assurance that statements, opinions and expectations of analysts, and certain
market expectations will be achieved. There is a risk that statements, opinions and expectations of
analysts as well as certain market expectations are incorrect. In case of non-occurrence of, or deviations
from, analyst and market expectations, statements, forecasts and opinions, there is a risk that the price
and yield of the Notes developed disadvantageous. In case of insolvency of the issuer, it may also result
in a partial or total loss of the invested capital.

Risk of irrational factors

There is a risk that the price and the yield of the Notes will be significantly adversely affected by rumors,
opinions and trends that do not match with reality.

Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a brief description of the principal market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate
risk, interest rate risk and credit risk.

The secondary market generally

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market
does develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or
at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed
secondary market. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate,
currency or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been
structured to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes
generally would have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt
securities. llliquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the market value of Notes.

Moreover, although pursuant to Condition 5.13 of the General Terms and Conditions of the Notes, the
relevant Issuer can purchase Notes at any moment, this is not an obligation for the relevant Issuer.
Purchases made by the relevant Issuer could affect the liquidity of the secondary market of the relevant
Notes and thus the price and the conditions under which investors can negotiate these Notes on the
secondary market.

In addition, Noteholders should be aware of the prevailing and widely reported global credit
market conditions (which continue at the date of this Base Prospectus), whereby there is a
general lack of liquidity in the secondary market for instruments similar to certain of the Notes
which may be issued hereunder. Such lack of liquidity may result in investors suffering losses
on the Notes in secondary resales even if there is no decline in the performance of the Notes,
any underlying or reference, or the assets of the Issuers and/or the Guarantor. The Issuers
cannot predict whether these circumstances will change and whether, if and when they do
change, there will be a more liquid market for the Notes and instruments similar to the Notes at
that time.

Although applications have been made for the Notes issued under the Programme to be listed and
admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and/or SIX Swiss Exchange, there is no
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assurance that such application will be accepted, that any particular Tranche of Notes will be so
admitted or that an active trading market will develop.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The relevant Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents
certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated
principally in a currency or currency unit (the Investor's Currency) other than the Specified Currency.
These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to
devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that
authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An
appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease
(1) the Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (2) the Investor's Currency equivalent value of
the principal payable on the Notes and (3) the Investor's Currency equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls
that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest
or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

Interest rate risks

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may
adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes.

As regards Floating Rate Notes, a key difference between Floating Rate Notes and Fixed Rate Notes is
that interest income on Floating Rate Notes cannot be anticipated. Due to varying interest income,
investors are not able to determine a definite yield of Floating Rate Notes at the time they purchase
them and therefore their investment return cannot be compared with that of investments having longer
fixed interest periods. If the terms and conditions of the notes provide for frequent interest payment
dates, investors are exposed to reinvestment risk if market interest rates decline. That is, investors may
reinvest the interest income paid to them only at the relevant lower interest rates then prevailing. In
addition, the Issuer's ability to also issue Fixed Rate Notes may affect the market value and the
secondary market (if any) of the Floating Rate Notes (and vice versa).

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes. The ratings may
not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed
above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation
to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time.

In general, European regulated investors are restricted under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 of the
European Parliament and of the Council dated 16 September 2009, as amended (the CRA Regulation)
from using credit ratings for regulatory purposes, unless such ratings are issued by a credit rating
agency established in the EU and registered under the CRA Regulation (and such registration has not
been withdrawn or suspended), subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances
whilst the registration application is pending. Such general restriction will also apply in the case of credit
ratings issued by non-EU credit rating agencies, unless the relevant credit ratings are endorsed by an
EU-registered credit rating agency or the relevant non-EU rating agency is certified in accordance with
the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement action or certification, as the case may be, has not been
withdrawn or suspended).

The applicable Final Terms will specify whether or not such credit ratings are issued by credit rating
agencies established in the European Union, and whether or not the relevant credit rating agency is
registered (or has applied for registration) under the CRA Regulation and is included in the list of
registered credit rating agencies published on the website of the European Securities and Markets
Authority (www.esma.europa.euH).
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Market value of the Notes

The market value of the Notes will be affected by, amongst other things, the creditworthiness of the
relevant Issuer and/or that of the Guarantor. The credit ratings of the relevant Issuer and the Guarantor
are an assessment of their ability to pay their obligations, including those on the offered Notes.
Consequently, actual or anticipated declines in the credit ratings of either the relevant Issuer and/or the
Guarantor may affect the market value of the relevant Notes.

The market value of Secured Notes will also depend on various other factors relating to the Type of
Collateralisation provided for such Notes, in relation to which please refer to section 6 — "Additional
Risks Associated with Secured Notes" below.

In addition, the market value of the Notes will be affected by the creditworthiness of the Issuers and/or
that of the Group and a number of additional factors, including the market interest and yield rates and
the time remaining to the maturity date.

The value of the Notes depends on a number of interrelated factors, including economic, financial and
political events in France and elsewhere, including factors affecting capital markets generally and the
stock exchanges on which the Notes are traded. The price at which a Noteholder will be able to sell the
Notes prior to maturity may be at a discount, which could be substantial, from the issue price or the
purchase price paid by such purchaser.

ADDITIONAL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH SECURED NOTES

6.1

6.2

6.3

Nature of security

The security granted by SG Issuer under a Pledge Agreement is a security interest over the accounts in
which the Collateral Assets are held and does not extend to any interest or distributions paid on such
Collateral Assets (to the extent such amounts are not held in the relevant Collateral Account).

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, no security interest will be granted by SG
Issuer over any of its rights under any agreement (including, without limitation, any Hedging Agreement)
under which it acquires any Collateral Assets or its rights against the Collateral Custodian or any other
Collateral Arrangement Party. This means that neither the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law
Notes or Uncertificated Notes) nor the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes) will have any
ability to compel SG Issuer to enforce its rights (or to enforce such rights on behalf of SG Issuer) under
any agreement against a counterparty to such agreement.

Structure of Collateral Accounts

The Collateral Custodian may, to the extent permitted in the Collateral Custodian Agreement, pursuant
to its standard terms of business and in accordance with local regulations and market practice for
custodian or sub-custodian entities or as required pursuant to any contractual arrangements between
the Collateral Custodian and its sub-custodians, hold certain cash and/or securities sub-accounts with
other custodial entities. Collateral Assets which, pursuant to the terms of the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Secured Notes and the Collateral Custodian Agreement, are to be held with the Collateral
Custodian in a Collateral Account may therefore in practice be held by the Collateral Custodian in sub-
accounts with other custodial entities. In such circumstances, although primary responsibility for the
Collateral Assets remains with the Collateral Custodian, Noteholders will be exposed to the risk of any
potential operational disruption or any other adverse impact related to custodial entities (including
disruption caused by any insolvency proceedings which may be commenced in respect of such
custodial entities) with whom the Collateral Custodian holds sub-accounts containing Collateral Assets.

Type of Collateralisation

The security provided for a Series of Secured Notes is limited to the Collateral Assets constituting the
Collateral Pool applicable to such Series (and to all Series of Secured Notes secured by the same
Collateral Pool in the case of a Multiple Series Collateral Pool). The amount of Collateral Assets
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constituting such Collateral Pool will depend, amongst other things, on the Type of Collateralisation
specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms, on the Collateralisation Percentage
specified in the applicable Final Terms, on whether or not Collateral Valuation at Nominal Value is
applicable or on whether or not a Haircut is specified in the applicable Final Terms. There is no
guarantee that the applicable Type of Collateralisation will be sufficient to ensure that, following
enforcement of a Pledge Agreement, the amounts available for distribution or the value of the Collateral
Assets available to be delivered by the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes or
Uncertificated Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes) will be sufficient to pay all
amounts due to Noteholders in respect of the relevant Series of Secured Notes (see "Shortfall on
Realisation of Collateral Assets and Limited Recourse of Noteholders"). In addition, depending of the
Type of Collateralisation, the claim of holders of Non-Waived Notes may differ from the Collateral Value
(See Condition 5.5 of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Secured Notes).

Verification by the Collateral Monitoring Agent and tolerance threshold between the Collateral
Value and the Required Collateral Value

On each Collateral Test Date, the Collateral Monitoring Agent shall verify that the Collateral Test is
satisfied, i.e. that (i) the Collateral Rules relating to such Collateral Pool are satisfied and (ii) the
Collateral Value is greater than or equal to 97 per cent of the Required Collateral Value for such
Collateral Pool (taking into account any Haircut value(s) to be applied to the Collateral Assets and the
aggregate value of any Waived Notes). It is tolerated that the Collateral Value can be 3 per cent lower
than the Required Collateral Value in order to avoid numerous transfers of Collateral Assets to and from
the Collateral Pool for small values and/or quantities and consequently avoid the costs that would be
associated with such transfers. However this tolerance threshold amplifies most of the risks associated
with Secured Notes described herein and in particular, but not limited to, the risk that following
enforcement of a Pledge Agreement, the amounts available for distribution or the value of the Collateral
Assets available to be delivered by the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes or
Uncertificated Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes) will not be sufficient to
pay all amounts due to Noteholders in respect of the relevant Series of Secured Notes (see "Shortfall on
Realisation of Collateral Assets and Limited Recourse of Noteholders").

Change of law — Implementation of the Collateral Directive under Luxembourg Law

The provisions relating to Secured Notes in the General Terms and Conditions of the Notes (including
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Secured Notes), each relevant Pledge Agreement and the other
programme documentation are based on relevant law in effect as at the date of this Base Prospectus.
No assurance can be given as to the impact on Noteholders of any possible judicial decision or change
to such laws, or the official application or interpretation of such laws or administrative practices after the
date of this Base Prospectus. In particular, significant changes to the Luxembourg act dated 5 August
2005 on financial collateral arrangements, as amended (the Collateral Act 2005) implementing
Directive 2002/47/EC on financial collateral arrangements (the Collateral Directive) in Luxembourg
may have an adverse impact on the rights of the Noteholders. Neither SG Issuer, the Guarantor nor any
other party makes any representation as to the interpretation of, or any amendments to, any of the
provisions of the Collateral Directive or its implementation in Luxembourg.

Potential lack of diversification of the Collateral Assets

Investors should note that, depending on the relevant Eligibility Criteria and Collateral Rules, the
Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool with which a Series of Secured Notes are secured may be, unless
otherwise specified in the relevant Eligibility Criteria and Collateral Rules, limited to one or a few assets
or types of assets.

Low diversification of Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool may increase the risk that the proceeds of
realisation of the Collateral Assets may be less than the sums due to the relevant Noteholders under the
relevant Secured Notes. If the Collateral Pool is comprised of a limited number of different types of
assets, any depreciation in the value of such assets in the period between the most recent Collateral
Test Date and the realisation of the Collateral Assets in the corresponding Collateral Pool will have a
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proportionally larger impact on any shortfall as the amount recovered in respect of the Collateral Assets
on their sale will be dependent on the then current market value of a smaller range of Collateral Assets.

None of SG Issuer, the Guarantor, the Security Trustee, the Security Agent, the Collateral Agent, the
Collateral Monitoring Agent or the Collateral Custodian is under any obligation to ensure that the
relevant Eligibility Criteria or Collateral Rules provide for the diversification of Collateral Assets in a
Collateral Pool.

llliquid Collateral Assets

Depending on the relevant Eligibility Criteria and Collateral Rules, certain of the Collateral Assets may
not be admitted to trading on any public market and may be illiquid and not easily realisable in certain
market circumstances. Where there is limited liquidity in the secondary market relating to Collateral
Assets, the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes or Uncertificated Notes) or the Security
Agent (in the case of French Law Notes), or, in either case, the Disposal Agent on their behalf, may not
be able to readily sell such Collateral Assets to a third party or may only be able to sell such Collateral
Assets at a discounted value. Where the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes or
Uncertificated Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes), or, in either case, the
Disposal Agent on their behalf, is unable to sell such Collateral Assets, the Security Trustee (in the case
of English Law Notes or Uncertificated Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes)
will instead be required to deliver such Collateral Assets as if Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets were
applicable in relation thereto.

Correlation between the value of the Collateral Assets and the Creditworthiness of SG Issuer and
the Guarantor

Depending on the Eligibility Criteria and the Collateral Rules applicable for a Series of Secured Notes,
the Collateral Assets relating to such Series could be composed of assets whose value may be
positively or negatively correlated with the creditworthiness of SG Issuer and the Guarantor. In the event
that there is a positive correlation between the value of the Collateral Assets and the creditworthiness of
SG lIssuer and the Guarantor, the value of the Collateral Assets will vary in the same way as the
creditworthiness of SG Issuer and the Guarantor.

Where the value of the Collateral Assets is positively correlated with the creditworthiness of SG Issuer
and the Guarantor, for example where the Collateral Assets consist of securities (such as debt or
equities) issued by other financial institutions, a default by SG Issuer and the Guarantor in relation to
their obligations under the Secured Notes may be associated with a fall in the value of Collateral Assets
securing such Secured Notes.

Difference between the calculation of Secured Note Market Value and Market Value following an
Event of Default

Secured Notes Market Value is the market value of the relevant Secured Note determined by the Note
Valuation Agent on the basis of such valuation method as the Note Valuation Agent may, acting in good
faith and in a commercially reasonable manner determine in its discretion and will take into account SG
Issuer's and Guarantor's creditworthiness. Unlike the Secured Note Market Value, following an Event of
Default, the Market Value determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with Condition 5.9 of the
General Terms and Conditions of the Notes (which determines the claim that a holder of Non Waived
Notes has on SG Issuer and/or the Guarantor), will not take into account SG Issuer's or the Guarantor's
creditworthiness. As a result, there may be a difference between the Secured Note Market Value
determined before an Event of Default and the Market Value determined after an Event of Default.

Specific risk due to the difference between the calculation of Secured Note Market Value and
Market Value following an Event of Default for the Market Value Type of Collateralisation

Investors should note that when "MV Collateralisation”, "Min (MV, NV) Collateralisation" or "Max
(MV, NV) Collateralisation is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms of a Series of Secured
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Notes, the level of collateral required to secure such Secured Notes (i.e. the Required Collateral Value)
and therefore the amount of Collateral Assets actually in the Collateral Pool (i.e. the Collateral Value)
will be based on the Secured Note Market Value which as indicated above will take into account SG
Issuer's and the Guarantor's creditworthiness. Consequently, everything else being equal, the Secured
Note Market Value may decrease when SG Issuer's and the Guarantor's creditworthiness deteriorates
and so may the Required Collateral Value and the Collateral Value whereas, following an Event of
Default, the Market Value determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with Condition 5.9 of the
General Terms and Conditions of the Notes, will not decrease. As a result, the holders of Non Waived
Notes where MV Collateralisation, "Min (MV, NV) Collateralisation" or "Max (MV, NV) Collateralisation is
specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms of a Series of Secured Notes may end up in a
situation where the amount of Collateral Assets securing the obligation of SG Issuer under such Notes,
is significantly lower than their claim on SG Issuer and/or the Guarantor.

Specific risk due to the difference between the aggregate nominal value of the Non Waived-
Notes and Market Value following an Event of Default for the Nominal Value Type of
Collateralisation

Investors should note that when "NV Collateralisation”, is specified as applicable in the applicable Final
Terms of a Series of Secured Notes, the level of collateral required to secure such Secured Notes (i.e.
the Required Collateral Value) and therefore the amount of Collateral Assets actually in the Collateral
Pool (i.e. the Collateral Value) will be based on the aggregate nominal value of the Non Waived-Notes.
The aggregate nominal value of the Non Waived-Notes may not evolve the same way as the Market
Value determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with Condition 5.9 of the English Law Notes
or Uncertificated Notes or Condition 5.9 of the French Law Notes. As a result, the holders of Non
Waived Notes where "NV Collateralisation" is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms of a
Series of Secured Notes may end up in a situation where the amount of Collateral Assets securing the
obligation of SG Issuer under such Notes, is significantly lower than their claim on SG Issuer and/or the
Guarantor.

Multiple Series Collateral Pools

Where the applicable Final Terms in respect of a Series of Secured Notes specify that "Multiple Series
Collateral Pool" will be applicable, security over the Collateral Pool may be shared by a number of
Series of Secured Notes and Noteholders will, by acquiring and holding such Notes, be deemed to
acknowledge, accept and agree to the rights of existing and future Noteholders of different Series of
Secured Notes to share equally in such security.

Adjustments to Collateral Pool

Following a Collateral Test Date, SG Issuer (or the Collateral Agent on its behalf) may be required to
deliver, or procure the delivery of, additional or replacement Collateral Assets to or from the Collateral
Account such that after such adjustment of Collateral Assets the Collateral Test will be satisfied.
Investors, nevertheless, will be exposed to the difference between the Required Collateral Value and the
Collateral Value prior to any such adjustment. Prior to such adjustment there is also a risk that the
Collateral Assets may not meet the Eligibility Criteria and/or that the Collateral Rules will not be
satisfied.

The acquisition of Collateral Assets necessary to make the required adjustments to the Collateral Assets
contained in a Collateral Pool may be effected pursuant to the terms of any Hedging Agreement or
otherwise. For a description of the risks associated with the operation of a Hedging Agreement, see
"Risk of non-performance of obligations by a Counterparty" below.

"Haircut" applied to Collateral Assets

When determining the Collateral Value in respect of Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool, the Collateral
Agent will, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, apply the Haircut (being the percentage amount
by which the value of each type or class of Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool is reduced) specified in
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the applicable Final Terms. Although the level(s) of Haircut specified in the applicable Final Terms is
intended to reflect the risk of a depreciation in the value of Collateral Assets in the period between the
most recent Collateral Test Date and the date on which such Collateral Assets may be realised,
investors should note that the value of a Collateral Asset may change over time and the Haircut applied
to the Collateral Assets may become outdated and may not provide suitable protection against a
potential depreciation in value of the relevant Collateral Asset. No duty of care towards investors is
implied or accepted by SG Issuer, the Guarantor, the Collateral Agent or the Collateral Monitoring Agent
in relation to the level(s) of Haircut to be applied to the Collateral Assets in a particular Collateral Pool.

Waived Notes

If "Waiver of Rights" is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, certain Noteholders
intending to hold Secured Notes (including, but not limited to, in their capacity as a market maker) may
waive their rights to receive the proceeds of realisation of the Collateral Assets securing such Secured
Notes (or where Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is specified as applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, delivery of the Collateral Assets) following the enforcement of the relevant Pledge Agreement.
As a consequence, when calculating the Required Collateral Value, the Collateral Agent and the
Collateral Monitoring Agent shall only take into account the value of the Secured Notes that have not
been subject to such waiver.

Upon any transfer of Waived Notes the holders thereof shall be required to notify the Collateral Agent.
The Collateral Business Day following such notification will be deemed to be a Collateral Test Date and
on such date the Collateral Agent shall determine the revised Required Collateral Value and any
required adjustments to the Collateral Pool necessary to ensure that the Collateral Test will be satisfied.
Until any such adjustments to the Collateral Assets have occurred, the value of Collateral Assets held in
a Collateral Account securing a Series of Secured Notes may be less than the revised Required
Collateral Value.

If the number of Waived Notes actually held on a Collateral Test Date relating to a particular Collateral
Pool is less than the number of Waived Notes notified to the Collateral Agent (such event being a
Waived Note Notification Error), then the Required Collateral Value calculated on such Collateral Test
Date will be lower than would otherwise be the case if there was no such Waived Note Notification Error.
If the relevant Pledge Agreement were to be enforced prior to the correction of a Waived Note
Notification Error, the proceeds of realisation of the Collateral Assets available to be distributed, or
where Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is applicable the value the Collateral Assets available to be
delivered, to Noteholders whose Notes are secured on such Collateral Pool will be less than would have
been the case in the absence of such Waived Note Notification Error.

Neither SG Issuer, the Guarantor, the Collateral Agent nor the Collateral Monitoring Agent shall be
responsible for any incorrect, inaccurate or incomplete information relating to the number of Waived
Notes held in relation to any one or more Series of Secured Notes that may have been provided to the
Collateral Agent by or on behalf of any holder of Waived Notes and none of SG Issuer, the Guarantor,
the Collateral Agent nor the Collateral Monitoring Agent shall be under any duty to verify or otherwise
confirm the number of Waived Notes so held.

Frequency of Collateral Test Dates

In order to ensure that a Series of Secured Notes is collateralised in accordance with its terms, the
Collateral Value and the Required Collateral Value will be determined on the Issue Date of such Series
of Secured Notes, on each periodic Collateral Test Date thereafter as specified in the applicable Final
Terms and on any additional date which is deemed to be a Collateral Test Date pursuant to the terms of
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Secured Notes. The lower the frequency of the periodic
Collateral Test Dates specified in the applicable Final Terms and hence the greater the period of time in
between each such periodic Collateral Test Date the more likely it is that upon enforcement of the
relevant Pledge Agreement, the proceeds of enforcement that a Noteholder will receive or, where
Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is applicable, the value of the Collateral Assets delivered, will be
less than the amounts due to Noteholders in respect of the relevant Series of Secured Notes.
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In respect of certain Series of Secured Notes, the applicable Final Terms may specify that there will be
no periodic Collateral Test Dates, in which case there will be no periodic adjustments to the Collateral
Assets in the Collateral Pool during the life of the relevant Secured Notes other than on any date which
is deemed to be a Collateral Test Date pursuant to the terms of the Additional Terms and Conditions for
Secured Notes. In this case, if the security created under the relevant Pledge Agreement is enforced,
the proceeds of enforcement that a Noteholder will receive or, where Physical Delivery of Collateral
Assets is applicable, the value of the Collateral Assets delivered, may be less than the amounts due to
Noteholders in respect of the relevant Series of Secured Notes.

Substitution of Collateral Assets

If "Collateral Substitution" is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, SG Issuer (or the
Collateral Agent on its behalf) may withdraw and/or replace Collateral Assets from any Collateral
Account provided that following such adjustment the Collateral Test continues to be satisfied. SG Issuer
(or the Collateral Agent on SG Issuer's behalf) may give instructions for the substitution of Collateral
Assets any number of times over the term of the Secured Notes and is not required to obtain the
consent of the Collateral Monitoring Agent or any other party prior to effecting the proposed substitution
of Collateral Assets. Until any further adjustments to the Collateral Assets have occurred, the value of
Collateral Assets held in a Collateral Account securing a Series of Secured Notes may be less than it
would have been were it not for the substitution of Collateral Assets.

Early redemption or cancellation at the option of SG Issuer upon a Collateral Disruption Event

Secured Notes will be subject to Collateral Disruption Events (as defined in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Secured Notes) which may increase the possibility (in comparison with Unsecured Notes)
of the Secured Notes being redeemed or cancelled early. Upon the occurrence of a Collateral Disruption
Event, SG Issuer may, in its sole and absolute discretion, redeem or cancel, as applicable, all of the
relevant Secured Notes at the Early Redemption Amount following the occurrence of a Collateral
Disruption Event specified in the applicable Final Terms. Following the early redemption of the Secured
Notes, a Noteholder may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as
high as the interest rate on the Secured Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a
significantly lower rate or in worse investment conditions. Potential investors should consider
reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

Secured Note Acceleration Event and Enforcement of the security

If a Secured Note Acceleration Event occurs, all Secured Notes which are secured by the same
Collateral Pool as the one securing the Accelerated Secured Note will also become immediately due
and repayable. Following the occurrence of a Secured Note Acceleration Event, all Noteholders whose
Notes have become immediately due and payable will first be entitled to claim for any outstanding
amounts due to them under the terms of the Guarantee.

The Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes or Uncertificated Notes) and the Security Agent
(in the case of French Law Notes) are only obliged to enforce a Pledge Agreement after having received
a Collateral Enforcement Notice from a Noteholder (or the Representative of the Masse in the case of
French Law Notes acting pursuant to the request of a Noteholder). A Noteholder (or the Representative
of the Masse in the case of French Law Notes acting pursuant to the request of a Noteholder) is only
entitled to send a Collateral Enforcement Notice to the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law
Notes or Uncertificated Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes) if neither SG
Issuer nor the Guarantor (pursuant to the terms of the Guarantee) has paid all amounts due to such
Noteholder within a period of 3 Collateral Business Days following the occurrence of the relevant
Secured Note Acceleration Event.

The existence of the 3 Collateral Business Days period means that there will be a delay between the
occurrence of a Secured Note Acceleration Event and the enforcement of the corresponding Pledge
Agreement during which period there may be a depreciation in the value of the relevant Collateral
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Assets, thus reducing the amount available to satisfy the claims of Noteholders upon realisation of the
Collateral Assets.

Where the Collateral Assets consist of debt securities, shares or other tradable securities, liquidation of
all the Collateral Assets simultaneously may increase the risk that the proceeds of realisation of the
Collateral Assets may be less than the sums due to the relevant Noteholders under the relevant
Secured Notes because liquidation of all the Collateral Assets in the Collateral Pools at the same time
could, in particular market circumstances, lead to a reduction in the market value of some or all of the
Collateral Assets.

In addition, following the realisation of the Collateral Assets, an investor may not be able to reinvest any
Collateral Enforcement Proceeds Share that it receives at an effective interest rate as high as the
interest rate on the Secured Notes that have become immediately due and payable following the
occurrence of a Secured Note Acceleration Event and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower
rate or in worse investment conditions. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of
other investments available at that time.

Shortfall on Realisation of Collateral Assets and Limited Recourse of Noteholders

The security provided for a Series of Secured Notes is limited to the Collateral Assets constituting the
Collateral Pool applicable to such Series (and to all Series of Secured Notes secured by the same
Collateral Pool in the case of a Multiple Series Collateral Pool). The value realised for the Collateral
Assets in the relevant Collateral Pool or, where Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is applicable, the
value of the Collateral Assets delivered, upon enforcement of the relevant Pledge Agreement may be
less than the amounts due to Noteholders in respect of the relevant Series of Secured Notes and as a
result, investors may lose a substantial portion of their investment. The level of risk will particularly
depend on the Haircut value(s), the Collateral Rules, the Eligibility Criteria and on the collateralisation
method (either MV Collateralisation, NV Collateralisation, Max (MV, NV) Collateralisation or Min
(MV, MV) Collateralisation) as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Investors should also note that the Collateral Assets may suffer a fall in value between the time at which
the relevant Pledge Agreement becomes enforceable and the time at which the Collateral Assets are
realised in full or, where Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is applicable, delivered. In extraordinary
circumstances, the Collateral Assets forming part of the Collateral Pool available at the time at which a
Pledge Agreement becomes enforceable could lose all or a substantial proportion of their value by the
time of realisation and distribution or delivery, as applicable.

If there is any shortfall in amounts due to a Noteholder then such Noteholder shall have no further claim
against SG Issuer, the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes or Uncertificated Notes) or
the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes) in respect of such amounts which remain unpaid
following enforcement of the relevant Pledge Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt,
payments of principal, premium (if any) and/or interest in respect of the Notes). In addition, no
Noteholder shall be entitled to take any steps or proceedings to procure the winding-up, administration
or liquidation (or any other analogous proceeding) of SG Issuer.

For the avoidance of doubt, in such a scenario, Noteholders will continue to be able to claim under the
terms of the Guarantee against the Guarantor for any unpaid amounts and any such shortfall will
therefore constitute an unsecured claim by such Noteholder against the Guarantor. Investors should
therefore be aware that if the value realised for the Collateral Assets or the value of any Collateral
Assets delivered is less than the amounts due to them under their Notes, they will be exposed to the
creditworthiness of the Guarantor for the remaining amount due to them.

Subordination of Noteholders to payment of expenses and other payments

Following the enforcement of a Pledge Agreement, the rights of holders of Non Waived Notes to be paid
amounts from the proceeds of such enforcement and the realisation of the related Collateral Assets or,
where Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is applicable, to be delivered Collateral Assets, will be
subordinated to and therefore rank behind claims relating to any amounts payable to Secured Parties
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ranking prior to the holders of Non Waived Notes in accordance with the Order of Priority specified in the
applicable Final Terms and any rights of preference existing by operation of law.

Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets

If Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is specified in respect of a Series of Secured Notes, upon
enforcement of a Pledge Agreement, the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes or
Uncertificated Notes) or the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes) will not sell, or cause to
be sold, the Collateral Assets (unless there is a Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets Disruption Event
and other than in order to pay any amounts payable to Secured Parties ranking prior to the holders of
Non Waived Notes in accordance with the Order of Priority specified in the applicable Final Terms) but
will deliver the Collateral Assets Entitlement to each Noteholder in the manner set out in the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Secured Notes.

When Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is applicable, if a Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets
Disruption Event occurs or exists on the relevant Collateral Delivery Date, settlement will be postponed
until the next Collateral Business Day on which there is no Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets
Disruption Event. If such Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets Disruption Event continues for a
continuous period of eight Collateral Business Days after the original Collateral Delivery Date, the
Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes or Uncertificated Notes) or the Security Agent (in the
case of French Law Notes), or the Disposal Agent on their behalf, will procure the sale of such Collateral
Assets in lieu of delivery of the relevant Collateral Assets Entitlement. The amount received by a
Noteholder following such sale of Collateral Assets may be lower than the amount which a Noteholder
would have received if the relevant Collateral Assets had been delivered to it and the Noteholder held
the relevant Collateral Assets to the maturity date of such assets or sold such assets at a different point
in time.

Risk of a delay in the realisation of the Collateral Assets in the event of the insolvency of the
Issuer, the Security Trustee, the Security Agent and/or the Collateral Custodian

Each Pledge Agreement will be governed by the Collateral Act 2005. Article 20 of the Collateral Act
2005 provides that pledge agreements are valid and effective against all third parties, including any
receiver or liquidator, notwithstanding any reorganisation procedure, liquidation procedure or any other
situation leading to a competition amongst creditors, whether Luxembourg or foreign. From a
Luxembourg law perspective, no Luxembourg or foreign insolvency, reorganisation or liquidation
proceeding rules should impede the enforcement of a Pledge Agreement. Therefore, each Pledge
Agreement should not be materially impacted by insolvency proceedings initiated against SG Issuer in
Luxembourg.

Despite the provisions of the Collateral Act 2005 described above, in the event of the insolvency of SG
Issuer, the Security Trustee, the Security Agent or the Collateral Custodian, the realisation of the
Collateral Assets may be delayed either by the appointment of an insolvency administrator or other
insolvency official in relation to SG Issuer, the Security Trustee, the Security Agent or the Collateral
Custodian or by measures ordered by a competent court. Such delay could adversely affect the position
of the Noteholders in the event of a depreciation in the value of the Collateral Assets during such period.

In addition, in the case of an insolvency of SG Issuer, as the Collateral Agent (being Société Générale
or its successor thereto) and SG Issuer are part of the Group, in the event of the insolvency of the Issuer
it is possible that the Collateral Agent may also be insolvent. Such circumstances may lead to a delay in
the administrative processes involved in the realisation of the Collateral Assets. However, as the entities
responsible for the enforcement of the Pledge Agreement and the realisation of the Collateral Assets,
namely the Collateral Custodian, the Disposal Agent, the Substitute Paying Agent, the Security Trustee
(in the case of English Law Notes or Uncertificated Notes) and the Security Agent (in the case of French
Law Notes) are not part of the Group, the impact of any insolvency of SG Issuer on such enforcement
and realisation should be less material than it would have been if the Collateral Custodian, the Disposal
Agent, the Substitute Paying Agent, the Security Trustee and/or the Security Agent were part of the
Group.
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The Collateral Custodian, the Disposal Agent, the Substitute Paying Agent, the Security Trustee and the
Security Agent are (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) part of the same group
and in the event of the insolvency of one entity it is possible that another entity may also be insolvent.
Such circumstances may lead to a delay in the realisation of the Collateral Assets. The Collateral
Custodian Agreement, Collateral Monitoring Agency Agreement, the Disposal Agency Agreement, the
Substitute Paying Agency Agreement, the Security Agency Agreement and each Security Trust Deed
will contain provisions permitting the replacement of the Collateral Custodian, Collateral Monitoring
Agent, Disposal Agent, Substitute Paying Agent, Security Trustee and Security Agent, as applicable, in
certain circumstances, including following insolvency, as further provided in such agreements and the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Secured Notes.

Potential Conflicts of Interest between Noteholders and the Collateral Agent, the Note Valuation
Agent and the Calculation Agent

As the Collateral Agent, the Note Valuation Agent and the Calculation Agent are affiliates of SG Issuer
or their relevant successor, potential conflicts of interest may arise between the Collateral Agent, the
Note Valuation Agent, the Calculation Agent and the holders of the Secured Notes, including with
respect to the making of certain determinations and the exercise of certain discretions (including as to
the calculation of the Secured Note Market Value of the Secured Notes, the Collateral Value and the
Required Collateral Value). In addition, whilst the Collateral Agent, the Note Valuation Agent and the
Calculation Agent are obliged to carry out their duties and functions in good faith and using their
reasonable judgment, neither the Collateral Agent nor the Note Valuation Agent acts or will act as a
fiduciary or as an advisor to the Noteholders in respect of their duties as Collateral Agent and Note
Valuation Agent, respectively.

The risk to Noteholders of any conflict of interest between Noteholders and the Collateral Agent is
mitigated by the fact that any Collateral Test Notice is either reviewed, and the contents thereof verified
by or otherwise agreed with, a Collateral Monitoring Agent not belonging to the Group or else is subject
to a predetermined Collateral Test Dispute Resolution Procedure.

Security Trustee and Security Agent

The Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes or Uncertificated Notes) and the Security Agent
(in the case of French Law Notes) will enforce the security under the relevant Pledge Agreement upon
the delivery of a Collateral Enforcement Notice and will either (i) liquidate or realise or will give
instructions to the Disposal Agent to liquidate or realise the Collateral Assets in the Collateral Pool which
secures a Series of Secured Notes and subsequently distribute the relevant Collateral Enforcement
Proceeds Share (as defined in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Secured Notes) to the relevant
Noteholders or (ii) where Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is specified as applicable in the
applicable Final Terms, arrange for delivery of the relevant Collateral Assets Entitlement (as defined in
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Secured Notes) to the relevant Noteholders, in each case in
accordance with the Order of Priority specified in the applicable Final Terms.

A failure by the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes or Uncertificated Notes) or the
Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes) to perform their obligations with respect to the
Collateral Assets or to perform their obligations in an efficient manner may adversely affect the
realisation of the Collateral Assets and the amount distributable or deliverable to Noteholders.

The risk to Noteholders of a failure by the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes or
Uncertificated Notes) to perform its obligations under a Pledge Agreement with respect to the Collateral
Assets is mitigated by the fact that the Security Trustee will covenant in the relevant Security Trust Deed
to exercise its rights under the relevant Pledge Agreement on behalf of and as trustee for the
Noteholders and will declare a trust in favour of the Noteholders and the other relevant Secured Parties
over the rights granted to it under the relevant Pledge Agreement. As a result, should the Security
Trustee, having become bound to do so, fail to perform its enforcement obligations with respect to the
Collateral Assets, Noteholders will be entitled to directly enforce the terms of the relevant Pledge
Agreement. In addition, where the Security Trustee has failed to perform its enforcement obligations
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with respect to the Collateral Assets, Noteholders will be entitled to appoint a replacement Security
Trustee to enforce the terms of the relevant Pledge Agreement. The Collateral Custodian, by virtue of
being party to the relevant Pledge Agreement, shall be deemed to have acknowledged the ability of
Noteholders to appoint a replacement Security Trustee in such circumstances.

The risk to Noteholders of a failure by the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes) to perform
its obligations under a Pledge Agreement with respect to the Collateral Assets is mitigated by the fact
that the Security Agent will be appointed as security agent pursuant to article 2328-1 of the French Code
Civil in the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes. In case of failure by the Security Agent to
perform its obligations in respect of a Pledge Agreement, the Representative of the Masse of the
Noteholders will directly enforce the terms of such Pledge Agreement on behalf of the Noteholders. The
Collateral Custodian, by virtue of being party to the relevant Pledge Agreement, shall be deemed to
have acknowledged the ability of the Representative of the Masse of the Noteholders to directly enforce
the terms of such Pledge Agreement on behalf of the Noteholders in such circumstances.

The Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes or Uncertificated Notes) or the Security Agent
(in the case of French Law Notes) may appoint an agent (the Disposal Agent) which, following receipt
of instructions from the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Notes or Uncertificated Notes) or
the Security Agent (in the case of French Law Notes), will liquidate or realise the Collateral Assets in
each Collateral Pool. The initial Disposal Agent is The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch. A
failure by the Disposal Agent to perform its obligations with respect to the Collateral Assets will
adversely affect the realisation of the Collateral Assets and the amount distributable to Noteholders.

No Fiduciary duties

In performing their duties under the Programme, neither the Collateral Agent, the Collateral Monitoring
Agent, the Note Valuation Agent, the Collateral Custodian, the Disposal Agent or Substitute Paying
Agent will act as a fiduciary or as an advisor to the Noteholders in respect of their respective duties and
do not act as a trustee for the Noteholders.

Potential Conflicts of Interest between Noteholders and a Counterparty

Various potential and actual conflicts of interest may arise between the interests of the Noteholders and
a Counterparty, which may be an affiliate of SG Issuer. Subject to compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, neither a Counterparty nor its affiliates are required to resolve such conflicts of interest in
favour of the Noteholders and may pursue actions and take such steps that it deems necessary or
appropriate to protect its interests.

Risk of non-performance of obligations by a Counterparty

It is expected that Société Générale will be the Counterparty for most Series of Secured Notes. A failure
by a Counterparty to perform its duties and obligations with respect to a Hedging Agreement may
adversely affect the availability of the Collateral Assets, and consequently adversely affect the
realisation of the Collateral Assets and the amount distributable to Noteholders.

Risks arising on an insolvency of a Counterparty

In the event that a liquidator or administrator were to be appointed in respect of the business and
property of a Counterparty, SG Issuer believes that pursuant to the terms of the relevant Hedging
Agreement the Collateral Assets will not form part of the property of the relevant Counterparty available
to a liquidator or administrator of such Counterparty for distribution to the general creditors of the
Counterparty. There can be no assurance, however, that a court would reach the same conclusion.

It is possible that a liquidator or administrator appointed in relation to the business and property of a
Counterparty may commence proceedings to challenge the validity and effectiveness of a Hedging
Agreement with a view to including the Collateral Assets in the property and estate of the relevant
Counterparty. If insolvency proceedings were commenced in respect of a Counterparty, and in particular
against the Issuer in relation to a Hedging Agreement, delays in realising the Collateral Assets, possible
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reductions in the realisation amount of the Collateral Assets and limitations on the exercise of remedies
in relation to the enforcement of a Pledge Agreement could occur.
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ONGOING PUBLIC OFFERS

The series of Notes listed below are each either (i) the subject of an ongoing public offer as at the date of this
Base Prospectus or (ii) the subject of a public offer which has closed as at the date of this Base prospecus, but
which will be listed on a regulated market after the date of this Base Prospectus.

The Base Prospectus dated 28 October 2014 is applicable for the purposes of the ongoing public offers listed
below, and the information relating to the Issuer and the Guarantor contained in such Base Prospectus will
continue to be updated by Supplement(s) until the last End Date (being 18 November 2015).

Pubic Offer
ISSUE MATURITY L START END
SERIES NUMBER | ISSUER DATE DATE ISIN CODE LISTING Jurlns((ll)ctlo DATE DATE
Italie (EuroTLX 19-oct- | 04-nov-
77497EN/15.10 SG 09-nov-15 | 09-nov-21 XS1101898341 | — Non Italie 15 15
Reglementé)
Luxembourg 16-oct- | 30-oct-
77678EN/15.11 SGIS 04-nov-15 | 12-nov-18 | XS1265966850 | (Marché Danemark 15 15
Réglement)
Italie (EuroTLX
77780EN/15.11  |SGIS | 05-nov-15 | 05-nov-20 | XS1265890779 | — Non ltalie ié'om' fg'om'
Reglementé)
77806EN/15.11  |SGIS | 13-nov-15 |14-nov-18 | XS1265896628 | aucune Hongrie gg'o"t' fg'o"t'
Italie (EuroTLX 16-0ct- | 18-nov-
77968EN/15.11 SGIS 26-nov-15 | 26-nov-20 XS1265877321 |- Non Italie 15 15
Reglementé)
Italie (EuroTLX 19-0ct- | 02-nov-
78006EN/15.11 SGIS 06-nov-15 | 06-nov-20 XS1265871043 | — Non Italie 15 15

Reglementé)
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Base Prospectus — User Guide

The purpose of this section or "User Guide" is to provide a simple tool for investors to help them navigate
throughout the various documents made available in relation to Notes issued by Société Générale, SG Issuer,
SG Option Europe and SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. (the "Products" or a "Product").

For each issue of Notes issued under the Base Prospectus, the following documents are made available to
investors systematically:

*

The Base Prospectus
This document:

o] contains a summary (when the context requires), the information relating to the issuers and to
the guarantor of the Notes, the general risk factors;

0 describes the general terms and conditions of the Notes;

o} details all the possible specific characteristics of the Notes, including all possible payoff
formulae used to calculate the interest and/or the redemption amount(s) due early or at
maturity, and a wide range of underlying assets.

These possible payoff formulae are set out, according to the relevant issuance and underlying asset(s),

in the Terms and Conditions for English Law Notes and Uncertificated Notes or the Terms and

Conditions for French Law Notes, the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae or the

relevant Additional Terms and Conditions for Structures Notes.

The Supplement(s) if any

This document is issued for every significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to the
information included in the Base Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of the Notes
and is made available on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and on the
website of the Issuers (http://prospectus.socgen.com).

The Final Terms (or Offering Circular in case of U.S. Exempt Securities)
This document is issued for each specific issue of Notes and may include, when the context requires it,
a summary specific to such issue of Notes (referred to as issue specific summary) and contains:

o} the general characteristics, e.g. relevant identification codes, specified denomination, etc;

o] the financial characteristics, e.g. coupons, redemption formula(e), automatic early redemption
mechanism (if any) and the related definitions corresponding to a particular Product, as
described in the Base Prospectus;

o] the underlying asset(s) to which the Product is linked;

o] the relevant dates, e.g. issue date, maturity date, coupon payment date(s), valuation date(s);
and

o} with respect to an Offering Circular in case of U.S. Exempt Securities only, any additional

information that the Issuer deems relevant for the particular Product.

Information specific to any issue of U.S. Exempt Securities (including information on the form of the
Notes and applicable selling and transfer restrictions) shall be set out in an Offering Circular in
connection with the offer and sale of such U.S. Exempt Securities. In case of any issue of U.S. Exempt
Securities, all references herein to "Final Terms" shall include, or be interpreted to mean, the applicable
Offering Circular.

The Base Prospectus, the Final Terms and the issue specific summary are available on the website of
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu), when the Notes are admitted to trading on the
Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and on the website of the Issuers
(http://prospectus.socgen.com), when the Notes are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a
regulated market in the European Economic Area.
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HOW TO NAVIGATE IN THE BASE PROSPECTUS

THE VARIOUS SECTIONS OF THE BASE PROSPECTUS:

Table of contents of the Base Prospectus

SUMMARY

RISK FACTORS

BASE PROSPECTUS - USER GUIDE
IMPORTANT INFORMATION

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME
IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO NON-EXEMPT OFFERS OF NOTES
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
FINAL TERMS OR DRAWDOWN PROSPECTUS
SUPPLEMENT TO THE BASE PROSPECTUS
FORM OF THE NOTES

FORM OF FINAL TERMS

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE ENGLISH LAW NOTES AND THE UNCERTIFICATED NOTES

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE FRENCH LAW NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS RELATING TO FORMULAE

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR STRUCTURED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR SHARE LINKED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR INDEX LINKED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR SGI INDEX LINKED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS LINKED NOTES
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR DIVIDEND LINKED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR ETF LINKED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR REFERENCE RATE LINKED NOTES
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE LINKED NOTES
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR COMMODITY LINKED NOTES
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR FUND LINKED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CREDIT LINKED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR INFLATION LINKED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR BOND LINKED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR ETP LINKED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR NON EQUITY SECURITY LINKED NOTES
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR PREFERENCE SHARE LINKED NOTES
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR WARRANT LINKED NOTES

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR PORTFOLIO LINKED NOTES

DESCRIPTION OF THE COLLATERAL ARRANGEMENTS RELATING TO SECURED NOTES
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS RELATING TO SECURED NOTES

FORM OF DEED OF GUARANTEE

DESCRIPTION OF SOCIETE GENERALE

DESCRIPTION OF SG ISSUER

DESCRIPTION OF SG OPTION EUROPE

DESCRIPTION OF SGA SOCIETE GENERALE ACCEPTANCE N.V.

DESCRIPTION OF SOCIETE GENERALE INDICES (“SGI INDICES®)

DESCRIPTION OF THE PREFERENCE SHARE ISSUER AND THE PREFERENCE SHARES

BOOK ENTRY CLEARANCE SYSTEMS

TAXATION

SUBSCRIPTION, SALE AND TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS
GENERAL INFORMATION

|:| Sections common to all Notes

. Sections specific to certain Notes

> 1. Sections providing general information
on the Base Prospectus

2. Sections applicable to Notes depending on
the applicable governing law

3. Section detailing the different payoff
formulae

4. Sections applying to Notes depending on
the underlying asset(s) of the Notes.
Depending on the underlying asset(s), one or
more section(s) will apply

6. Terms of the Société Générale guarantee

5. Sections applicable to Secured Notes only

7. Sections relevant to Notes depending on

the issuer / guarantor of the Notes

8. Sections providing additional general
information

Notes issued under the Base Prospectus rely on many generic sections of the Base Prospectus detailed above,
but depending on the characteristics of the Notes, not all sections of the Base Prospectus will be relevant to

a specific issuance of Notes.
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HOW TO READ THE FINAL TERMS

The applicable Final Terms are divided in three parts:

- Part A, named "CONTRACTUAL TERMS", which provides the specific contractual terms of the Product;
+ Part B, named "OTHER INFORMATION", which provides other information specific to the Notes; and
- Only in the case of Notes offered to the public and/or admitted to trading on a Regulated Market in the

European Economic Area, a third part is annexed to the applicable Final Terms constituting the issue
specific summary of the Notes (which comprises the summary of the Base Prospectus, as adapted to
reflect the provisions of the applicable Final Terms).

Exhaustive information on the Products defined on Parts A and B of the applicable Final Terms is available in the
Base Prospectus. The following diagram provides the links between the various clauses Parts A and B of the
applicable Final Terms and the corresponding sections of the Base Prospectus.

APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS

Information linked to sections from the Base Prospectus

\ 4

1. Sections providing general information

on the Base Prospectus, the issuer and the
TITLE guarantor

Issuer and Guarantor of the Notes

A\ 4

2. Sections applicable to Notes depending

Description of the Notes . )
on the applicable governing law

Payoff formulae -—=- : :
4 B o 3. Section applicable to Secured Notes
o only
PART A:

CONTRACTUAL Description of the Underlying asset(s) F < -
TERMS

-t->

4. Sections detailing the different payoff

Schedules and definitions relating to the — == formulae

Product

Secured Notes Provisions (if applicable)

5. Sections applying to Notes depending on
the underlying asset(s) of the Notes.
Depending on the underlying asset(s), one
or more section(s) will apply

Information specific to the Notes

Listing and admission to trading

Performance of Formula, explanation of
effect on the value of investment and
associated risks

PART B:
OTHER
INFORMATION

6. Terms of the Société Générale guarantee
Information relating to settlement/delivery

7. Sections relevant to Notes depending on
the issuer / guarantor of the Notes

Public Offer information (if any)

ISSUE SPECIFIC SUMMARY (if required) 8. Sections providing additional general
information
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HOW TO READ THE ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS RELATING TO

FORMULAE

The section "ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS RELATING TO FORMULAE" is the section of the Base
Prospectus where all payoff formulae are detailed.

This section contains:

+ an exhaustive list of Products with their respective Product Formulae, regrouped in Families of Products
(Condition 3 of the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae);

i+ an exhaustive list of Reference Formulae (Condition 4 of the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Formulae);
+ the definitions of all Variable Data needed as input in the different Product Formulae (Condition 5 of

these Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae); and

+ the definition of all add-ons that may be used as an additional feature of a Product Formula (Condition
1.4 of these Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae).

For ease of reading, the Products
with  similar  characteristics are
regrouped in Families of Products
(such as “vanilla”).

Each Product is identified with a
Reference of the Product and a
Product Name (such as “3.2.1
European Calls”)

Each Product Amount describes an
amount due under the Notes:

- during the life of the product: the
Structured Interest Amount
(coupons)

- in case of an automatic early
redemption: the Automatic
Early Redemption Amount or
“AERA”

- at maturity: the Final
Redemption Amount or “FRA”

Each Product Formula of each
Product Amount will be based on a
Reference Formula (such as
“Performance” forming part of “4.1
Family of “SimpleLevel”)

11 Families of Products

Family 3.1 Family 3.2 Family 3.10
Products Products Products
“Certificate” “Vanilla” " Credit or
Bond Linked”

Product 3.1.1 | | Product 3.2.1

etc. Product 3.2.2 Product 3.10.1
etc. Product 3.10.2
etc.

() (...)

A 4

For each Product, there are 3 Product Amounts:

Structured Interest Amount (if any)
Automatic Early Redemption Amount (if any)
Final Redemption Amount

each Product Amount is expressed as
Specified Denomination x Product Formula

Reference Formulae

e.g.: Performance, average performance, performance
based on the minimum/maximum level reached by the
underlying asset, etc.

A
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Variable Data
needed to feed
the Product
Formulae or the
Reference
Formulae

e.g.: Participation,
Capital Guarantee
Level, Barrier
Level, Coupon
Level, etc...

Add-ons
(if applicable)

e.g.: Memory
coupon, etc...
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EXAMPLES OF APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS: FOCUS ON PART A — PAYOFF

FORMULA

The best way for an investor to understand a Product is to start reading the applicable Final Terms as
they provide all the main information relating to the Notes.

Two case studies can be found below, aiming to provide a step-by-step guide for reading the Final Terms. The
numbers specified before each section below reference the corresponding clauses in the applicable Final Terms.

CASE STUDY #1: CALL STANDARD

Product identified by its
Reference of the Product

-|--» 9. (iv) Reference of the Product: 3.2.5

v

~» 15 (i) Structured Interest Amount(s): Not Applicable

3 possible Product Amounts:

Structured Interest Amount
(if any)

Automatic Early Redemption
Amount (if any)

Final Redemption Amount

Expressed as = Specified
Denomination x Product Formula

I
:
: P19. (i) Automatic Early Redemption Amount: Not Applicable
I
=1

20.

1

1

1

] Final Redemption Amount:
| A

1

1

1

=1

Unless previously redeemed, the Issuer shall redeem the Notes on the Maturity Date, in
accordance with the following provisions in respect of each Note:

If on Valuation Date(1), AverageBasketLevel(1) is higher than or

equal to , then:

Final  Redemption = Amount =  Specified

><[- -x(AverageBasketLeveI(l) -)]

FinalStrike_1

1
1
1
1
1
1
: Scenario 1:
1
1
1
1

Denomination

FinalParticipation H
FinalStrike_2

|

ConstantRedemptionLevel_FRA_1

Other information

Underlying(s)

Dates L -

Scenario 2: 'S
_L ___ If on Valuation Date(1), AverageBasketLevel(1) is lower than -
then:

Final Redemption Amount = Specified Denomination x 0%

A
| k =1 Index 1
| k = 2: Index 2
: k =3:Index 3
| k =4:Index 4
|
L 27. (i) Definitions relating to dates:

Valuation Date(0): [DD/MM/YYYY]

Valuation Date(1): [DD/MM/YYYY]

P 27. (ii) Definitions relating to the Product: Applicable, subject to the provisions of the

Each Product Formula is based
on reference performances or
levels (Reference Formulae)

Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae

1
1
|
1 AverageBasketlLevel(1) means the Arithmetic Average, for k from 1 to 4, of Level(,
: k).as defined in Condition 4.3 of the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
L Formulae.
Level(1,k) (k from 1 to 4) means (S(1,k) / S(0,k)) as defined in Condition 4.1 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae.

S(i,k) (i from 0 to 1) (k from 1 to 4) means in respect of any Valuation Date(i) the
relevant Closing Price as defined in Condition 4.0 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae.
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Product identified by its
Reference of the Product

v

3 possible Product Amounts:

Structured Interest Amount -
(if any)

Automatic Early Redemption _
Amount (if any)

Final Redemption Amount

Expressed as = Specified
Denomination x Product Formula

T

Other infor mation

Underlying

Dates

Each Product Amount is
determined based on pre-
defined reference performances™

or levels (Reference Formulae)

r_________I

=p

4>

>

R

CASE STUDY #2: ATHENA, APOLLON

15.

20.

--» 9. (iv) Reference of the Product: 3.3.4 with Option 1 applicable

(i) Structured Interest Amount: Not Applicable

& 19. (i) Automatic Early Redemption Amount: Applicable
|
|

Unless previously redeemed, if an Automatic Early Redemption Event has
occurred, then the Issuer shall redeem early the Notes on Automatic Early
Redemption Date(i) (i from 1 to 7), in accordance with the following provisions in
respect of each Note:

Automatic Early Redemption Amount(i) = Specified Denomination x [l00% + 9259

A A
ConstantRedemptionLevel _AERA(i) - ]
Coupon AERA()

Unless previously redeemed, the Issuer shall redeem the Notes on the
Maturity Date, in accordance with the following provisions in respect of each

Note:
e
Scenario 1:
If on Valuation Date(8), Performance(8) is higher than or equal to then:
Final Redemption Amount = Specified Denomination x lﬁ +
A A

ConstantRedemptionLevel FRA 1 Coupon FRA

Scenario 2: <
If on Valuation Date(8), Performance(8) is lower than , then:
Final Redemption Amount = Specified Denomination x + Performance(8)]

ConstantRedemptionLevel_FRA_2

Final Redemption Amount:

26. (i) Underlying(s):

Share 1

5 27. (i) Definitions relating to dates:

Valuation Date(0): [DD/MM/YYYY]
Valuation Date(i) (i from 1 to 8): i = 1: [DD/MM/YYYY], ....,i = 8: [DD/IMM/YYYY]

. (ii) Definitions relating to the Product: Applicable, subject to the provisions of

the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae

Automatic Early Redemption Event is deemed to have occurred, as
determined by the Calculation Agent, if on a Valuation Date(i) (i from 1 to 7),

Performance(i) is higher than or equal to 09! 4__..
arrierAutocall(i

Performance(i) (i from 1 to 8) means (S(i) / S(0)) — 100 % as defined in
Condition 4.1 of the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae.

S(i) (i from O to 8) means in respect of any Valuation Date(i) the Closing Price

of the Underlying as defined in Condition 4.0 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae.
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION

This Base Prospectus comprises a separate base prospectus in respect of each of Société Générale, SG
Issuer, SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. and SG Option Europe for the purpose of Article 5.4 of
Directive 2003/71/EC as amended (the Prospectus Directive) and for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Issuers, the Guarantor and the Notes which is necessary to enable investors to make
an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profit and losses and prospects
of the Issuers and the Guarantor.

Certain information contained in this Base Prospectus and/or documents incorporated herein by
reference have been extracted from sources specified in the sections where such information appears.
The Issuers confirm that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as they are
aware, and are able to ascertain from information published by the relevant third party, no facts have
been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. Final Terms will
(if applicable) specify the nature of the responsibility (if any) taken by the Issuer for any information
relating to any underlying to which the Notes may be linked.

This Base Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with any supplement thereto and all documents which
are deemed to be incorporated herein by reference (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference"). This
Base Prospectus shall be read and construed on the basis that such documents are incorporated by
reference and form part of this Base Prospectus.

None of the Arranger or any Dealer has independently verified the information contained herein.
Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and no
responsibility is accepted by the Arranger or any Dealer as to the accuracy or completeness of the
information contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any other information
provided by either of the Issuers or the Guarantor in connection with the Programme or the Notes. None
of the Arranger or any Dealer accepts any liability in relation to the information contained or incorporated
by reference in this Base Prospectus or any other information provided by either of the Issuers or the
Guarantor in connection with the Programme or the Notes.

No person is or has been authorised by any of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or any of the
Dealers to give any information or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with
this Base Prospectus or any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes
and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been
authorised by any of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or any of the Dealers.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or
any Notes (a) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation or (b) should be
considered as a recommendation or a statement of opinion (or a report on either of those things) by any
of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or any of the Dealers that any recipient of this Base
Prospectus or any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes should
purchase any Notes. Each investor contemplating purchasing any Notes should make its own
independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the
creditworthiness, of the relevant Issuer and (if applicable) the Guarantor. Neither this Base Prospectus
nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the issue of any Notes
constitutes an offer or invitation by or on behalf of any of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or any
of the Dealers to any person to subscribe for or to purchase any Notes.

Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall in any
circumstances imply that the information contained herein concerning any of the Issuers or the
Guarantor is correct at any time subsequent to the date hereof or that any other information supplied in
connection with the Programme or the Notes is correct as of any time subsequent to the date indicated in
the document containing the same. The Arranger or any of the Dealers expressly do not undertake to
review the financial condition or affairs of any of the Issuers or the Guarantor during the life of the
Programme or to advise any investor in the Notes of any information coming to their attention. Investors
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should review, inter alia, the most recently published documents incorporated by reference into this
Base Prospectus when deciding whether or not to purchase any Notes.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO THE USE OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS AND OFFER OF
NOTES GENERALLY

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any Notes
in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in such
jurisdiction. The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes may be restricted by
law in certain jurisdictions. None of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or the Dealers represent that
this Base Prospectus may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully offered, in
compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant
to an exemption available thereunder, or assume any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution
or offering. In particular, unless specifically indicated to the contrary in the applicable Final Terms, no
action has been taken by the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or the Dealers which is intended to
permit a public offering of any Notes outside the European Economic Area (EEA) or distribution of this
Base Prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no Notes may
be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Base Prospectus nor any advertisement or other
offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that
will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this
Base Prospectus or any Note comes must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions
on the distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offering and sale of Notes (see the section headed
"Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions").

Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own
circumstances. In particular, each potential investor may wish to consider, either on its own or with the
help of its financial and other professional advisers whether it:

@) has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the
merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained in, or incorporated by
reference into, this Base Prospectus or any applicable supplement and in the applicable Final
Terms;

(i) has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on
its overall investment portfolio;

(iii) has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
Notes, including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where
the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's
currency;

(iv) understands thoroughly the terms of the Notes and is familiar with the behaviour of any
relevant underlying and financial markets; and

(v) is able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may
affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The investment activities of certain investors
are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential
investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments
for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its
purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisors or the appropriate
regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar
rules.

The Notes and any guarantee thereof have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or under
the securities law of any state or political sub-division of the United States, and trading in the Notes has not been
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approved by the CFTC under the CEA. No person has registered and no person will register as a commodity pool
operator of any Issuer under the CEA and the CFTC Rules, and no Issuer has been and no Issuer will be
registered as an investment company under the Investment Company Act. Other than with respect to certain U.S.
Exempt Securities, the Notes are being offered and sold in reliance on an exemption from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Regulation S.

Accordingly, other than with respect to U.S. Exempt Securities, the Notes may not be offered, sold, pledged or
otherwise transferred except in an “offshore transaction” (as defined under Regulation S) to or for the account or
benefit of a person who (a) is not a U.S. person as defined in Rule 902(k)(1) of Regulation S; and (b) is not a
person who comes within any definition of U.S. person for the purposes of the CEA or any CFTC Rule, guidance
or order proposed or issued under the CEA (for the avoidance of doubt, any person who is not a “Non-United
States person” defined under CFTC Rule 4.7(a)(1)(iv), but excluding, for purposes of subsection (D) thereof, the
exception for qualified eligible persons who are not “Non-United States persons,” shall be considered a U.S.
person) (such a person or account, Permitted Transferee). Other than with respect to U.S. Exempt Securities,
the Notes described herein are available only to Permitted Transferees.

Information specific to U.S. Exempt Securities (including information on the form of the Notes and applicable
selling and transfer restrictions) shall be set out in the applicable Offering Circular in connection with the offer and
sale of such U.S. Exempt Securities.

THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED WITH, OR
APPROVED BY, ANY UNITED STATES FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES OR COMMODITIES
COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE
NOT PASSED UPON OR ENDORSED THE MERITS OF THIS OFFERING OR THE ACCURACY OR
ADEQUACY OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL
OFFENCE IN THE UNITED STATES.

Notes in bearer form are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the
United States or its possessions or to United States persons, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S.
Treasury regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal
Revenue Code of 1986 (the Code) and the U.S. Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder.

This Base Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that, except to the extent subparagraph (ii) below may
apply, any offer of Notes in any Member State of the EEA which has implemented the Prospectus Directive
(each, a Relevant Member State) will be made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as
implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of Notes.
Accordingly any person making or intending to make an offer in that Relevant Member State of Notes which are
the subject of an offering contemplated in this Base Prospectus as completed by final terms in relation to the offer
of those Notes may only do so (i) in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to
publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to
Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer, or (ii) if a prospectus for such offer
has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where appropriate, approved in
another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State and (in
either case) published, all in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, provided that any such prospectus has
subsequently been completed by final terms which specify that offers may be made other than pursuant to Article
3(2) of the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State, such offer is made in the period beginning and
ending on the dates specified for such purpose in such prospectus or final terms, as applicable and the Issuer
has consented in writing to its use for the purpose of such offer. Except to the extent subparagraph (ii) above
may apply, neither the Issuer nor any Dealer has authorised, nor does it authorise, the making of any offer of
Notes in circumstances in which an obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish or supplement a
prospectus for such offer.

SWITZERLAND IMPORTANT NOTICE

The Notes described in this Base Prospectus and related offering documents do not constitute a participation in a
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Swiss Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes
(CISA). Therefore, the Notes are not subject to authorization and supervision by the Swiss Financial Market
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Supervisory Authority FINMA (FINMA) and investors in the Notes issued under this Programme will not benefit
from protection under the CISA or supervision by FINMA. Investors in the Notes will bear a credit risk on the
Issuer of the Notes or, in the case of guaranteed Notes, on the Guarantor.

KINGDOM OF BAHRAIN IMPORTANT NOTICE

In relation to investors in the Kingdom of Bahrain, Notes issued in connection with this Base Prospectus and
related offering documents may only be offered in registered form to existing account holders and accredited
investors as defined by the CBB in the Kingdom of Bahrain where such investors make a minimum investment of
at least U.S.$ 100,000.

This offer does not constitute an offer of Securities in the Kingdom of Bahrain in terms of Article (81) of the
Central Bank and Financial Institutions Law 2006 (decree Law No. 64 of 2006). This Base Prospectus and
related offering documents have not been and will not be registered as a prospectus with the Central Bank of
Bahrain (CBB). Accordingly, no Securities may be offered, sold or made the subject of an invitation for
subscription or purchase nor will this Base Prospectus or any other related document or material be used in
connection with any offer, sale or invitation to subscribe or purchase Securities, whether directly or indirectly, to
persons in the Kingdom of Bahrain.

The CBB has not reviewed or approved this Base Prospectus or related offering documents and it has not in any
way considered the merits of the Notes to be offered for investment, whether in or outside the Kingdom of
Bahrain. Therefore, the CBB assumes no responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the statements and
information contained in this document and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this document.

SERVICE OF PROCESS AND ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

The Issuers are corporations organised under the laws of Luxembourg, Curacao and France, respectively (each
a Relevant Jurisdiction). All of the officers and directors named herein reside outside the United States and all
or a substantial portion of the assets of the relevant Issuer and of such officers and directors are located outside
the United States. As a result, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process in connection with a
cause of action under the laws of a jurisdiction other than England and Wales outside the Relevant Jurisdiction
upon the relevant Issuer or such persons, or to enforce judgments against them obtained in courts outside the
Relevant Jurisdiction predicated upon civil liabilities of the relevant Issuer or such directors and officers under
laws other than those of the Relevant Jurisdiction, including any judgment predicated upon United States federal
securities laws.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

Each Issuer maintains its financial books and records and prepares its financial statements in accordance with
financial reporting standards which differ in certain important respects from generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States (U.S. GAAP).

INTERPRETATION

1. Capitalised terms which are used but not defined in any particular section of this Base Prospectus shall
have the meaning attributed thereto in the relevant Terms and Conditions or any other section of this
Base Prospectus.

2. All references in this Base Prospectus and any applicable Final Terms to:

@) "U.S. dollars" or "U.S.$" refer to the lawful currency of the United States of America, those to
"Sterling" or "£" refer to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom, those to "Australian dollars"
or "A$" refer to the lawful currency of Australia, those to "Swiss Francs" refer to the lawful
currency of Switzerland, those to "Japanese Yen" or "¥" refer to the lawful currency of Japan,
those to "euro", "Euro" or "€" refer to the lawful currency introduced at the start of the third
stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of
the European Union, as amended and those to "Yuan" or "Renminbi" refer to the lawful
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currency of the People's Republic of China (the PRC), which for the purpose of this document,
excludes Taiwan and the Special Administrative Regions of the PRC: Hong Kong and Macau;

any three letter alphabetic currency codes, including but not limited to the three letter
alphabetic currency codes set out below, shall have the meaning given to them pursuant to
ISO 4217 (the international standard currency code established by the International
Organization for Standardization):

Alphabetic code Country Currency

AED UNITED ARAB EMIRATES United Arab Emirates Dirham
ARS ARGENTINA Argentine Peso
AUD AUSTRALIA Australian Dollar
BGN BULGARIA Bulgarian Lev
BHD BAHRAIN Bahraini Dinar
BWP BOTSWANA Botswana Pula
BRL BRAZIL Brazilian Real
CAD CANADA Canadian Dollar
CHF SWITZERLAND Swiss Franc

CLP CHILE Chilean Peso
CNY? CHINA Chinese Yuan Renminbi
CzK CZECH REPUBLIC Czech Koruna
DKK DENMARK Danish Krone
EUR EUROPEAN MEMBER STATES® | Euro

GBP UNITED KINGDOM Pound Sterling
GHS GHANA New Ghanaian cedi
GIP GIBRALTAR Gibraltar Pound
HKD HONG KONG Hong Kong Dollar
HRK CROATIA Croatian Kune
HUF HUNGARY Forint

ILS ISRAEL New Israeli Sheqel
IDR INDONESIA Indonesian Rupiah
ISK ICELAND Icelandic Krona
JOD JORDAN Jordanian Dinar
JPY JAPAN Yen

KES KENYA Kenyan Shilling
KWD KUWAIT Kuwaiti Dinar

KZT KAZAKHSTAN Kazakhstan Tenge
LBP LEBANON Lebanese Pound
LTL LITHUANIA Lithuanian Litas
LVL LATVIA Latvian Lats

MAD MOROCCO Moroccan Dirham
MUR MAURITIUS Mauritian Rupee
MXN MEXICO Mexican Peso

RMB and CNH are also codes used to refer to the offshore yuan renminbi.
European Member States that have adopted the Euro pursuant to the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant
to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.
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(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

)

Alphabetic code Country Currency

MYR MALAYSIA Malaysian Ringgit
NAD NAMIBIA Namibian Dollar
NGN NIGERIA Nigerian Naira
NOK NORWAY Norwegian Krone
OMR OMAN Omani Rial

NZD NEW ZEALAND New Zealand Dollar
PEN PERU Peruvian Nuevo Sol
PHP PHILIPPINES Philippine Peso
PLN POLAND Zloty

QAR QATAR Qatari Riyal

RON ROMANIA Leu

RUB RUSSIA Russian Ruble
SAR SAUDI ARABIA Saudi Arabian Riyal
SEK SWEDEN Swedish Krona
SGD SINGAPORE Singapore Dollar
THB THAILAND Thai Baht

TND TUNISIA Tunisian Dinar
TRY TURKEY Turkish Lira

USD UNITED STATES US Dollar

ZAR SOUTH AFRICA Rand

the "Notes" shall be to the English Law Notes, Uncertificated Notes and/or the French Law
Notes, as appropriate. For the avoidance of doubt, in the section headed "Terms and
Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes", references to the "Notes"
shall be to the English Law Notes and/or Uncertificated Notes, as the context requires, and in
the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes", references to the "Notes"
shall be to the French Law Notes;

the "General Terms and Conditions" or the "Conditions" shall be to the Terms and Conditions
of the English Law Notes, the Terms and Conditions of Uncertificated Notes and/or the Terms
and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as appropriate;

an "English Law Condition" shall be to the relevant condition in the Terms and Conditions of
the English Law Notes and Uncertificated Notes;

the "Final Terms" shall be to the final terms document prepared based on the "Form of Final
Terms — European Economic Area" or on the "Form of Final Terms — Switzerland"; and

a "French Law Condition" shall be to the relevant condition in the Terms and Conditions of the
French Law Notes.
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STABILISATION

IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUE OF ANY TRANCHE OF NOTES, THE DEALER OR DEALERS (IF ANY)
NAMED AS THE STABILISING MANAGER(S) (OR PERSONS ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY STABILISING
MANAGER(S)) IN THE APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS MAY OVER-ALLOT NOTES OR EFFECT
TRANSACTIONS WITH A VIEW TO SUPPORTING THE MARKET PRICE OF THE NOTES AT A LEVEL
HIGHER THAN THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL. HOWEVER, THERE IS NO ASSURANCE
THAT THE STABILISING MANAGER(S) (OR PERSONS ACTING ON BEHALF OF A STABILISING
MANAGER) WILL UNDERTAKE STABILISATION ACTION. ANY STABILISATION ACTION MAY BEGIN ON
OR AFTER THE DATE ON WHICH ADEQUATE PUBLIC DISCLOSURE OF THE TERMS OF THE OFFER OF
THE RELEVANT TRANCHE OF NOTES IS MADE AND, IF BEGUN, MAY BE ENDED AT ANY TIME, BUT IT
MUST END NO LATER THAN THE EARLIER OF 30 DAYS AFTER THE ISSUE DATE OF THE RELEVANT
TRANCHE OF NOTES AND 60 DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF THE ALLOTMENT OF THE RELEVANT
TRANCHE OF NOTES. ANY STABILISATION ACTION OR OVER-ALLOTMENT MUST BE CONDUCTED BY
THE RELEVANT STABILISING MANAGER(S) (OR PERSONS ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY STABILISING
MANAGER(S)) IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE LAWS AND RULES.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

Each of the Issuers and of the Guarantor (the Responsible Persons) accept responsibility for the information
contained in, or incorporated by reference into, this Base Prospectus and for the information contained in the
applicable Final Terms for each Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme. To the best of the knowledge
and belief of each Issuer and the Guarantor (each having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the
case) the information contained in, or incorporated by reference into, this Base Prospectus is in accordance with
the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

The following description does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety by, the
Summary and the remainder of this Base Prospectus and, in relation to the Terms and Conditions of any
particular Tranche of Notes, the applicable Final Terms.

The following description constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 22.5(3) of
Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 as amended implementing the Prospectus Directive.

Words and expressions defined in the sections headed "Form of the Notes", "Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes" or, as the case may be, "Terms and Conditions of the French
Law Notes" shall have the same meanings in this general description.

Hyperlinks of websites referred to in the Base Prospectus are exclusively for information purpose and must not
be regarded as part of the Base Prospectus itself.

1. PARTIES TO THE PROGRAMME

Issuers
Société Générale, SG Issuer, SG Option Europe and SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V.

Guarantor
Société Générale

Arranger
Société Générale

Dealers
Société Générale, Société Générale Bank & Trust, SG Option Europe and any other Dealers appointed
in accordance with the Programme Agreement.

Fiscal Agent, Registrar, Transfer Agent and Exchange Agent
Société Générale Bank & Trust

Paying Agents
Société Générale (Paris), Société Générale, New York Branch, and/or any such additional or successor
paying agent appointed in accordance with English Law Condition 10 and French Law Condition 10.

The Issuer may appoint or (as the case may be) maintain an additional paying agent in each jurisdiction
where Uncertificated Notes (as defined in the section headed "Form of the Notes") are registered and, if
appropriate, for so long as any Uncertificated Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, the
Issuer will maintain a paying agent with a specified office in Luxembourg, all as specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

In respect of EUI Notes, particularly all EUI Notes listed on the London Stock Exchange, the Issuer may
appoint or (as the case may be) maintain an additional paying agent in the United Kingdom.

In respect of SIS Notes, and other Notes listed on SIX Swiss Exchange, Société Générale, Paris, Zurich
Branch shall act as Principal Swiss Paying Agent, together with further additional Swiss Paying Agents
which may be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

2. DESCRIPTION

Debt Instruments Issuance Programme

3. METHOD OF DISTRIBUTION

Notes may be distributed by way of private or public placement, to qualified investors and/or non-
qualified investors, and in each case on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis.
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CURRENCIES

Notes may be denominated in any currency or currencies agreed between the relevant Issuer and the
relevant Dealer, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and regulations.

Payments in respect of Notes may, subject to compliance as aforesaid, be made in and/or linked to, any
currency or currencies other than the currency in which such Notes are denominated.

MATURITIES

Any maturity as indicated in the applicable Final Terms subject to such minimum or maximum maturities
as may be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any
laws or regulations applicable to the relevant Issuer or the relevant Specified Currency.

Notes issued by SG Issuer, SG Option Europe or SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. having a
maturity of less than one year from the date of issue are subject to certain restrictions on their
denomination and distribution (see the paragraph "Certain Restrictions — Notes having a maturity of less
than one year" below).

ISSUE PRICE

Notes may be issued on a fully-paid or a partly-paid basis and at an issue price (expressed either (i) as
a percentage of the Aggregate Nominal Amount or (ii) as an amount per Note of the relevant Specified
Denomination) which is at par or at a discount to, or premium over, par (as specified in the applicable
Final Terms).

REDEMPTION

The applicable Final Terms will indicate either that the Notes cannot be redeemed prior to their stated
maturity (other than in specified instalments, if applicable, or for taxation reasons or following an Event
of Default or in the event of an optional outstanding Notes trigger call or, in relation to Secured Notes
only, following the occurrence of a Collateral Disruption Event) or that such Notes (if Physical Delivery
Notes) may be settled at maturity or otherwise by receipt by the holder(s) of a cash amount and/or by
delivery of the relevant Deliverable Assets or that such Notes will be redeemable at the option of the
relevant Issuer and/or the Noteholders upon giving not less than thirty nor more than forty five days'
irrevocable notice (or such other notice period (if any) as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) to the
Noteholders or the relevant Issuer, as the case may be, on a date or dates specified prior to such stated
maturity and at a price or prices and on such terms as may be agreed between the Issuer and
Purchaser(s) as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

The applicable Final Terms may provide that Notes may be redeemable in two or more instalments of
such amounts and on such dates as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

REDENOMINATION AND/OR CONSOLIDATION

The applicable Final Terms may provide that certain Notes may be redenominated in euro. The relevant
provisions applicable to any such redenomination are contained in English Law Condition 1 and French
Law Condition 1.

Notes denominated in a currency that may be converted into euro may be subject to consolidation with
other Notes denominated in euro.
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SECURED NOTES

10.

Secured Notes will be issued by SG Issuer only.

The provisions relating to Secured Notes are more fully described in the sections "General Description
of the Collateral Arrangements relating to Secured Notes" and "Additional Terms and Conditions relating
to Secured Notes", respectively.

CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS

11.

Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which particular laws, guidelines,
regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which
comply with such laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements in full force
(see the section headed "Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions"”) including the following
restrictions applicable at the date of this Base Prospectus.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year

Notes issued by SG Issuer, SG Option Europe or SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. having a
maturity of less than one year will, if the proceeds of the issue are accepted in the United Kingdom,
constitute deposits for the purposes of the prohibition on accepting deposits contained in Section 19 of
the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 unless they are issued to a limited class of professional
investors and have a denomination of at least £100,000 or its equivalent, see the section headed
"Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions".

Under Part Il of the Luxembourg Act dated 10 July 2005 on prospectuses for securities, as amended,
which implements the Prospectus Directive, prospectuses relating to money market instruments having
a maturity at issue of less than twelve months and complying also with the definition of "securities" are
not subject to the approval provisions of Part Il of such Act.

TYPE OF NOTES

No debt securities falling under article 17 of the Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 as amended
will be issued under the Programme.

Fixed Rate Notes

Fixed rate interest will be payable on such date(s) as indicated in the applicable Final Terms and on
redemption and will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be agreed between
the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

Partly Paid Notes
The Issue Price of Partly Paid Notes will be payable in more than one instalment.

While any part payments of the subscription moneys due from the holder of Partly Paid Notes are
overdue, no interest in a Temporary or Permanent Global Note representing such Notes may be
exchanged for Definitive Bearer Notes.

If any Noteholder fails to pay any part payment due on any Partly Paid Notes within the time specified,
the Issuer may have a right to redeem such Notes if so specified, and on the terms set out, in the
applicable Final Terms.

Floating Rate Notes

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate determined (i) on the same basis as the floating rate
under a notional interest rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by an
agreement evidenced by a confirmation incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as published by the
International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. and as amended and updated as at the Issue
Date of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series) or (ii) on the basis of a reference rate
appearing on an agreed screen page of a commercial quotation service.
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12.

The margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the
relevant Dealer(s) for each issue of Floating Rate Notes and specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Floating Rate Notes may also have either a minimum interest rate or a maximum interest rate or both.

Interest will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be agreed between the
relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

Physical Delivery Notes

Payments in respect of Physical Delivery Notes (whether in respect of principal and/or interest and
whether at maturity or otherwise) and any delivery of any Deliverable Asset(s) in respect of Physical
Delivery Notes will be made in accordance with the terms of the applicable Final Terms, subject always
to applicable securities laws.

Zero Coupon Notes
Zero Coupon Notes will not bear interest other than in the case of late payment.

Dual Currency Notes

Payments in respect of Dual Currency Notes (whether in respect of principal and/or interest and whether
at maturity or otherwise) will be made in such currency or currencies, and based on such rate or rates of
exchange, as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Purchaser(s) may agree (as indicated in the
applicable Final Terms).

Other provisions in relation to Floating Rate Notes and Structured Notes
Floating Rate Notes and Structured Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a minimum interest
rate or both, or be subject to a rate multiplier, in each case as set forth in the applicable Final Terms.

Structured Notes

Structured Notes will provide investors with an exposure to one or more Underlyings. Payments of
principal and/or of interest in respect of Structured Notes will be calculated by reference to such
Underlying. Item "Type of Structured Notes" of the Final Terms will specify the relevant type of
Underlying of the Structured Notes. Any Structured Note may be exposed to more than one Underlying,
in which case more than one type of Structured Note will be specified. For each such Underlying and
type of Note, the relevant Additional Terms and Conditions will apply. The application of such Additional
Terms and Conditions will also be specified in item "Type of Structured Notes" of the Final Terms.

The applicable Final Terms will specify the relevant Underlying and state where information on the
relevant Underlying, in particular on its past and future performance and on its volatility, can be found
and whether or not the Issuer intends to provide further information on the Underlying.

Each type of Underlying for Structured Notes is further described below.

TYPE OF STRUCTURED NOTES

Share Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Share Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more shares as
agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms. Share
Linked Notes may also provide for redemption by physical delivery of the Deliverable Asset(s) as set out
in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Share Linked Notes. Share Linked Notes may be subject to
early redemption or adjustment if certain corporate events, de-listing, merger or de-merger,
nationalisation or insolvency occur, all as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Share Linked Notes.

Index Linked Notes

Payments of principal and/or of interest at maturity or otherwise in respect of Index Linked Notes will be
calculated by reference to the performance of one or more Indices as the relevant Issuer and the
relevant Dealer(s) may agree and as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.
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Index Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Index Linked Notes.

Index Linked Notes are linked to the performance of an index that is not composed by the Issuer. In
accordance with Commission Regulation (EC) 809/2004 as amended, the Final Terms contains the
name of the Index and an indication of where to obtain information about the index.

SGl Index Linked Notes

Payments of principal and/or of interest at maturity or otherwise in respect of SGI Index Linked Notes
will be calculated by reference to one or more Société Générale Indices as the relevant Issuer and the
relevant Dealer(s) may agree and as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

SGI Index Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for SGI Index Linked Notes.

SGI Index Linked Notes are linked to the performance of an index that is either (i) composed by the
Issuer or any other legal entities belonging to the Société Générale group or (ii) provided by a legal
entity or a natural person acting in association with, or on behalf of, the Issuer or any other legal entity
belonging to the Société Générale group (including, but without limitation, an entity acting as index
calculation agent) (an SGI Index).

In respect of the description of the SGI Index, two categories can be contemplated :

@) If the SGI Index is either composed by the Issuer or any other legal entity belonging to the
Société Générale group, this Base Prospectus contains, in accordance with Commission
Regulation (EC) 809/2004 as amended, an index description including the essential
characteristics to enable an investor to fully understand the index and its dynamics and make
an informed assessment.

(b) If the Index is provided by a legal entity or a natural person acting in association with, or on
behalf of, the Issuer or any other legal entity belonging to the Société Générale group, in
accordance with Commission Regulation (EC) 809/2004 as amended:

- the complete set of rules of the index and information on the performance of the index
are freely accessible on the Issuer’s or on the index provider’'s website; and

- the governing rules (including methodology of the index for the selection and the re-
balancing of the components of the index, description of market disruption events and
adjustment rules) are based on pre-determined and objective criteria.

For SGI indices that belong to this second category (b), the name of the SGI Index will be

specified in the applicable Final Terms and the complete set of rules of the index and

information on the performance of the index will be freely accessible on either the website

www.sgindex.com or on the index provider’'s website.

The index description of the three following SGI Indices belonging to the first category (a) are contained
in section "Description of SGI Indices" of this Base Prospectus.

1) SGI Harmonia Index (EUR — Net Total Return)

2) SGI Harmonia Index (EUR — Excess Return)

3) SGI Pan Africa Index

4) Brent Crude Oil Benchmark Index (USD - Excess Return)
5) SGI Brent Short (USD - Total Return)

It should be noted that additional SGI Indices may be used as underlyings following the publication of a
supplement in accordance with the provisions of article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, containing an
index description of such additional Indices.

Depositary Receipts Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Depositary Receipts Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more
depositary receipts as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the
applicable Final Terms. Depositary Receipts Linked Notes may also provide for redemption by physical
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delivery of the Deliverable Asset(s) as set out in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Depositary
Receipts Linked Notes. Depositary Receipts Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or
adjustment if certain corporate events, de-listing, merger or de-merger, nationalisation or insolvency
occur, all as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Depositary Receipts Linked
Notes.

Dividend Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Dividend Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more dividends
as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.
Dividend Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustments, all as more fully described in
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Dividend Linked Notes.

ETF Linked Notes

Payments in respect of ETF Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more exchange
traded funds as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable
Final Terms. Subject to applicable laws and regulations, ETF Linked Notes may also provide for
redemption by physical delivery of the Deliverable Asset(s) as set out in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for ETF Linked Notes. ETF Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustments,
all as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for ETF Linked Notes.

Reference Rate Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Reference Rate Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more
reference rate as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable
Final Terms.

Reference Rate Linked Notes may be subject to adjustment as more fully described in the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Reference Rate Linked Notes.

Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or
more foreign exchange rate as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in
the applicable Final Terms.

Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Notes may be subject to adjustment as more fully described in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Notes.

Commodity Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Commodity Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more
commodities and/or commodity indices as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and
specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Commodity Linked Notes may be subject to adjustment as more fully described in the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Commodity Linked Notes.

Fund Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Fund Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to units, interests or shares in
a single fund or basket of funds on such terms as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant
Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms. Subject to applicable laws and regulations, Fund
Linked Notes may also provide for redemption by physical delivery of the Deliverable Asset(s) as set out
in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Fund Linked Notes.

Fund Linked Notes may be subject to adjustment or early redemption, as applicable, or if certain
corporate events occur, all as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Fund
Linked Notes.

Credit Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Credit Linked Notes will be linked to the credit, and possibly the CDS spread, of
a specified entity or entities and will be issued on such terms as may be agreed between the Issuer and
the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.

In the event of the occurrence of certain circumstances (which may include, amongst other things,
Bankruptcy, Failure to Pay, Obligation Acceleration, Obligation Default, Repudiation/Moratorium or
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Restructuring) in relation to a Reference Entity or, with respect to Basket Notes and Tranche Notes,
Reference Entities, in each case as specified in the applicable Final Terms, the obligation of the Issuer
to pay principal at maturity may be replaced by (i) an obligation to pay other amounts which are equal to
either certain fixed amount(s) as specified in the applicable Final Terms or amounts calculated by
reference to the value of the Deliverable Asset(s) (which may, in each case, be less than the par value
of the Notes at the relevant time) and/or (ii) an obligation to deliver the Deliverable Asset(s), all as more
fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes. In addition, interest-
bearing Credit Linked Notes may cease to bear interest on or prior to the date of occurrence of such
circumstances.

Credit Linked Notes may be subject to adjustment as more fully described in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes.

Inflation Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Inflation Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to inflation indices as
agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.
Inflation Linked Notes may be subject to adjustment as more fully described in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Inflation Linked Notes.

Bond Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Bond Linked Notes will be linked to the credit of a specified obligation
(the "Bond" as specified in the applicable Final Terms) issued by a specified issuer (the "Bond Issuer”
as specified in the applicable Final Terms) and will be issued on such terms as may be agreed between
the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.

In the event of the occurrence of certain circumstances (which may include, amongst other things, Bond
Acceleration, Bond Default, Bond Failure to Pay or Bond Restructuring) in relation to a Bond or, with
respect to Basket Bond Linked Notes, Bonds in each case as specified in the applicable Final Terms,
the obligation of the Issuer to pay principal at maturity may be replaced by (i) an obligation to pay other
amounts which are equal to either certain fixed amount(s) as specified in the applicable Final Terms or
amounts calculated by reference to the value of the underlying assets (which may, in each case, be less
than the par value of the Notes at the relevant time) In addition, interest-bearing Bond Linked Notes may
cease to bear interest on or prior to the date of occurrence of such circumstances.

Bond Linked Notes may be subject to adjustment as more fully described in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Bond Linked Notes.

ETP Linked Notes

Payments in respect of ETP Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more exchange
traded products other than ETF (exchange traded funds) as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant
Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms. ETP Linked Notes may be subject to adjustments,
as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for ETP Linked Notes.

Non Equity Security Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Non Equity Security Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more
non equity securities or futures contracts thereon as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant
Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms. Non Equity Security Linked Notes may be subject
to adjustment, as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Non Equity Security
Linked Notes.

Preference Share Linked Notes

The redemption Amount payable in respect of Preference Share Linked Notes will be calculated by
reference to the performance of a single specified preference share of the Preference Share Issuer as
agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Purchaser(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.
Preference Share Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption as more fully described in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Preference Share Linked Notes.
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Warrant Linked Notes

The redemption amount payable in respect of Warrant Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to
the performance of warrants issued by the Warrants Issuer as agreed between the Issuer and the
relevant Purchaser(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Warrant Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption as more fully described in the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Warrant Linked Notes.

Portfolio Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Portfolio Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to a portfolio of
underlyings as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree and as indicated in the
applicable Final Terms. Portfolio Linked Notes may be subject to adjustment as more fully described in
the Additional Terms and Condition for Portfolio Linked Notes.
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO NON-EXEMPT OFFERS OF NOTES

CONSENT GIVEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLE 3.2 OF THE PROSPECTUS DIRECTIVE

In the context of any offer of Notes that is not within an exemption from the requirement to publish a
prospectus under the Prospectus Directive (a Non-exempt Offer), each of the Issuer and the Guarantor
accepts responsibility, in each Member State for which it has given its consent (each a Public Offer
Jurisdiction) as specified below, for the content of the Base Prospectus in relation to any person (an
Investor) to whom any offer of Notes is made by any financial intermediary to whom it has given its
consent to use the Base Prospectus (an Authorised Offeror), where the offer is made during the period
for which that consent is given in a Public Offer Jurisdiction for which that consent was given and is in
compliance with all other conditions attached to the giving of the consent.

However, neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor nor the relevant Dealer has any responsibility for
any of the actions of any Authorised Offeror, including the non-compliance by an Authorised Offeror with
applicable conduct of business rules or other local regulatory requirements or other securities law
requirements in relation to such offer.

Neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor nor the relevant Dealer authorises the use of the Base
Prospectus in the case of a Non-exempt Offer of Notes in a Member State other than a Public Offer
Jurisdiction or in a Public Offer Jurisdiction but made by a financial intermediary to which the relevant
Issuer has not given its consent. Such unauthorised Non-exempt Offers are not made by or on behalf
the relevant Issuer the Guarantor or the relevant Dealer and neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor
nor the relevant Dealer accepts any responsibility for the actions of any person making such offers and
the related consequences.

Save as provided above, neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor nor the relevant Dealer authorises
that any Non-exempt Offers of Notes may be made in circumstances which make a relevant Issuer to
publish a prospectus or a supplement to the Base Prospectus.

TYPE OF CONSENT

2.1

Subject to the conditions set out below under "Conditions to consent" and if it is specified in the
applicable Final Terms relating to any Tranche of Notes, the Issuer consents to the use of the Base
Prospectus in relation to an Non-exempt Offer of such Notes during the offer period specified in the
applicable Final Terms (the Offer Period).

The consent given by the Issuer may be an individual consent (an Individual Consent) and/or a
general consent (a General Consent), each as further described below and as specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

Individual Consent

If the clause "Type of Consent" is stated as being "Individual Consent" in the applicable Final Terms, it
means that the Issuer consents to the use of the Base Prospectus in relation to an Non-exempt Offer of
such Notes by the relevant Dealer and by:

0] any financial intermediary acting in association with the Issuer named Initial Authorised
Offeror and whose name and address are specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

(i) any financial intermediary acting in association with the Issuer, appointed after the date of the
applicable Final Terms, and named Additional Authorised Offeror and whose name and
address will be published on the website of the Issuer (http:/prospectus.socgen.com).
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2.2

General Consent

If the clause "Type of Consent" is stated as being "General Consent" in the applicable Final Terms, it
means that the Issuer consents to the use of the Base Prospectus in relation to an Non-exempt Offer of
Notes to any financial intermediary acting independently from the Issuer named General Authorised
Offeror which:

0] holds all necessary licences, consents, approvals and permissions required by any laws, rules,
regulations and guidance (including from any regulatory body), applicable to the Non-exempt
Offer of the Notes to be authorised to do such offer under the applicable laws of the Public
Offer Jurisdiction, in particular the law implementing the Markets in Financial Instruments
Directive (Directive 2004/39/EC) as amended; and

(i) publishes on its website a statement that it makes such Non-exempt Offer of Notes based on
the General Consent given by the Issuer for the use of the Base Prospectus.

Through this publication on its website, the General Authorised Offeror commits itself to
respect the following conditions:

@) it acts in accordance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidance
(including from any regulatory body applicable to the Non-exempt Offer of the Notes in
the Public Offer Jurisdiction, in particular the law implementing the Markets in
Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2004/39/EC) as amended (hereinafter the
Rules) and makes sure that (i) any investment advice in the Notes by any person is
appropriate, (ii) the information to potential investor including the information relating
to any expenses (and any commissions or benefits of any kind) received or paid by
this General Authorised Offeror under the offer of the Notes is fully and clearly
disclosed;

(b) it complies with the restrictions set out under the section headed "Subscription, Sale
and Transfer Restrictions” in the Base Prospectus related to the Public Offer
Jurisdiction as if it acted as a Dealer in the Public Offer Jurisdiction;

(c) it complies with the Rules relating to anti-money laundering, anti-bribery and "know
your customer” rules; it retains investor identification records for at least the minimum
period required under applicable Rules, and shall, if so requested, make such records
available to the relevant Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer or directly to the competent
authorities with jurisdiction over the relevant Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer in order
to enable the relevant Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer to comply with anti-money
laundering, anti-bribery and "know your customer" rules applying to the relevant
Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer;

(d) it does not, directly or indirectly, cause the Issuer or the relevant Dealers to breach
any Rule or any requirement to obtain or make any filing, authorisation or consent in
any jurisdiction;

(e) it meets any other condition specified under the clause "Other conditions to consent"
in the applicable Final Terms;

) it commits itself to indemnify the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) and the
relevant Dealer, Société Générale and each of its affiliates for any damage, loss,
expense, claim, request or loss and fees (including reasonably fees from law firms)
incurred by one of its entities because of, or in relation with, any failure by this
General Authorised Offeror to respect any of these obligations above;

(9) it acknowledges that its commitment to respect the obligations above is governed by
English law if the applicable Notes are English Law Notes, or French law if the
applicable Notes are French Law Notes and agrees that any related dispute is brought
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before the courts of England if the applicable Notes are English Law Notes or the
courts of Paris (Tribunal de Paris), if the applicable Notes are French Law Notes;

Any General Authorised Offeror which wishes to use the Base Prospectus for an Non-
exempt Offer of Notes in accordance with this General Consent and the related
conditions is required, during the time of the relevant Offer Period, to publish on its
website that it uses the Base Prospectus for such Non-exempt Offer in accordance with
this General Consent and the related conditions.

CONDITIONS TO THE CONSENT

The consent by the Issuer to the use of the Base Prospectus:
(@ is only valid during the Offer Period specified in the applicable Final Terms;

(b) only extends to the use of this Base Prospectus to make Non-exempt Offers of the relevant
Tranche of Notes in Austria, Belgium, Croatia, Czech Republic, Denmark, Germany, Finland,
France, Gibraltar, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Liechtenstein, Luxembourg, Norway, Poland,
Portugal, Spain, Sweden, The Netherlands and United Kingdom, as specified in the applicable
Final Terms.

The only Member States for which each of the Issuer and the Guarantor has given a consent for the
making of Non-exempt Offers and which may be so specified in the applicable Final Terms as indicated
in the paragraph 3(b) as Public Offer Jurisdictions will be Austria, Belgium, Croatia, Czech Republic,
Denmark, Germany, Finland, France, Gibraltar, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Liechtenstein, Luxembourg,
Norway, Poland, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, The Netherlands and United Kingdom.

ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN INVESTORS AND AUTHORISED OFFERORS

An Investor intending to acquire or acquiring any Notes from an Authorised Offeror will do so, and offers
and sales of the Notes to an Investor by an Authorised Offeror will be made, in accordance with any
terms and other arrangements in place between such Authorised Offeror and such Investor including as
to price, allocation and settlement arrangements (the Terms and Conditions of the Non-exempt
Offer). The relevant Issuer will not be a party to any such arrangements with Investors (other than the
Dealer) in connection with the offer or sale of the relevant Notes and, accordingly, the Base Prospectus
and the applicable Final Terms will not contain such information.

The information relating to the Terms and Conditions of the Non-exempt Offer shall be provided
to the Investors by the Authorised Offeror at the time such Non-exempt Offer is made.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

LIST OF THE DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

11

111

112

1.1.3

The following documents, which have previously been published or are published simultaneously with
this Base Prospectus and have been filed with the CSSF and SIX Swiss Exchange, shall be
incorporated by reference into, and form part of, this Base Prospectus.

The documents incorporated by reference in paragraphs 1.1,1.2.2,1.2.3,1.3.1,1.3.2,1.33,1.4.1,1.4.2
and 1.4.3 below are direct and accurate translations into English of the original version of such
documents issued in French. Each relevant Issuer accepts responsibility for such translations.

Copies of the documents incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus can be obtained from the
office of Société Générale and the specified office of each of the Paying Agents, in each case at the
address given at the end of this Base Prospectus.

This Base Prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference hereinto are available on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange website (www.bourse.lu).

Documents incorporated by reference relating to Société Générale

To the extent that each of the documents incorporated by reference relating to Société Générale
incorporates itself documents by reference, such documents shall not be deemed incorporated by
reference herein. Any reference to documents incorporated by reference relating to Société Générale
shall be deemed to exclude the parts referred to in (i), (ii) and (iii) in the paragraphs 1.1.1 to 1.1.4 below.

2014 Registration Document

The expression "2014 Registration Document” means the English version of the document de
référence 2014 of Société Générale which contains, among other, the annual financial statements
audited for the financial year ended 31 December 2013, the French version of which was filed with the
Autorité des marchés financiers (hereinafter the AMF) on 4 March 2014 under No D. 14-0115, except
for (i) the inside cover page containing the AMF visa and the related textbox, (ii) the statement of the
person responsible for the update of the registration document and the annual financial report made by
Mr. Frédéric Oudéa, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Société Générale, page 464 and (iii) the
cross reference table, pages 468-476.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2014 Registration Document appears in the paragraph 2.1.1
below.

2015 Registration Document

The expression "2015 Registration Document” means the English version of the document de
référence 2015 of Société Générale which contains, among other, the annual financial statements
audited for the financial year ended 31 December 2014, the French version of which was filed with the
Autorité des marchés financiers (hereinafter the AMF) on 4 March 2015 under No D. 15-0104, except
for (i) the inside cover page containing the AMF visa and the related textbox, (ii) the statement of the
person responsible for the registration document and the annual financial report made by Mr. Frédéric
Oudéa, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Société Générale, page 552 and (iii) the cross
reference table, pages 555-564.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2015 Registration Document appears in the paragraph 2.1.2
below.

First Update to the 2015 Registration Document

The expression "First Update to the 2015 Registration Document" means the English translation of
the first update to the 2015 registration document of Société Générale, the French version of which was
filed with the Autorité des marchés financiers (hereinafter the AMF) on 11 May 2015
under No D. 15-0104-A01, except for (i) the inside cover page containing the AMF visa and the related
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114

1.2

121

122

123

13

131

textbox, (ii) the statement of the person responsible for updating the registration document made by Mr.
Frédéric Oudéa, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Société Générale, page 65 and (iii) the cross
reference table, pages 67-71.

Second Update to the 2015 Registration Document

The expression "Second Update to the 2015 Registration Document” means the English translation
of the second update to the 2015 registration document of Société Générale, the French version of
which was filed with the Autorité des marchés financiers (hereinafter the AMF) on 6 August 2015 under
No D. 15-0104-A02, except for (i) the inside cover page containing the AMF visa and the related
textbox, (ii) the statement of the person responsible for updating the registration document made by Mr.
Frédéric Oudéa, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Société Générale, page 124 and (iii) the cross
reference table, pages 126-133.

Documents incorporated by reference relating to SG Issuer
2013 Annual Financial Statements

The expression "2013 Audited Annual Financial Statements" means the audited annual financial
statements of SG Issuer for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 prepared in accordance with
international financial reporting standards (IFRS), the related appendix and notes and the statutory
auditor's report for each year, each issued in French.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2013 Annual Financial Statements appears in paragraph
2.2.1 below.

2014 Annual Financial Statements

The expression "2014 Annual Financial Statements" means the English version of the audited annual
financial statements of SG Issuer for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 prepared in
accordance with international financial reporting standards (IFRS), the related appendix and notes and
the statutory auditor's report for each year, each issued in French.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2014 Annual Financial Statements appears in paragraph
2.2.2 below.

2015 Interim Financial Statements

The expression "2015 Interim Financial Statements" means the English version of non audited interim
financial statements of SG Issuer for the period from 1 January 2015 to 30 June 2015 prepared in
accordance with international financial reporting standards (IFRS), the related appendix and notes and
the statutory auditor's report for this period.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2015 Interim Financial Statements appears in paragraph
2.2.2 below.

Documents incorporated by reference relating to SG Option Europe
2013 Annual Financial Statements

The expression "2013 Audited Annual Financial Statements" means the translation into English of the
audited annual financial statements of SG Option Europe for the financial year ended 31 December
2013 prepared in accordance with French GAAP, the related appendix and notes and the free
translation into English language of the statutory auditors' report for such year together with the
supplemental statutory auditors’ attestation on cash flow statement for the period ended 31 December
2013.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2013 Annual Financial Statements appears in paragraph
2.3.1 below.
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133
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2014 Annual Financial Statements

The expression "2014 Audited Annual Financial Statements" means the translation into English of the
audited annual financial statements of SG Option Europe for the financial year ended
31 December 2014 prepared in accordance with French GAAP, the related appendix and notes and the
free translation into English language of the statutory auditors' report for such year.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2014 Annual Financial Statements appears in paragraph
2.3.2 below.

2015 Interim Financial Statements

The expression "2015 Interim Financial Statements" means the non audited interim financial
statements of SG Option Europe for the period from 1 January 2015 to 30 June 2015 prepared in
accordance with French GAAP, the related appendix and notes and the statutory auditor's report for this
period.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2015 Interim Financial Statements appears in paragraph
2.3.3 below.

Documents incorporated by reference relating to SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V.
2013 Annual Financial Statements

The expression "2013 Annual Financial Statements" means the translation into English of the audited
annual financial statements of SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. for the financial year ended
31 December 2013 prepared in accordance with IFRS, the related appendix and notes and the free
translation into English of the statutory auditor's report for such year.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2013 Annual Financial Statements appears in paragraph
2.4.1 below.

2014 Annual Financial Statements

The expression "2014 Annual Financial Statements" means the translation into English of the audited
annual financial statements of SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. for the financial year ended
31 December 2014 prepared in accordance with IFRS, the related appendix and notes and the free
translation into English language of the statutory auditor's report for such year.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2014 Annual Financial Statements appears in paragraph
2.4.2 below.

2015 Interim Financial Statements

The expression "2015 Interim Financial Statements" means the non audited interim financial
statements of SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V. for the period from 1 January 2015 to 30 June
2015 prepared in accordance with international financial reporting standards (IFRS), the related
appendix and notes and the statutory auditor's report for this period.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2015 Interim Financial Statements appears in paragraph
2.4.3 below.

Documents incorporated by reference relating to Previous Base Prospectuses

The expression "Previous Base Prospectuses" means collectively the January 2005 Base Prospectus,
the July 2005 Base Prospectus, the 2006 Base Prospectus, the 2007 Base Prospectus, the 2008 Base
Prospectus, the 2009 Base Prospectus, the 2010 Base Prospectus, the 2011 Base Prospectus, the April
2012 Base Prospectus, the June 2012 Base Prospectus, the April 2013 Base Prospectus, the April 2014
Base Prospectus and the October 2014 Base Prospectus.

Solely the English language part of each of the 2010 Base Prospectus, the 2011 Base Prospectus, the
April 2012 Base Prospectus and the June 2012 Base Prospectus is incorporated by reference into this
Base Prospectus.
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The cross reference table in relation to the Previous Base Prospectuses appears in paragraph 2.5
below.

2005 Base Prospectus

The expression "2005 Base Prospectus" means collectively:

- the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 14 January 2005;

- the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 1 July 2005 (updated as of 8 August 2005);

- the supplement dated 24 August 2005;

- the supplement dated 7 September 2005;

- the supplement dated 16 September 2005; and

- the supplement dated 20 September 2005.

For the avoidance of doubt, the supplements dated 3 November 2005, 22 November 2005,
21 February 2006, 13 April 2006 and 13 July 2006 are not incorporated by reference into this Base
Prospectus.

2006 Base Prospectus

The expression "2006 Base Prospectus” means the debt issuance programme prospectus dated
1 August 2006.

For the avoidance of doubt, the supplements dated 1 September 2006, 20 November 2006,
27 February 2007, 20 March 2007 and 10 April 2007 are not incorporated by reference into this Base
Prospectus.

2007 Base Prospectus

The expression "2007 Base Prospectus" means collectively:

- the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 2 May 2007;

- the supplement dated 7 June 2007;

- the supplement dated 30 July 2007 and

- the supplement dated 18 September 2007.

For the avoidance of doubt, the supplements dated , 8 August 2007, 7 November 2007, 15 November
2007, 23 January 2008, 29 January 2008 and 26 March 2008 are not incorporated by reference into this
Base Prospectus.

2008 Base Prospectus

The expression "2008 Base Prospectus" means collectively:

- the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 2 May 2008; and

- the supplement dated 2 September 2008; and

For the avoidance of doubt, the supplements dated 29 May 2008, 13 June 2008, 1 December 2008,
5 January 2009, 24 February 2009 and 19 March 2009 are not incorporated by reference into this Base
Prospectus.

2009 Base Prospectus

The expression "2009 Base Prospectus" means collectively:

- the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 28 April 2009; and

- the supplement dated 24 February 2010.

For the avoidance of doubt, the supplements dated 5 May 2009, 15 May 2009, 4 June 2009, 15 July
2009, 11 August 2009, 20 October 2009, 24 November 2009, 18 January 2010, 2 February 2010,
18 March 2010 and 1 April 2010 are not incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus.
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2010 Base Prospectus

The expression "2010 Base Prospectus" means collectively:

- the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 27 April 2010; and

- the supplement dated 13 October 2010.

For the avoidance of doubt, the supplements dated 17 May 2010, 18 August 2010, 15 November 2010,
17 January 2011 and 18 February 2011 are not incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus.

2011 Base Prospectus

The expression "2011 Base Prospectus" means collectively:

- the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 21 April 2011;

- the supplement dated 12 May 2011;

- the supplement dated 16 June 2011;

- the supplement dated 18 August 2011; and

- the supplement dated 7 October 2011.

For the avoidance of doubt, the supplements dated 21 September 2011, 16 November 2011,
13 December 2011, 30 January 2012, 23 February 2012, 14 March 2012 and 22 March 2012 are not
incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus.

April 2012 Base Prospectus

The expression "April 2012 Base Prospectus” means collectively:

- the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 20 April 2012;

- the supplement dated 16 May 2012;

- the supplement dated 26 June 2012;

- the supplement dated 13 August 2012; and

- the supplement dated 24 October 2012.

For the avoidance of doubt, the supplements dated 11 October 2012, 30 October 2012, 15 November
2012, 17 December 2012, 18 February 2013 and 22 March 2013 are not incorporated by reference into
this Base Prospectus.

June 2012 Base Prospectus

The expression "June 2012 Base Prospectus" means collectively:

- the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 26 June 2012;

- the supplement dated 16 August 2012;

- the supplement dated 29 October 2012;

- the supplement dated 26 November 2012; and

- the supplement dated 1 March 2013.

For the avoidance of doubt, the supplements dated 17 December 2012, 18 February 2013, 18 March
2013, 18 March 2013, 16 May 2013, 26 July 2013 and 14 August 2013 are not incorporated by
reference into this Base Prospectus.

April 2013 Base Prospectus

The expression "April 2013 Base Prospectus” means collectively:

- the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 29 April 2013; and

- the supplement dated 31 May 2013.

For the avoidance of doubt, the supplements dated 23 July 2013 and 14 August 2013 are not
incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus.

April 2014 Base Prospectus

The expression "April 2014 Base Prospectus” means collectively:
- the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 29 April 2014.

For the avoidance of doubt, the supplements dated 4 June 2014, 24 June 2014 and 13 August 2014 are
not incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus.
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October 2014 Base Prospectus

The expression "October 2014 Base Prospectus” means collectively:

- the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 28 October 2014;
- the supplement dated 6 November 2014;

- the supplement dated 18 December 2014;

- the supplement dated 23 January 2015;

- the supplement dated 19 March 2015;

- the supplement dated 9 June 2015;

- the supplement dated 26 June 2015; and

- the supplement dated 21 August 2015.

For the avoidance of doubt, the supplements dated 19 November 2014 and 26 February 2015 are not
incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus.

2. CROSS REFERENCE TABLES OF THE DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
The non-incorporated parts and the non-incorporated documents referred to above are not incorporated
by reference as they are not relevant for an investor pursuant to article 28.4 of Commission Regulation
(EC) No 809/2004 of 29 April 2004 (as amended).
References to pages appearing in each of the cross-reference tables are to those of each document
incorporated by reference.

2.1 Cross reference tables relating to Société Générale

211 2014 Registration Document
FINANCIAL, INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL POSITION
AND PROFITS AND LOSSES OF THE ISSUER
Historical financial information (2013 annual financial information as of 31 | 266-375 ; 380-433
December 2013)
Financial statements 266-375; 380-433
Consolidated balance sheet 266-267
Consolidated income statement 268
Cash flow statements 273
Changes in shareholders’ equity 270-272
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 274-375
Auditing of the historical annual financial information 376-377

212 2015 Registration Document

RISK FACTORS

Prominent disclosure of risk factors that may affect the issuer’s ability to fulfil its | 126.139 - 144-291
obligations under the securities to investors

INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER

History and development of the issuer 4,534
The legal and commercial name of the issuer 534
The place of registration of the issuer and its registration number 534

The date of incorporation and the length of life of the Issuer, except where | 534
indefinite
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The domicile and legal form of the issuer, the legislation under which the issuer 534
operates, its country of incorporation, and the address and telephone number of its
registered office (or principal place of business if different from its registered office)
BUSINESS OVERVIEW
Principal activities 5, 42-45
A brief description of the issuer’s principal activities stating the main categories of | 42-45
products sold and/or services performed
An indication of any significant new products and/or activities 42-45
Principal markets 5-23 ; 456-459
Basis for any statements in the registration document made by the issuer 2
regarding its competitive position
ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

5;22-23

If the issuer is part of group, a brief description of the group and of the issuer's
position within it

Whether the issuer is dependent on other entities within the group

27-41 ; 450-455;

508-517

TREND INFORMATION
. . . 55-56

Information on any known trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events
that are reasonably likel to have a material effect on the Issuer’s prospects for at
least the current financial year
ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES
Names, business addresses and functions in the Issuer of the members of the | 76-98
administrative, management or supervisory bodies, and an indication of the
principal activities performed by them outside the Issuer where therse are
significant with respect to the Issuer
Administrative, Management, and Supervisory bodies conflicts of interests 85
MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

528-529 ;535

To the extent known to the issuer, state whether the issuer is directly or indirectly
owned or controlled and by whom, and describe the nature of such control, and
describe the measures in place to ensure that such control is not abused

FINANCIAL, INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ASSETS ANS LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL POSITION

AND PROFITS AND LOSSES OF THE ISSUER.

Historical financial information (2014 annual financial information as of 31
December 2014)

346-459 ; 464-517 ;
557

Financial statements

346-459 ; 464-517

Consolidated balance sheet 346
Consolidated income statement 348
Cash flow statements 353
Changes in shareholders’ equity 350
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 354-459

Auditing of the historical annual financial information

140-141 ; 460-461 ;
518-519

Age of latest financial information

354

124




Documents Incorporated by Reference

Legal and arbitration proceedings 281-283

2.13 First Update to the 2015 Registration Document

RISK FACTORS

Prominent disclosure of risk factors that may affect the issuer's ability to fulfil its | 57_g3
obligations under the securities to investors in a section headed "Risk Factors".

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Principal activities

A brief description of the issuer’s principal activities stating the main categories of | 31-33
products sold and/or services performed;

An indication of any significant new products and/or activities; 31-33

ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES

Names, business addresses and functions in the Issuer of the members of the | 34
administrative, management or supervisory bodies, and an indication of the
principal activities performed by them outside the Issuer where these are
significant with respect to the Issuer.

FINANCIAL, INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ISSUER’'S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL
POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES

Names, business addresses and functions in the Issuer of the members of the | 34
administrative, management or supervisory bodies, and an indication of the
principal activities performed by them outside the Issuer where these are
significant with respect to the Issuer.

INTERIM AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION (2015 first quarter financial | 4-30
information as of 31 December 2014)

Balance sheet 22
Income statement 21
23-26

Accounting principles

2.1.4  Second Update to the 2015 Registration Document

RISK FACTORS
Prominent disclosure of risk factors that may affect the issuer's ability to fulfil its | 53-67
obligations under the securities to investors in a section headed "Risk Factors".
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Principal activities

10-49
A brief description of the issuer’s principal activities stating the main categories of | 10-49
products sold and/or services performed,

An indication of any significant new products and/or activities; 10-49
ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES
Names, business addresses and functions in the Issuer of the members of the | 51-52
administrative, management or supervisory bodies, and an indication of the
principal activities performed by them outside the Issuer where these are
significant with respect to the Issuer.

FINANCIAL, INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ISSUER’S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL
POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES

INTERIM AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION (2015 first quarter financial information as of

31 December 2014)

29
28

Balance sheet

Income statement
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Accounting principles

78-79

2.2 Cross reference tables relating to SG Issuer

221 2013 Annual Financial Statements

Balance sheet 9
Income statement 8
Cash-flow statement 11
Statement in change in equity 10
Notes to the financial statements 12-34
Accounting principles 13
Report of the Réviseur d’Entreprises agréé 6-7
2.2.2 2014 Annual Financial Statements
Business Overview 4
Balance sheet 11
Income statement 10
Cash-flow statement 13
Statement in change in equity 12
Notes to the financial statements 14-40
Accounting principles 16
Report of the Réviseur d’Entreprises agréé 8-9
2.2.3 2015 Interim Financial Statements
Balance sheet 10
Income statement 11
Cash-flow statement 13
Statement in change in equity 12
Notes to the financial statements 14-35
Accounting principles 8
Report of the Réviseur d’Entreprises agréé 9
2.3 Cross reference tables relating to SG Option Europe
2.3.1 2013 Annual Financial Statements
Balance sheet 1
Income statement 4
Cash-flow statement 45
Notes to the financial statements 7-45
Accounting principles 7

Free English language translation of the statutory auditors’ report

Cover pages 1to 3

2.3.2 2014 Annual Financial Statements

Balance sheet

8
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233

2.4

24.1

2.4.2

243

Income statement 11
Cash-flow statement 51
Notes to the financial statements 13-38
Accounting principles 13
Free English language translation of the statutory auditors’ report 2-4
2015 Interim Financial Statements

Balance sheet 2
Income statement 5
Cash-flow statement 45
Notes to the financial statements 7-45
Accounting principles 7

Free English language translation of the statutory auditors’ report

Cover pages 1to 3

Cross reference tables relating to SGA Société Générale Acceptance N.V.

2013 Annual Financial Statements

Balance sheet 34
Statement of changes in equity 4
Income statement 5-6
Cash-flow statement 7
Notes to the financial statements 16-25
Accounting principles 9

Free English language translation of the statutory auditor’s report

Cover pages 1to 3

2014 Annual Financial Statements

Balance sheet 7
Statement of changes in equity 9
Income statement 10
Cash-flow statement 7
Notes to the financial statements 11-28
Accounting principles 12
Free English language translation of the statutory auditor’s report 2-3
2015 Interim Financial Statements

Balance sheet 4-5
Income statement 7
Cash-flow statement 33
Statement in change in equity 21
Notes to the financial statements 8-33
Accounting principles 9
Free English translation of the statutory auditor’s report 1-2
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2.5

Cross reference tables relating to Previous Base Prospectuses

Previous Base Prospectuses Section Pages

2005 Base Prospectus

Base prospectus dated 14 January 2005 Terms and Conditions 33-59

Base prospectus dated 1 July 2005 | Terms and Conditions 50-103

updated (updated as of 8 August 2005)

Supplement dated 24 August 2005 Terms and Conditions 34

Supplement dated 7 September 2005 Terms and Conditions 3-4

Supplement dated 16 September 2005 Terms and Conditions 3-4

Supplement dated 20 September 2005 Terms and Conditions 1-5

2006 Base Prospectus

Base prospectus dated 1 August 2006 Terms and Conditions 73-138
Technical Annex 139-210

2007 Base Prospectus

Base prospectus dated 2 May 2007 Terms and Conditions 80-154
Technical Annex 155-241

Supplement dated 7 June 2007 Terms and Conditions 1

Supplement dated 30 July 2007 Terms and Conditions 1

Supplement dated 18 September 2007 Terms and Conditions 2

2008 Base Prospectus

Base prospectus dated 2 May 2008 Terms and Conditions 134-220
Technical Annex 221-318

Supplement dated 2 September 2008 Terms and Conditions 2-3

2009 Base Prospectus

Base prospectus dated 28 April 2009 Terms and Conditions 125-204
Technical Annex 205-292

Supplement dated 24 February 2010 Terms and Conditions 2-6

2010 Base Prospectus

Base prospectus Terms and Conditions 232-319
Technical Annex 320-442

Supplement dated 13 October 2010 Technical Annex 2;4-78

2011 Base Prospectus

Base prospectus Terms and Conditions 256-347
Technical Annex 348-487

Supplement dated 12 May 2011 Technical Annex 3-4

Supplement dated 16 June 2011 Technical Annex 34

Supplement dated 18 August 2011 Terms and Conditions 8;11
Technical Annex 8;12-25

Supplement dated 7 October 2011 Technical Annex 8

April 2012 Base Prospectus

Base prospectus Terms and Conditions 179-271
Technical Annex 272-406

Supplement dated 16 May 2012 Technical Annex 4-7
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Supplement dated 26 June 2012 Technical Annex 3-4

Supplement dated 13 August 2012 Terms and Conditions 4-5
Technical Annex 5-6

Supplement dated 24 October 2012 Technical Annex 3-28

June 2012 Base Prospectus

Base prospectus Terms and Conditions 146-232
Technical Annex 233-386

Supplement dated 16 August 2012 Terms and Conditions 4
Technical Annex 4-5

Supplement dated 29 October 2012 Technical Annex 4-32

Supplement dated 26 November 2012 Terms and Conditions 31-40
Technical Annex 40-80

Supplement dated 1 March 2013 Additional Terms and Conditions 5-8

April 2013 Base Prospectus

Base prospectus Terms and Conditions 166-272
Additional terms and conditions 273-706

Supplement dated 31 May 2013 Terms and Conditions 4

April 2014 Base Prospectus

Base prospectus Terms and Conditions 182-294
Additional terms and conditions 295-802

October 2014 Base Prospectus

Base prospectus Terms and Conditions 196-312
Additional terms and conditions 313-854

Supplement dated 6 November 2014 Terms and Conditions 3

Supplement dated 18 December 2014 Additional terms and conditions 3

Supplement dated 23 January 2015 Additional terms and conditions 3-4

Supplement dated 19 March 2015 Additional terms and conditions 6-8

Supplement dated 9 June 2015 Summary 8
Form of Final Terms 8-9
Terms and Conditions of the | 9-10
English Law Notes and the
Uncertificated Notes
Additional Terms and Conditions | 11
relating to Formulae
Additional Terms and Conditions | 12-13
for Structured Notes

Supplement dated 26 June 2015 Amendment made to the |3
Supplement dated 9 June 2015

Supplement dated 19 August 2015 Additional Terms and Conditions | 5

for Commodity Linked Notes
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Final Terms or Drawdown Prospectus

FINAL TERMS OR DRAWDOWN PROSPECTUS

In this section the expression "necessary information" means, in relation to any Tranche of Notes, the
information necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial
position, profits and losses and prospects of the Issuers and the Guarantor and of the rights attaching to the
Notes. In relation to the different types of Notes which may be issued under the Programme, the Issuers and the
Guarantor have endeavoured to include in this Base Prospectus all of the necessary information except for
information relating to the Notes which is not known at the date of this Base Prospectus and which can only be
determined at the time of an individual issue of a Tranche of Notes and except for certain information specific to
U.S. Exempt Securities set out in the applicable Offering Circular.

Any information relating to the Notes which is not included in this Base Prospectus and which is required in order
to complete the necessary information in relation to a Tranche of Notes will therefore be contained either in the
applicable Final Terms or in a Drawdown Prospectus. Such information will be contained in the applicable Final
Terms unless any of such information constitutes a significant new factor relating to the information contained in
this Base Prospectus in which case such information, together with all of the other necessary information in
relation to the relevant series of Notes, will be contained in a Drawdown Prospectus. Information specific to any
issue of U.S. Exempt Securities (including information on the form of the Notes and applicable selling and transfer
restrictions) shall be set out in the applicable Offering Circular in connection with the offer and sale of such U.S.
Exempt Securities. In case of any issue of U.S. Exempt Securities, all references herein to “Final Terms” shall
include, or be interpreted to mean, the applicable Offering Circular.

For a Tranche of Notes which is the subject of Final Terms, those Final Terms will, for the purposes of that
Tranche only, complete the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and this Base Prospectus and must be read in
conjunction with this Base Prospectus. The terms and conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes
which is the subject of Final Terms are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes as completed to the extent
described in the applicable Final Terms or Drawdown Prospectus, as the case may be. The terms and conditions
applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a Drawdown Prospectus will be the
Conditions as supplemented to the extent described in the relevant Drawdown Prospectus. In the case of a
Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a Drawdown Prospectus, each reference in this Base Prospectus to
information being specified or identified in the applicable Final Terms shall be read and construed as a reference
to such information being specified or identified in the relevant Drawdown Prospectus unless the context requires
otherwise. In the case of a Tranche of U.S. Exempt Securities which is the subject of an Offering Circular, each
reference in this Base Prospectus to information being specified or identified in the applicable Final Terms shall
be read and construed as a reference to such information being specified or identified in the relevant Offering
Circular unless the context requires otherwise.

An Issuer and, if applicable, the Guarantor, may agree with any Dealer that Notes may be issued, offered to the
public, and/or admitted to trading on a regulated market in a form not contemplated by the Terms and Conditions
of the Notes described in this Base Prospectus, in which event a Drawdown Prospectus will be submitted for
approval to the relevant competent authority and will be made available. In the case of a Tranche of Notes which
is the subject of a Drawdown Prospectus, each reference in this Base Prospectus to information being specified
or identified in the applicable Final Terms shall be read and construed as a reference to such information being
specified or identified in the relevant Drawdown Prospectus unless the context requires otherwise. The terms and
conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a Drawdown Prospectus will be
the Terms and Conditions of the Notes as supplemented, amended and/or replaced to the extent described in the
relevant Drawdown Prospectus.

In accordance with Article 5.3 of the Prospectus Directive, the Drawdown Prospectus will be drawn up as a single
document, incorporating by reference, if applicable, the relevant parts of the Base Prospectus.
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SUPPLEMENT TO THE BASE PROSPECTUS

If at any time the Issuers shall be required to prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus pursuant to Article
16 of the Prospectus Directive, the Issuers will prepare and make available an appropriate supplement to this
Base Prospectus or a further Base Prospectus which, in respect of any subsequent issue of Notes to be listed
and admitted to trading on a regulated market shall constitute a supplement to the Base Prospectus as required
by Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive and shall supply each Dealer with such number of copies of such
supplement hereto as such Dealer may reasonably request.

The Issuer has given an undertaking to the Dealers that if at any time during the duration of the Programme there
is a significant new factor, material mistake, inaccuracy or omission relating to information contained in this Base
Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of any Notes and whose inclusion in or removal from
this Base Prospectus is necessary, for the purpose of allowing an investor to make an informed assessment of
the assets and liabilities, financial position, profits and losses and prospects of the Issuer, the Group and the
rights attaching to the Notes, the Issuer shall prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus or publish a
replacement Base Prospectus for use in connection with any subsequent offering of the Notes, and shall supply
each Dealer with such number of copies of such supplement hereto as such Dealer may reasonably request.

Following the publication of this Base Prospectus, the Issuers and the Guarantor will, in the event of any
significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to information included in this Base Prospectus
which is capable of affecting the assessment of any Notes, prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus
(a Supplement) in accordance with Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive or publish a new prospectus for use in
connection with any subsequent issue of Notes. Such Supplement as prepared will have to be approved on the
one hand, by the CSSF and on the other hand, by the SIX Swiss Exchange in accordance with the listing rules of
SIX Swiss Exchange. Statements contained in any such Supplement (or contained in any document incorporated
by reference therein) shall, to the extent applicable (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise), be deemed
to modify or supersede statements contained in this Base Prospectus or in a document which is incorporated by
reference in this Base Prospectus. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not, except as so modified or
superseded, constitute a part of this Base Prospectus.

In the case of Notes subject to a Non-exempt Offer to the public, in accordance with Article 16.2 of the
Prospectus Directive, investors who have already agreed to purchase or subscribe for Notes before any
Supplement is published have the right, exercisable within two working days after the publication of this
Supplement, to withdraw their acceptances.
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FORM OF THE NOTES

DEFINITIONS

The following terms shall have the following meanings when used in this section:
Bearer Notes means Notes in bearer form.

Bearer SIS Notes means English Law Notes in the form of CHF SIS Notes and Other SIS Notes which
are, or are intended to be, in bearer form and deposited with SIS or any other clearing institution in
Switzerland recognised for such purposes by SIX Swiss Exchange.

CHF SIS Notes means Bearer SIS Notes denominated in Swiss Francs that fulfil the criteria from time
to time required in order to benefit from a limited exception to the non-US beneficial ownership
certification requirement of the TEFRA D Rules.

Clearstream, Luxembourg means Clearstream Banking, société anonyme.
Dematerialised Notes means Notes in dematerialised form.

English Law Notes means Bearer Notes, Registered Notes, SIS Notes and EUI Notes which are
governed by English law.

EUI or CREST means Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited (formerly known as CRESTCo Limited).

EUI Notes means Notes issued in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry form, cleared and
settled through a central securities depositary and clearing institution, being either EUI or CREST or any
other central securities depositary and clearing institution as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Euroclear means Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V..

Euroclear Finland means Euroclear Finland Ltd.

Euroclear France means Euroclear France as a subsidiary of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V..
Euroclear Sweden means Euroclear Sweden AB.

French Law Notes means Materialised Notes and Dematerialised Notes which are governed by French
law.

Materialised Notes means Notes in materialised form.

Other SIS Notes means (i) Bearer SIS Notes denominated in a currency approved by SIS other than
Swiss Francs, or (ii) Bearer SIS Notes denominated in Swiss Francs that are not CHF SIS Notes.

Registered Notes means Notes in certificated registered form.

SIS means the Swiss securities services corporation, SIX SIS SA.

SIS Notes means English Law Notes in the form of Bearer SIS Notes or Uncertificated SIS Notes.
SIX Swiss Exchange means the SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd.

Swedish Notes means Notes in bearer form.

Uncertificated Danish Notes means Notes issued in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry
form, cleared and settled through a central securities depositary and clearing institution, being either VP
Securities A/S (VP Securities) or any other central securities depositary and clearing institution as
specified in the applicable Final Terms.
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Uncertificated Finnish Notes means Notes issued in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry
form, cleared and settled through a central securities depositary and clearing institution, being either
Euroclear Finland or any other central securities depositary and clearing institution as specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

Uncertificated Nordic Notes means Uncertificated Swedish Notes, Uncertificated Norwegian Notes,
Uncertificated Finnish Notes and Uncertificated Danish Notes

Uncertificated Norwegian Notes means Notes issued in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry
form, cleared and settled through a central depositary and clearing institution, being the Norwegian
Central Security Depositary (Verdipapirsentralen) or any other central securities depositary and
clearing institution as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Uncertificated Notes means Uncertificated Nordic Notes, Uncertificated SIS Notes and EUI Notes.

Uncertificated SIS Notes means SIS Notes in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry form which
are, or are intended to be, registered with SIS or any other clearing institution in Switzerland recognised
for such purposes by SIX Swiss Exchange.

Uncertificated Swedish Notes means Notes issued in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry
form, cleared and settled through a central securities depositary and clearing institution, being either
Euroclear Sweden or any other central securities depositary and clearing institution as specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

ENGLISH LAW NOTES (OTHER THAN SIS NOTES AND EUI NOTES)

21

Each Tranche of English Law Notes will be either Bearer Notes (with or without Receipts or Coupons
attached) or Registered Notes (without Receipts or Coupons attached). Only English Law Notes may be
U.S. Exempt Securities. English Law Notes that are not U.S. Exempt Securities will be offered and sold
only in an offshore transaction (as defined under Regulation S) to or for the account or benefit of a
Permitted Transferee. English Law Notes that are U.S. Exempt Securities will be offered and sold only
(a) in offshore transactions to non-U.S. Persons in reliance upon Regulation S, and/or (b) to QIBs in
reliance upon Rule 144A under the Securities Act.

Information specific to English Law Notes that are U.S. Exempt Securities shall be set out in the
applicable Offering Circular in connection with the offer and sale of such U.S. Exempt Securities.

Bearer Notes

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes will be initially issued in the form of a Temporary Global Note or, if so
specified in the applicable Final Terms, a Permanent Global Note which, in either case, will:

- if the Global Notes are intended to be issued in new global note (hereinafter New Global Note
or NGN) form, as stated in the applicable Final Terms, be delivered on or prior to the issue date
of the Tranche to a common safekeeper (the Common Safekeeper) for Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg; and

- if the Global Notes are not intended to be issued in NGN Form, be delivered on or prior to the
issue date of the Tranche to a common depositary (the Common Depositary) for Euroclear
and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Bearer Global Notes as defined under the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the
Uncertificated Notes will only be transferable in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time
being of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as the case may be.

The Bearer Notes of each Tranche offered and sold in reliance on Regulation S will not be U.S. Exempt
Securities and may not be offered or sold in the United States or to, or for the benefit or account of, a
person that is not a Permitted Transferee, and such Bearer Notes will bear a legend regarding such
restrictions on transfer. Any future transfer, resale, pledge or delivery of such Bearer Notes or any
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2.2

interest therein may only be made in an offshore transaction (as defined under Regulation S) to a
Permitted Transferee in compliance with the resale provisions set forth in Regulation S of the Securities
Act.

In the event that a Global Note held on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (or any part
thereof) has become due and repayable in accordance with the Terms and Conditions or that the
Maturity Date has occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount due has not been made to
the bearer in accordance with the Terms and Conditions, the Global Note will become void. At the same
time, accountholders with Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg having such Notes (other than
Definitive Bearer Notes, as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the
Uncertificated Notes) credited to their accounts will become entitled to proceed directly against the
relevant Issuer, on the basis of statements of account provided by Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg, under the terms of a deed of covenant (the Deed of Covenant) dated 26 October 2015
and executed by each Issuer.

Registered Notes

Information specific to Registered Notes of each Tranche that are U.S. Exempt Securities shall be set
out in the applicable Offering Circular in connection with the offer and sale of such U.S. Exempt
Securities.

The Registered Notes of each Tranche of Notes other than U.S. Exempt Securities will initially be
represented by a Non-U.S. Registered Global Note (as defined in English Law Condition 1.2.9).

Non-U.S. Registered Notes, or any interest therein, may not at any time be offered, sold, resold, traded,
pledged, redeemed, transferred or delivered, directly or indirectly, in the United States or to, or for the
account or benefit of, a person that is not a Permitted Transferee and any offer, sale, resale, trade,
pledge, redemption, transfer or delivery made, directly or indirectly, within the United States or to, or for
the account or benefit of, a person that is not a Permitted Transferee will not be recognised. Non-U.S.
Registered Global Notes may not be legally or beneficially owned at any time by any person that is not a
Permitted Transferee and accordingly are being offered and sold in offshore transactions (as defined in
Regulation S) to persons that are Permitted Transferees in reliance on Regulation S. Interests in Non-
U.S. Registered Notes may not be held otherwise than through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg
and such Non-U.S. Registered Notes will bear a legend regarding such restrictions on transfer.

Registered Global Notes that are Non-U.S. Registered Global Notes will be deposited with a Common
Depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, and registered in the name of a common
nominee of, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or, in the case of Registered Global Notes issued
under the new safekeeping structure (the NSS), registered in the name of a nominee of one of the
ICSDs acting as Common Safekeeper, as specified in the applicable Final Terms. Persons holding
beneficial interests in Registered Global Notes will be entitled or required, as the case may be, under
the circumstances described below, to receive physical delivery of Definitive Registered Notes (as
defined under the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes).

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a Registered Global Note issued under the NSS and
held by a Common Safekeeper on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, each person
who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg as entitled
to a particular nominal amount of Notes shall be deemed to be the Holder of such nominal amount of
Notes for all purposes other than with respect to the payment of principal, premium (if any), interest or
other amounts on such Notes, for which purpose such Common Safekeeper shall be deemed to be the
Holder of such nominal amount of Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant
Global Note.

Payments of principal, interest and any other amounts in respect of the Registered Global Notes will, in
the absence of provision to the contrary, be made to the person shown on the Register (as defined in
English Law Condition 4.4) as the registered holder of the Registered Global Notes. None of the Issuer,
the Guarantor, or any Agent will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records
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2.4

appearing the Register or payments or deliveries made on account of beneficial ownership interests in
the Registered Global Notes or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such
beneficial ownership interests.

Payments of principal, interest or any other amount in respect of Definitive Registered Notes will, in the
absence of provision to the contrary, be made to the persons shown on the Register on the relevant
Record Date (as defined in English Law Condition 4.4) immediately preceding the due date for payment
in the manner provided in that English Law Condition 4.4.

Interests in a Registered Global Note may, subject to compliance with all applicable restrictions, be
transferred to a person who wishes to hold such interest in another Registered Global Note. No
beneficial owner of an interest in a Registered Global Note will be able to transfer such interest, except
in accordance with the applicable procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, in each case
to the extent applicable.

Eurosystem eligibility

New Global Notes and Registered Global Notes issued under the NSS may be issued with the intention
that such Notes be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit
operations by the Eurosystem, either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition
will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria as specified by the European Central
Bank. However, there is no guarantee that such Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral. Any other
Notes are not intended to be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-
day credit operations by the Eurosystem.

Swedish Notes

Beneficial interests in the Swedish Notes will be held in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry
form with a Swedish central securities depositary (Swedish CSD) which will be Euroclear Sweden or
any successor acceptable to the Issuer. Euroclear Sweden is a subsidiary within the Euroclear group of
companies. Euroclear Sweden is a limited liability company. It is authorised and regulated by the
Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority as a central securities depository within the meaning of the
Swedish Financial Instruments Accounts Act (Sw. lag (1998:1479) om kontoféring av finansiella
instrument) (as amended) and as a clearing organisation within the meaning of the Swedish Securities
Markets Act (Sw. lag 2007:528) om vardepappersmarknaden) (as amended). All transactions relating to
the beneficial interests in the Swedish Notes (such as issuance, sale and transfer, pledge arrangements
and other dispositions and redemptions) are executed as computerised book-entry registrations.
Consequently, in order to effect such entries beneficial owners must establish a book-entry account
through a credit institution or a securities firm acting as an account operator with Euroclear Sweden.
More information regarding Euroclear Sweden and its rules and operating procedures can be found at
its internet web site at http://www.euroclear.eu.

Any and all Global Notes issued in respect of Swedish Notes will be deposited upon issuance with a
common depository for Euroclear, as operator of the Euroclear system and Clearstream. This Series of
Swedish Notes will be shown in the records of Euroclear as being held by the Swedish CSD. The
Swedish CSD will hold all interests in this Series of Swedish Notes for the sole purpose of enabling
clearing and settlement of such interests in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry form in the
records maintained by the Swedish CSD in accordance with the CSD Rules for the benefit of the
ultimate beneficial owners. Beneficial interests in the Swedish Notes will be shown in the records of the
Swedish CSD pursuant to such agreement(s) as may be entered into between the Issuer and the
Swedish CSD in relation to this Series of Swedish Notes. Such beneficial interests in the Swedish Notes
shown in the records of the Swedish CSD will be treated as negotiable instruments and not subject to
any restrictions on free negotiability under Swedish law. No beneficial owner is entitled to transfer (and
the Swedish CSD will not allow any such transfer), any Swedish Note directly to the records of Euroclear
and thereby removing such Swedish Notes from the records of the Swedish CSD. Other than as
described in the provisions regarding exchange into Definitive Bearer Notes described in the section
"Exchange upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event", no global or definitive Notes or other physical
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notes or certificates will be issued in respect of any Swedish Notes shown in the records of the Swedish
CSD.

The Swedish Notes will be shown in the records of the Swedish CSD pursuant to such agreement(s) as
may be entered into in relation to any Series of Swedish Notes between, inter alia, the Issuer and the
Swedish Issuer agent (the Swedish Issuer Agent) specified in the applicable Final Terms.

EUI NOTES

EUI Notes will be held in registered uncertificated form in accordance with the Uncertificated Securities
Regulations 2001, including any modification or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force
(the Regulations) and as such are dematerialised and not constituted by any physical document of title.
The EUI Notes are participating securities for the purposes of the Regulations. Title to the EUI Notes is
recorded on the relevant Operator register of corporate securities. The EUI Agent on behalf of the Issuer
shall, in relation to the EUI Notes, maintain a record of uncertificated corporate securities in accordance
with the records of Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited (EUI or CREST) (formerly known as CRESTCo
Limited) (the Record) and shall procure that the Record is regularly updated to reflect the Operator
register of corporate securities in accordance with the rules and practices from time to time of the
Operator. Subject to this requirement, (i) each person who is for the time being shown in the Record as
the holder of a particular number of EUI Notes shall be treated by the Issuer and the EUI Agent as the
holder of such number of EUI Notes for all purposes (and the expression EUl Holder and related
expressions shall be construed accordingly), and (ii) neither the Issuer, the Guarantor nor the EUI Agent
shall be liable in respect of any act or thing done or omitted to be done by it or on its behalf in reliance
upon the assumption that the particulars entered in the Record which the EUI Agent maintains are in
accordance with particulars entered in the Operator register of corporate securities relating to the EUI
Notes. For the avoidance of doubt, in the event of any differences in information contained in the Record
and the register of EUI Notes in registered form kept at the Issuer's registered office, the register kept at
the Issuer's registered office shall prevail for Luxembourg law purposes.

No provision of the Conditions of any EUI Notes shall apply or have effect to the extent that it is in any
respect inconsistent with (i) the holding of title to EUI Notes (ii) the transfer of title to EUlI Notes by
means of a relevant system or (iii) the Regulations. Without prejudice to the generality of the preceding
sentence and notwithstanding anything contained in the Conditions of any EUI Notes, so long as the
EUI Notes are participating securities, (a) any EUI Notes which are not for the time being in all respects
identical to, or do not for the time being have rights attached thereto identical in all respects to those
attached to, other EUI Notes of the same Series shall be deemed to constitute a separate Series of EUI
Notes, (b) the Operator register of corporate securities relating to the EUI Notes shall be maintained at
all times in the United Kingdom, (c) the EUI Notes may be issued in uncertificated form in accordance
with and subject as provided in the Regulations; and (d) for the avoidance of doubt, the Conditions of
any EUI Notes shall remain applicable notwithstanding that they are not endorsed on any certificate for
such EUI Notes.

As used herein each of "Operator register of corporate securities”, "participating securities", "record of
uncertificated corporate securities” and "relevant system" is as defined in the Regulations and the
relevant "Operator” (as such term is used in the Regulations) is EUI (formerly CRESTCo Limited) or any
additional or alternative operator from time to time approved by the Issuer, the Guarantor and the EUI
Agent in relation to the EUI Notes and in accordance with the Regulations. Any reference herein to the
Operator shall, whenever the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any such
additional or alternative Operator from time to time and notified to the EUI Holders.

Any indication herein that the Operator "shall" do, or similar expression or phrase indicating that they are
obliged to or will carry out any role or obligation described in these Conditions and/or the applicable
Final Terms, as the case may be, is given without any assumption by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the EUI
Agent or the Calculation Agent, of responsibility or liability for the performance of the Operator.
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In respect of dematerialised CREST depository interests (CDIs), investors will hold CDIs constituted and
issued by CREST Depository Limited and representing indirect interests in the Notes. The CDIs will be
issued and settled through CREST.

Neither the Notes nor any rights thereto will be issued, held, transferred or settled within the CREST
system otherwise than through the issue, holding, transfer and settlement of CDIs.

Holders of CDIs will not be entitled to deal directly in Notes and accordingly all dealings in the Notes will
be effected through CREST in relation to holding of CDIs.

All references in this Base Prospectus to "EUI Notes" shall, where the context admits, include CDls.

EUI Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes will be
governed by English law.

UNCERTIFICATED NORDIC NOTES

The Issuer may issue Uncertificated Nordic Notes which will be either Uncertificated Swedish Notes,
Uncertificated Finnish Notes, Uncertificated Norwegian Notes or Uncertificated Danish Notes. The
holder of an Uncertificated Nordic Note will be the person appearing in the register of the relevant
securities depositary and clearing institution in accordance with the legislation, rules and regulations
applicable to, and/or issued by, the relevant central securities depositary and clearing institution, being
initially Euroclear Sweden, Euroclear Finland, Verdipapirsentralen and VP Securities.

Uncertificated Nordic Notes will be transferable, and payments of principal and interest (if any) thereon
will be made, in accordance with such legislation, rules and regulations as further described in the
Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes.

Uncertificated Nordic Notes, or any interest therein, will not be designated as U.S. Exempt Securities
and may not at any time be offered, sold, resold, traded, pledged, redeemed, transferred or delivered,
directly or indirectly, in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, a person that is not a
Permitted Transferee and any offer, sale, resale, pledge, redemption, transfer or delivery made, directly
or indirectly, within the United States or to or for the account or benefit of, a person that is not a
Permitted Transferee will not be recognised. Uncertificated Nordic Notes may not be legally or
beneficially owned at any time by any person that is not a Permitted Transferee and accordingly are
being offered and sold in offshore transactions (as defined in Regulation S) to persons that are
Permitted Transferees in reliance on Regulation S.

Uncertificated Swedish Notes will be governed by Swedish law, Uncertificated Finnish Notes will be
governed by Finnish law, Uncertificated Norwegian Notes will be governed by Norwegian law and
Uncertificated Danish Notes will be governed by Danish Law.

SIS NOTES

51

Each Tranche of SIS Notes will be issued either as (i) Bearer SIS Notes or as (ii) Uncertificated SIS
Notes, in each case, which are, or are intended to be, deposited or registered with and cleared through
SIS or any other clearing institution in Switzerland recognised for such purposes by SIX Swiss
Exchange (SIS or any other such intermediary, the Intermediary). The applicable Final Terms will
indicate whether SIS Notes are CHF SIS Notes or Other SIS Notes or Uncertificated SIS Notes.

Bearer SIS Notes

Each Tranche of Bearer SIS Notes will be represented by a permanent global Note (Permanent Global
SIS Note) which will be deposited by the Principal Swiss Paying Agent with the Intermediary on or prior
to the issue date of the Tranche. Once the Permanent Global SIS Note has been deposited with the
Intermediary and the Bearer SIS Note represented thereby entered into the accounts of one or more
participants of the Intermediary, such Bearer SIS Notes will constitute intermediated securities
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(Bucheffekten) (Intermediated Securities) within the meaning of the Swiss Federal Intermediated
Securities Act (Bucheffektengesetz).

Each holder of Bearer SIS Notes shall have a quotal co-ownership interest (Miteigentumsanteil) in the
Permanent Global SIS Note representing such Bearer SIS Notes to the extent of his claim against the
Issuer, provided that, for so long as the Permanent Global SIS Note remains deposited with the
Intermediary, the co-ownership interest shall be suspended and such Bearer SIS Notes may only be
transferred by the entry of the transferred Bearer SIS Notes in a securities account (Effektenkonto) of
the transferee.

The records of the Intermediary will determine the number of Bearer SIS Notes held through each
participant of the Intermediary. The holders of Bearer SIS Notes in the form of Intermediated Securities
will be the persons holding such Bearer SIS Notes in a securities account (Effektenkonto) that is in their
name, or, in the case of intermediaries (Verwahrungsstellen), the intermediaries holding such Bearer
SIS Notes for their own account in a securities account that is in their name (and the terms "Noteholder"
and "holder of Notes" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly).

CHF SIS Notes benefit from a limited exception to the non-US beneficial ownership certification
requirement of the TEFRA D Rules. Other SIS Notes may be subject to additional selling restrictions
and additional U.S. tax disclosure as set out in the applicable Final Terms.

Special procedures must be followed for CHF SIS Notes in order for such Notes to be exempt from
Certification (as defined below). Each of the relevant Dealers must have represented and agreed in the
Programme Agreement that (a) it will comply with U.S. selling restrictions in so far as they apply to CHF
SIS Notes and (b) the offering and sale of the CHF SIS Notes has been and will be conducted in
accordance with Swiss laws and regulations. The following criteria must be fulfilled in order for the
limited exception to the non-US beneficial ownership certification requirement of the TEFRA D Rules to

apply:
- the interest on, and the principal of, the CHF SIS Notes are denominated only in Swiss Francs;
- the interest on, and the principal of, the CHF SIS Notes are payable only in Switzerland;

- the CHF SIS Notes are offered and sold in accordance with Swiss customary practice and
documentation;

- the relevant Dealers agree to use reasonable efforts to sell the CHF SIS Notes within
Switzerland;

- the CHF SIS Notes are not listed, or subject to an application for listing, on an exchange
located outside Switzerland;

- the issuance of the CHF SIS Notes complies with any guidelines or restrictions imposed by
Swiss governmental, banking or securities authorities from time to time; and

- more than 80 per cent. by value of the CHF SIS Notes included in the offering of which they are
part are offered and sold to non-Dealers by Dealers maintaining an office located in
Switzerland.

No holder of Bearer SIS Notes will at any time have the right to effect or demand the exchange of the
Permanent Global SIS Note representing such Bearer SIS Notes into, or the delivery of, Bearer SIS
Notes in definitive form (Definitive Bearer SIS Notes) or uncertificated form.

No physical delivery of the Bearer SIS Notes shall be made unless and until Definitive Bearer SIS Notes
have been printed. The relevant Permanent Global SIS Note will only be exchangeable, in whole, but
not in part, for Definitive Bearer SIS Notes and Definitive Bearer SIS Notes may only be printed upon
the occurrence of a Bearer SIS Notes Exchange Event (as defined below in the section "Exchange upon
the occurrence of an Exchange Event"). Upon the occurrence of a Bearer SIS Notes Exchange Event,
the Principal Swiss Paying Agent or the relevant lead manager, as the case may be, shall provide for
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the printing of Definitive Bearer SIS Notes without cost to the holders of the relevant Bearer SIS Notes.
If Definitive Bearer SIS Notes are delivered, the relevant Permanent Global SIS Note will immediately be
cancelled by the Principal Swiss Paying Agent or the relevant lead manager, as the case may be, and
the Definitive Bearer SIS notes shall be delivered to the relevant holders against cancellation of the
relevant Bearer SIS Notes in such holders' securities accounts.

Bearer SIS Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes will
be governed by English law.

Uncertificated SIS Notes

Each Tranche of Uncertificated SIS Notes will be entered into the main register (Hauptregister) of the
Intermediary on or prior to their issue date. Once the Uncertificated SIS Notes are registered in the main
register of the Intermediary, the Uncertificated SIS Notes will constitute Intermediated Securities.

So long as the Uncertificated SIS Notes constitute Intermediated Securities, they may only be
transferred by the entry of the transferred Uncertificated SIS Notes in a securities account of the
transferee.

The records of the Intermediary will determine the number of Uncertificated SIS Notes held through
each participant in the Intermediary. In respect of Uncertificated SIS Notes held in the form of
Intermediated Securities, the holders of such Uncertificated SIS Notes will be the persons holding such
Uncertificated SIS Notes in a securities account (Effektenkonto) that is in their name, or, in case of
intermediaries (Verwahrungsstellen), the intermediaries holding such Uncertificated SIS Notes for their
own account in a securities account that is in their name (and the expressions "Noteholder" and "holder
of Notes" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly).

No holder of Uncertificated SIS Notes will at any time have the right to effect or demand the exchange of
such Uncertificated SIS Notes into, or the delivery of, a Permanent Global SIS Note or definitive Notes.

Uncertificated SIS Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the
Notes will be governed by English law.

FRENCH LAW NOTES

6.1

Each Tranche of French Law Notes will be either Materialised Notes or Dematerialised Notes, as
specified in the applicable Final Terms.

French Law Notes, or any interest therein, will not be designated as U.S. Exempt Securities and may not
at any time be offered, sold, resold, traded, pledged, redeemed, transferred or delivered, directly or
indirectly, in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, a person that is not a Permitted
Transferee and any offer, sale, resale, pledge, redemption, transfer or delivery made, directly or
indirectly, within the United States or to or for the account or benefit of, a person that is not a Permitted
Transferee will not be recognised. French Law Notes may not be legally or beneficially owned at any
time by any person that is not a Permitted Transferee and accordingly are being offered and sold in
offshore transactions (as defined in Regulation S) to persons that are Permitted Transferees in reliance
on Regulation S.

Dematerialised Notes

Title to Dematerialised Notes will be evidenced in accordance with articles L.211-3 et seq. and R.211-1
of the French Code monétaire et financier by book entries (inscriptions en compte). No physical
document of title (including certificats représentatifs pursuant to article R.211-7 of the French Code
monétaire et financier) will be issued in respect of Dematerialised Notes.

Dematerialised Notes may, at the option of the Issuer, be in bearer dematerialised form (au porteur)
inscribed as of the Issue Date of the relevant Tranche of Dematerialised Notes in the books of Euroclear
France, which shall credit the accounts of Euroclear France Account Holders (as defined in the Terms
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and Conditions of the French Law Notes) including Euroclear, the depositary bank for Clearstream,
Luxembourg, and in case of French Law Notes listed on SIX Swiss Exchange, the depository banks for
SIS, or in registered dematerialised form (au nominatif) and, in such latter case, at the option of the
relevant Noteholder (as defined in French Law Condition 1), in either fully registered form (nominatif
pur), in which case they will be inscribed in an account maintained by the Issuer or by a registration
agent (designated in the applicable Final Terms) for the Issuer, or in administered registered form
(nominatif administré) in which case they will be inscribed in the accounts of the Euroclear France
Account Holders designated by the relevant Noteholders.

One Paris business day before the Issue Date of each Tranche of Dematerialised Notes, the Lettre
Comptable relating to such Tranche shall be deposited with Euroclear France as central depositary.

Materialised Notes

Materialised Notes will be in bearer materialised form only and may only be issued outside France. A
temporary global certificate in bearer form without Coupons attached (a Temporary Global Certificate)
will initially be issued in connection with Materialised Notes.

Upon the initial deposit of such Temporary Global Certificate with the Common Depositary, Euroclear or
Clearstream, Luxembourg (or, if a subscriber holds an account with a clearing system other than
Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg which holds an account directly or indirectly in Euroclear or
Clearstream, Luxembourg, such other clearing system) will credit the account of each subscriber of such
Notes with a nominal amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed
and paid.

CERTIFICATION AS TO NON-U.S. BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP

7.1

English Law Bearer Notes

Whilst any Bearer Note (except any Bearer SIS Notes, which are represented by Permanent Global SIS
Notes as described above) is represented by a Temporary Global Note, payments of principal, interest
(if any) and any other amounts payable in respect of the Notes, due prior to the Exchange Date (as
defined below) will be made (against presentation of the Temporary Global Note if the Temporary Global
Note is not intended to be issued in NGN form) only to the extent that certification (in a form to be
provided) to the effect that the beneficial owners of interests in such Note are not U.S. Persons or
persons who have purchased for resale to any U.S. Person (hereinafter Certification), as required by
U.S. Treasury regulations, (i) has been received by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and
Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as applicable, has given a like certification (based on the
Certifications it has received) to the Fiscal Agent or, (ii) in the case of a Temporary Global Note or
Temporary Global Certificate held otherwise than on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg, from the holder thereof.

On and after the Exchange Date (as defined below), interests in the Temporary Global Note will be
exchangeable (free of charge) upon a request as described therein either for, as applicable, (i) interests
in a Permanent Global Note or (ii) Definitive Bearer Notes of the same Series with, where applicable,
Receipts, Coupons and/or Talons attached (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms and subject, in
the case of Definitive Bearer Notes, to such notice period as is specified in the Permanent Global Note),
in accordance with the terms of the Temporary Global Note against Certification as to non-US beneficial
ownership as described above and as required by U.S. Treasury regulations unless such Certification
has already been given pursuant to the provisions set forth above; provided, however, that if the
relevant Global Note is issued in respect of a Tranche of Bearer Notes described as Partly Paid Notes in
the applicable Final Terms, such Global Note may be exchanged for Definitive Bearer Notes and (if
applicable) Coupons, Receipts and/or Talons as described above only if the final part payment on all
such Partly Paid Notes then outstanding has been paid. Exchange of a Temporary Global Note for
interests in a Permanent Global Note will only be made if Definitive Bearer Notes have not already been
issued. If Definitive Bearer Notes have already been issued, the Temporary Global Note may only
thereafter be exchanged for Definitive Bearer Notes pursuant to the terms thereof. The holder of a
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Temporary Global Note will not be entitled to collect any payment of interest, principal or other amount
due on or after the Exchange Date unless, upon due Certification, exchange of the Temporary Global
Note for an interest in a Permanent Global Note or, in the case of Bearer Notes, for Definitive Bearer
Notes is improperly withheld or refused.

Payments of principal, interest (if any) or any other amounts on a Permanent Global Note (including
Permanent Global SIS Notes) will be made through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, and/or
SIS as applicable, to or to the order of the holder thereof (against presentation or surrender (as the case
may be) of the Permanent Global Note if the Permanent Global Note is not intended to be issued in
NGN form) without any requirement for Certification.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Bearer Notes of each Tranche may not be offered or sold in the
United States or to, or for the benefit or account of, a person that is not a Permitted Transferee. Any
future transfer, resale, pledge or delivery of such Bearer Notes or any interest therein may only be made
to a Permitted Transferee in compliance with the resale provisions set forth in Regulation S of the
Securities Act.

French Law Materialised Notes

French Law Notes represented by a Temporary Global Certificate will be exchangeable in whole, but not
in part, free of charge to the holder, on or after the Exchange Date (as defined below) for materialised
bearer Notes in definitive form (any such Notes, Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes), with, where
applicable, Receipts, Coupons and/or Talons attached:

- if the applicable Final Terms indicates that such Temporary Global Certificate is issued in
compliance with the TEFRA C Rules or in a transaction to which TEFRA rules are not
applicable; and

- otherwise, upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the form set out in the
French Law Agency Agreement (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the French Law
Notes) for Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes.

On or after the Exchange Date, the holder of a Temporary Global Certificate may surrender such
Temporary Global Certificate to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent (as defined in the French Law Agency
Agreement). In exchange for any Temporary Global Certificate, the Issuer will deliver, or procure the
delivery of, duly executed and authenticated Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes. Definitive Materialised
Bearer Notes will be security printed at the expense of the Issuer in accordance with any applicable
legal and stock exchange requirements in or substantially in the form set out in the French Law Agency
Agreement.

For the purposes of this section "Certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership”, the Exchange Date
shall be the day immediately following the later of (i) 40 days after the Temporary Global Note or, as the
case may be, Temporary Global Certificate is issued and (ii) 40 days after the completion of the
distribution of the relevant Tranche, as certified by the relevant Dealer (in the case of a non-syndicated
issue) or the relevant lead manager (in the case of a syndicated issue).

DELIVERY OF NOTES IN BELGIUM

Notes shall not be physically delivered in Belgium, except to a clearing system, a depositary or other
institution for the purpose of their immobilisation in accordance with article 4 of the Belgian Law of
14 December 2005.

DEED OF COVENANT

If any Global Note (other than Permanent Global SIS Note) has become due and repayable in
accordance with its terms and conditions or if the Maturity Date of such Note has occurred and payment
in full of the amount due has not been made in accordance with the provisions of the Bearer Global
Note, then the Bearer Global Note will become void at 8.00 p.m. (London time) on such day. At the
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same time, holders of interests in such Bearer Global Note credited to their accounts with Euroclear
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, will become entitled to proceed directly against
the Issuer on the basis of statements of account provided by Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg on and subject to the terms of the Deed of Covenant.

EXCHANGE UPON THE OCCURRENCE OF AN EXCHANGE EVENT

Information specific to U.S. Exempt Securities shall be set out in the applicable Offering Circular in
connection with the offer and sale of such U.S. Exempt Securities.

The applicable Final Terms with respect to any English Law Notes issued in global form (other than SIS
Notes) will specify that the relevant Permanent Global Note or Registered Global Note (as applicable)
will be exchangeable (free of charge), in whole but not in part, for Definitive Bearer Notes with, where
applicable, Receipts, Coupons and/or Talons attached, or, as the case may be, Definitive Registered
Notes, upon not less than 60 days' written notice given to the Fiscal Agent from or on behalf of, as the
case may be, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg acting on the instructions of any holder of an
interest in the Permanent Global Note or Registered Global Note as described therein (unless otherwise
specified in the applicable Final Terms) or, in the case of a Permanent Global Note, if such Note is held
otherwise than on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, the bearer thereof, in the event of
the occurrence of any of the circumstances described in (i), (i), (iii) or (iv) below (each, an Exchange
Event) or by the Issuer in the event of the occurrence of the circumstances described in (iii) below:

0] if applicable, an Event of Default (as defined in English Law Condition 8) has occurred and is
continuing;
(i) in the case of a Permanent Global Note or a Registered Global Note registered in the name of

a common depositary for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, the Issuer has been
notified that both Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg have been closed for business for a
continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or otherwise) or
announce an intention permanently to cease business or have in fact done so and no
successor clearing system is available;

(i) on the occasion of the next payment in respect of any Bearer Notes, the Issuer would be
required to pay additional amounts as referred to in English Law Condition 6 and such payment
would not be required were the Notes in definitive form; provided, however, that if the relevant
Global Note is issued in respect of a Tranche of Bearer Notes described as Partly Paid Notes
in the applicable Final Terms, such Global Note may be exchanged for Definitive Notes and (if
applicable) Coupons, Receipts and/or Talons as described above only if the final part payment
on all such Partly Paid Notes then outstanding has been paid; or

(iv) in the case of Registered Notes, the Issuer has or will become subject to adverse tax
consequences which would not be suffered were such Registered Notes represented by a
Registered Definitive Note.

The Issuer will promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance with English Law Condition 13 if an
Exchange Event occurs. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event, Euroclear and/or
Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such Registered
Global Note) may give notice to the Fiscal Agent or, as the case may be, the Registrar requesting
exchange and, in the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event as described in (iv) above, the
Issuer may also give notice to the Registrar requesting exchange. Any such exchange shall occur not
later than 10 days after the date of receipt of the first relevant notice by the Registrar.

In respect of Bearer SIS Notes, the Permanent Global SIS Note will not be exchangeable at the option
of the holders of such Bearer SIS Notes, but may be exchanged for Definitive Bearer SIS Notes, in
whole, but not in part, if the Principal Swiss Paying Agent deems:

(v) the printing of definitive Notes, Receipts or Coupons to be necessary or useful, or
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(vi) the presentation of definitive Notes, Receipts or Coupons to be required by Swiss or foreign
laws in connection with the enforcement of rights (including in cases of bankruptcy,
consolidation or reorganisation of the Issuer).

In respect of Bearer SIS Notes, each such circumstance constitutes a Bearer SIS Notes Exchange
Event.

If Definitive Bearer SIS Notes are delivered, the relevant Permanent Global SIS Note will immediately be
cancelled by the Principal Swiss Paying Agent or the relevant lead manager, as the case may be, and
the Definitive Bearer SIS Notes shall be delivered to the relevant holders against cancellation of the
relevant Bearer SIS Notes in such holders' securities accounts.

U.S. LEGENDS

12.

The following legend will appear on all permanent and definitive Bearer Notes and Materialised Notes
which have an original maturity of more than one year and on all receipts, interest coupons and talons
relating to such Notes:

"ANY UNITED STATES PERSON (AS DEFINED IN THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF THE UNITED STATES)
WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME
TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE INTERNAL
REVENUE CODE."

The sections referred to above provide that United States persons (as defined in the Code), with certain
exceptions, will not be entitled to deduct any loss on Bearer Notes and Materialised Notes (and, if
applicable, receipts, interest coupons or talons) and will not be entitled to capital gains treatment of any
gain on any sale, disposition, redemption or payment of principal in respect of such Notes, receipts,
interest coupons or talons.

Registered Notes are also subject to the restrictions on transfer set forth herein and will bear a legend
regarding such restrictions as detailed in the section headed "Subscription, Sale and Transfer
Restrictions".

CLEARING SYSTEMS

Information specific to U.S. Exempt Securities shall be set out in the applicable Offering Circular in
connection with the offer and sale of such U.S. Exempt Securities.

Any reference herein to "Euroclear" and/or "Clearstream, Luxembourg" shall, whenever the context so
permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system specified in
the applicable Final Terms (including, without limitation, Euroclear France and the Intermédiaires
financiers habilités authorised to maintain accounts therein, in relation to SIS Notes or any other Notes
listed on SIX Swiss Exchange, SIS or any other clearing institution in Switzerland recognised for such
purposes by SIX Swiss Exchange and, in relation to Uncertificated Nordic Notes, the relevant securities
depositary and clearing institution, including, without limitation, Euroclear Sweden, Euroclear Finland,
Verdipapirsentralen and VP Securities and in relation to EUI Notes, EUI or CREST), approved by the
relevant Issuer, the Guarantor, the Fiscal Agent, the Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes only),
and, in the case of Notes listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.
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FORM OF FINAL TERMS — EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AREA

Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be completed for each Tranche of Notes that are not U.S.
Exempt Securities issued under the Programme where:

* will apply if the minimum denomination is less than €100,000
** will apply if the minimum denomination is at least €100,000

Information specific to any issue of U.S. Exempt Securities shall be set out in an Offering Circular in connection
with the offer and sale of such U.S. Exempt Securities.

[Nota Bene (NB): Notes issued after the implementation of Directive 2010/73/EU of 24 November 2010
(amending inter alia Directive 2003/71/EC on the prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the
public or admitted to trading) in a Member State must have a minimum denomination of €100,000 (or equivalent)
in order to benefit from the wholesale exemption set out in Article 3.2(d) of the Prospectus Directive in that
Member State.]

APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS
Dated [e]

[The following language applies if the Notes are listed on SIX Swiss Exchange or distributed in or from
Switzerland:

The Notes described in these Final Terms do not constitute a participation in a collective investment
scheme within the meaning of the Swiss Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes (CISA).
Therefore, the Notes are not subject to authorization and supervision by the Swiss Financial Market
Supervisory Authority FINMA (FINMA), and investors in the Notes will not benefit from protection under
the CISA or supervision by FINMA. Investors in the Notes will bear a credit risk on [the Issuer of the
Notes] [the Guarantor].]

[SOCIETE GENERALE] [SG ISSUER] [SGA SOCIETE GENERALE ACCEPTANCE N.V.] [SG OPTION
EUROPE]

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes]
[Unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by Société Générale]
under the Debt Instruments Issuance Programme
Part A— CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth under the
heading ["Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes"] ["Terms and Conditions
of the French Law Notes"] in the Base Prospectus dated 26 October 2015 [,which constitutes a base prospectus
for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive (Directive 2003/71/EC) as amended (the Prospectus Directive)].
This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein [for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the
Prospectus Directive and Article 8.4 of the loi luxembuorgeoise relative aux prospectus pour valeurs mobilieres,
as amended,] and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus [and the supplement[s] to such Base
Prospectus [dated [®] and] [any other supplement] published prior to the Issue Date (as defined below) (the
Supplement(s))]; provided, however, that to the extent such Supplement (i) is published after these Final Terms
have been signed or issued and (ii) provides for any change to the Conditions as set out under the heading
['Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes"] ['Terms and Conditions of the
French Law Notes"], such change shall have no effect with respect to the Conditions of the Notes to which these
Final Terms relate. Full information on the Issuer, the Guarantor and the offer of the Notes is only available on
the basis of the combination of these Final Terms, the Base Prospectus and any Supplement(s). Prior to
acquiring an interest in the Notes described herein, prospective investors should read and understand the
information provided in these Final Terms, the Base Prospectus and any Supplement(s) and be aware of the
restrictions applicable to the offer and sale of such Notes in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit
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of, persons that are not Permitted Transferees. [In the case of Notes offered to the public or admitted to trading
on a Regulated Market in the European Economic Area, a summary of the issue of the Notes is annexed to these
Final Terms.] Copies of the Base Prospectus, any Supplement(s) and these Final Terms are available for
inspection from the head office of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the specified offices of the Paying Agents and, in the
case of Notes admitted to trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, on the website of
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and, in the case of Notes offered to the public or admitted to
trading on a Regulated Market in the European Economic Area; on the website of the Issuer
(http://prospectus.socgen.com).

[The following alternative language applies if the first Tranche of an issue which is being increased was issued
under a prospectus with an earlier date which was incorporated by reference in this prospectus:

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions under the heading
['Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes" / "Terms and Conditions of the
French Law Notes"] in the Base Prospectus dated [Insert original date] which are incorporated by reference in
the Base Prospectus dated 26 October 2015. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described
herein [for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and Article 8.4 of the loi luxembourgeoise
relative aux prospectus pour valeurs mobilieres, as amended]l and must be read in conjunction with the Base
Prospectus dated 26 October 2015 [which constitutes a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus
Directive (Directive 2003/71/EC) as amended (the Prospectus Directivez)] to the extent that such amendments
have been implemented in a Member State) and any Supplement(s) to such Base Prospectus published prior to
the Issue Date (as defined below) (the Supplement(s)). Full information on the Issuer, the Guarantor and the
offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms, the Base Prospectus
and any Supplement(s) thereto. [In the case of Notes offered to the public or admitted to trading on a Regulated
Market in the European Economic Area, a summary of the issue of the Notes (which comprises the summary in
the Base Prospectus as amended to reflect the provisions of these Final Terms) is annexed to these Final
Terms.] Copies of the Base Prospectus, any Supplement(s) and these Final Terms are available for inspection
from the head office of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the specified offices of the Paying Agents and, in the case of
Notes admitted to trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, on the website of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu)] [, and, in the case of Notes offered to the public or admitted to
trading on a Regulated Market in the European Economic Area; on the website of the Issuer
(http://prospectus.socgen.com.)]

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable". Note that the numbering should remain
as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs. Italics denote
guidance for completing the Final Terms. If "Not Applicable" is specified in respect of a paragraph, the remaining
sub-paragraph(s) shall be deleted.]

[When completing final terms, consideration should be given as to whether such terms or information constitute
"significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a Supplement to the Base Prospectus under
Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.]

[When the context requires, any reference to "Notes" and "Noteholders" in these Final Terms may be replaced by
"Certificates" and "Certificateholders".]

[If the Notes have a maturity of less than one year from the date of issue, the minimum denomination may need
to be £100,000 or its equivalent in any other currency in order to comply with United Kingdom selling restrictions.]

[Any reference in the applicable Final Terms to any date expressed under the form « DD/MM/YYYY » shall be
deemed to be a reference to any date expressed under the form "Day/Month/Year"]

[If several Series of Notes are to be issued or offered simultaneously in one set of Final Terms, the items which
differ for such Series of Notes can be grouped in a table (the Issue Specific Table)]

Delete in the case of any issue of Private Placement Notes or any Notes to be issued pursuant to a unitary prospectus.
Delete in the case of any issue of Private Placement Notes or any Notes to be issued pursuant to a unitary prospectus.
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@) Series Number:

@) Tranche Number:

(i) Date on which the Notes become
fungible:

Specified Currency:

Aggregate Nominal Amount:

@) Tranche:

(i) Series:

Issue Price:

(] Specified Denomination:

146

[Insert the series number]
[Insert the tranche number]
[Not Applicable]

[The Notes shall be assimilated and form a single
series with the [Insert title of the Notes related to the
previous tranche number of the series] on [Insert date]
[the Issue Date] [issue date plus forty days]]

[Insert the currency of the Notes] [CNY Currency
Event applicable as per Condition 4.13] [Relevant
Currency: [Insert the relevant currency]]

[Insert the aggregate nominal amount of the tranche]
[Insert the aggregate nominal amount of the series]

[[Insert the percentage]% of the Aggregate Nominal
Amount] [[Insert the currency and the amount] per
Note of [Insert the currency and the amount] Specified
Denomination] [plus an amount equal to the interest
accrued from and including [Insert date] to but
excluding [Insert date] [the Issue Date] (which is equal
to [Insert the number of days] days' accrued interest)]

[For Preference Share Linked Notes and Warrant
Linked Notes: 100 per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal
Amount]

[Insert the currency and the amount]

[In respect of any issue of Private Placement Notes,
the €100,000 minimum denomination is not
required.]**

[Only if the Notes are Notes other than Registered
Notes, Uncertificated Notes or French Law Notes, if
the Specified Denomination is expressed to be
€100,000 or its equivalent in another currency and
multiples of a lower principal amount (for example
€1,000 or its equivalent in another currency), insert the
additional wording as follows:

€100,000 and integral multiples of [€1,000] in excess
thereof up to and including €199,000. No Notes in
definitive form will be issued with a denomination
exceeding €199,000.]*

[NB: Dematerialised Notes shall be issued in one
denomination only]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes which are Single
Name Notes or First-to-Default Notes:
(in relation to each Note, and subject to Condition 1 of
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
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Notes, the Nominal Amount)]
[NB: The following apply for Definitive Bearer Notes and Definitive Registered Notes only:
[(iD)] Calculation Amount: [Not Applicable] [Insert the currency and the amount]

[NB: Only applicable to English Law Notes.

The applicable Calculation Amount (which is used for the calculation of interest and redemption
amounts) will be (i) if there is only one Specified Denomination, the Specified Denomination of the
relevant Notes or (ii) if there are several Specified Denominations or the circumstances referred to in
paragraph 5(i) apply (e.g. Specified Denominations of €100,000 and multiples of €1,000), the highest
common factor of those Specified Denominations Note that there must be a common factor in the case
of two or more Specified Denominations. If "Calculation Amount” is to be used in the applicable Final
Terms, corresponding references to the Calculation Amount for interest, put and call options and
redemption amount calculation purposes should be included in the terms and conditions set out in the
Base Prospectus. Note that a Calculation Amount of less than 1,000 units of the relevant currency may
result in practical difficulties for paying agents and/or ICSDs who should be consulted if such an amount
is proposed.]

[NB: For Preference Share Linked Notes and Warrant Linked Notes the Calculation Amount must be
equal to the Issue Price.]

[(iD)] Adjusted Specified Denomination: [Insert the currency and the amount]
[NB: Only applicable to Instalment Notes.]

@) Issue Date: [Insert the date]
[(DD/MM/YYYY)]

[NB: For Preference Share Linked Notes, the Preference Shares should already be in issue. For
Warrant Linked Notes, the Warrants should already be in issue]

@) Interest Commencement Date: [Not Applicable] [Issue Date] [Insert the interest
[(DD/IMM/YYYY)] commencement date] [In case of fungible issue and
there is a fixed interest or a structured interest, insert

the issue date of the previous tranche]

[NB: An Interest Commencement Date will not be relevant for certain Notes, for example for Zero
Coupon Notes]

Maturity Date [In the case of Italian Listed [Insert the date] [If Interest is unadjusted: [Insert the

Certificates only: Final Exercise Date]: date]] [If Interest is adjusted: The Interest Payment

[(DD/IMM/YYYY)] Date scheduled to fall in or nearest to [Insert a month
and a year]]

[For Preference Share Linked Notes and Warrant
Linked Notes: [Insert the date] or if later [three] [Insert
the number of days] Business Days after the Final
Valuation Date]

[In case of Open End Notes issued by SG Issuer:
Open End.]

[In respect of Fund Linked Notes: [Insert the date],
subject to postponement upon the occurrence of a
Maturity Disruption Event, as provided in the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Fund Linked Notes.]
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[In respect of Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked
Notes: [Insert the scheduled maturity date] (such date
being the Scheduled Maturity Date), subject to the
provisions of paragraph [22/23] "[Credit] [Bond] Linked
Notes Provisions" and the Additional Terms and
Conditions for [Credit] [Bond] Linked Notes.]

Governing law: [[English] [French] [Swedish] [Finnish] [Norwegian]
[Danish] law.]

[NB: If the Notes are SIS Notes or EUI Notes, the governing law must always be English law]

0] Status of the Notes: [Unsecured] [In case of Secured Notes Issued by SG
Issuer only: Secured. See paragraph 28 "Secured
Notes Provisions" below.]

@) Date of corporate authorisation [Not Applicable] [Insert the date]
obtained for the issuance of
Notes:

(i) Type of Structured Notes: [Not Applicable]

[Share Linked Notes] [Index Linked Notes] [SGI Index
Linked Notes] [Depositary Receipts Linked Notes]
[Dividend Linked Notes] [ETF Linked Notes]
[Reference Rate Linked Notes] [Foreign Exchange
Rate Linked Notes] [Commaodity Linked Notes] [Fund
Linked Notes] [Credit Linked Notes] [Inflation Linked
Notes] [Bond Linked Notes] [ETP Linked Notes] [Non
Equity Security Linked Notes] [Preference Share
Linked Notes] [Warrant Linked Notes] [Portfolio Linked
Notes].

The provisions of the following Additional Terms and
Conditions apply:

[Additional Terms and Conditions for Share Linked
Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for Index
Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for
SGI Index Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Depositary Receipts Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Dividend Linked
Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for ETF
Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for
Reference Rate Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Commodity
Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for
Fund Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions
for Credit Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Inflation Linked Notes] [Additional
Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for ETP Linked
Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for Non
Equity Security Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Preference Share Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Warrant Linked
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(iii) Reference of the Product:

Interest Basis:

149

Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for Portfolio
Linked Notes].

[Not Applicable]

[[Insert the Reference of the Product from the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae]
[with Option [Insert the reference of the Option]
applicable], as described in the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae.]

[If one or more than one Add-on is/are applicable for a
particular Product:

[[with Add-on relating to Automatic Early Redemption
Amount applicable as per Condition 1.4.1 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae:
the "Automatic Early Redemption Amount" of the
Product [Insert the Reference of the Product from the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae]
is applicable ] [With Add-on relating to Structured
Interest Amount applicable as per Condition 1.4.2 of
the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Formulae: the Structured Interest Amount of the
Product [Insert the Reference of the Product from the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae]
is applicable] [With Add-on relating to Credit Linked or
Bond Linked Products applicable as per Condition
1.4.3 of the Additional Terms and Conditions relating
to Formulae] [With Add-on relating to Memory
Coupon(s) applicable as per Condition 1.4.4 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae]
[with Add-on relating to Global Factors applicable as
per Condition 1.4.5 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae] [with Option [Insert
the reference of the Option] applicable] [With Add-on
relating to Foreign Exchange Rates applicable as per
Condition 1.4.6 of the Additional Terms and Conditions
relating to Formulae] [with Option [Insert the reference
of the Option] applicable] [With Add-on relating to
Capitalisation Rate applicable as per Condition 1.4.7
of the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Formulae] [With Add-on relating to hedging fees
applicable to a Product Formula applicable as per
Condition 1.4.8 of the Additional Terms and Conditions
relating to Formulae.]

[With Add-on relating to Automatic Early Redemption
applicable pursuant to Condition 1.4.1 of the Additional
Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae: the
"Automatic Early Redemption" is modified as "Not
Applicable"] [With Add-on relating to Structured
Interest Amount applicable pursuant to Condition
1.4.2 of the Additional Terms and Conditions relating
to Formulae: the "Structured Interest Amount" is
modified as "Not Applicable"]

[Not Applicable] [[Insert the percentage]% Fixed Rate]
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[[Specify the reference rate] [plus (+)] [minus (-)]
[Insert the percentage]% Floating Rate]
[Fixed/Floating Rate] [Reverse Floating Rate] [Zero
Coupon] [Dual Currency] [See section "PROVISIONS
RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE"
below]

11. Redemption/Payment Basis: [Redemption at [par] [Final Redemption Amount]]
[Physical Delivery. See paragraph 21 below][Partly
Paid. See paragraph 33 below] [Instalment. See
paragraph 34 below] [Dual Currency] [[Credit] [Bond]
Linked. Redemption at Final Redemption Amount on
the Scheduled Maturity Date, subject as otherwise
provided in these Final Terms and to the provisions of
Condition 1 of the Additional Terms and Conditions for
[Credit] [Bond] Linked Notes] [See section
"PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION" below ]

12. Issuer’s/Noteholders’ redemption option: [Not Applicable] [Redemption at the option of the
Issuer] [Redemption at the option of the Noteholders]
[See section "PROVISIONS RELATING TO
REDEMPTION" below]

[NB: In respect of Preference Share Linked Notes and Warrant Linked Notes, "Redemption at the option
of the Noteholders" shall not apply]]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

13. Fixed Rate Note Provisions: [Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 3.1 of the
General Terms and Conditions]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked
Notes: Applicable as per Condition 3.1 of the General
Terms and Conditions subject to the provisions of the
paragraph [22/23] "[Creditf] [Bond] Linked Notes
Provisions" and the Additional Terms and Conditions
for [Credit] [Bond] Linked Notes.]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

@) Rate(s) of Interest: [Insert the percentage] [[Insert the percentage]% [per
annum] [payable [annually] [semi-annually] [quarterly]
[monthly] in arrear [at Maturity Date].] [up to and
including [insert date] [A percentage (indicatively
[Insert the percentage] % subject to a minimum of
[Insert the percentage]%) to be published by the
Issuer on http://prospectus.socgen.com on [insert the
date of the publication].

(i) Specified Period(s) / Interest [Insert the interest payment date(s)] [[Insert the day
Payment Date(s): and the month] in each year up to and including the
[(DD/IMM/YYYY)] Maturity Date]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked
Notes: [[Insert the day and the month] in each year
from and including [Insert the date] to and including
the Scheduled Maturity Date]

[NB: In the case of long or short coupons, insert the relevant Specified Period(s) ]
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(iii)

@iv)

Business Day Convention:

Fixed Coupon Amount(s):
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[In respect of Unadjusted Fixed Rate Notes: Not
Applicable]

[In respect of Adjusted Fixed Rate Notes, insert one of
the following business day convention: [Following
Business Day Convention] [Preceding Business Day
Convention] [Modified Following Business Day
Convention]]

[Or :[Following Business Day Convention] [Preceding
Business Day Convention] [Modified Following
Business Day Convention] [(adjusted/unadjusted)]

[Unless previously redeemed, on [each] [the] Interest
Payment Date, the Issuer shall pay to the Noteholders,
for each Note, an amount determined by the
Calculation Agent as follows:]

[[Insert the currency and the amount] per Note of
[Insert the currency and the amount] Specified
Denomination] [[Insert the currency and the amount]
per Calculation Amount] [Rate of Interest x Specified
Denomination [x Day Count Fraction]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if "Observed
Interest" is stated as being "Not Applicable” in
paragraph "Credit Linked Notes Provisions" and the
Notes are Single Name Notes or First-to-Default
Notes:

Rate of Interest x [Nominal Amount] [If "Accrual of
Interest upon Credit Event" is stated as being
"Guaranteed Coupon" in paragraph 22 "Credit Linked
Notes Provisions": Specified Denomination] [x Day
Count Fraction]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if "Observed
Interest" is stated as being "Not Applicable” in
paragraph 22 "Credit Linked Notes Provisions" and the
Notes are Basket Notes or Tranche Notes:

Rate of Interest x [Relevant Proportion of the Interest
Calculation Amount] [If "Accrual of Interest upon Credit
Event" is stated as being "Guaranteed Coupon" in
paragraph 22 "Credit Linked Notes Provisions":
Specified Denomination] [x Day Count Fraction]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if "Observed
Interest" is stated as being "Applicable" in paragraph
22 "Credit Linked Notes Provisions" and the Notes are
Single Name Notes or First-to-Default Notes:

The aggregate of the Observed Interest in respect of
each Interest Period, each Observed Interest being
equal to : Rate of Interest x [Nominal Amount] [If
"Accrual of Interest upon Credit Event" is stated as
being "Guaranteed Coupon" in paragraph 22 "Credit
Linked Notes Provisions™: Specified Denomination] [x
Day Count Fraction]]
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14.

(v) Day Count Fraction:
(vi) Broken Amount(s):
(vii) Determination Date(s):

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if "Observed
Interest" is stated as being "Applicable" in the
paragraph "Credit Linked Notes Provisions" and the
Notes are Basket Notes or Tranche Notes: The
aggregate of the Observed Interest in respect of each
Interest Period, each Observed Interest being equal to:
Rate of Interest x [Relevant Proportion of the Interest
Calculation Amount] [If "Accrual of Interest upon Credit
Event" is stated as being "Guaranteed Coupon" in
paragraph 22 "Credit Linked Notes Provisions":
Specified Denomination] [x Day Count Fraction]]

[In respect of Bond Linked Notes and the Notes are
Single Bond Linked Notes:

Rate of Interest x Specified Denomination [x Day
Count Fraction]]

[In respect of Bond Linked Notes and the Notes are
Basket Bond Linked Notes:

Rate of Interest x [Relevant Proportion of the Interest
Calculation Amount] [If "Accrual of Interest upon Bond
Event" is stated as being "Guaranteed Coupon" in
paragraph 23 "Bond Linked Notes Provisions":
Specified Denomination] [x Day Count Fraction]]

[Not Applicable] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [30/360]
[Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [Actual/365 (Fixed)] [Actual/365
(Sterling)] [Actual/360] [360/360] [Bond Basis]
[30E/360 (ISDA)]

[[Insert the currency and the amount] per Specified
Denomination] [[Insert the currency and the amount]
per Calculation Amount], payable on the Interest
Payment Date falling on [Insert the date] [In case of a
long or short Interest Period (with regard to paragraph
13(ii) "Specified Period(s) / Interest Payment Date(s)"
above, the amount of interest will be calculated in
accordance with the formula specified in paragraph
13(iv) "Fixed Coupon Amount(s)" above.]

[Not Applicable] [[Insert the determination date(s)] [in
each year]]

[NB: Insert regular Interest Payment Dates, ignoring the Issue Date or Maturity Date in the case of a
long or short first or last coupon. Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual (ICMA)]

[NB: In the case of regular Interest Payment Dates which are not of equal duration, indicate each of the

applicable Determination Date]

Floating Rate Note Provisions:
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[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 3.2 of the
General Terms and Conditions]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked
Notes: Applicable as per Condition 3.2 of the General
Terms and Conditions, subject to the provisions of the
paragraph [22/23] "[Creditf] [Bond] Linked Notes
Provisions" and the Additional Terms and Conditions
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for [Credit] [Bond] Linked Notes.]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

0]

Floating Coupon Amount:

153

[Unless previously redeemed, on [each] [the] Interest
Payment Date, the Issuer shall pay to the Noteholders,
for each Note, an amount determined by the
Calculation Agent as follows:]

[Specified Denomination x [Max((insert the relevant
percentage);] [Min((insert the relevant percentage);]
[Reference Rate] [x insert the relevant leverage factor]
[+/- insert the relevant percentage][))][x Day Count
Fraction]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if "Observed
Interest" is stated as being "Not Applicable” in
paragraph 22 "Credit Linked Notes Provisions" and the
Notes are Single Name Notes or First-to-Default
Notes: [Nominal Amount] [If "Accrual of Interest upon
Credit Event" is stated as being "Guaranteed Coupon”
in paragraph "Credit Linked Notes Provisions":
[Specified Denomination x [Max((insert the relevant
percentage);] [Min((insert the relevant percentage);]
[Reference Rate] [x insert the relevant leverage factor]
[+/- insert the relevant percentage][))][x Day Count
Fraction]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if "Observed
Interest" is stated as being "Not Applicable” in
paragraph "Credit Linked Notes Provisions" and the
Notes are Basket Notes or Tranche Notes:

[Relevant Proportion of the Interest Calculation
Amount] [If "Accrual of Interest upon Credit Event" is
stated as being "Guaranteed Coupon" in paragraph 22
"Credit Linked Notes Provisions": [Specified
Denomination x [Max((insert the relevant percentage);]
[Min((insert the relevant percentage);] [Reference
Rate] [x insert the relevant leverage factor] [+/- insert
the relevant percentage][))][x Day Count Fraction]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if "Observed
Interest" is stated as being "Applicable" in paragraph
"Credit Linked Notes Provisions" and the Notes are
Single Name Notes or First-to-Default Notes: The
aggregate of the Observed Interest in respect of each
Interest Period, each Observed Interest being equal
to: [Nominal Amount] [If "Accrual of Interest upon
Credit Event" is stated as being "Guaranteed Coupon”
in paragraph 22 "Credit Linked Notes Provisions":
[Specified Denomination x [Max((insert the relevant
percentage);] [Min((insert the relevant percentage);]
[Reference Rate] [x insert the relevant leverage factor]
[+/- insert the relevant percentage][))][x Day Count
Fraction]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if "Observed
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Interest" is stated as being "Applicable" in paragraph
"Credit Linked Notes Provisions" and the Notes are
Basket Notes or Tranche Notes:

The aggregate of the Observed Interest in respect of
each Interest Period, each Observed Interest being
equal to: [Relevant Proportion of the Interest
Calculation Amount] [If "Accrual of Interest upon Credit
Event" is stated as being "Guaranteed Coupon" in
paragraph 22 "Credit Linked Notes Provisions":
[Specified Denomination x [Max((insert the relevant
percentage);] [Min((insert the relevant percentage);]
[Reference Rate] [x insert the relevant leverage factor]
[+/- insert the relevant percentage][))][x Day Count
Fraction]]

[In respect of Bond Linked Notes and the Notes are
Single Bond Linked Notes:

[Specified Denomination x [Max((insert the relevant
percentage);] [Min((insert the relevant percentage);]
[Reference Rate] [x insert the relevant leverage factor]
[+/- insert the relevant percentage][))][x Day Count
Fraction]]

[In respect of Bond Linked Notes and the Notes are
Basket Bond Linked Notes:

[Relevant Proportion of the Interest Calculation
Amount] [If "Accrual of Interest upon Credit Event" is
stated as being "Guaranteed Coupon" in paragraph 22
"Credit Linked Notes Provisions": [Specified
Denomination x [Max((insert the relevant percentage);]
[Min((insert the relevant percentage);] [Reference
Rate] [x insert the relevant leverage factor] [+/- insert
the relevant percentage][))][x Day Count Fraction]]

[Or the following formula, which may be adapted in
respect of Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked Notes:

[Specified Denomination X [Max((Floor(i));]
[Min((Cap(i);] [Reference Rate] [x Leverage Factor(i)]
[+/- Spread(i)]))][x Day Count Fraction]

Where :

[Cap(i) means [insert the relevant percentage] on the
[insert the relevant Interest Period]]

[Floor(i) means [insert the relevant percentage] on the
[insert the relevant Interest Period]]

[Leverage Factor(i) means [insert the relevant
percentage] on the [insert the relevant Interest Period]]
[Spread(i) means [insert the relevant percentage] on
the [insert the relevant Interest Period]]

[Cap means a percentage (indicatively [Insert the
percentage] % subject to a minimum of [Insert the
percentage]%) to be published by the Issuer on
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(i) Specified Period(s) / Interest
Payment Date(s):
[(DD/MM/YYYY)]

(iii) Business Day Convention:

http://prospectus.socgen.com on [insert the date of the
publication].

[Floor means a percentage (indicatively [Insert the
percentage] % subject to a minimum of [Insert the
percentage]%) to be published by the Issuer on
http://prospectus.socgen.com on [insert the date of the
publication].

[Leverage Factor means a percentage (indicatively
[Insert the percentage] % subject to a minimum of
[Insert the percentage]%) to be published by the
Issuer on http://prospectus.socgen.com on [insert the
date of the publication].

[Spread means a percentage (indicatively [Insert the
percentage] % subject to a minimum of [Insert the
percentage]%) to be published by the Issuer on
http://prospectus.socgen.com on [insert the date of the
publication].

[Insert the interest payment date(s)] [In respect of
Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked Notes: [Insert the
day and the month] in each year from and including
[Insert the date] to and including the Scheduled
Maturity Date.]

[Floating Rate Convention] [Following Business Day
Convention] [Preceding Business Day Convention]
[Modified Following Business Day Convention]
[adjusted] [unadjusted]

[NB: Insert "unadjusted" if the application of the relevant business day convention is not intended to
affect the Interest Amount. See Condition 3.2.2.5 of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes
and the Uncertificated Notes or the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the case may

be]
(iv) Business Centre(s):
(v) Method of determination of the

Rate of Interest and Interest

Amount:

[Not Applicable] [Insert the business centre(s)]

[Screen Rate Determination] [ISDA Determination]

[If Screen Rate Determination is applicable as per Condition 3.2.4.2 of the Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes or the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes,

as the case may be:

- Reference Rate:

- Interest Determination
Date(s):

- Specified Time:
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[Insert the reference rate] [Insert the month and the
year] [If the Rate of Interest is determined by linear
interpolation in respect of an interest period (as per
Condition 3.2.4.2), insert the relevant interest period(s)
and the relevant two rates used for such
determination]

[Insert the interest determination date(s)]

[Insert the specified time]
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- Relevant Screen Page:

[Insert the relevant screen page]

[If ISDA Determination is applicable as per Condition 3.2.4.1 of the Terms and Conditions of the English
Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes or the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the

case may be:
- Floating Rate Option:
- Designated Maturity:
- Reset Date:

(vi) Margin(s)/Spread(s):

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

*)

(xi)

Leverage Factor:

Minimum Rate of Interest:

Maximum Rate of Interest:

Day Count Fraction:

Rate Multiplier:

[Insert the floating rate option] [If the Rate of Interest is
determined by linear interpolation in respect of an
interest period (as per Condition 3.2.4.1), insert the
relevant interest period(s) and the relevant two rates
used for such determination]

[Insert the designated maturity]
[Insert the reset date]

[Not Applicable] [[Insert the percentage]% [Plus (+)]
[Minus (-)] [Insert the percentage]% per annum] [If
any, see formula in paragraph 14(i) "Floating Coupon
Amount" above]

[Not Applicable] [Insert Leverage Factor] [If any, see
formula in paragraph 14(i) "Floating Coupon Amount:"
above]

[Not Applicable] [[Insert the percentage]% [per
annum]] [If any, see formula in paragraph 14(i)
"Floating Coupon Amount" above]

[Not Applicable] [[Insert the percentage]% [per
annum]] [If any, see formula in paragraph 14(i)
"Floating Coupon Amount" above]

[Not Applicable] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [30/360]
[Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [Actual/365 (Fixed)] [Actual/365
(Sterling)] [Actual/360] [360/360] [Bond Basis]
[30E/360 (ISDA)]

[Not Applicable] [Insert the rate multiplier]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

- Benchmark:

[Reference Rate USD-LIBOR] [Reference Rate GBP-
LIBOR] [Reference Rate EURIBOR] [Reference Rate
EUR-CMS] [Reference Rate USD-CMS] [Reference
Rate SHIBOR]

[NB: Benchmark for the purposes of Condition 3.2.5 of the Terms and Conditions of the English
Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes or the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes,
as the case may be and in respect of "Reference Rate SHIBOR" only for the purposes of
Condition 3.2.7 of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated

Notes]
- Floating Rate Option:
- Designated Maturity:
- Upper Limit:

- Lower Limit:
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[Insert the floating rate option]
[Insert the designated maturity]
[Insert the upper limit]

[Insert the lower limit]
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15.

16.

Structured Interest Note Provisions: [Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 3.3 of the
General Terms and Conditions]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes: Applicable as per
Condition 3.3 of the General Terms and Conditions,
subject to the provisions of paragraph 22 "Credit
Linked Notes Provisions" and the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes.]

[In respect of Bond Linked Notes: Applicable as per
Condition 3.3 of the General Terms and Conditions,
subject to the provisions of the paragraph 23 "Bond
Linked Notes Provisions and the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Bond Linked Notes".]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

@) Structured Interest Amount(s): [Insert the formula of the Structured Interest Amount(s)
corresponding to the Reference of the Product in the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae
and mentioned in the paragraph 9(iv) "Reference of
the Product" above] [Insert the applicable formula in
case of exempted Notes]

[Definitions relating to the Structured Interest Amount
are set out in paragraph 27(ii) "Definitions relating to
the Product".]

(i) Specified Period(s) [/ Interest [Insertthe interest payment date(s)]
Payment Date(s):
[(DD/MM/YYYY)]

[NB: For Specified Period(s), see Condition 3.2.1(2) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law
Notes and the Uncertificated Notes or the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the case
may be]

(iii) Business Day Convention: [Floating Rate Convention] [Following Business Day
Convention] [Preceding Business Day Convention]
[Modified Following Business Day Convention]
[adjusted] [unadjusted]

[NB: Insert "unadjusted" if the application of the relevant business day convention is not intended to
affect the Interest Amount. See Condition 3.2.2.5 of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes
and the Uncertificated Notes or the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the case may
be]

(iv) Day Count Fraction: [Not Applicable] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [30/360]
[Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [Actual/365 (Fixed)] [Actual/365
(Sterling)] [Actual/360] [360/360] [Bond Basis]
[30E/360 (ISDA)]

(v) Business Centre(s): [Insert the business centre(s)]

Zero Coupon Note Provisions: [Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 3.4 of the
General Terms and Conditions]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]
@) Accrual Yield: [Insert the accrual yield] [[Insert the percentage]% per

157



Form of Final Terms — European Economic Area

(i) Reference Price:

(iii) Day Count Fraction in relation to
Early Redemption Amounts and
late payment:

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

17. Redemption at the option of the Issuer:

annum]
[Insert the reference price]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable per Conditions 3.4and
5.16]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 5.5 of the
General Terms and Conditions]

[If applicable in respect of Credit Linked Notes or Bond
Linked Notes: Subject to the provision of notice in
accordance with subparagraph (iii), the Issuer may
redeem the Notes in whole, but not in part, on [any
Business Day] from but excluding the Issue Date to but
excluding the Scheduled Maturity Date.]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

[NB: Optional Redemption Amount(s) as per Condition 5.5.1 of the Terms and Conditions of the English
Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes or the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the

case may be]

@) Optional Redemption Amount:
(i) Optional Redemption Date(s):
[(DD/MM/YYYY)]

[Insert the Optional Redemption Amount(s) as per
Condition 5.5 of the General Terms and Conditions :
[Specified Denomination x [Insert percentage]%]
[Market Value] [Final Redemption Amount calculated
on the valuation date linked to the relevant Optional
Redemption Date]]

[For Preference Share Linked Notes and Warrant
Linked Notes: Early Redemption Amount per
Calculation Amount]

[Definitions relating to the Optional Redemption
Amount are set out in paragraph 27(ii) "Definitions
relating to the Product”.]

[Insert the optional redemption date(s)] [Specify other]

[NB: Notice Period as per Condition 5.5.3 of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and
the Uncertificated Notes or the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the case may be.
When setting notice periods, the Issuer is advised to consider the practicalities of distribution of
information through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems and custodians, as well as any other
notice requirements which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent]

(iii) Notice Period:
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[[Insert the number of days] days prior to the Optional
Redemption Date] [specify other]

[If applicable in respect of Credit Linked Notes: The
Issuer shall give not less than [Insert the number of
days] Business Days' (as defined in Condition 1 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes) notice to the Noteholders in accordance with
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18.

Condition 13 of the General Terms and Conditions
(which notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the
date fixed for redemption), provided, however that any
such notice shall be deemed to be void and of no
effect, if a Credit Event Notice has been, or is,
delivered to Noteholders in accordance with the
Conditions at any time on or prior to 5.00 p.m. (Paris
time) on the fourth Business Day preceding the date
fixed for redemption in accordance with this paragraph
17.]

[If applicable in respect of Bond Linked Notes: The
Issuer shall give not less than [Insert the number of
days] Business Days' (as defined in Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes) notice to the Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 13 of the General Terms and Conditions
(which notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the
date fixed for redemption), provided, however that any
such notice shall be deemed to be void and of no
effect, if a Bond Event Notice has been, or is, delivered
to Noteholders in accordance with the Conditions at
any time on or prior to 5.00 p.m. (Paris time) on the
fourth Business Day preceding the date fixed for
redemption in accordance with this paragraph 17.]

[NB: Redemption in part as per Condition 5.5.2 of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes
and the Uncertificated Notes or the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the case may
be]

(iv) Redemption in part: [Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

- Minimum Redemption [Insert the minimum redemption amount]
Amount:
- Maximum Redemption [Insert the maximum redemption amount]
Amount:
Redemption at the option of the [Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 5.7 of the
Noteholders: General Terms and Conditions]

[NB: Not Applicable for Preference Share Linked Notes and Warrant Linked Notes]

[NB: Optional Redemption Amount as per Condition 5.7.1 of the Terms and Conditions of the English
Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes or the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the
case may be]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

(@) Optional Redemption Amount: [Insert the Optional Redemption Amount(s) as per
Condition 5.7 of the General Terms and Conditions:
[Specified Denomination x [Insert percentage]] [Market
Value] [Final Redemption Amount calculated on the
valuation date linked to the relevant Optional
Redemption Date]]
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19.

20.

[Definitions relating to the Optional Redemption
Amount are set out in paragraph 27(ii) "Definitions
relating to the Product”.]

(i) Optional Redemption Date(s): [Insert the optional redemption date(s)] [Specify other]
[(DD/IMMIYYYY)]

[NB: Notice Period as per Condition 5.7.2 of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and
the Uncertificated Notes or the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the case may be]

(iii) Notice Period: [[Insert the number of days] days prior to the Optional
Redemption Date] [specify other]

Automatic Early Redemption: [Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 5.10 of
the General Terms and Conditions]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

@) Automatic Early Redemption [Insert the formula of Automatic Early Redemption
Amount(s): Amount(s) corresponding to the reference of the
product in the Additional Terms and Conditions relating
to Formulae and mentioned in paragraph 27(ii)
"Definitions relating to the Product"] [Insert the

applicable formula in case of exempted Notes]

[For Warrant Linked Notes: Automatic Early
Redemption Amount per Calculation Amount]

[Definitions relating to the Automatic Early Redemption
Amount are set out in paragraph 27(ii) "Definitions
relating to the Product”.]

(i) Automatic Early Redemption [Insert the automatic early redemption date(s)]
Date(s):

(iii) Automatic Early Redemption
Event:

[Final Redemption Amount] [In the case of [At par] [Specified Denomination x [Insert the

Italian Listed Certificates only: Final Exercise percentage]%] [[Insert the currency and the amount]

Amount]: per Note of [Insert the currency and the amount]
Specified Denomination] [[Insert the currency and the
amount] per Calculation Amount] [Insert the formula of
the Final Redemption Amount corresponding to the
reference of the product in the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae and mentioned in the
paragraph 9(iv) "Reference of the Product" above] [In
case of Open End Notes issued by SG lIssuer: Not
Applicable, the Notes are open-ended.]
[For Preference Share Linked Notes and Warrant
Linked Notes: Final Redemption Amount per
Calculation Amount]

[Definitions relating to the Final [Redemption]
[Exercise] Amount are set out in paragraph 27(ii)
"Definitions relating to the Product".]

[NB: If the Final Redemption Amount is other than 100 per cent. of the nominal value, the Notes will be
derivative securities for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive and the requirements of Annex XlI of
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21.

the Regulation will apply.]

[NB: Final Redemption Amount as per Condition 5.1.1 of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law
Notes and the Uncertificated Notes or the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the case
may be or, in the case of Italian Certificates, Final Exercise Amount as per Condition 5.1.2 of the Terms
and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes]

[In case of Italian Listed Certificates only, insert the following subparagraphs:

[- Waiver of Automatic Exercise at [By Notice Date as per Condition 5.1.2 of the General
Final Exercise Date: Terms and Conditions]]

[- Final Payment Date: [Insert the final payment date]

Physical Delivery Notes Provisions: [Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 5.13 of

the General Terms and Conditions]
[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

0] Deliverable Asset(s): [See paragraph "Underlying(s)" below] [If the
deliverable assets) is/are different from the underlying
asset(s) specified in the paragraph  26(i)
"Underlying(s)" below: [Insert the relevant deliverable
asset pursuant to the provisions of Condition 5.13]] [In
respect of Credit Linked Notes: Specified Deliverable
Obligation(s)]

(i) Physical Delivery Amount: [See paragraph 20 "Final Redemption Amount" and, if
applicable, paragraph  19() "Automatic Early
Redemption Amount(s)" above]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if applicable:
Applicable, as provided in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes]

(iii) Provisions governing whether [See paragraph 20 "Final Redemption Amount" and, if
transfer of Deliverable Asset(s) or  applicable, paragraph 19(i)) "Automatic Early
payment of a cash sum will apply:  Redemption Amount(s)" above]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if applicable:
Applicable, as provided in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes]

(iv) Issuer’s option to vary method of [No] [Applicable as per Condition 5.13.3 of the General
settlement: Terms and Conditions] [In respect of Credit Linked

Notes, if applicable: Applicable, as provided in the

Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked

Notes]

(v) Method of transfer of Deliverable [As per Condition 5.13.2 of the General Terms and
Asset(s) in respect of Physical Conditions] [In respect of Credit Linked Notes: Delivery
Delivery Amount (if other than through the Relevant Clearing System unless the
Delivery): Specified Deliverable Obligations are not eligible for

clearance by the Relevant Clearing System or
otherwise as specified in Condition 1 of the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes, in
which case transfer will take place outside the
Relevant Clearing System as set out in Condition 1 of
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
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22.

Notes]
(vi) Consequences of Settlement As per Condition 15.3.2 of the General Terms and
Disruption Event(s): Conditions
Credit Linked Notes Provisions: [Not Applicable] [Applicable, subject to the provisions

of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes. The provisions of [Part A (2009
definitions)] [Part B (2014 definitions)] [Part C
(Additional Provisions for Mixed Reference Portfolio)]
[and Part D (Additional Provisions related to CDS
Spread)] shall apply.]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

@) Type of Credit Linked Notes: [Single Name Notes] [First-to-Default Notes] [Basket
Notes] [Tranche Notes]

(i) Terms relating to Settlement:
(@ Settlement Type: [American Settlement] [European Settlement]

(b) Settlement Method: [Cash Settlement, pursuant to Condition 1.2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [Or but ONLY for Single Name Notes and First-
to-Default Notes and the Settlement Type is American
Settlement: Physical Settlement, pursuant to Condition
1.1 of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes]

(c) Final Value: [Fixed Recovery: [Insert the percentage]per cent.]

[If the provisions of Part A (2009 definitions) or Part C
(Additional Provisions for Mixed Reference Portfolio)
apply: Floating Recovery with Auction Method: [only if
Part C (Additional Provisions for Mixed Reference
Portfolio) applies: in respect of the Reference Entities
in relation to which Part A (2009 definitions) applies,]
the Final Value is to be determined pursuant to a
Transaction Auction Settlement Terms and if a
Transaction Auction Settlement Terms is published on
or before 140 Business Days following the Credit
Event Determination Date, that provides for the
valuation of obligations of a Reference Entity in
respect of which a Credit Event has occurred, means
the Auction Final Price (as specified in the relevant
Transaction Auction Settlement Terms and expressed
as a percentage) determined, if any, under such
Transaction Auction Settlement Terms and applicable
to the status of the Reference Obligation (subordinated
or senior or any other applicable status as the case
may be) or if no Transaction Auction Settlement Terms
is published on or before 140 Business Days following
the Credit Event Determination Date, means the
amount determined by the Calculation Agent on the
Credit Valuation Date as follows:

(x) the Final Price if there is only one Selected
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(d)

Unwind Costs:
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Obligation; or

(y) the weighted average of the Final Prices of the
Selected Obligations if the latter are a portfolio, in each
case, minus the Valuation Hedging Cost for such
Selected Obligation(s).]

[If the provisions of Part B (2014 definitions) or Part C
(Additional Provisions for Mixed Reference Portfolio)
apply: Floating Recovery with Auction Method: [only if
Part C (Additional Provisions for Mixed Reference
Portfolio) applies: in respect of the Reference Entities
in relation to which Part B (2014 definitions) applies,]
the Final Value is to be determined pursuant to a
Transaction Auction Settlement Terms and if a
Transaction Auction Settlement Terms is published on
or before 140 Business Days following the Credit
Event Determination Date, that provides for the
valuation of obligations of a Reference Entity in
respect of which a Credit Event has occurred, means
the Auction Final Price (as specified in the relevant
Transaction Auction Settlement Terms and expressed
as a percentage) determined, if any, under such
Transaction Auction Settlement Terms and applicable
to the seniority of the Reference Obligation or if no
Transaction Auction Settlement Terms is published on
or before 140 Business Days following the Credit
Event Determination Date, means the amount
determined by the Calculation Agent on the Credit
Valuation Date as follows:

(x) the Final Price if there is only one Selected
Obligation; or

(y) the weighted average of the Final Prices of the
Selected Obligations if the latter are a portfolio,

in each case, minus the Valuation Hedging Cost for
such Selected Obligation(s).]

[Floating Recovery with Quotation Dealers Method:
Final Value means the amount determined by the
Calculation Agent on the Credit Valuation Date as
follows:

(x) the Final Price if there is only one Selected
Obligation; or

(y) the weighted average of the Final Prices of the
Selected Obligations if the latter are a portfolio, in each
case, minus the Valuation Hedging Cost for such
Selected Obligation(s).

[If Physical Settlement: Not Applicable]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [Standard Unwind Costs Standard Unwind
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(iii) Provisions relating to Basket

Notes:

Costs means in respect of each Note, an amount,
subject to a minimum of zero, determined by the
Calculation Agent equal to the sum of (without
duplication) all costs, expenses (including break
funding charges and loss of funding, which, for the
avoidance of doubt, represents the loss of future
interest amounts to be received under the funding
arrangement(s) entered into in relation to the Notes),
tax and duties incurred directly or indirectly by Société
Générale or any of its Affiliates in relation to the
occurrence of a Credit Event Determination Date and
the related partial or total termination, settlement or re-
establishment of any Hedge Position, such amount to
be apportioned pro rata amongst the outstanding
Notes.] [Not Applicable: the Unwind Costs in respect of
each Note will be equal to zero.]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[If (iii) Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

@

(b)

(©)

Relevant Proportion:

Loss Amount:

Aggregate Loss Amount:
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As per Condition 2 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes.

[If the Notes are Basket Notes which are not Tranche
Notes: As per Condition 2 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes, means at any time
for a Basket Note that is not a Tranche Note, the
aggregate of the Loss Amount in respect of all
Reference Entities in respect of which a Credit Event
Determination Date has occurred.] [If the Notes are
Tranche Notes: As per Condition 2 of the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes, means
at any time for a Tranche Note, the lowest of (i) the
Tranche Notional Amount; and (ii) the highest of (x)
zero and (y) the difference between (xx) the aggregate
of the Loss Amount for all Reference Entities in
respect of which a Credit Event Determination Date
has occurred and (xy) the Tranche Subordination
Amount.]

[In respect of Basket Notes and Tranche Notes if the
paragraph "N-to-M-to-Default" is stated as being as
"Not Applicable": In relation to each Reference Entity
in respect of which a Credit Event Determination Date
has occurred, an amount equal to the product of:

0] the Reference Entity Notional Amount and

(i) the difference between the Reference Price
and the Final Value, subject to a minimum of
zero.]
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(d) Reference Entity Notional
Amount:
(e) Tranche Notes:

[In respect of Tranche Notes if the paragraph "N-to-M-
to-Default" is specified as "Applicable™: In relation to
each Reference Entity in respect of which a Credit
Event Determination Date has occurred:

- which has a Ranking strictly lower than N: an amount
equal to the product of:

0] the Reference Entity Notional Amount and
(i) the Reference Price;

- which has a Ranking higher than or equal to N and
lower than or equal to M: an amount equal to the
product of:

0] the Reference Entity Notional Amount and

(i) the difference between the Reference Price
and the Final Value, subject to a minimum of
zero;

- which has a Ranking strictly higher than M: an
amount equal to zero.]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [For each Reference Entity comprised in the
Reference Portfolio: the amount equal to the product of
the Reference Entity Weighting and the Reference
Portfolio Notional Amount]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[If (e) Not Applicable, delete the remaining]

@

@

©)

4

Tranche
Subordination
Amount:

Tranche Notional

Amount:

N-to-M-to-Default:

Attachment
Point:
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[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [The Reference Portfolio Notional Amount
multiplied by the Attachment Point]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [The Aggregate Nominal Amount]

[Not Applicable]

[N = [number corresponding to the Ranking starting at
which the Aggregate Loss Amount will be an amount
greater than zero]

M = [number corresponding to the Ranking above
which the Aggregate Loss Amount ceases to increase]

P= [number of Reference Entities within the Reference
Portfolio]]

[If the Notes are Tranche Notes if the paragraph "N-to-
M-to-Default" is specified as "Not Applicable": [Specify
for the purposes of Condition 2 of the Additional Terms
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(5) Detachment
Point:
) Reference Portfolio

Notional Amount:

(9) Reference Price:
(h) Reference Entity
Weighting:
0] Interest Recovery:
(iv) Transaction Type:
(v) [Deliverable/Selected] Obligation(s):

[If (v) Not Applicable, delete the remaining]

(@ [Deliverable/ Selected]
Obligation Category:
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and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes]%] [if the
paragraph  "N-to-M-to-Default" is specified as
"Applicable": [(N-1)/P]%)]

[If the Notes are Tranche Notes with N-to-M-to-Default
is Not Applicable: [Specify for the purposes of
Condition 2 of the Additional Terms and Conditions for
Credit Linked Notes]%]] [If N-to-M-to-Default is
specified as Applicable : [M/P]%)]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [If the Notes are Tranche Notes: An amount
equal to the Aggregate Nominal Amount divided by the
difference between the Detachment Point and the
Attachment Point] [If the Notes are Basket Notes: An
amount equal to the Aggregate Nominal Amount]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [[Insert the percentage]%]

[For each Reference Entity comprised in the
Reference Portfolio: the percentage specified as such
in "Annex for Credit Linked Notes" hereto or, if not
specified, 100%.]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [For Each Reference Entity comprised in the
Reference Portfolio: the proportion specified as such in
"Annex for Credit Linked Notes" hereto which will be
adjusted in accordance with the provisions of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes]

[Fixed Interest Recovery with an Interest Recovery
Rate of [Insert the percentage] %] [Floating Interest
Recovery]] [Not relevant. The Notes do not bear
interest.] [Not relevant. The sub-paragraph "Accrual of
Interest upon Credit Event" is specified as being
"Guaranteed Coupon"]

[For Single Name Notes: As specified in "Annex for
Credit Linked Notes" hereto]

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and First-to-Default Notes: For each Reference
Entity comprised in the Reference Portfolio, as
specified in "Annex for Credit Linked Notes" hereto]

[[If Cash Settlement and Fixed Recovery: Not
Applicable] [Applicable]]

[For Single Name Notes: The [Deliverable/Selected]
Obligation Category specified in "Annex for Credit
Linked Notes" hereto]
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(b) [Deliverable/ Selected]
Obligation
Characteristics:

(vi) Accrual of Interest upon Credit
Event:

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and First-to-Default Notes: For each Reference
Entity comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the
[Deliverable] [Selected] Obligation Category specified
in "Annex for Credit Linked Notes" hereto]

[For Single Name Notes: The [Deliverable/Selected]
Obligation Characteristics specified in "Annex for
Credit Linked Notes" hereto]

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and First-to-Default Notes: For each Reference
Entity comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the
[Deliverable] [Selected] Obligation Characteristics
specified in "Annex for Credit Linked Notes" hereto]

[In respect of [Fixed Rate Note Provisions:] [Floating
Rate Note Provisions:] [Structured Interest Note
Provisions:]] [No Accrued Interest upon Credit Event]
[Accrued Interest upon Credit Event] [Guaranteed
Coupon] [If no coupon: Not relevant. The Notes do not
bear interest.]

[NB: Guaranteed Coupon only where "Settlement Type" is "European Settlement”]

(vii) Observed Interest:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 1.3 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes]

[If (vii) Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraph]

[- Interest Observation
Dates

(viii) First Credit Event Occurrence
Date:

(ix) Scheduled Last Credit Event
Occurrence Date:

x) Reference Entity(ies):

(xi) Multiple Successor(s):
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[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes]]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [The [In respect of Uncertificated Swedish
Notes or Uncertificated Finnish Notes: 12““] [If the
Notes are neither Uncertificated Swedish Notes nor
Uncertificated Finnish Notes: 4th] Business Day
immediately preceding the Scheduled Maturity Date.]

[For Single Name Notes: As specified in "Annex for
Credit Linked Notes" hereto (or any Successor
thereto)]

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and First-to-Default Notes: The Reference
Entities comprised in the Reference Portfolio as
described in "Annex for Credit Linked Notes" hereto (or
any Successor thereto)]

[For Single Name Notes: [Not Applicable] [Applicable
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(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

Reference Obligation(s):

Credit Events:

Notice of Publicly Available
Information:
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(i,e. Condition 1.5 (Multiple Successors) of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes apply to the Notes to deal with the split, if any, of
the Reference Entity into several resulting entities).]

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and First-to-Default Notes: Not relevant. The
provisions of Condition 1.5 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes do not apply. For
the avoidance of doubt, splits into several resulting
entities are dealt with in the definition of Successor as
per Condition 2 of the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Credit Linked Notes. [only if Part C (Additional
Provisions for Mixed Reference Portfolio) applies: (Part
A (2009 definitions) or Part B (2014 definitions), as
applicable in respect of the relevant Reference Entity)]]

[CUSIP/ISIN: [Insert the identification number] [None]]

[For Single Name Notes: As specified in "Annex for
Credit Linked Notes" hereto]

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and First-to-Default Notes: For each Reference
Entity comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the
Reference Obligation(s) specified in "Annex for Credit
Linked Notes" hereto]

[(or any obligation replacing such original Reference
Obligation as per the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Credit Linked Notes [only if Part C (Additional
Provisions for Mixed Reference Portfolio) applies: -
Part A (2009 definitions) or Part B (2014 definitions),
as applicable in respect of the relevant Reference

Entity]).]

[For Single Name Notes: The Credit Event(s) specified
in "Annex for Credit Linked Notes" hereto]

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and First-to-Default Notes: For each Reference
Entity comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the Credit
Event(s) specified in "Annex for Credit Linked Notes"
hereto]

[For Single Name Notes: As specified in "Annex for
Credit Linked Notes" hereto]

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and First-to-Default Notes: For each Reference
Entity comprised in the Reference Portfolio, as
specified in "Annex for Credit Linked Notes" hereto]
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(xv)

(xvi)

(xvii)

(xviii)

(xix)

Obligation(s):

@ Obligation Category:

(b) Obligation

Characteristics:

All Guarantees:

Additional provisions relating to
certain specific Reference
Entities:

Business Days (for the purposes
of the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes):

Other applicable options as per
the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes:
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[For Single Name Notes: The Obligation Category
specified in "Annex for Credit Linked Notes" hereto]

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and First-to-Default Notes: For each Reference
Entity comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the
Obligation Category specified in "Annex for Credit
Linked Notes" hereto]

[For Single Name Notes: The Obligation
Characteristics specified in "Annex for Credit Linked
Notes" hereto]

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and First-to-Default Notes: For each Reference
Entity comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the
Obligation Characteristics specified in "Annex for
Credit Linked Notes" hereto]

[For Single Name Notes: As specified in "Annex for
Credit Linked Notes" hereto]

[For Basket Notes (which by definition include Tranche
Notes) and First-to-Default Notes: For each Reference
Entity comprised in the Reference Portfolio, as
specified in "Annex for Credit Linked Notes" hereto]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable, if relevant, as per
Condition 1.9 of the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Credit Linked Notes [only if Part C (Additional
Provisions for Mixed Reference Portfolio) applies: (Part
A (2009 definitions) or Part B (2014 definitions), as
applicable in respect of the relevant Reference Entity)]]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [The Business Days specified in "Annex for
Credit Linked Notes" hereto]

[Not Applicable] [Specify the source of Publicly
Available Information which must be used when the
Public Source is different from the sources specified in
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [Specify the Specified Number if such number
is different from the Specified Number anticipated in
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes]

[If "Physical Settlement" applies: Specify if Include
Deliverable/Selected Obligation Accrued Interest
applies]

[If "Cash Settlement" applies and one of the following
options applies to the Notes; Specify if [Include
Deliverable/Selected Obligation Accrued Interest] or
[Exclude Deliverable/Selected Obligation Accrued
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23. Bond Linked Notes Provisions:

Interest] applies]

[Specify the [Excluded Obligation], [Excluded
Deliverable Obligation] [Excluded Selected Obligation]
if different from the provisions of the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes]

[Specify if Non-Reference Entity Original Non-
Standard Reference Obligation is applicable]

[Specify if Substitution Event Early Redemption is not
applicable]

[Specify Trigger Percentage applicable to a Reference
Entity if applicable]

[If Basket Notes or Tranche Notes: Specify Interest
Credit Factor if different from 100%]

[If Basket Notes or Tranche Notes: Specify Interest
Loss Factor if different from 100%]

[Specify Principal Credit Factor if different from 100%]
[Specify Principal Loss Factor if different from 100%]

[If Basket Notes or Tranche Notes: Specify if
Preliminary Cash Redemption is not applicable]

[Only if Part D (Additional Provisions related to CDS
Spread) applies:

[Specify the External Provider Time if different from
15.00 London time]

[Specify the Quotation Deadline Time if different from
17.00 London time]

[Specify the Quotation Method if different from Offer]

[Specify the Reference CDS Currency if different from
that specified in the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Credit Linked Notes]

[Specify the Reference CDS Maturity if different from
5-year]

[Specify if Switch Option is not applicable]]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable, subject to the provisions
of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond
Linked Notes]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

@) Type of Bond Linked Notes:
(i) Terms relating to Settlement:
(@ Settlement Type:
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[Single Bond Linked Notes] [Basket Bond Linked
Notes]

[American Settlement] [European Settlement]
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[NB : American Settlement only if Single Bond Linked Notes]

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

Bond Final Value:

Auction Period for the
purposes of the Bond
Final Price determination:

Bond Final Price Accrued

Interest:

Breakage Cost Amount:
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[Fixed Recovery: [Insert the percentage] per cent.]

[Floating Recovery: For each Bond, the percentage
determined by the Calculation Agent as follows:

0] the Bond Final Price;

(i) plus, if any, any partial or total repayment in
cash of the Bond which would have been paid
to the holders of the Bond under the Bond as
of the Bond Final Value Determination Date
as determined by the Calculation Agent,
expressed as a percentage of the Bond
Notional Amount;

(i) plus, if any, the price (expressed as a
percentage of the Bond Notional Amount),
calculated using a method similar to that to
determine the Bond Final Price, of any
securities which would have been delivered to
the holders of the Bond under the Bond as of
the Bond Final Value Determination Date as
determined by the Calculation Agent;

(iv) minus the Valuation Hedging Cost;

v) minus any amount due and payable under the
Bond in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the Bond as in force and effect
as of the Issue Date (expressed as a
percentage of the Bond Notional Amount)
which is still unpaid at the Bond Final Value
Determination Date, as determined by the
Calculation Agent.

[The Bond Final Value is subject to a minimum of zero
per cent. and to a maximum of 100 per cent.] [The
Bond Final Value is subject to a minimum of zero per
cent. and may be higher than one hundred per cent.
(100%).]

[Specify number] consecutive Business Days
(as defined in paragraph 23(xi) below)

[In the case of Fixed Recovery: Not Applicable] [In the
case of Floating Recovery: [Excluding Accrued
Interest] [Including Accrued Interest]]

[Not Applicable: the Breakage Cost Amount will be
equal to zero] [Applicable: means an amount
determined by the Calculation Agent expressed in the
Specified Currency of the Notes using the Relevant
Spot Exchange Rate on the relevant calculation
date(s), as determined by the Calculation Agent, equal
to the fees, costs and expenses arising directly or
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indirectly, in connection with (i) terminating, unwinding,
realizing or enforcing any repurchase transaction (if
any) with the Bond as underlying asset, the purpose of
which is to refinance the relevant Bond and (ii)
entering into, trading or increasing any repurchase
transaction (or any transaction with similar purposes)
with the Collateral Assets as underlying asset, the
purpose of which is to refinance the Collateral Assets.
For the avoidance of doubt, the Breakage Cost
Amount may be a positive amount (if to be received by
Société Générale or any of its Affiliates) or a negative
amount (if to be paid by Société Générale or any of its
Affiliates)]

()] Relevant Proportion: [Specify as per Condition 2 of the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Bond Linked Notes.]

(iii) Provisions relating to Basket [Not Applicable] [Applicable]
Bond Linked Notes:

[If (iii) Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

(@) Aggregate Loss Amount: [Specify as per Condition 2 of the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Bond Linked Notes],

(b) Loss Amount: [Specify as per Condition 2 of the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Bond Linked Notes]

(c) Reference Portfolio [Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Notional Amount: Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked

Notes]
(d) Reference Price: [Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the

Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes] [For each Bond comprised in the Reference
Portfolio: the percentage specified as such in
paragraph "Tables" below]

(e) Bond Weighting: [Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes] [For each Bond comprised in the Reference
Portfolio: the proportion specified as such in paragraph
"Tables" below]

) Interest Recovery Rate: [Fixed Interest Recovery with an Interest Recovery
Rate of [Insert the percentage] per cent.] [Floating
Interest Recovery] [Not Applicable. The Notes do not
bear interest.] [Not Applicable. The sub-paragraph
"Accrual of Interest upon Bond Event" is specified as
"Guaranteed Coupon”]

(iv) Accrual of Interest upon Bond [No Accrued Interest upon Bond Event] [Accrued
Event: Interest upon Bond Event] [Guaranteed Coupon] [If no
coupon: Not relevant. The Notes do not bear interest.]

[NB: Guaranteed Coupon only where "Settlement Type" is "European Settlement”]

(v) First Bond Event Occurrence [Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Date: Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
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(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

*)

(xi)

(xii)

Bond(s):

Bond Currency:

Bond Notional Amount:

Bond Events:

Notice of Publicly Available
Information:

Business Days (for the purposes
of the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes):

Other applicable options as per
the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes:
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Notes]

[For Single Bond Linked Notes: The Bond described in
paragraph "Tables" below]

[For Basket Bond Linked Notes: The Bonds comprised
in the Reference Portfolio as described in paragraph
"Tables" below]

[For Single Bond Linked Notes: The Bond Currency
described in paragraph "Tables" below]

[For Basket Bond Linked Notes: The Bond Currency
described in respect of the Bonds comprised in the
Reference Portfolio as described in paragraph
"Tables" below]

[For Single Bond Linked Notes: On the Issue Date, the
Bond Notional Amount in the Bond Currency, each as
described in paragraph "Tables" below and thereafter
as modified in accordance with the definition of "Bond
Notional Amount” in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Bond Linked Notes.]

[For Basket Bond Linked Notes: On the Issue Date,
the Bond Notional Amount in the Bond Currency
described in respect of the Bonds comprised in the
Reference Portfolio, all as described in paragraph
"Tables" below and thereafter as modified in
accordance with the definition of "Bond Notional
Amount" in the Additional Terms and Conditions for
Bond Linked Notes]

[For Single Bond Linked Notes: The Bond Event(s)
specified in paragraph "Tables" below]

[For Basket Bond Linked Notes: For each Bond
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the Bond
Event(s) specified in paragraph "Tables" below]

[Applicable] / [Not Applicable]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes]

[Not Applicable] [Specify the source of Publicly
Available Information which must be used when the
Public Source is different from the sources specified in
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes] [Specify the Specified Number if such number
is different from the Specified Number anticipated in
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes] [Specify the number of Business Days which
must be used in relation to the definition of First
Quotation Day if such number is different from the
number anticipated in the Additional Terms and
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24.

25.

Tables:

(xiii)

Conditions for Bond Linked Notes]

[Insert the following table if "Type of Bond Linked Notes" is "Single Bond Linked Notes":

Bond ISIN
Code

Bond Issuer

Bond Currency

Bond Notional
Amount

Maturity

o] o]

o]

o]

[e]]

[For the following tables, add as many lines as necessary:

[Insert the following table if "type of Bond Linked Notes" is "Basket Bond Linked Notes":

Reference Portfolio:

Bond ISIN
Code

Bond
Weighting

Bond
Issuer

Bond
Currency

Bond
Notional
Amount

Maturity

Referenc
e Price

[e] [e] [e]

[e]

[e]

[e]

[e]]

[For all Basket Bond Linked Notes where there is more than one Bond, split the Bond ISIN
Code column into the relevant number of columns):

Terms applicable to a Bond are the ones specified in the table below.

In the table below, "X" means "Applicable" (conversely, when left in blank, means "Not

Applicable").

Bond Events

[Insert Bond ISIN Code]

Bond Acceleration [X]
Bond Default [X]
Bond Early Redemption [X]
Bond Governmental Intervention [X]
Bond Issuer ISDA Event [X]
Bond Restructuring [X]
Bond Failure to Pay [X]

Trigger redemption at the option of the
Issuer:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 5.6 of the
General Terms and Conditions]

[Insert the following subparagraph only if Trigger redemption at the option of the Issuer is Applicable as
per Condition 5.6 of the General Terms and Conditions]

Outstanding Amount Trigger Level:

Early Redemption Amount payable on
Event of Default or, at the option of the
Issuer, on redemption for taxation or
regulatory reasons:
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[10% of the Aggregate Nominal Amount] [[Insert other
outstanding amount trigger level] % of the Aggregate

Nominal Amount]

[[Insert the currency and the amount] per Note of
[Insert the currency and the amount] Specified
Denomination] [[Insert the currency and the amount]
per Calculation Amount] [Market Value]
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[If the Issuer elects not to apply Conditions 5.2.1 and
5.2.2 pursuant to the provisions of such Conditions:
Conditions 5.2.1 Redemption for tax reasons,
Conditions 5.2.2 Redemption for Special Tax Reasons
and Conditions 6.2 are not applicable to this Series of
Notes].]

[If the Issuer elects not to apply Conditions 5.3
pursuant to the provisions of such Condition: Not
Applicable as Condition 5.3 does not apply to these
Notes.]

[NB: The provisions of Early Redemption Amount payable on redemption for taxation as per Conditions
5.2.1 and 5.2.2 and/or for regulatory reasons as per Condition 5.3, respectively, or on Event of Default
as per Condition 8 of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes
or the Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes, as the case may be]

[NB: In respect of Italian Listed Certificates only, "Market Value" means the amount determined in good
faith and in a commercially reasonable manner by the Calculation Agent to be the fair market value of
the Certificates immediately prior (and ignoring the circumstances leading) to such early termination]

PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE UNDERLYING(S)

26. @) Underlying(s):
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[Not Applicable]

[Where the underlying is a security, include the name
of the issuer of the security and the International
Securities Identification Number (ISIN) or other such
security identification code.

Where the underlying is an index, include the name of
the index. If the index is not composed by the Issuer,
need to include details of where the information about
the index can be obtained.

Where the underlying is an interest rate, include a
description of the interest rate]

Where the underlying does not fall within the
categories specified above, the applicable Final Terms
shall contain equivalent information.

Where the underlying is a basket of underlyings, need
to disclose the relevant weightings of each underlying
in the basket.

Where the underlying is a Portfolio or a basket of
Portfolios, the Annex For Portfolio Linked Notes below
needs to be completed, and insert the following : The
[basket of] [Portfolio] as described in the Annex for
Portfolio Linked Notes below.]

[Particularly in case of SIS Notes or Notes listed on
SIX: insert ISIN code (if any) as well as initial effective
value of the Underlyings]

[In case of listing on SIX: Insert the information on the
underlying instruments required by section 4 of
scheme F (for derivatives) or sections 2.5.2 and 2.5.3
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(i)

(iii)

Information relating to the past
and future performances of the
Underlying(s) and volatility:

Provisions  relating, amongst
others, to the Market Disruption
Event(s) and/or Extraordinary
Event(s) and/or Monetisation until
the Maturity Date and/or any
additional disruption event as
described in the relevant
Additional Terms and Conditions:

Other information relating to the
Underlying(s):
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of scheme E (for bonds) of SIX Swiss Exchange, to the
extent such information is not already included
elsewhere in the applicable Final Terms.]

[Not Applicable] [Need to include details of where past
and future performance and volatility of the
formula/other variable can be obtained.]*

[Not Applicable]

The provisions of the following Additional Terms and
Conditions apply:

[Additional Terms and Conditions for Share Linked
Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for Index
Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for
SGI Index Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Depositary Receipts Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Dividend Linked
Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for ETF
Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for
Reference Rate Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Commodity
Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for
Fund Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions
for Inflation Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for ETP Linked Notes] [Additional Terms
and Conditions for Non Equity Security Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Preference Share
Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for
Warrant Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Portfolio Linked Notes] [Additional
Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes — Part
D].

[Not Applicable] [Where information has been sourced
from a third party, provide a confirmation that this
information has been accurately reproduced and that
as far as the issuer is aware and is able to ascertain
from information published by that third party, no facts
have been omitted which would render the reproduced
information inaccurate or misleading. In addition, the
issuer shall identify the source(s) of the information] [In
the case of Notes to be listed to SIX Swiss Exchange:
To the extent information or summaries of information
contained herein with respect to the Underlying(s) has
been extracted from general databases publicly
available or by any other available information, each of
the Issuer and the Guarantor, if any, confirms that this
information has been accurately reproduced and that
as far as the Issuer and the Guarantor, if any, is aware
and is able to ascertain from information published by
that third party, no facts have been omitted which
would render the reproduced information inaccurate or



Form of Final Terms — European Economic Area

misleading. In addition, the issuer shall identify the
source(s) of the information.]

DEFINITIONS APPLICABLE TO INTEREST (IF ANY), REDEMPTION AND THE UNDERLYING(S) IF ANY

27.

0]

0]

Definitions relating to date(s):

[- Insert any relevant
date(s):

Definitions relating to the Product:

[- Insert any relevant
defined term(s) applicable
to interest (if any),
redemption and the
underlying(s) (if any),
from the Additional Terms
and Conditions relating to

Formulae:

PROVISIONS RELATING TO SECURED NOTES

28.

Secured Notes Provisions:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[Insert date(s)]]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable, subject to the provisions
of the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Formulae] [Applicable. All or part of the definitions
relating to the Product being those used in the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Formulae.]]

[Insert the relevant definition(s) corresponding to the
reference of the product in the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae and mentioned in
paragraph "Reference of the Product" above]]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable, subject to the provisions
of the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Secured Notes]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

@) Collateral Pool:
(i) Type of Collateral Pool:
(iii) Type of Collateralisation:

Collateral Valuation at Nominal Value:

(iv) Eligibility Criteria:

(v) Collateral Rules:
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[Specify for the purposes of Condition 1 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Secured
Notes]

[Single Series Collateral
Collateral Pool]

Pool] [Multiple Series

[MV Collateralisation] [NV Collateralisation] [Max (MV,
NV) Collateralisation] [Min (MV, NV) Collateralisation]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 1 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Secured
Notes]

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 1 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Secured
Notes]
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(vi)

(vii)

Collateralisation Percentage:

Haircuts:

[Specify the percentage or the formula for calculating
this  percentage] [Where Max (MV, NV)
Collateralisation or Min (MV, NV) Collateralisation is
applicable, specify percentage level for MV and NV
Collateralisation if different]

[Specify where the Collateralisation Percentage may
vary after a certain date, following the occurrence of a
trigger event or following a unanimous decision of the
Noteholders]

[Where the Collateralisation Percentage may vary
following an unanimous decision of the Noteholders,
specify a notification period]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable. [If applicable, specify
details of the haircut to be applied in relation to each
type or class of Collateral Asset]]

[NB: Haircuts must be the same for each Series of Secured Notes secured on the same Collateral Pool]

(viii)

Collateral Test Dates:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 1 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Secured
Notes] [No periodic Collateral Test Dates]

[NB: If it is intended that there will be no periodic adjustments to the amount of Collateral Assets in
respect of a particular Series of Secured Notes]

[NB: Collateral Test Dates must be the same for each Series of Secured Notes secured on the same
Collateral Pool]

(ix)
*)
(xi)

(xii)

Collateral Substitution:
Waiver of Rights:

Early Redemption Amount
following the occurrence of a
Collateral Disruption Event:

Physical Delivery of Collateral
Assets:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]
[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[Market Value as per Condition 5.9(5)] [Specify for the
purposes of Condition 1 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Secured Notes]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[NB: The Secured Notes secured on a Particular Collateral Pool must either all be subject to Physical
Delivery of Collateral Assets or not]

[If (xii) Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraph]

(xiii)

[- Method of transfer of
Collateral Assets in
respect of Collateral
Assets Entitlement:

Order of Priority:
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[Delivery  through Clearstream, Luxembourg or
Euroclear or any other relevant clearance institution
(the Collateral Assets Clearing System) unless the
Collateral Assets are not eligible for clearance by the
Collateral Assets Clearing System, in which case
transfer will take place outside the Collateral Assets
Clearing System.]]

[The Standard Order of Priority (as such term is
defined in Condition 1 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Secured Notes) applies] [Insert
any alternative Order of Priority pursuant to the
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definition of "Order of Priority" in Condition 1 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Secured

Notes]
(xiv) Other applicable options as per [Not Applicable]
the Additional Terms and [Where the Collateral Valuation Currency is Euro,
Conditions relating to Secured specify where the Collateral Valuation Currency
Notes: Screen Page and the Collateral Valuation Currency

Specified Time differ from the Collateral Valuation
Currency Screen Page and the Collateral Valuation
Currency Specified Time specified in the Additional
Terms and Conditions relating to Secured Notes]

[Where the Collateral Valuation Currency is other than
Euro, specify the Collateral Valuation Currency, the
Collateral Valuation Currency Screen Page and the
Collateral Valuation Currency Specified Time ]

[Predetermined Collateral Valuation Currency Rate of
Exchange is applicable]

[Where Predetermined Collateral Valuation Currency
Rate of Exchange is applicable specify the
predetermined rate of the Collateral Valuation
Currency]

[Specify where a different Valuation Point shall be
used]

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES
29. Provisions applicable to payment date(s):

- Payment Business Day: [Following Payment Business Day] [Modified Following
Payment Business Day]

[NB: Amend "Payment Business Day" definition if payment is to be made on 25 December as
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg do not settle payments on such day.]

[NB: "Payment Business Day" election in accordance with Condition 4.8 of the Terms and
Conditions of the English Law Notes and the Uncertificated Notes or Condition 4.4 of the Terms
and Conditions of the French Law Notes]

- Financial Centre(s): [Insert the financial centre(s)]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes with Physical
Settlement: [Insert the financial centre(s)] and solely
for the purposes of physical settlement, if applicable, a
day in any other jurisdiction in which a bank must be
open in order to effect settlement of any Deliverable
Obligations being Delivered.]

30. Form of the Notes:

0] Form: [If English law Notes in bearer form: [Temporary Global
Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note
which is exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes only
upon an Exchange Event] [Permanent Global Notes
exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes only upon an
Exchange Event]]
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[If English law Notes in registered form: Non-US
Registered Global Note registered in the name of a
nominee for a common [depositary] [safekeeper] for
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg]

[If French law Notes in materialised form: Materialised
Notes: Temporary Global Certificate]

[If French law Notes in dematerialised form:
Dematerialised Notes: Bearer dematerialised form (au
porteur)]

[If SIS Notes in bearer form: [CHF SIS Notes] [Other
SIS Notes] in the form of a Permanent Global SIS Note
exchangeable for Definitive Bearer SIS Note only upon
a Bearer SIS Notes Exchange Event]

[If SIS Notes in uncertificated form: Uncertificated SIS
Notes: dematerialised Uncertificated Notes in book
entry form issued, cleared and settled through SIX SIS
Ltd]

[If EUI Notes: Dematerialised Uncertificated Notes in
book-entry form issued, cleared and settled through
Euroclear UK & lIreland Limited (CREST). CREST
Depositary Interest / Direct CREST Settlement]

[If Uncertificated Swedish Notes: Dematerialised
Uncertificated Swedish Notes in book entry form
issued, cleared and settled through Euroclear Sweden
in accordance with the Swedish Financial Instruments
Accounts Act (SFS 1998:1479), as amended]

[If  Uncertificated Finnish Notes: Dematerialised
Uncertificated Finnish Notes in book entry form issued,
cleared and settled through Euroclear Finland in
accordance with the Finnish Act on the Book-Entry
System and Clearing Operations (749/2012), and the
Finnish Act on Book-Entry Accounts (827/1991), as
amended]

[If Uncertificated Norwegian Notes: Dematerialised
Uncertificated Notes in book entry form issued and
cleared through Verdipapirsentralen in accordance
with the Norwegian Act related to Registration of
Financial Instruments No 64 of 5 July 2002]

[If  Uncertificated Danish Notes: Dematerialised
Uncertificated Notes in book entry form issued and
cleared through VP Securities in accordance with the
Danish Securities Trading Act (Consolidated Act No.
831 of 12 June 2014) as amended from time to time
and the Executive Order on Book Entry, etc. of
dematerialised Securities in a Central Securities
Depositary as amended from time to time pursuant
thereto.]
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31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

[NB: Elect "Yes" opposite "New Global Note (NGN) / New Safekeeping Structure (NSS)" if "Yes" is
elected in Part B under the heading "Operational Information" opposite the paragraph entitled

"Eurosystem eligibility of the Notes"]

(i) New Global Note (NGN — bearer
notes) / New Safekeeping
Structure (NSS - registered
notes):

[Yes] [No]

[NB: Delete the following subparagraph in case of Notes other than Definitive Bearer Notes]

[(iii) Talons for future Coupons or
Receipts to be attached to
Definitive Bearer Notes:

Redenomination:

Consolidation:

Partly Paid Notes Provisions:

[Yes (if appropriate)]]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 1 of the
General Terms and Conditions]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 14.2 of
the General Terms and Conditions]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 5.12 of
the General Terms and Conditions]

[NB: Insert amount of each payment comprising the Issue Price and date on which each payment is to

be made and consequences of failure to pay]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

@) Part Payment Amount(s):
(i) Part Payment Date(s):

Instalment Notes Provisions:

[Insert the part payment amount(s)]
[Insert the part payment date(s)]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 5.11 of
the General Terms and Conditions]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

@) Instalment Amount(s):
(i) Instalment Date(s):
Masse:

[Insert the instalment amount(s)]
[Insert the instalment date(s)]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 12 of the
General Terms and Conditions] [The provisions of
Condition 12 of the General Terms and Conditions are
waived in their entirety and replaced by the provisions
of French Code de commerce relating to the Masse]

[NB: Masse will not be applicable to Notes other than French Law Notes. Note that, in respect of any
Tranche of Notes issued inside France, Condition 12 of the Terms and Conditions of the French Law
Notes is waived in its entirety and replaced by the provisions of French Code de commerce relating to

the Masse.]
@) Representative of the Masse:
(i) Remuneration of the

Representative:

Dual Currency Note Provisions:

[Insert name and address]

[If applicable, specify the amount and payment] date]

[Not Applicable] [In respect of English law Notes and
Uncertificated Notes: Applicable as per Condition 4.14
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of General Terms and Conditions] [In respect of
French law Notes : Condition 4.8 of the General Terms
and Conditions]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

0]
(i)
(iii)

Settlement Currency
Dual Currency Exchange Rate:

Method of calculating the fixing of
Dual Currency Exchange Rate:

[ If Predetermined:

- Predetermined Fixing

[o]
[Specify an exchange rate]

[Predetermined] [Calculation Agent
[Screen Rate Determination]

Determination]

[specify the fixing]

[ If Screen Rate Determination or Calculation Agent Determination :

- Dual Currency Valuation Date
- Dual Currency Valuation Time
[ If Screen Rate Determination:

- Relevant Screen Page

37. Additional Amount Provisions for Italian

Certificates:

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

@) Additional Amount(s)
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[e]
[e]

[e]

[In respect of English Law Notes and Uncertificated
Notes: Applicable as per Condition 4.15 of the General
Terms and Conditions]

[In respect of English Law Notes and Uncertificated
Notes: Applicable as per Condition 4.9 of the General
Terms and Conditions]

[In the case of Credit Linked Notes :, subject to the
provisions of paragraph "Credit Linked Notes
Provisions" and the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Credit Linked Notes.]

[In the case of Bond Linked Notes :, subject to the
provisions of paragraph "Bond Linked Notes
Provisions" and the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Bond Linked Notes.]

[Not Applicable]

Unless previously redeemed, on the applicable
Additional Amount Payment Date(s), the Issuer shall
pay to the Certificateholders, for each Certificate, an
amount determined by the Calculation Agent as
follows:

[[®] per Certificate of [e] Specified Denomination]

[If the Additional Amounts vary depending on the
Additional Amount Payment Dates, insert:

[e] per Certificate of [#] Specified Denomination, on
Additional Amount Payment Date(1);
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(i) Additional Amount Payment
Date(s)
(iii) Business Day Convention

38. Interest Amount and/or the Redemption

Amount switch at the option of the Issuer:
[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

@) Substitute Coupon:

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]
- Substitute Coupon Amount:

- Additional Substitute Coupon

Amount:
(i) Market Value for the Switch:
(iii) Substitute Final Redemption:

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

- Substitute Final Redemption
Amount:

(iv) Optional Modification Date:

(v) Notice Period:

39. Provisions relating to Portfolio Linked

Notes:

- Portfolio Linked Notes Provisions:

0]

Basket Component(s):

(i)

Debt Instrument(s):
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[e] per Certificate of [#] Specified Denomination, on the
Additional Amount Payment Date(2);

()

[e] per Certificate of [#] Specified Denomination, on the
Additional Amount Payment Date(insert the number of
the last Additional Amount Payment Date);

[e]
[Following Business Day Convention]

Following Business Day Convention]
Business Day Convention]

[Modified
[Preceding

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable Condition 5.8 of General
Terms and Conditions]

[e]
[e]

[e]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable Condition 5.8 of General
Terms and Conditions]

[e]

[e]
[e]

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[Not applicable] [Applicable, subject to the provisions
of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Portfolio
Linked Notes]

[If Not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

As specified in "Annex for Portfolio Linked Notes"
hereto

[Applicable, as specified in "Annex for Portfolio Linked

Notes" hereto] [Not applicable]
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(iii) Commodity Instrument(s): [Applicable, as specified in "Annex for Portfolio Linked
Notes" hereto] [Not applicable]

(iv) Derivative(s): [Applicable, as specified in "Annex for Portfolio Linked
Notes" hereto] [Not applicable]

v) Derivatives and other [Applicable, as specified in "Annex for Portfolio Linked
Instrument(s): Notes" hereto] [Not applicable]
(vi) Equity Instrument(s): [Applicable, as specified in "Annex for Portfolio Linked

Notes" hereto] [Not applicable]

(vii) Fund(s): [Applicable, as specified in "Annex for Portfolio Linked
Notes" hereto] [Not applicable]

(viii) Market Data: [Applicable, as specified in "Annex for Portfolio Linked
Notes" hereto] [Not applicable]

(ix) Physical Commodity(ies): [Applicable, as specified in "Annex for Portfolio Linked
Notes" hereto] [Not applicable]

(x) Unfunded Component(s): [Applicable, as specified in "Annex for Portfolio Linked
Notes" hereto] [Not applicable]

(xi) Weighting Advisor: [Specify] [Not applicable]
(xii) Additional Provisions: As specified in "Annex for Portfolio Linked Notes"
hereto

[In the case of Notes to be listed to SIX Swiss Exchange only: RESPONSIBILITY

The Issuer and the Guarantor, if any, accepts the responsibility for the information contained in these applicable
Final Terms.]

[NB: The applicable Final Terms should be signed by the Issuer and the Guarantor, as the case may be, in those
jurisdictions where the Issuer and the Guarantor, as the case may be, is legally required to sign or where market
practice dictates that it should (for example for SIX Swiss Exchange listing purposes). The signature block may
be deleted in those jurisdictions where neither of the above applies.

[Signed on behalf of the Issuer: [Signed on behalf of the Guarantor:
By: By:
Duly authorised] Duly authorised]

PART B — OTHER INFORMATION

1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING
@) Listing: [If no listing: None] [Application will be made for the
Notes to be listed on [the official list of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange] [SIX Swiss Exchange] [Insert any
other market]]
(i) Admission to trading: [In the case of an admission to trading on a non-

European Union regulated market or where no
admission to trading is to occur: Not Applicable]
[Application will be made for the Notes to be admitted
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(iii) Estimate of total expenses related
to admission to trading:
(iv) Information required for Notes to

be listed on SIX Swiss Exchange:

to trading on [In the case of an admission to trading on
a European Union regulated market: [the regulated
market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange] [Insert
other regulated market] [In the case of derivatives to
be admitted to trading in Switzerland: SIX Structured
Products Exchange] [In the case of bonds to be
admitted to trading in Switzerland: SIX Swiss
Exchange] with effect from, or as soon as practicable
after, [the Issue Date] [Specify first listing date].]

[There can be no assurance that the listing and
trading of the Notes will be approved with effect on
[the Issue Date] or at all.]

[Where documenting a fungible issue need to indicate
that original securities are already admitted to trading:
The existing [Insert specified currency and aggregate
nominal amount] Notes due [Insert the maturity date]
(Tranche [Insert the number of the previous
tranche(s)]) are already admitted to trading on [Insert
name of the relevant market]]

[Not Applicable] the of total

expenses|]**

[Insert amount

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[If (iv) Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

[- Listing/Trading information:

@) Trading Size and

Ratio:

(b) First Trading
Day:

(c) Last Trading Day
and Time:

(d) Swiss ticker
symbol:

(e) Type of quoting:

[in case of derivatives :

()] Capital

Protection:

- Additional information:
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[The Notes can only be traded in the Specified
Denomination and integral multiples of the Specified
Denomination] [Minimum and maximum trading size
and the standard exercise ratio]

[Insert the first trading day]

[Insert the last trading day and, in the case of
derivatives, the time of day at which trading shall cease

]

[Insert the Swiss ticker symbol]

[e] [The Notes are traded or quoted including accrued
interest (dirty trading) / accrued interest is shown
separately (clean trading)].

[Capital protection: [100% at Maturity Date (in case of
early redemption, the redemption amount may be less
than the Specified Denomination)]] [No capital
protection]]]
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RATINGS

@

(b)

(©)

(d)

Fees charged by

the Issuer to the
Noteholders
post-issuance:

Name and
address of the
representative
for purposes of
article 43 of the
Listing Rules of
SIX Swiss
Exchange:

No material

adverse change:

Swiss tax
information:

[Insert the fees] [None]

[Société Générale, Paris, Zurich Branch, Talacker 50,
PO Box 1928, 8021 Zurich, Switzerland.] [Insert name
and address of the relevant representatives if different
from the foregoing]

[Save as disclosed in the Base Prospectus (as
amended by supplements from time to time), there has
been no material adverse change, nor any event
involving a prospective material adverse change in the
financial and trading position of the Issuer [and the
Guarantor] since the date of the Base Prospectus (as
amended by supplements from time to time)]

- Swiss Federal Stamp Duty: No Swiss federal stamp
duty at issuance. Secondary market transactions are [If
the maturity of the Notes is lower than or equal to one
year: not subject] [If the maturity of the Notes is higher
than one year: subject] to Swiss federal stamp duty.

[Insert in case of physical delivery :

- The delivery of any underlying security at exercise or
redemption to the holders of the Notes is subject to the
Swiss federal stamp duty.

- For further tax information, see the section
"Taxation", paragraph "Switzerland" set out in the Base
Prospectus. Noteholders are advised to consult with
their professional tax advisors as to the respective
Swiss tax consequences of the purchase, ownership,
disposition or redemption of Notes.]

[Insert any additional tax information in relation to a
purchase of underlying instruments required by section
3.2.12 of scheme F of SIX Swiss Exchange.]]

[The Notes to be issued have [not] been rated [Specify the rating(s) of the Notes being issued] [by
[Specify rating agency(ies)].]

[If credit ratings are assigned to Notes at the request or with the cooperation of the Issuer in the rating
process, need to include a brief explanation of the meaning of the rating if this has previously been
published by the rating provider.]

[such credit rating[s] [has been] [are] issued by [a] credit rating agencie[s] established in the European
Union, registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council
dated 16 September 2009 (as amended) and are included in the list of registered credit rating agencies
published at the website of the European Securities and Markets Authority (www.esma.europa.eu).]
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[NB: When applicable, the above disclosure should reflect the rating allocated to Notes of the type being
issued under the Programme generally or, where the issue has been specifically rated, that rating.]

INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE/OFFER

[Description of any interest, including conflicting ones, that is material to the issue/offer, detailing the
persons involved and the nature of the interest]

REASONS FOR THE OFFER AND USE OF PROCEEDS, ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AND TOTAL
EXPENSES

[NB: If the Notes are debt securities or derivative securities to which Annex V or Annex Xll of the
Regulation applies, respectively, reasons for the offer if different from making profit and/or hedging
certain risks. Where applicable, disclosure of the estimated total expenses of the issue/offer and the
estimated net amount of the proceeds. These expenses and proceeds shall be broken into each
principal intended use and presented by order of priority of such uses. If the issuer is aware that the
anticipated proceeds will not be sufficient to fund all the proposed uses, state the amount and sources
of other funds needed.]

@) Reasons for the offer and use of [Not Applicable] [Specify the use of proceeds]

proceeds:
[NB: Reasons for the offer and use of proceeds must

be specified in case of Notes listed on SIX Swiss

Exchange]
(i) Estimated net proceeds: [Not Applicable] [Insert the estimated net proceeds]
(iii) Estimated total expenses: [Not Applicable] [Insert the estimated total expenses]

INDICATION OF YIELD (Fixed Rate Notes only)

[Not Applicable] [If the Notes are debt securities to which Annex V or Annex Xl of the Regulation
applies : [give an indication of yield]]

HISTORIC INTEREST RATES (Floating Rate Notes only)

[Not Applicable] [Details of historic rates of the Reference Rate can be obtained from [Insert the
source].]

PERFORMANCE AND EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT

@) PERFORMANCE OF FORMULA, EXPLANATION OF EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT
(Structured Notes only)

[NB: This paragraph only applies if the Notes are derivative securities to which Annex XIl of the
Regulation applies.]

[Not Applicable] [Need to include a clear and comprehensive explanation of how the value of the
investment is affected by the underlying and the circumstances when the risks are most evident.]*

(i) PERFORMANCE OF RATE[S] OF EXCHANGE AND EXPLANATION OF EFFECT ON
VALUE OF INVESTMENT (Dual Currency Notes only)

[NB: This paragraph only applies if the Notes are derivative securities to which Annex XII of the
Regulation applies.]

[Not Applicable] [Need to include a clear and comprehensive explanation of how the value of the
investment is affected by the underlying and the circumstances when the risks are most evident.]
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OPERATIONAL INFORMATION

0]

(i)

(iii)
(iv)
(v)

(vi)

Security identification code(s):
- ISIN code:
[- Common code:

[- Temporary ISIN code:

[- Temporary Common
code:
[- German security number

(WKN number):

[- Swiss security number
(Valoren number):

Clearing System(s):

Delivery of the Notes:
Calculation Agent:

Paying Agent(s):

Eurosystem eligibility of the
Notes:
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[Insert the code]
[Insert the code]]
[Insert the code]]

[Insert the code]]

[Insert the German security number]]

[Insert the Swiss security number]]

[Insert name(s) and address(es) of the relevant
clearing system(s) and, if required, the relevant
identification number(s)] [In any case of Notes listed on
SIX with Euroclear France or Euroclear Bank /
Clearstream Banking as Clearing System(s), add: SIX
SIS Ltd]

[If the paragraph "Form of the Notes" specifies that the
Notes to be issued are in certificated form or book-
entry form, insert name and address of the entity in
charge of keeping the records.]

Delivery [against] [free of] payment
[Insert name and address]

[Insert name(s) and address(es)] [If Notes other than
SIS Notes, and listed on SIX, add: / Société Générale,
Paris, Zurich Branch, Talacker 50, PO Box 1928, 8021
Zurich, Switzerland]

[If SIS Notes: Société Générale, Paris, Zurich Branch,
Talacker 50, PO Box 1928, 8021 Zurich, Switzerland]

[No]

[Yes. Note that the designation "yes" simply means
that the Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited
with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper and
does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be
recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the
Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times
during their life. Such recognition will depend upon
satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria.]

[In case of French Law Notes:
Yes.

The Notes will be inscribed in the books of Euroclear
France, being a domestic central securities depositary.
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The Notes are intended to be Eurosystem eligible, but
it is not hereby represented, warranted, undertaken or
implied that the Notes will be recognised. Such
recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the
Eurosystem eligibility criteria.]

[NB: Elect "Yes" opposite "Eurosystem eligibility of the Notes" if "Yes" is elected in Part A under the
heading "Form of the Notes" opposite the paragraph entitled "New Global Note (NGN) / New Safekeeping
Structure (NSS)"]

(vii) Address and contact details of Telephone: [o]

Société Générale for all Facsimile: [e]

administrative communications Attention: [e]

relating to the Notes: Email: [e]

9. DISTRIBUTION
@) Method of distribution: [Syndicated] [Non-syndicated]

[If syndicated:

- Names [and addresses [Not Applicable] [give names [and addresses and
and underwriting underwriting commitments]* of Managers]
commitments]* of
Managers: [If the Notes are derivative securities to which Annex

XIl of the Regulation applies, include the names [and
addresses]* of entities agreeing to underwrite the issue
on a firm commitment basis and the names [and
addresses]* of the entities agreeing to place the issue
without a firm commitment or on a "best efforts" basis if
such entities are not the same as the Managers.]

- Date of Syndication [Not Applicable] [Insert the date of syndication
Agreement: agreement]

[Only applicable if the Notes are debt securities or derivative securities to which Annex V or

Annex XlI of the Regulation, respectively, applies.]

- Stabilising Manager (if [Not Applicable] [Insert the name of stabilising
any): manager]]

[If non-syndicated:

- Dealer(s): [Not Applicable] [Insert name [and address]* of Dealer]

[NB: If the Notes are debt securities or derivative securities to which Annex V or Annex XII of

the Regulation applies, include the names [and addresses]* of entities agreeing to underwrite

the issue on a firm commitment basis and the names [and addresses]* of the entities agreeing
to place the issue without a firm commitment or on a "best efforts” basis if such entities are not
the same as the Dealer.]

(i) Total commission and [Not Applicable] [[Insert the percentage] per cent. of
concession: the Aggregate Nominal Amount] [There is no

commission and/or concession paid by the Issuer to
the Dealer or the Managers] [Specify any other
commission]]*
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10.

(iii) TEFRA rules: [Not Applicable] [TEFRA D] [TEFRA C] [Not
Applicable. Treated by Clearstream Frankfurt as
registered notes for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
The Notes are subject to a book entry agreement
entered into by Clearstream Frankfurt and the Issuer.]

(iv) Non-exempt Offer: [Not Applicable] [A Non-exempt Offer of the Notes may
be made by [the Managers] [the Dealer] [and [any
Initial Authorised Offeror below mentioned] [any
Additional Authorised Offeror, the name and
address of whom will be published on the website of
the Issuer (http://prospectus.socgen.com)] [and] any
[other] financial intermediaries to whom the Issuer
gives a General Consent (the General Authorised
Offerors) in the public offer jurisdiction(s) (Public
Offer Jurisdiction(s)) during the offer period (Offer
Period) as specified in the paragraph "Public Offers in
European Economic Area" below.

[If (v) Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

Individual Consent / Name(s) and [Not Applicable] [Applicable [Insert the name and
addresse(s) of any Initial Authorised address of any initial authorised offeror]]]

Offeror:

General Consent/ Other conditions to [Not Applicable] [Applicable] [Insert any other condition
consent: to consent if relevant]

PUBLIC OFFERS IN EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AREA

[NB: This paragraph applies only in respect of any offer of Notes made in any Member State of the
European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a Relevant Member
State), where such offer is not made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as
implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of
Notes.]

[Not Applicable]
[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs]

Public Offer Jurisdiction(s): [Specify relevant Member State(s) - which must be
jurisdictions where the Prospectus and any
supplements have been passported]

Offer Period: [Indicate the offer period]

Offer Price: [Indicate the expected price at which the securities will
be offered or the method of determining the price and
the process of disclosure.]

Conditions to which the offer is subject: [Indicate the conditions to which the offer is subject]

Description of the application process: [Not Applicable] [Describe the application process]
Description of possibility to reduce [Not Applicable] [Describe the possibility to reduce
subscriptions and manner for refunding subscriptions and manner for refunding excess amount
excess amount paid by applicants: paid by applicants]

Details of the minimum and/or maximum  [Not Applicable] [Indicate details of the minimum
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11.

[12.

amount of application:

Details of the method and time limits for
paying up and delivering the Notes:

Manner and date in which results of the
offer are to be made public:

Procedure for exercise of any right of
pre-emption, negotiability of
subscription rights and treatment of
subscription rights not exercised:

Whether tranche(s) has/have been
reserved for certain countries:

Process for notification to applicants of
the amount allotted and the indication
whether dealing may begin before
notification is made:

Amount of any expenses and taxes
specifically charged to the subscriber or
purchaser:

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Minimum investment in the Notes:

[Minimum trading] [Minimum Trading
Lot]:

[Add as many lines as necessary:

[- [Insert any other relevant
additional information pursuant to
Annex XXI of the Commission
Delegated Regulation (EU) of 30
March 2012]:

and/or maximum amount of appl